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Federal Communications Commission

Washington, DC 20554

SECTION I. GENERAL INFORMATION

FCC 394

APPLICATION FOR FRANCHISE AUTHORITY
CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER OF CONTROL

OF CABLE TELEVISION FR.ANCHISE

Approved By OMil
3060-0573

FOR FRANCHISE AUTHORITY USE ONLY

1 . Community Unit ldentification Number: HIO112DATE
Ìjiiirì
,.it;;i

2. Application for: Assignment of Franchise Transfer of Control

7. Attach as an Exhibit a schedule of any and all additional information or material filed with this

application that is identified in the franchise as required to be provided to the franchising

authority when requesting its approval of the type of transaction that is the subject of this

application.

PART I - TRANSFEROR/ASSIGNOR

1. lndicate the name mailin address, and telephone number of the tran nor

2.(a) Attach as an Exhibit a copy of the contract or agreement that provides for the assignment or

transfer of control (including any exhib¡ts or schedules thereto necessary in order to understand the

terms thereof). lf there is only an oral agreement, reduce the terms to writing and attach.

(Confidential trade, business, pricing or marketing information, or other information not othenruise

publicly available, may be redacted)

(b) Does the contract submitted in response to (a) above embody the full and complete agreement

between the transferor/assignor and the transferee/assignee?

lf No, explain in an Exhibit.

Exhibit No

N/A

Exhibit No

I

Yes No

Exhibit No.

I

3. Franchisìng Authority: Ilawaii Dcpartm ent of Commcrcc and Consumer Affairs, Cable I'elevision Division

4. ldentify community where the system/franchise that is the subject of the assignment or transfer of control is located:

Oahu
S. Date system was acquired or (for system's constructed by the transferor/assignor) the date on

which service was p rovided to the first subscriber in the franchise area

6. Proposedeffectivedateofclosingofihetransactionassigningortransferringownershipofthe

system to transferee/assignee

As soon as closing conditions
are satisfied

Legal name of Transferor/Assignor (if individual, list last name first)

Franchisee: Hawaiian Telcom Services, lnc.; Transferor: Hawaiian Telcom Holdco, lnc.
Assumed name used for doing business (if any)

1 177 Bisho Street
Maìling street address or P,O, Box

Telephone No. (include area code)

808-546-4511
State

HI

ZIP Code

9681 3
City

Honolulu
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Legal name of Transferee/Assignee (if individual, list last name first)

Cincinnati Bell lnc.
Assumed name used for doing business (if any)

Mailing street address or P.O. Box

221 East Foudh Street
ZIP Code

45202
Telephone No. (include area code)

513-397-9900
State

OH
City

Cincinnati

PART II - TRANSFEREE/ASSIGNEE

lndicate the name, mailin address and tele ne number of the transferee/assi

lndicate the name mailin address and ne number of n to contact if other than transferee/ass

(c) Attach as an Exhibit the name, mailing address, and telephone number of each additional person who

should be contacted, if anY.

lndicate the address where the records will be maintained

Z. lndicate on an attached exhibit any plans to change the current terms and conditions of service and

operations of the system as a consequence of the transaction for which approval is sought.

nee

Exhibit No.

2

Exhibit No

3

Name of contact person (list last name first)

Rupich, Patricia L.

Firm or company name (if anY)

Cincinnati Bell lnc.
Mailing street address or P.O. Box

221 East Fourth Street
ZIP Code

45202
Telephone No. (include area code)

513-397-6671
State

OH
City

Cincinnati

Street address
1117 Bishop Street

ZIP Code
9681 3

State

HI

City

Honolulu

FCC 394 (Pase2) September 1996



1. Transferee/Assignee is

Corporation

SECTION II. TRANSFEREE'S/ASSIGNEE'S LEGAL QUALIFICATIONS

Limited Partnership a. Jurisdiction in which formed c. Name and address of registered agent in
iurisdiction:

b. Date of formation

X a. Jurisdiction of incorporation

Ohio
d. Name and address of registered agent in
jurisdiction:

Corporatíon Service Companv
50 West Broad Street Suite 1330

Golumbus. OH 43215

b. Date of incorporation
2t4t1983

c. For profit or not-for-profit
For profit

2. List the transferee/assignee, and, if the transferee/assignee is not a natural person, each of its officers, directors, stockholders

beneficially holding more than 5% of the outstanding voting shares, general partners, and limited partners holding an equity

interest of more than 5%. Use only one column for each individual or entity. Attach additional pages if necessary. (Read

carefully - the lettered items below refer to corresponding lines in the following table.)

(a) Name, residence, occupation or principal business, and principal place of business. (lf other than an individual, also show

name, address and citizenship of natural person authorized to vote the voting securities of the applicant that it holds.) List the

applicant first, officers, next, then directors and, thereafter, remaining stockholders and/or partners.

(b) Citizenship.
(c) Relationship to the transferee/assignee (e.9., officer, director' etc.)'

(d) Number of shares or nature of partnersihp interest.

(e) Number of votes.
(f ) Percentage of votes.

General Partnership

lndividual

Other. Describe in an Exhibit.

(a) Pinnacle Associates, Ltd.

335 Madison Avenue, Suite 1100

New York, NY 10017

FCC 394

a. Jurisdiction whose laws govern formation: b. Date of formation:

Exhibit No
N/A

(a)IGAMCO lnvestors, lnc. and affiliates
One Corporate Center
Rye, NY 10580

BlackRock, lnc.

55 East 52nd Street
NewYork, NY 10055

The Vanguard Group
100 Vanguard Blvd.

Malvern, PA 19355

United States
(b)

United States United States

I nvestor
(c)

I nvestor lnvestor

(d) 5,185,234 5,809,178 5,693,502

(e)

(f) 12.37o/o 13.80% 13.54o/o

Septembcr 1996
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lf the answer is No, explain in an Exhibit.

4 Has the transferee/assignee had any interest in or in connection with an applicant which has been

dismissed or denied by any franchise authority?

lf the answer is Yes, describe circumstances in an Exhibit.

Has an adverse finding been made or an adverse final action been taken by any court or

administrative body with respect to the transferee/assignee in a civil, criminal or administrative
proceeding, brought under the provisions of any law or regulation related to the following: any

felony; revocation, suspension or involuntary transfer of any authorization (including cable

franchises) to provide video programming services; mass media related antitrust or unfair

competition; fraudulent statements to another government unit; or employment discrimination?

lf the answer is Yes, attach as an Exhibit a full description of the persons and matter(s) involved,

including an identification of any court or administrative body and any proceeding (by dates and file

numbers, if applicable), and the disposition of such proceeding.

Are there any documents, instruments, contracts or understandings relating to ownership or future

ownership rights with respect to any attributable interest as described in Question 2 (including, but

not limited to, non-voting stock interests, beneficial stock ownership interests, options, warrants,

debentures)?

lf Yes, provide particulars in an Exhibit.

Do documents, instruments, agreements or understandings for the pledge of stock of the

transferee/assignee, as security for loans or contractual performance, provide that: (a) voting rights

will remain with the applicant, even in the event of default on the obligation; (b) in the event of

default, there will be either a private or public sale of the stock; and (c) prior to the exercise of any

ownership rights by a purchaser at a sale described in (b), any prior consent of the FCC and/or of the

franchising authority, if required pursuant to federal, state or local law or pursuant to the terms of

the franchise agreement will be obtained?

lf No, attach as an Exhibit a full explanation,

SECTION III. TRANSFEREE'S/ASSIGNEE'S FINANCIAL QUALIFICATIONS

1. The transferee/assignee certifies that it has sufficient net liquid assets on hand or available from

committed resources to consummate the transaction and operate the facilities for three months.

2. Attach as an Exhibit the most recent financial statements, prepared in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principals, including a balance sheet and income statement for at least one full

year, for the transferee/assignee or parent entity that has been prepared in the ordinary course of

business, if any such financial statements are routinely prepared. Such statements, if not otherwise

publicly available, may be marked CONFIDENTIAL and will be maintained as confidential by the

franchise authority and its agents to the extent permissible under local law.

SECTION IV. TRANSFEREE'S/ASSIG N EE'S TECH N ICAL QUALI FICATIONS

Set forth in an Exhibit a narrative account of the transferee's/assignee's technical qualifications, experience

and expertise regarding cable television systems, including, but not limited to, summary information about

appropriate management personnel that will be involved in the system's management and operations. The

transferee/assignee may, but need not, list a representative sample of cable systems currently or formerly

owned or operated.

lf the applicant is a corporation or a limited partnership, is the transferee/assignee formed under the I V"t ff No

laws of, or duly qualified to transact business in, the State or other jurisdiction in which the system

operates?

5

Exhibit No.

N/A

Yes No

Exhibit No.

N/A

f, ves No

Exhibit No.

N/A

Yes No

Yes No

Exhibit No

N/A

b

7

No

Exhibit No

4

Exhibit No

5

ves I

X

x

X

X

X
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SECTION V - CERTIFICATIONS

Part I - Transferor/Assignor

All the statements made in the application and attached exhibits are considered material representations, and all the Exhibits

are a material part hereof and are incorporated herein as if set out in full in the application.

Part ll - Transferee/Assignee

All the statements made in the application and attached Exhibits are considered material representations, and all the Exhibits

are a material part hereof and are incorporated herein as if set out in full in the application.

The transferee/assignee certifies that he/she:

(a) Has a current copy of the FCC's Rules governing cable television systems.

(b) Has a current copy of the franchise that is the subject of this application, and of any applicable state laws or local

ordinances and related regulations.

(c) Will use its best efforts to comply with the terms of the franchise and applicable state laws or local ordinances and related

regulations, and to effect changes, as promptly as practicable, in the operation system, if any changes are necessary to cure

any violations thereof or defaults thereunder presently in effect or ongoing'

I CERTIFY that the statements in this application are true,

complete and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief and

are made in good faith.

WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS MADE ON THIS FORM ARE

PUNISHABLE BY FINE AND/OR IMPRISONMENT. U.S. CODE,

TITLE 18, SECTION 1001.

full name

John T. Komeiji, CAO & General Counsel

Check appropriate classification :

lndividual General Partner X
Corporate Officer

(lndicate Title)
Other. Explain:

I CERTIFY that the statements in this application are true,

complete and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief and

are made in good faith.

WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS MADE ON THIS FORM ARE

PUNISHABLE BY FINE AND/OR IMPRISONMENT. U.S. CODE,

TTTLE 18, SECTION 1001.

full name

Check appropriate classification

lndividual
Corporate Officer

(lndicate Title)
Other. Explain:General Partner

FCC 394 (Page 5) September 1996



SECTION V. CERTIFICATIONS

Part I - Transferor/Assignor

All the statements made in the application and attached exhibits are considered material representations, and all the Exhibits
are a material part hereof and are incorporated herein as if set oul in full in the application.

Part ll - Transferee/Assignee

All the statements made in the application and attached Exhibits are considered material representations, and all the Exhibits
are a material part hereof and are incorporated herein as if set out in full in the application.

The transferee/assignee cerlifìes that he/she:

(a) Has a current copy of the FCC's Rules governing cable television systems.

(b) Has a current copy of the franchise that is the subject of this application, and of any applicable state laws or local
ordinances and related regulations.

(c) Will use its best efforts to comply with the terms of the franchise and applicable state laws or local ordlnances and related
regulations, and to effect changes, as promptly as practicable, in the operatíon system, if any changes are necessary to cure
any violalions thereof or defaults thereunder presently in effect or ongoing.

V ;æ {*t;ãun þ * ú Cau^ut

I CËRTIFY that the stalements in this applicat¡on are true,
complete and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief and
are made in good faith.

S¡gnature

WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS MADE ON THIS FORM ARE
PUNISHABLE BY FINE AND/OR IMPRISONMENT. U.S. CODE
TITLE 18, SECTION 1001.

Date

Pr¡nt full nâme

Checkl appropriate classification :

lndividual Generaf Partner
Corporate Offìcer

(lndicate Title)
Other. Explain

I CERTIFY that the statements in this application are true,
complete and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief and
are made in good faith.

S¡gnature

WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS MADE ON THIS FORM ARE
PUNISHABLE BY FINE AND/OR IMPRISONMENT. U.S. CODE

TITLE 18, SECTION 1001. tL-irÇrrÁ*.'T U/r'/rn *
?o t

)rint full name

us+ /ë

eckl appropriate classificalion:

lndividual K
ch

General Partner Other. Explain
Corporate Officer

(lndicate Title)

FCC 394 (Paee 5) September 1996
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FCC FORM 394
Applicanl's Name: Crncinnati Bell Inc.

Transf'eror's Name: Hawaiian Telcom Holdco, Inc.

Cablc Franchise System(s): Harvaiian Telcom
Services Cotnpany, Inc.

EXHIBIT 1

Merger Agreement

2.(a) Attach as an Exhibit a copy of the contract or agreement that provides for the
assignment or transfer of control (including any exhibits or schedules thereto
necessary in order to understand the terms thereof). If there is only an oral
agreement, reduce the terms to writing and attach. (Confidential trade, business,
pricing or marketing information, or other information not otherwise publicly
available, may be redacted).

(b) Does the contract submitted in response to (a) above embody the full and complete
agreement between the transferor/assignor and the transferee/assignee?

If No, explain in an Exhibit.

Attached hereto is a copy of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 9,2017
(the "Agreement"), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.



7t18t2017

EX-2.1 2 ex2-1.hlm

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgarldalal716133100009501 5717001 065/ex2-1 . htm

Exhibit 2.1

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

Dated as of July 9,2017,

HAWAIIAN TELCOM HOLDCO, INC.,

CINCINNATI BELL INC.

TWIN ACQUISITION CORP

Arnong

and

https://wvwv.sec.gov/Archives/e dgattdalal716133/00009501571 7001065/ex2-1 .htm 1/98
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this "Aereement") dated as of July 9,2017, arnong Hawaiian Telcom Holdco,

I¡c., a Delaware corporation ("Company"), Cincinnati Bell Inc., an Ohio corporation ("Parent"), and Twin Acquisition Corp., a

Delaware corporation and a directly wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merser Sub").

WHEREAS each of the Board of Directors of the Company, the Board of Directors of Parent and the Board of
Directors of Merger Sub has approved and declared advisable this Agreen'rent and determined that the Merger on the terms provided

for in this Agreement is advisable and in the best interests of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub, as applicable, and its respective

stockholders or shareholders, as applicable;

WHEREAS the Board of Directors of the Company and the Board of Directors of Merger Sub each has

recommended that its stockholdels adopt this Agreernent;

WHEREAS concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and as a condition to the willingness of
parent and Merger.Sub to enter into this Agreernent, Parent and cerlain stockholders of the Company are entering into a voting

agreement (the "Voting Agr.eernent"), pursuant to which, among other things, such stockholders have agleed to vote to adopt this

Agreement, upon the ternrs and subject to the conditions set forth hefein; and

WHEREAS the Company, Palent and Merger Sub desire to make cettain representations, wat'ranties, covenants and

agreements in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

The Merger

SECTION 1 .01 . The Merger. Upon the terms and subject to the conditiot'rs set forth in this Agreement, and iu

accordance with the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "EeL"), at the Effective Time, Merger

Sub shall be rnerged with and into the Company (the "Uþ¡gq"), the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall thereupon cease,

and the Company shall be the surviving corporation in the Merger. The Company, as the surviving corporation after the Merger, is

hereinafter referled to as the "surviving Corporation".

SECTION 1.02. Closing. The closing (the "Çþgi¡g") of the Merger shall take place at the offices of Cravath,

Swaine & Moore LLp, Worldwideplaza, S25 Eighth Avenue, New York, New York 10019 at 10:00 a.rn., New York City tirne, on a

date to be specified by the Company and Parent, which shall be no later than the second Business Day following the satisfaction or (to

the extent permitted by Law) waiver by the party or parties entitled to the benefits thereof of the conditions set forth in Article VII

(other than those conditions that by their.nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent

permitted by Law) waiver of those conditions), or at such other place, time and date as shall be agreed in writing between the Cornpany

ànd parent;'p,nt¿idgd, however, that if all the conditions set for"th in Article VII do not remain satisfied or (to the extent permitted by

Law) have not been waived on such second Business Day, then the Closing shall take place on the first Business Day thereafter on

which all such conditions shall have been satisfied or (to the extent permitted by Law) waived; provided, further that, if the Marketing

period has not ended at the time of the satisfaction or waivel of the conditions set forth in Article VII (other than those conditions that

by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver of those

cà'ditions at such time), then, subject to the continued satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Arliclc VII at such tirne, the

Closing shall occur instead on the earliest of (i) any Business Day during the Marketing Period as may be specified by Parent on no

less than two Business Days' prior written notice to the Company, (ii) the second Business Day following the frnal day of the

Marketing period or (iii) such other place, time and date as may be agreed by the Company and Parent. The date on which the closing

oçcurs is refelred to in this Agreement as the "Ç-þ!.ing-D-d9".
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SECTION 1.03. Effective Tirne. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, as soorl as practicable on the Closing

Date, the Cornpany shall cause the Merger to be consummated by filing a çertificate of merger executed itr accordance with, and in

such forrn as is required by, the relevant provisions of the DGCL (the "Cerlificate of Mereer"), and shall make all other filings,

recordings or publications required under the DGCL in connection with the Merger, The Merger shall become effective at the time that

the Certificate of Merger is filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the "Secretary of State") or, to the extent

permitted by applicable Law, af such later tirne as is agreed to by the parties hereto prior to the filing of such Certificate of Merger and

specified in the Certificate of Merger (the time at which the Merger becomes effective is herein referred to as the "Effective Time").

SECTION 1.04. Effects of the Merger. The Merger shall have the effects provided in this Agreement and as set

forth in the applicable provisions, including Section 259, of the DGCL.

SECTION 1.05. Charter and Bylaws. At the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation of the Company, as in

effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter

changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law (and subject to Section 6.05 hereof). The bylaws ofthe Surviving

Corporation in effect ftom and after the Effective Tirne and until thereafter changed or arnended as provided therein or by applicable

Law shall be in the form of the bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, except that referençes to the

name of Merger Sub shall be replaced by references to the name of the Surviving Corporation (the "Survivins Corporation Bylaws").

SECTION 1.06. Board of Directors and Officers of Surviving Corporation. The directors of Merger Sub

immediately prior to the Effective Time shall become the dil'ectors of the Surviving Corporation as of the Effective Time until the

earlier of their resignation or renroval in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation or

until their respective successors have been duly elected and qualified, as the case may be. The officers of the Company immediately

prior to the Effective Time shall continue as the offrcers of the Surviving Corporation immediately following the Effective Time until

their respective successors are duly appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the

certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation. The parties acknowledge and agree that following the Effective

Time Parent shall cause the board of directors of the Surviving Corporation to include individuals who are "domiciled" (within the

meaning of Section l8-235-1.03 of the I-Iawaii Administrative Rules) in Hawaii.

2
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ARTICLE II

Effect on the Stock ofthe
Constituent Corporations: Exchange of Certificates

SECTION 2.0 I . Effect on Stock. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part

of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub or the holder of any shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company (the

"Compan)' Common Stock") or any shares of capital stock of Merger Sub:

(a) Capital Stock of Merger Sub. Each issued and outstanding share of capital stock of Merger Sub shall be

convefted into and becorne one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of commou stock, parvalue $0.001 pershare, of the

Surviving Corporation.

(b) Cancelation of Certain Shares, All shares of Company Cotnmon Stock that are owned by the Company as

treasury stock imrnediately prior to the Effective Tilne shall be canceled and shall cease to exist and no consideration shall be delivered

in exchange therefor. All shares of Company Common Stock held by Parent or Merger Sub irnmediately prior to the Effective Time

shatl becanceledandshall ceasetoexistandnoconsiderationshallbedeliveredinexchangetherefor, EachshareofCompany

Common Stock that is owned by any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company or of Parent (other than Merger Sub)

shall not represent the right to receive the Merger Consideration and shall be, at the election of Parent, either (i) converted into shares

of com¡ron stock of the Surviving Corporation or (ii) canceled. Each Excluded Share shall be canceled at the Effective Time and,

subject to Section 2.03,no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(c) Conversion of Company Common Stock. Subject to Sections 2.01(b) and2.02(f), each share of Company

Comrnon Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than shares of Company Common Stock that are

owned by stockholders ("Dj5¡.CUüngSloçkhgld-e$") who have made and not withdrawn a demand for appraisal rights in accordauce

with Section 262 of the DGCL (each such share of Company Common Stock, an "Excluded Share" and, collectively, the "Excluded

Shares") shall be converted into the right to receive any of the following forms of consideration (the "Merger Consideration"):

(i) for each share of Company Cornmon Stock with respect to which an election to receive only

Parent Common Shares (a "Share Election") has been validly tnade and not revoked (collectively, the "Share

Electior,Shares"),therighttoreceive1.6305fullypaidandnouassessableParentCommonShares(the"Share
Consideration");

3
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(ii) for each share of Company Cornmon Stock with respect to which ar.r election to receive both

Parent Common Shares and cash (a "Mixed Election") has been validly made and trot revoked (collectively, the

"Mi_Xed E!_ecli.en_fuæ!."), the right to receive (A) 0.6522 fully paid and nonassessable Parent Commou Shares (the
..@,,)plus(B)$l8.45incash(the..MixedCashConsideration''and,togetherwiththe
Mixed Share Consideration, the "Mixed Consideration");

(iii) for each share of Company Common Stock with respect to which an election to receive only

cash (a "Cash Election") has been validly made and not revoked (collectively, the "Cash Election Shares"), the right

to receive $30.75 in cash (the "QtllÇ.ansj-derclion"); and

(iv) for each share of Company Common Stock other than shares as to which a Share Election,

Mixed Election or Cash Election has been validly made aud not revoked (collectively, the "NgIlÈ.þ1ig4-ShêIgg",
and the failure to make either a Share Election, Mixed Election ot Cash Election, a "Nq¡L.lEþçû9.n"), the right to

leceive the Mixed Consideration.

(d) All such shares of Company Common Stock, when so converted pursuaut to Section 2.01(c), shall no longer be

outstandi¡g a¡d shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and each holder of a certificate that irnmediately prior to the

Effective Time represented any such shares of Company Common Stock (each, a "Cettifìcate") (other than any Excluded Shares) and

each holder of shar.es of Company Common Stock held in book-entry form (other than any Excluded Shares) shall, in each case, cease

to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration and any cash in lieu offractional Parent

Common Shares to be issued or paid in consideration therefor aud any dividends or other distributions to which holders become

entitledinacco¡dancewithsection2.02,withoutinterest. ForpurposesofthisAgreetneut,"ParentCommonShares"meansthe
commonshares,parvalue$0.01 pershare,ofParent. Notwithstandingtheforegoing,if betweenthedateofthisAgreementandthe
Effective Time the number of outstanding Parent Common Shares or shares of Cornpany Common Stock shall have been changed into

a different number ofshares or a different class, by reason ofany stock dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split,

combination or exchange of shares, ol any similar event shall have occurred, then any numbet'or amount contained herein which is

based upon the number of Parent Common Shares or shares of Company Comtnon Stock, as the case may be, will be appropriately

adjusted to provide to Parent and the holders of Company Common Stock the same economic effect as contemplated by this

Agreement prior to such event. The right of any holder of Cornpany Comtnon Stock to receive the Merger Consideration shall be

subject in all cases to the provisions of Section 2.02.

SECTION 2.02. Exchanee of Certificatesl Book-Entry Shares. (a) Exchanse Agent. Prior to the Mailing Date,

Parent shall appoint a bank ol trust colxpany reasonably acceptable to the Company to act as exchange agent (the "Exchange Aeent")

for the payrne¡rt of the Merger Consideration. At or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit with the Exchange Agent, for the

benefit of the holders of Company Common Stock, for exchange in accordance with this Article II through the Exchange Agent, (i) the

aggregate number of Parent Comrnon Shares to be issued pursuant to Section 2.01(c) and (ii) an alnourlt of cash representing the

aggregate amount of cash payable pursuant to 2.01(c). In addition, Parent shall deposit fi'om time to time as needed, cash sufficient to

nrake payments in lieu of fractional shales pnrsuant to Section 2.02(Ð, All such Parent Common Shares and cash deposited with the

Exchange Agent is hereinafter referred to as the "Eðglla!g9-Eu!.d"'
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(b) Letter of Transmittal. As promptty as practicable after the Effective Time, and in any event not later than the

third Busi¡ess Day thereafter, Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of Company Common Stock

(other than Excluded Shares) a form of letter of transmittal (the "Letter of Transmittal") (which shall specif, that delivery shall be

effected, and risk of loss and title to any Certifrcates shall pass, only upon delivery of such Certificates to the Exchange Agent and

shall be in such fo¡¡ and have such other provisions (including custotnary provisions with respect to delivery of an "agent's message"

with respect to shares held in book-entry form) as Parent may specify subject to the Company's reasonable approval), together with

instruçtions thereto.

(c) Merger Consideration Received in Connection with Exchange. Upon (i) in the case of shares of Company

Com¡ron Stock represented by a Cerlificate, the surrender of such Certificate for cancellation to the Exchange Agent, or (ii) in the case

of shares of Company Common Stock held in book-entry form, the receipt of an "agent's tnessage" by the Exchange Agent, in each

case together with the associated Letter of Transmittal, duly, completely and validly executed in accordance with the instructions

thereto, and such other.documents as may reasonably be required by the Exchange Agent, the holdel of such shares shall be entitled to

receive in exchange ther.efor (i) that number of whole Parent Common Shares that such holder is entitled to receive pursuant to Section

2.01(c) and/or (ii) an amount of immediately available funds equal to (x) the cash amountthat such holder is entitledto receive

pursuant to Section 2.01(c) plus (y) any cash in lieu of fractional shares which the holder has the right to receive pursuant to2.02(Ð

plus (z) any dividends or other distributions which the holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 2.02(d). In the event of a

transfer of ownership of Company Common Stock which is not registeled in the transfer records of the Company, a certificate

representing the proper number of Parent Common Shares pursuant to Section 2,01(c), together with a check in the amount equal to

any cash payable pursuant to Sectior, 2.0 1(c) and any cash in lieu of fractional shares which the holder has the right to receive pursuant

to Section 2.02(Ð a¡d any dividends or other distributions which the holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 2.02(d) may be

issued and/or paid to a transferee if the Certificate representing such Cornpany Common Stock (or, if such Cornpany Common Stock is

held in book-entry form, proper evidence of such transfer) is presented to the Exchange Agent, accompanied by all documents required

to evidence and effect such transfer and by evidence that any applicable stock transfer Taxes have been paid. Until surrendered as

contemplated by this Section 2.}2(c),each share of Conrpany Comrnon Stock, and any Certifìcate with respect thereto shall be deemed

at any time from a¡d after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender the Merger Consideration

which the holders of shares of Cornpany Common Stock were entitled to receive in respect of such shares pursuant to Section 2.01

(and cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.02(Ð and any dividends or other distributions pursuant to Section 2.02(d)).

No i¡terest shall be paid or shall accrue on the cash payable upon surrender of any Certificate (or shares of Company Common Stock

held in book-entry form).

5
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(d l Treatment of Unexcha . No dividends or other distributions declared or made with respect to Paretrt

Common Shares with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Certificate (or shares of
Company Comnron Stock held in book-entry fornr) with respect to the number of Parent Common Shares issuable upon surrender

thereof, and no cash payment in lieu offractional shares shall be paid to any such holder pursuant to Section 2.02(Ð, until the surrender

of such Certificate (or such shares of Company Common Stock held in book-entry form) in açcordance with this Article II. Subject to

escheat, Tax or other applicable Law, following surrender of any such Certificate (or shares of Company Common Stock held in book-

e¡try form), there shall be paid to the holder of the certifìcate representing whole Parent Comrnon Shares issued in exchange therefor,

without interest, (i) at the time of such surrender, the amount of any cash payable in lieu of a fractional Parent Common Share to which

such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 2.02(Ð and the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the

Effective Time theretofore paid with respect to such whole Parent Common Shares and (ii) at the appropriate payment date, the amount

of divide¡ds or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to such surrender aud a payment date

subsequent to such surrender payable with respect to such whole Parent Common Shares.

(e) No Furlher Ownership Rights in Company Common Stock. The Merget Consideration, any dividends or other

distributions payable pursuant to Section 2.02(d) and cash in lieu of any fractional shares payable pursuant to Section 2.02(Ð paid upon

the surrender of Certificates (or shares of Cornpany Cornmon Stock held in book-entry form) in accordance with the terms of this

Article II shall be deemed to have been issued and paid in full satisfaction of all rights perlaining to the shares of Company Common

Stock formerly represented by such Certificates (or shales of Company Common Stock held in book-entry folm). Flom and after the

Effective Time, there shall be no further legistration oftransfers on the stock tlansfer books ofthe Surviving Corpolation ofshares of
Compa¡y Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, any Certificates

formerly representing shares of Company Common Stock (or shares of Cornpany Commot.t Stock held in book-entry form) are

prese¡ted to Parent or the Exchange Agent for any reason, they shall be canceled and exchanged as provided in this Article II.

(f) No Fractional Shares. No certifrcates or scrip representing fractional Parent Common Shares shall be issued

upon the conversion of Company Courmon Stock pursuant to Section 2.01, and such fractional share interests shall not entitle the

ownerther.eoftovoteortoanyrightsofaholderofParentCommonshares. NotwithstandinganyotherprovisionofthisAgreement,
each holder of shares of Cornpany Comrnon Stock convefted pursuant to the Merger who, based on the Share Consideration or Mixed

Share Consideration, as applicable, would have been entitled to receive a fraction of a Parent Cotnmon Share (after taking into account

all shares of Cornpany Comrnon Stock exchanged by such holder, including shares that are the subject of valid affidavits of loss

thereof) shall receive, i¡ lieu thereof, cash (without interest) in an amount equal to such fractional amount rnultiplied by the closing

sale price for parent Common Shares on the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE") (as reported in The Iilall Street Jottrnal or, if not

reported therein, i¡ another authoritative source nutually selected by Parent and the Company) for the trading day immediately

preceding the date of the Effective Time,
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(g) Termination of Exchange Fund. Any portion of the Exchange Fund (including any interest received with respect

thereto) that remains undistributed to the holders of Company Common Stock for one year after the Effective Time shall be delivered

to Parent, upon demand, and any holder of Cornpany Common Stock (other than Excluded Shares) who has not theretofore complied

with this Article II shall thereafter look only to Parent for payment of its claim for Merger Consideration, any cash in lieu of fi'actional

shares and any dividends and distributions to which such holder is entitled pursuant to this Article II.

(h) No Liability. None of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub or the Exchange Agent shall be liable to any Person in

respect of any portion of the Exchange Fund delivered to a public official in compliance with any applicable abandoned property,

escheat or similar Law. Any portion of the Exchange Fund which remains undistributed to the holders of Company Common Stock

immediately prior to such date on which the Exchange Fund otherwise would be required to escheat to, or becolne the property o1, any

Governmental Entity, shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of Parent, free and clear of all claims or

interest ofany Person previously entitled tltereto.

(i) Investment ofExchange Fund. The Exchange Agent shall invest any cash in the Exchange Fund as directed by

Parent. Any interest and other income resulting from such investrnents shall be paid to Parent. Parent shall or shall cause the Surviving

Corporation to promptly replace or restore the cash iu the Exchange Fund so as to ensure that the Exchange Fund is at all times

maintained at a level sufficient for the Exchange Agent to make all payments of Merger Consideration in accordance herewith. No

investment losses resulting flom investment of the funds deposited with the Exchange Agent shall diminish the rights of any holder of
shares of Company Comrnon Stock to receive the Merger Consideration as provided herein.

g Withholding Rishts. Each of Parent and the Exchange Agent (without duplication) shall be entitled to deduct and

withhold frorn the consideration otherwise payable to any holder of Company Common Stock pursuaut to this Agreetnent such

amounts as may be required to be deducted and withheld with respect to the making of such payment under the Code, or any other

applicable state, local or non-U.S. Tax Law. To the extent that anrounts are so withheld and rernitted to the applicable Governtnental

Entity by Palent and the Exchange Agent, as the case may be, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this

Agreenrent as having been paid to the holder of Company Common Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was

made.

(k) LostCerlifrcates, IfanyCertificateshallhavebeenlost,stolenordestroyed,upontl,emakingofanaffrdavitof
that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, ifrequired by Parent, the posting by such Person of
a bond, in such reasonable and custornary amount as Parent may direct, as indemnify against any claim that may be rnade against it
with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent shall issue, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Merger

Consideration, any cash in lieu offi'actional shares and any dividends and distributions on the Cerlificate deliverable in respect thereof

pursuant to this Article II.

SECTION 2.03. Dissenters'Rights. No Dissenting Stockholder shall be entitled to receive shares of Parent

Common Shares or cash or any dividends or othel distributions pursuant to the provisions of this Article II unless and until the holder'

thereof shall have faited to pelfect or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost such holder's right to dissent from the Merger under the

DGCL, and any Dissenting Stockholder shall be entitled to receive only the payment provided by Section 262 of the DGCL with

respect to shares of Company Common Stock owned by such Dissenting Stockholder. If any Person who otherwise would be deemed

a Dissenting Stockholder shall have failed to properly perfect or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost the right to dissent under

Section 262 of the DGCL or if a court of competent jurisdiction shall frnally determine that the Dissenting Stockholder is not entitled

to relief provided by Section 262 of the DGCL with respect to any shares of Cornpany Common Stock, such shares of Company

Common Stock shall thereupon be treated as though such shares had been converted, as of the Effective Time, into the rightto receive

the Merger Consideration without interest and less any required Tax withholding. For purposes of Section 2.01(c), such shares of
Cornpany Common Stock shall be deemed Non-Election Shares and shall be entitled to receive the Mixed Consideration. The

Company shall give Parent (i) prompt written notice of any written demands for appraisal, attempted withdrawals of such demands,

and any other instruments served pursuant to applicable Law received by the Cornpany relating to stockholders' rights ofappraisal, and

(ii) the opporlunity to direct all negotiations and proceedings with respeçt to demands for appraisal, The Cornpany shall not, except

with the prior written corlsent of Palent, voluntarily make any payment with respect to any demands for appraisal, offer to settle or

settle any such demands or approve any withdrawal of any such demands.
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SECTION 2.04. Election Procedures. (a) Each Person who, at or prior to the Election Deadline, is a record holder

of shares of Company Common Stock (which, for purposes of this Section2.04, shall include the holders of all Cash-Out RSUs) shall

have the right, subject to the limitations set forth in this Article II, to subrnit an election on or prior to the Election Deadline in

accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2,04.

(b) At the time of the rnailing of the Proxy Statement to holders of record of shares of Company Common Stock

entitled to vote at tþe Company Stockholders Meeting (the "&ilj.Ug-DaI9"), the Company shall use reasonable best efforts to mail an

election form and other appropriate and customary transmittal materials (which, in the case of shares of Cornpany Common Stock

represented by Certificates, shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the shares of Company Common

Stock represented by such Certificates shall pass, only upon proper delivery ofsuch Certificates to the Exchange Agent, upon

adherence to the procedure set forth in the Letter ofTransrnittal, and shall be in such form and have such other provisions as Parent and

the Company may reasonably agree) (the "EþçLi.q¡LEqrm") to each holder of record of shares of Company Common Stock as of the

record date for the Company Stockholders Meeting. Holders of record of Company Common Stock who hold such Company

Common Stock as nominees, trustee or in other representative capacities may, through proper instructions and documentation, submit a

separate Election Fonn on or before the Election Deadline with respect to each beneficial owner for whom such nominee, trustee or

replesentative holds such Company Common Stock.

(c) Each Election Folm shall permit each Person who, at or prior to the Election Deadline, is a record holder (or, in

the case ofnonrinee record holders, the beneficial owner, through proper instructions and docutnentation) ofshares ofCompany

Common Stock, other than any Dissenting Stockholder, to specify (i) the number of shares of Company Common Stock with respect

to which such holder makes a Share Election, (ii) the number of shares of Company Common Stock witlr respect to which such holder

makes a Mixed Election, and (iii) the number of shares of Cornpany Common Stock with respect to which such holder makes a Cash

Election.
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(d) Any shares of Comuron Stock with respect to which tl.re Exchange Agent has not received an effective, properly

conrpleted Election Form at or before 5:00 p.m., New York time, on the Business Day that is one (l) Business Day immediately

preceding the date of the Cornpany Stockbolders Meeting (or such other date as ûìay be rnutually agreed by Parent and the Company)

(the "Election Deadline"), shall be deemed to be Non-Election Shares. If the Company Stockholders Meeting is delayed to a

subsequent date, the Election Deadline shall be sirnilarly delayed to a subsequent date, and the Company shall prornptly announce any

such delay and, when determined, the rescheduled Election Deadline. For the avoidance of doubt, any Nor -Election Shares will
receive the Mixed Consideration.

(e) Parent shall direct the Exchange Agent to make Election Forms available as uray be reasonably requested from

time to time by all Persons who become holders of record of Company Cotnmon Stock between the record date for the Cornpany

Stockholders Meeting and the Election Deadline, and the Company shall provide to the Exchange Agent all information reasonably

necessary for the Exchange Agent to perform as specifìed in this Agreement and as specified in auy agreement between Parent and/or

the Company and the Exchange Agent.

(Ð Any election shall have been properly made only if the Exchange Agent shall have actually received a properly

completed Election Form by the Election Deadline. After a Share Election, Mixed Election or Cash Election is validly made with

respect to any shares of Cornpany Cornmon Stock, any subsequent transfer of such shares of Cornpany Common Stock shall

automatically revoke such election. Any Election Form may be revoked or changed by the Person submitting such Election Form, by

writtennoticeofsuchrevocationreceivedbytheExchangeAgentpriortotheElectionDeadline. IntheeventanElectionForlnis
revoked prior to the Election Deadline, the shares of Company Common Stock represented by such Election Form shall become Non-

Electio¡ Shares, except to the extent a subsequent election is properly made aud uot revoked with respect to any or all ofsuch shares of
Company Common Stock prior to the Election Deadline. Any termination of this Agreetnent in accordance with Article VIII shall

result in the revocation of all Election Forms delivered to the Exchange Agent on ol priolto the date of such termination.

(g) Subject to the terrns of this Agreement and of the Election Form, the Exchange Agent shall have reasonable

discretion to determine whether any election or revocation has been properly or tirnely made and to disregard imnraterial defects in any

submitted lllection Fo¡n. A¡y good faith deterrninations of the Exchange Agent (or, in the event that the Exchange Agent declines to

make any such determination, the joint determination of Parent and the Company) regalding such matters shall be binding and

conclusive. None of Parent, the Company or the Exchange Agent shall be under any obligation to notify any Person of any defect in

a¡ Electio¡ Fo¡n. The Exchange Agent (or, in the event the Exchange Agent declines to make such computations, Parent and the

Company jointly) shall also make all computations contemplated by Sections 2.01(c), 2.02(Ð and2.05 hereof, and absent

ma¡ifest error such computations shall be conclusive and binding on Parent, the Company and all holders of Cornpany Common

Stock.
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(h) The Company and Parent shall have the right to make rules, t'rot itrconsistent with the terms of this Agreement,

governing the validity and effectiveness of Election Forms aud Letters of Transmittal and the payment of the Merger Consideration.

SECTION 2.05. Proration. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement, within three

Business Days after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to efTect the following prorations to the Merger

Consideration:

(i) If the Cash Election Amount is greater than the Available Cash Election Amount, then each

Cash Election Share and Cash Election RSU Share shall, instead of being convefted into the Cash Considelation, be

convefted into the right to receive (A) an amount of cash (without interest) equal to the product of (x) the Cash

Consideration multipliedby (y) a fraction, (1) the nurnerator of which shall be the Available Cash Election Amount

and (2) the denominator of which shall be the Cash Election Amount (such fraction, the "ÇgË,!l-EIac!isn"), plus (B) a

nurnber of fully paid and nonassessable Parent Common Shares equal to the product of (x) the Share Consideration

multiplied by a fraction equal to one minus the Cash Fraction.

(ii) If the Available Cash Election Amount is greater than the Cash Election Amouut, then each

Share Election Share and Share Election RSU Share shall, instead of being couvetted into the right to receive the

Share Consideration, be converled into the right to receive (A) an amount of cash (without interest) equal to the

arnountof (x)such excessdividedby(y)thenumberofShareElectionSharesandShareElectionRSUSharesp/r.rs
(B) a number of fully paid and nonasssessable Parent Cotnmon Shares equal to the product of (x) the Share

Consideration nultiplied by (y) a fraction, (1) the numerator of which shall be the difference between (I) the Cash

Consideratior't ntinus (II) the amount calculated in clause (A) of this paragraph, and (2) the denominator of which
shall be the Cash Consideration.

ARTICLE III

Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub

Parent and Merger Sub jointly and severally represent and warrant to the Company that the stateurents contained in

this Article III are true and correct except as set forth in the Parent SEC Docurnents filed and publicly available prior to the date of this

Agreeme¡t (the "Filed Parent SEC Documents") (excluding any disclosures in the Filed Parent SEC Documents under the heading

"Risk Factors" (other than any statements of historical fact) and any other disclosures of risks thaf are predictive or forward-looking in

nature) or in the disclosure letter delivered by Parent to the Cornpany at or before the execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub

of this Agreement (the "Parent Disclosule Letter"). The Parent Disclosure Letter shall be arranged in numbered and lettered sections

corresponding to the numbered ar.rd lettered sections coutained in this Article III, and the disclosure in any section shall be deemed to

qualify other sections in this Article III to the extent that it is reasonably apparent fi'om the face ofsuch disclosure that such disclosure

also qualifies or applies to such other sections,
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SECTION 3.01. Organization. Standing and Power. Each of Parent and each of Parent's Subsidiaries (the "Parent

Subsidiaries") is duly orgatúzed, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction in which it is organized (in

the case ofgood sta¡ding, to the extent suchjurisdiction recognizes such cotrcept), except, in the case ofthe Parent Subsidiaries, where

the failure to be so organized, existing or in good standing, individually or in the aggregale, has not had and would not reasonably be

expected to have a parent Material Adverse Effect, Each of Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries has all requisite power and authority

u,1à porr"rr6 all governme¡tal franchises, licenses, permits, authorizatiotts, variances, exemptions, orders and approvals (collectively,
,,&!!g-i6") necessary to enable it to own, lease or otherwise hold its properties and assets and to conduct its busillesses as presently

conducted (the ,,pglenl_&rmjls,"), except where the failure to have such power or authority or to possess Parent Permits, individually or

in the aggregate, has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Each of Parent and the

parent Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to do business in each jurisdiction where the nature of its business orthe ownership,

operation or leasing of its properties and assets makes such qualification necessary, other than in such jurisdictions where the failure to

be so qualified or licensed, individually or in the aggregate, has uot had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent

Material Adverse Effect. Par.ent has made available to the Company, prior to execution of this Agreement, true and complete copies of
the Arnended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Parent in effect as of the date of this Agreernent (the "Pareglértiçlss") and the

Arnended and Restated Regulations of Parent in effect as of the date of this Agreetnent (the "Parent Regulations").

SECTION 3.02. Parent Subsidiaries. (a) All the outstanding shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other

equity interests in, each Parent Subsidiary have been validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable and are wholly owned by

Parent, by another Parent Subsidiary or by Parent and another Parent Subsidiary, free and clear ofall pledges, liens, charges,

moftgages, deeds of trust, encumbrances, judgrnents, optior, s, rights of first refusal or offer, defects in title and security interests of any

kind or ¡ature whatsoever (collectively, "Liens"), and free ofany other restriction (including any restriction on the rightto vote, sell or

otherwise dispose ofsuch capital stock, voting securities or other equify interests), except for restrictions imposed by applicable

secur.itiesLaws. parenthasprovidedtotheCompanyatrueandcompletelistofall ParentSubsidiariesasofthedateofthis

Agreetnent.

(b) Except for the capital stock and voting securities of, and other equity interests in, the Parent Subsidiaries, neither

parent nor any parent Subsidiary owns, directly or indirectly, any capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, or

any interest conveftible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, any capital stock or voting securities of, or other equify interests in,

any firm, corporation, parlnership, company, limited liability colnpany, trust, joint venture, association or other entity'

SECTION 3.03. Capital Structure. (a) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of 96,000,000 Parent

CommonShares,l,357,2ggsharesofvotingpreferredshares,witlroutparvalue(..@''),andl,000'000
shares of non-voting preferred shares, without par value ("Parent Non'Voting Preferred Shares" and, together with the Parent Comnlon

Slrares and the Parent Voting Preferred Shares, tl.re "Parent Capital Stock"). At the close of business on July 7 , 2017 (the
.,Capitalization Date"), (i) 42,173,872 Parent Common Shares were issued and outstanding (including Parent Common Shares subject

to vesting restrictions and/or forfeiture back to Parent) and no Pareut Common Shares were held in the treasury of Parent, (ii) 155'250

parent Vãting prefer.red Shares designated as 6 314% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares ("6 3/4% Preferred Shares") were

issged and outstanding, (iii) no ParentNon-Voting Preferred Shares were issued and outstanding, (iv) 4,751,055 Parent Common

Shares were reserved and available for issuance pursuant to the Parent Stock Plans, of which 1,701,055 Parent Common Shares were

reserved for.issuance under outstanding Parent Stock Options, Parerrt SARs and Parent RSUs (assuming settlement of outstanding

awards based o¡ maxirnum achievement of any applicable perfornrance goals) (collectively, the "Parent Stock-Based Awards") and (v)

2,301 parent Common Shares were payable pursuant to the Parent Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors (the "Parent

Deferred Compensation plan for Outside Directors"). Except as set forth in this Section 3.03(a), at the close of business on the

Capitalization Date, ¡o shares ofcapital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, Parent were issued, reserved for

issuanceoroutstanding. Fro¡rthecloseofbusinessontheCapitalizationDatetothedateofthisAgreernent,therehavebeenno
issuances by parent ofshares ofcapital stock or voting securities of, or other equity iuterests in, Parent other than the issuance of
parent Common Sharçs (A) upon the exercise of Parent Stock Options outstanding at the close of business on the Capitalization Date,

(B) upon the vesting and settlement of Parent RSUs outstanding at the close of business on the Capitalization Date, or (C) pursuant to

the parent Deferred Cornpensation Plan for Outside Directors, in each case it't accordançe with their terms iu effect on the

Capitalization Date.
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(b) All outstanding shares of Parent Capital Stock and all such shares that rnay be issued pursuant to the instrutnents

or pla¡s described in Section 3.03(a) are, or will be when issued, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not

,ub;..t to, or issued i¡ violation of, any purchase option, call option, right offirst refusal, preemptive right, subscription right or auy

similar right under any provision of the Ohio General Corporation Law (the "OGCL"), the Parent Articles, the Parent Regttlations or

anyContiacttowhichÞarentis apartyorotherwisebound. TheParentComtnonSharesconstitutingtheshareConsiderationandthe

Mixed Share Cor"rsideration will be, when issued, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nouassessable and not subject to, or

issued in violation of, a¡y purchase option, call option, right of first refusal, preemptive right, subscription right or any similar right

under a'y provisio¡ of tlie OGCL, the Parent Articles, the Parent Regulations or any Coutract to which Parent is a party or otherwise

bourrd. Except as set forth in this Section 3.03, as of the close of bnsiness on the CapitalizationDate, there are not issued, reserved for

issuance or outstanding, and there are not any outstanding obligations ofParent or any Parent Subsidiary to issue, deliver or sell, or

cause to be issued, delivered or sold, (i) except as required by the terms ofthe 6 3l4o/oPreferred Shares, any capital stock or voting

securities of, or other equity i¡terests in, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or any securities ofParent or any Parent Subsidiary

convertible into or exchangeable or exel.cisable for shares ofcapital stock or voting securities of, ol other equity interests in, Parent or

any parent Subsidiary, (ii)ãny warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire frorn Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, or any other

obiigation ofparent or any parent Subsidiary to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any capital stock or

votiig securities of, or other equity interests in, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, or (iii) any rights issued by or other obligations of
parenJ or any pare¡t Subsidiary that are linked in any way to the price ofany class ofParent Capital Stock or any shares ofcapital

stock or voting securities of, or other.equify interests in, any Parent Subsidiary, the value ofParent, any Parent Subsidiary or any part

ofparent or any parent Subsidiary or any dividends or other distributions declared or paid on any shares ofcapital stock or voting

securities of, or other equity i¡terests in, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary. Except as set forlh above in this Section 3 .03 or in

connection with parent Stock-Based Awards, as of the close of business on the Capitalization Date, there are not any outstanding

obligations ofparent or any ofthe parent Subsidiaries to lepurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares ofcapital stock or voting

,..uiiti* or other equity interests ofparent or any Parent Subsidiary or any securities, interests, warrants, calls, options or other rights

referred to in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) ofthe imrnediately preceding sentence. Except as set forth above in this Section 3.03, there are no

bonds, debe'tures, notes or other Indebtedness ofParent that have or by their terms may have at any tinre the right to vote (which are

convertible i¡to, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which sl,areholders of Parent may vote

(,.pare't Votin€,Dçb!',). Neither parent nor any of the Palent Subsidiaries is a pafty to any voting agreement with respect to the voting

ofanycapitalstockorvotingsecuritiesof,orotherequityinterestsin,Parent. ExceptforthisAgreement,neitherParentnoranyofthe
parent Sibsi¿iaries is a paúy to any agreement pursuant to which any Person is entitled to elect, designate or nominate any director of

Parent or any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries.
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SECTION 3.04. Authorit)¡: Execution and Deliveryl Enforceability. (a) Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all

requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perfortn its obligations hereunder and to consummate

the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, subject, in the case of the Merger, to the adoption of this Agreement by
parent as the sole stockholder of Merger sub, The Parent Board has adopted resolutions, by a vote at a meeting duly called at which a

quoruln of directors of Parent was present, (i) approving this Agreerrent, (ii) determining that entering into this Agreernent is in the

best i¡terests of Parer.rt and its shareholders and (iii) declaring this Agreement and the Merger advisable. Such resolutions have not

been anrended or withdrawn as of the date of this Agreement. The Board of Directors of Merger Sub has adopted resolutions, by

unanimous written consent, (A) approving this Agreement, (B) declaring advisable this Agreernent and the Merger on substantially the

terms and conditions set forth in this Agreernent and determining that the Merger is in the best interests of Merger Sub and Parent, as

its sole stockholder, and (C) recommending that Parent, as sole stockholder of Merger Sub, adopt this Agreement and directing that this

Agree¡rent be subrnitted to Parent, as sole stockholder of Merger Sub, for adoption. Such resolutions have not been amended or

withdrawn as of the date of this Agreement. Parent, as sole stockholder of Merger Sub, will, immediately following the execution and

delivery of this Agreement by each of the parties hereto, adopt this Agleement. Except for the adoption of this Agreement by Parent as

the sole stockholder of Merger Sub, no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to authorize,

adopt or approve, as applicable, this Agreement or to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contetnplated hereby' Each of
pa.ånt aná Merger Sub has duly executed and delivered this Agreement and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by

the Company, tLris Agreement constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation, enfotceable against it in accordance with its terms,

except tliat such enforceability (i) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other

simiiar Laws of general application affecting or relating to the enforcernent of creditors' rights generally and (ii) is subject to general

principles of equity, whether considered in a proceeding at law or in equity (the "Bankruptcy and Equitv Exception").
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(b) Assurning the accuracy of the Company's represeutation in the last sentence of Section 4.04(b), no "interested

shareholder", "fair price", "uloratorium", "control share acquisition" or other sirnilar antitakeover statute or similar statute or

regulation, or similar provision or term of the Parent Articles or Parent Regulations, applies with respect to Parent or Merger Sub with

reipect to this Agreement, the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby. Neither Parent nor Merger Sub nor any of
their respective "affiliates" or "associates" (as such terms are defrned in Section 203 of the DGCL) is, or at any time during the past

thr.ee years has been, an "i¡terested stockholder" of the Company as defrned in Section 203 of the DGCL, nor do any of them currently

own any shares of Company Common Stock.

(c) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has in effect a "poison pill", shareholder rights plan or other similar

plan or agreement.

SECTION 3.05. No Conflicts: Consents. (a) The execution and delivery by each of Parent and Merger Sub of this

Agreement does not, and the performance by it of its obligations he reunder and the consummation of the Merger and the other

transactions contemplated hereby will not, (i) conflict with or result in any violation of any provision of the Parent Arlicles, the Parent

Regulations or tl.re comparable charler, bylaws or other organizational documents of any Parent Subsidiary, (ii) conflict with, or result

in any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of tirne, or both) under, give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or

acceieration of, give rise to a¡y obligation to make an offer to purchase or redeetn any Indebtedness or capital stock, voting securities

or equity inter.ests or any loss of a material benefit under, or lesult in the creation of any Lien upon any of the pl'operties or assets of
pa.ent or any parent Subsidiar.y under, any legally binding contract, lease, license, indenture, note, bond, agreenlent, concession,

franchise or other instrument (a "Contract") to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is a party or by which any of their respective

properlies or assets is bound or any parent Permit or (iii) subject to the filings and other matters referred to in Section 3.05(b), conflict

witÀ or result i¡ a¡y violatio¡ of any judgment, order or decree ("Judement") or statute, law (including colxllloll law), ordir, ance, rule

or regulation (,,Law,'), in each case, applicable to Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or their respective properlies or assets, other than, in

the cãse ofclauses (ii) and (iii) above, any matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be

expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(b) No conse¡t, approval, clearance, waiver, authorization, waiting period expiration, Permit or order ("Consent") of

or from, or registration, declaration, notice or filing rnade to or with any Federal, national, state, provincial or local, whether domestic

or foreign, governlÌlent or any court of competent jurisdiction, adrninistrative agellcy or comtnission or other governmental authority or

instrumentality, whether domestic, foreign or supranational (a "Govglnl1lglúal -E$i&"), is required to be obtained or tnade by or with

respect to parent or any parent Subsidiaiy in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or its performance of its

obúgations hereunder or the consummation of the Merger and the othertransactions contemplated heleby, other than (i) the filing with

the Securities and Exchange Comrnission (the "SEe"), and declaration of effectiveness under the Sectrrities Act of 193 3, as amended

(the ,,securities Act"), of the registration stateÍnent on Forrn S-4 in connection with the issuance by Parent of the Parent Common

Shares constituting tlre Share Consideration and the Mixed Share Consideration, in which the Proxy Statemeut will be included as a

prospectus (the,.Form S-4"), and (C) the fìling with the SEC of sucl, reports and other filings under, and such other compliance with,

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Erehangeéç!"), and the Securities Act, and the rules and regulations

thereu'der, as may be required in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby,

(ii) complia'ce with and hlirrgs under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Acf '),

iiii) t1.,. hling of the Certificale of Merger with the Secretary of State pursuant to the DGCL and appropriate documents with the

relevant authorities of the other jurisdictions in which Parent and the Company are qualified to do business, (iv) such Consents,

registrations, declarations, notices or filings as are required to be made or obtained undel the securities or "blue sky" Laws ofvarious

states in co'nection with the issuance of the Parent Common Shares constituting the Share Consideration and the Mixed Share

Co'sideration, (v) such Co¡sents from, or registrations, declarations, uotices or filings made to or with, the U.S. Federal

Communications Commission or any successor Governrnental Entity (the "!-CC") as are required in connection with the transactions

contemplated her.eby (the ,,parent FCC Consents"), (vi) such Consents from, or registrations, declarations, notices or filings made to or

with, stàte public service o. røt. public utility commissions (collectively, "State Reeulators") as are reqttired in connection with the

transactioni contemplated hereby (the "parent PSC Consents"), (vii) such Consents from, or registrations, declarations, notices or

filings 
'.rade 

to or with, gourr,1ni.nt, of counties, municipalities and any other subdivisions of a united states state (collectively,

,,k-ça¡ûes") in co'nectún with the provision of telecornmunication and media services as are required in connection with the

tr*raction, contemplated hereby (the "parent Local Consents"), (viii) such filings with and approvals of the NYSE as are t'equired to

permit the listing olthe parent Cornmon Shares constituting the Share Consideration and the Mixed Share Consideration and (ix) such

other matters that, individually or in the aggr.egate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material

Adverse Effect.
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SECTION 3.06. SEC Docurnents: Undisclosed Liabilities. (a) Parent has fulnished or filed all reports, schedules,

forms, statements and other documents (including exhibits and other infonnation incorporated therein) required to be furnished or filed

by Parent with the SEC since January 1, 2015 (such documents, together with any docutnents filed with or furnished to the SEC during

such period by Parent on a voluntary basis on a Current Report on Form 8-K, but excluding the Form S-4, being collectively referred to

as the "&reg!SE9bunaçú").

(b) Each Parent SEC Document (i) at the time filed, complied in all material respects with the requirements of the

Sarbanes-OxleyAct of2002("SOX")andtheExchangeActorthesecuritiesAct,asthecasemaybe,andtherulesandregulationsof
the SEC pro¡rulgated thereunder applicable to such Parent SEC Docurnent and (ii) did not at the time it was filed (or if amended or

superseded by a filing or arnendment prior to the date of this Agreement, then at the time of such filing or amendment) contain any

untl.ue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the

statements therei¡, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Each of the consolidated financial

statements of Parent included in the Parent SEC Documents complied at the time it was filed as to form in all material respects with

applicable accounting requirernents and the published rules and regulations ofthe SEC with respect thereto, was prepared in

accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ('GAAP") (except, in the case of unaudited statelnents, as

permitted by Form l0-Q of the SEC or other rules and regulations of the SEC) applied on a consistent basis during the periods

involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and fairly presented in all material respects the consolidated financial

positio¡ ofparent and its consolidated Subsidiaries as ofthe dates thereofand the consolidated results oftheir operations and cash

flows for the periods shown (subject, in the case of unaudited stater.nents, to normal year-end audit adjustments)'

t5

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/e dgaildalal716133/0000950'1 5717001 06s/ex2-1 .htm 23198



7t18t2017 https://wwvv.sec.gov/Archives/e dgarldalal716133/00009501 5717001065/ex2-1 'htm

(c) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has any liabilities or obligations of auy uature (whether accrued,

absolute, continge¡t or otherwise) that, individually ol in the aggregate, have had or would reasonably be expected to have a Parent

Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Parentmaintainsasystemof"internalcontroloverfinancialreporting"(asdefinedinRulesl3a-15(f)and15d-
l5(f of the Excl.range Act) sufficient to provide reasonable assurance (i) that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAR consistently applied, (ii) that transactions are executed only in

accordance with the authorization of management and (iii) regarding prevention or tirnely detection of the unauthorized acquisition,

use or disposition ofParent's properties or assets.

(e) The "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ofthe Exchange Act)

utilized by parent are reasonably designed to ensure that all information (both financial and non-fìnancial) required to be disclosed by

parent in ihe reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the rules and fonns ofthe SEC and that all such infonnation requiled to be disclosed is accumulated and

communicated to the management of Parent, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to enable the

chief executive officer and chief financial officer of Parent to make the certifications required under the Exchange Act with respeQt to

such reports.

(f) Neither Parent nor any of the Parent Subsidiaries is apaúy to, or has any con'rmitment to become apafty to, any

joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any similar Contract (including any Contract or arrangement relating to any transaction

or relatio¡ship betwee¡ or among Parent and any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any unconsolidated Affiliate,

i'cluding any structured finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity or Person, on the other hand, or any "off-balance-sheet

arrangements" (as defined in Item 303(a) ofRegulation S-K under the Exchange Act)), where the result, purpose or intended effect of

such Contract is to avoid disclosure ofany material transaction involving, or nlaterial liabilities of, Parent or any ofthe Parent

Subsidiaries in parent's or such Parent Subsidiary's published financial statements or other Pareut SEC Documents.

(g) As ofthe date hereof, since January 1,2017, none ofParent, Parent's independent accountants, the Parent Board

or the audit comrniftee of the parent Board has received any oral or written notification of any (i) "significant deficiency" in the

internal controls over fina¡cial reporling ofParent, (ii) "rnaterial weakness" in the internal controls over financial reporting ofParent

or (iii) fraud, whether or not mateìial, that involves management or other employees of Parent who have a signif,rcant role in the

internal controls over financial reporting of Parent. For purposes of this Agreement, the terms "significant deficiency" and "material

weakness,' shall have the meanings assigned to them in Auditing Standard No. 5 of the Public Company Accounting oversight Board,

as in effect on the date of this Agreement.
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(h) No¡e ofthe Parent Subsidiaries is, or has at any time since January 1,2017 been, subject to the reporting

requirements ofsection 13(a) or l5(d) ofthe Exchange Act.

SECTION 3.07. Information Supplied. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by Parent or Merger Sub

for inclusion or incorporation by reference in (i) the Form S-4 will, at the time the Form S-4 is filed with the SEC, at any time it is

amended or supplemented or at the time it is declared effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact

or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statemeuts therein not misleading or (ii) the

proxy Stateme¡t will, at the date it is first rnailed to the Company's stockholders or at the time of the Company Stockholders Meeting,

contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to

rnake the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Fonn S-4 will comply as to

form in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the rules aud regulations thereuude¡ except that no

representation is made by Parent or Merger Sub with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on

information supplied by the Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein. The portions of the Proxy Statement

supplied by Parent will cornply as to form in all material respects with the reqttirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and

regulationi thereunder, except that no representation is made by Parent or Merger Sub with respect to statements tnade or incorporated

by reference therein based on information supplied by the Company for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.

SECTION 3.08. Absence of Certain Chanees or Events. From January 1,2017 to the date of this Agreement, (i)

there has not occurred any state offacts, change, effect, condition, development, event or occurrence that, individually or in the

aggregate,has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, (ii) neither Parent nor any of its

Subsidiaries has take¡ any action which, if taken after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing Date without the prior

written consent of the Company, would constitute a breach of Section 5.01(a)(ii), Section 5.01(a)(iv) or Section 5.01(a)(v) and (iii)

each ofparent and the Parent Subsidiaries has conducted its respective business in the ordinaly course in all material respects.

SECTION 3.09. Taxes. (a)(i) Each of Parent and each Parent Subsidiary has timely filed, taking into account any

extensions, all material Tax Returns required to have been filed and such Tax Returns are accurate and cornplete in all material

respects; (ii) each ofparent and each Parent Subsidiary has paid all material Taxes required to have been paid by it other than Taxes

that are not yet due or that are being contested in good faith in appropriate proceedings; and (iii) no material deficiency for any Tax has

been asserled or assessed by a taxing authority against Parent or any Parent Subsidiary which deficiency has not been paid or is not

being contested in good faith in appropriate proceedings.
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(b) No rnaterial Tax Return of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is under audit or examination by any taxing authority,

and no written notice of such an audit or examination has been received by Parent or any Parent Subsidiary that remains outstanding'

No deficiencies for any rnaterial Taxes have been proposed, asserled or assessed against Parent or any Parent Subsidiary that were not

f,rnally resolved in full prior-to the date of, with all consequences thereof properly reflected in accordance with GAAP in, the most

recent Parent SEC Documents, and no requests for waivers of the time to assess any such Taxes are pending. No other procedure,

proceedi¡g or contest of a¡y refund or deficiency in respect of material Taxes is pending in or on appeal frorn any Governmental

Entity.

(c) Each of Parent and each Parent Subsidiary has complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating

to the collection, payment and withholding and remittançes of Taxes.

(d) NeitheL Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is a party to or is otherwise bound by any material Tax sharing,

allocation or indemnification agreement or arrangement (other than such an agreement or arrangement exclusively between or among

parent and the parent Subsidiaries or customary Tax payment or indernnification provisions in Contracts the primary purpose of which

does not relate to Taxes),

(e) Within the past three years, neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has been a "distributing corporation" or a

',controlled corporation" in a distribution intended to qualify for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code.

(f¡ Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has participated in a "listed transaction" or a "transaction of interest"

within the Ineaning of Treasury Regulation Section I '6011-4(b)'

(g) SinceJanuary l,2014,noclaimhasbeenmadebyataxingauthorityinajurisdictionwhereParentoranyParent
Subsidiary does not file Tax Returns that Parent or any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Taxes assessed by such

jurisdiction,

SECTION 3.10. Benefits Matters: ERISA Compliance. (a)Parent has delivered or made available to the Company

true and complete copies of (i) all material Palent Benefit Plans or, in the case of any unwritten material Parent Benef,rt Plan, a

description thereof, including any amendment thereto, (ii) the most reçent annual report on Form 5500 or such similar repol't, statement

or information return required to be filed with ordelivered to any Governrnental Entity, if any, in each case, with respectto each

rnaterial parent Benefit plan, (iii) each trust, insurance, annuity or other funding Contract relating to any material Parent Benefit Plan

and (iv) the ¡rost recent financial statements and actuarial or other valuatiotr reports for each Parent Benefit Plan (if any). For purposes

of this Agreement, ,,pêIen!_Bcn-g.Lp!ê!g" means, collectively (A) all "employee pension benefit plans" (as defined in Section 3(2) of

the Ernployee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as arnended ("ERISA")) ("be¡É.!-e!li.g.lt-P.!g[s,"), "employee welfare benefit

plans" ias defi'ed in Sectio¡ 3(l) of ERISA) and all otl'rer material bonus, pension, profit sharing, retirement, deferred compeusation,

incentive compensation, equity or equity-based compensatiorl, severance, retention, termination, change in control, disability, vacation,

death benefit,-hospitalization, medical or other material compensation or benefit plans, arrangements, policies, programs or

'nderstandings 
providing compensation or benefits (other than foreign or domestic statutory prograrns), in each case, sponsored,

'raintained, 
contributed io or required to be maintained or contributed to by Parent, any Parent Subsidiary or any other person or entity

that, together with parent is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b), (c), (-) or (o) of the Code (each, a "PerË!-Ç.qmmenly

Co'troiled Entity,') for the benefit of any current or former directors, officers, employees, independent contractors or consultants of
p*",rt ol. *y parent Subsidiary (each, a "pa!ç¡!!grü-ç.ipgnl") and (B) all material employment, consulting, bonus, incentive

compensation, deferred compensation, equity or equity-based compensation, indemnification, severance, retention, change ofcontrol

or termination agreements oi ur.ung.r.nts between Parent or any Parent Subsidiary and any Parent Participant'
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(b) All Parent Pension Plans have been the subject of, have timely applied for or have not been eligible to apply fo¡
as of the date of this Agreement, determination letters or opinion letters (as applicable) from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the

"IRS") or a non-U.S. Governmental Entity (as applicable) to the effect that such Parent Pension Plans and the trusts created thereunder

are qualified and exempt from Taxes under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) ofthe Code or other applicable Law, and no such determination

letter or opinion letter has been revoked nor, to the Knowledge ofParent, has revocation been threatened, nor has any such Parent

Pension Plan beel amended since the date of its most recent determination letter or opinion letter (or application therefor) in any

respect that would reasonably be expected to result in the loss of its qualification.

(c) Except for mafters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and wot¡ld not reasonably be expected to

have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, other than any Parent Pension Plan that is a "multiemployer plan" within the meaning of
Sectiorra001(a)(3)ofERISA(a..@''),(i)noParentPensiorrPlarrhad,asofthereSpectivelastannual
valuation date for each such Parent Pension Plan, an "unfunded benefit liabilify" (within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(18) of
ERISA),basedon ac1uarialassumptionsthathavebeenmadeavailabletotheCompany,(ii)noneoftheParentPensionPlanshasfailed
to meet any "minimurn funding standal'ds" (as such term is defined in Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code), whether or'

not waived, (iii) none ofsuch Parent Benefit Plans or related trusts is the subject ofany proceeding or investigation by any Person,

including any Govemmental Entity, that could be reasonably expected to result in a tennination of such Parent Benefit Plan or trust or

any other rnaterial liability to Parent or any Parent Subsidiary and (iv) there has not been any "reportable event" (as that term is defined

in Section 4043 of ERISA and as to which the notice requiremeut under Section 4043 of ERISA has not been waived) with respect to

any Parent Benefit Plan during the last six years. Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not and would not

reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, none of Parent, any Parent Subsidiary or any Parent Commonly

Controlled Entity has, or within the past six years had, contributed to, been required to contribute to, or has any liabilify (including

"witftdrawal liability" within the nreaning of Title IV of ERISA) with respect to, any Parent Multiemployer Pension Plan.

(d) With respect to each rnaterial Parent Benefit Plan that is an ernployee welfare benefit plan, (i) such Parent

Be¡efit plan (i¡cludi¡g any Parent Benefit Plan covering retirees or other former employees) may be aurended to reduce benefits or

limit the liability of Pare¡t or the Parent Subsidiaries or terminated, in each case, without material liability to Parent and the Parent

Subsidiaries on or at any tiure after the Effective Time and (ii) no such Parent Benefit Plan is unfunded or self-insured or funded

through a "welfare benefit fund" (as defrned in Secfion 419(e) of the Code) or other funding mechanism.
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(e) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, no Parent Benefit Plan provides health, medical or other welfare benefits after retirement or

other tennination of ernployrnent (other than for continuation coverage required under Sectiou 4980(BXÐ of the Code or applicable

Law).

(f) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, (i) each Parent Benefit Plan ar,d its related trust, insurance contract or other funding vehicle has

been administered in accordance with its terms and is in compliance with ERISA, the Code and all other Laws applicable to such

parent Benefit Plan and (ii) Parent and each of the Parent Subsidiaries is in compliance with ERISA, the Code and all other Laws

applicable to the Parent Benefit Plans.

(g) Except for rnatters that, individually or in the aggregafe. have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a parent Mater.ial Adverse Effect, all contributions or other amounts payable by Parent ot' any Parent Subsidiary with respect to

each parent Benefit Plan have been paid or accrued in accordance with the terms of such Parent Benefit Plan, GAAP and Section 412

of the Code (or any co¡rparable provision under applicable non-U.S. Laws). Except as fully accrued or reserued against on Parent's

financial statements in accordançe with GAAP, there are no material unfunded liabilities, solvency deficiencies or wind-up liabilities,

where applicable, with respect to any Parent Benefit Plan'

(h) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a parent Material Adverse Effect, there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened claims or Actions by or on

behalfofany participant in any ofthe Parent Benefit Plans, or otherwise involving any such Parent Benefit Plan or the assets ofany

Parent Benefit Plan, other than routine claims for benefits payable in the ordinary course'

(i) None of the execution and delivery of this Agreernent or the consutnmation of the Merger or any other

transaction contemplated by this Agreement (alone or in conjunction with any other event, including any termiuation of ernployment

on or following the Effective Time) will (i) entitle any Parent Participant to ally compensation or benefit, (ii) accelerate the time of
payme¡t or vesting, or trigger any payment or funding, of any compensation or benefits or trigger any other material obligation under

any parent Benefit plan, (iii) result in any breach ol violation of, default under or limit Parent's right to amend, modify or terminate

any parent Benefrt plan or (iv) result in any "excess parachute payment" (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code) becoming

due to any parent participant. No Parent Participant is entitled to receive any gross-up or additional paynrent in respect of any Taxes

(including without liÍnitaìion the Taxes required under Section 4094 or Section 4999 of the Code) being imposed on such Person.
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SECTION 3. 1 I . Litigation. There is no suit, action, investigation or other proceeding (each, an "Agliq") pending

or, to tlre Knowledge ofPalent, threatened against or affecting Parent or any Parent Subsidiary that, individually or in the aggregate,

has had or would reaso¡ably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, nor is there any Judgrnent outstanding against or, to

the Knowledge of parent, any investigation by any Governmental Entify involving Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or any of their

respective proper-ties or assets that, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material

Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.12. Compliance with Applicable Laws. Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have

not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries are in

complia¡ce with all applicable Laws and Parent Permits. To the Knowledge of Parent, except for matters that, individually or in the

aggíegate,have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, no nraterial action, demand or

investìgation by or before any Governmental Entity is perrding or threatened alleging that Parent or a Parent Subsidiary is not in

complùnce with any applicable Law or Parent Permit or which challenges or questious the validity of any rights of the holder of any

parent permit. This section does not relate to Tax matters, employee benehts matters, labor matters, environmental matters or

Intellectual Properly matters.

SECTION 3.13. Environmental Matters. (a) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had

and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect:

(i) Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries have complied with all Envit'onmental Laws, and neither
parent nor a¡y Parent Subsidiary has received any written communiçation that alleges that Parent or any Parent

Subsidiary is in violation of, or has liability under, any Enviroumental Law and, except as reflected in the most

recent audited financial statements of Parent included in the Parent SEC Documents, to the Knowledge of Parent, no

known capital or other expenditure is required for Parent or the Parent Subsidiaries to achieve or maintain

cornpliance with Environmental Law;

(ii) Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries have obtained and complied with all Permits issued

pnrsuant to Environmental Law necessary for their respective operations as currently condtrcted, all such Permits are

valid a¡d in good standing and neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has been advised in writing by any

Gove¡rmentãl Entity of any actual or potential change in the status or terms and conditions of any such Permits;

(iii) there ar.e no Environrnental Clainls pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened,

against Parent or any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries;

(iv) there have been no Releases of any Hazardous Material that could reasonably be expected to

form the basis of any Environmental Claim against Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries; and
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(v) neither Parent nor any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries has retained or assumed, either

contractually or by operation of Law, any Known liabilities or obligations that could reasonably be expected to form

the basis of any Environmental Claim against Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries.

(b) As used herein:

(i) "Environmental Claim" means any administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits, orders,

dema¡ds, directives, claims, liens, investigatious, proceedings or written noticss of noncompliance or violation by or

from any Person alleging any liability arising out of, based on or resulting from (A) the presence or Release of, or

exposure Ío, any F{azardous Materials at any location; or (B) the failure to comply with any Environmental Law or

any Pennit issued pursuant to Environmental Law.

(ii) "Env.b¡¡0-@l-L.aw!" means all applicable Federal, national, state, provincial or local Laws,

Jgdgments, or Contracts issued, promulgated or entered into by or with any Governurental Entity, relating to

potlution, natural resources or the protection ofendangered or threatened species, climate, human health or the

envirotrtnent.

(iii) "Hazardous Materials" means (A) any petroleum or petroleum products, explosive or

radioactive materials or wastes, asbestos, and polychlorinated biphenyls; and (B) any other material, substance or

waste that is regulated under any Environmental Law,

(iv) *Release" l1ìeaus any release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, injection, pouring, deposit,

disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into or through the indoor or outdoot'environment.

SECTION3.l4. Contracts. (a)AsofthedateofthisAgreement,neitherParentuoranyParentSubsidiaryisaparty

to any Contracr required to be filed by parent pulsuant to Item 601(bX2), (bX4), (bX9) or (b)(10) ofRegulation S-K under the

Securities Act (a "Filed Parent Contlact") that has not been so filed'

(b) Except for matters which, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a parent Material Adverse Effect, (i) each Filed Parent contract (including, for purposes of this section 3.14(b)' any contract

entered into after the date of this AgreeÀent that would have been a Filed Parent Contract if such Contract existed on the date of this

Agreement) is a valid, binding andìegally enforceable obligation of Parent or one of the Parent Subsidiaries, as the case may be, and,

tolhe Knowledge of parent, ortne other parties thereto, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception, (ii) each such Filed Parent

Contract is in full force and effect and (iii) none of Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries is (with or without notice or lapse of time,

or both) in breach or default under any such Filed Parent Contract and, to the Knowledge ofParent, no other pafty to any such Filed

pare¡t Contract is (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) in breach or default thereunder.
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SECTION 3. 15. Properties. (a) Section 3. 15(a) of the Parent Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list, as

of the date hereof, of all of the real propeffy owned in fee sirnple by Parent or the Pareut Subsidiaries (the "Parent Owned Real

Propertv"). Except in respects that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a

Parent Mater.ial Adverse Effect, either Parent or the Parent Subsidiaries; (i) has good and valid fee simple title to all of the Parent

Owned Real Property, free and clear of all Liens other than Pennitted Liens; (ii) is in sole and exclusive possession of the Parent

Owned Real Property a¡d there are no leases, licenses, oÇcupancy agreements or any other similar arrangement (the "Real Propertv

Leases") pursuant to which any third parfy is granted the right to use any Parent Owned Real Property, other than Permitted Liens; (iii)

has sufficient right of i¡gress and egress to the Parent Owned Real Property in all material respects and enjoys peaceful and quiet

possession thereof; and (iv) there are no outstanding options or rights offirst offer or refusal to purchase the Parent Owned Real

Property.

(b) Section3.15(b)oftlreParentDisclosureLettersetsforthatrueandcompletelist,asofthedatehereof,ofallof
the real property leased by Parent or the Parent Subsidiaries for which the aunual rental value exceeds $ I 00,000 pursuant to a Real

property Lease (the "parent Leased Real Property". Except in respects that, individually ot in the aggregate, have not had and would

not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, with respect to the Parent Leased Real Property and each Real

property Lease: (i) each Real property Lease is in full force and effect, aud Parent or the Parent Subsidiaries holds a valid and existing

leasehold interest under each Real Property Lease; (ii) the possession and quiet use and enjoyment ofthe Parent Leased Real Property

under such Real property Lease has not been disturbed and there are no disputes with respect to any such Real Property Lease; (iii)
parent orthe parent Subsidiaries have not given ol received any written notice ofdefault pursuautto any such Real Property Lease;

(iv) parent or the parent Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge ofParent or the Parent Subsidiaries, any other party to such Real Propeffy

Lease, is i¡ breach or violatio¡ in any material respect of, or in default under, such Real Property Lease, and no event has occurred or

circumstance exists which, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute such a breach, violation or default

in any material respect, or permit the telrninatior.r, rnodification ol acceleration of rent under such Real Property Lease on the part of
parent or the parent Subsidiary, nor, to the Knowledge of Parent or the Parent Subsidiaries, on the part of the other party thereto; (v) no

security deposit or portion theieofdeposited with respect to such Real Property Lease has been applied in respect ofa breach or default

under such Real property Lease which has not been re-deposited in full; (vi) neither Pareut or the Palent Subsidiaries owes, or will owe

in the future based on arrangetnents currently in existence, any brokerage commissions or finder's fees with respect to any Real

proper.ty Lease; (vii) parenior the parent Subsidiaries has not collaterally assigned or granted any othel security interest in such Real

property Lease or any interest therein, other than Pennitted Liens; and (viii) there are no Liens on the estate or interest created by such

Reaì property Lease, other than permitted Liens; and (ix) Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has subleased, licensed or otherwise

granted ány p..ron the right to use or occupy any Parent Leased Real Property or any portion thereof.

SECTION3.16. IntellectualPrope¡'ty. Exceptformattersthat,individuallyorintheaggregate,havenothadand

would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect:
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(a) Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries own, free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens, or are validly

lice¡sed or otherwise have the right to use, all Intellectual Property used in the operation oftheir business as curretttly conducted;

(b) neither Parent nor any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries has received in the three years ptior to the date ofthis
Agreernent any wriften notice from any Person, and there are no pending Actions, or to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened, against

Parent or a¡y of the Parent Subsidiaries, (A) asserting the infringernent, misappropriation or violation of any Intellectual Properly by

Parent or any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries or (B) challenging the validity, enforceabilify, priorify or registrability of, or any right, title or

interest of Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries with respect to, any Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by Parent

or any ofthe Parent Sr¡bsidiaries;

(c) neither Parent nor any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries has sent any written notice in the year prior to the date ofthis

Agreement, to any Person, and there are no pending Actions, by Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries, (A) asserting the

i¡fringement, misappropriation or violation of any Intellectual Properfy owned by or exclusively licensed to Parent or any of the Parent

Subsidiaries or (B) challenging the validity, enforceability, priority or registlability of, or any right, title or interest ofany Person with

respect to, any Intellectual Ploperty;

(d) to the Knowledge of Parent, (A) no Person is infringing, rr,isappropriating or violating any Intellectual Property

owned by or exclusively licensed to Parent or any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries and (B) the conduct ofthe businesses ofParent and the

parent Subsidiaries as currently conducted does not infringe upon, rnisappropriate or violate the Intellectual Property rights ofany

Person;

(e) parent and the Parent Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality

and security ofthe (A) IT Assets and (B) personal information gathered, used, held for use or accessed by Parent or the Parent

Subsidiaries in the course ofthe operations oftheir respective businesses; and

(fl to the K¡owledge of Parent, the IT Assets (A) meet the needs of Parent's business as currently conducted and (B)

have not materially malfunctioned or failed in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement iu a manner that has had a material

impact on the bnsinesses ofparent and the Parent Subsidiaries. To the Knowledge ofParent, no Person has gained unauthorized access

to the IT Assets or any personal information gathered, used, held for use or accessed by Parent or any ofthe Parent Subsidiaries.

SECTION3.17. LaborMatters. (a)Section3.lToftheParentDisclosureLettersetsforthatrueandcompletelist,

as of the date hereof, of all material collective bargaining or other labor union Contracts applicable to any ernployees of Parent or any

of the parent Subsidiaries (the "Parent Collective Bargaining Agreements"). Parent has made available to the Company copies of such

parent Collective Bargaining Agreements, including with respect to employees based outside the United States. Neither Parent nor any

of the pare't Subsidiaries hãs bieached or otherwise failed to comply with any provision of any Parent Collective Bargaining

Agreeme¡t, except for a¡y breaches, failures to comply or disputes that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not

reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
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(b) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a parent Material Adverse Effect, (i) there is not any, and during the past three years there has not been any, labor strike, dispute,

work stoppage or lockout pending, or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened, against or affecting Parent or any Parent Subsidiary;

(ii) to the Knowledge of Parent, no union organizational canrpaign is in progress with respectto the employees of Parent or any Parent

Subsidiary and no question concer¡ing representation ofsuch employees exists; (iii) neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is

engaged in any unfair labor practice; (iv) there are not any unfair labor practice charges or complaiuts against Parent or any Parent

Subsidiary pending, or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened, before the National Labor Relations Board; (v) there are not any

pending, or, to the Knowledge ofParent, threatened, union grievances against Parent or any Parent Subsidiary that reasonably could be

èxpected to r.esult in an adverse determination; (vi) Parent and each Parent Subsidiary is in compliance with all applicable Laws with

respect to labor relations, ernployment and employn,ent practices, occupational safety and health standards, terms and conditions of

employment, payment of wages, classification of employees, immigration, visa, work status, pay equity and workers'compensation;

and lvii; neither parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has received written communication during the past three years of the intent of any

Governmental Entity responsible for the enforcement of labor or employment Laws to conduct an investigation of or affecting Parent

or any Parent Subsidiary and, to the Knowledge of Parent, no sttch investigation is in progress'

SECTION 3.18. Brokers' Fees and Expenses. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person, other

than Moelis & Co. and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (the "Parent Financial Advisors"), the fees and expenses of which will be paid by

parent, is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any

of the other transactions conternplated hereby based upon arrangements rnade by or on behalf of Parent. Parent has furnished to the

Company true a¡d cornplete copies of all agreements between or among Parent and/or Merger Sub and the Parent Financial Advisors

relating to the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby, subject to redactiotts of the portions of such agreements

relating to the calculation of the fee payable to the Parent Financial Advisors. Parent has separately provided the Company with the

result of a calculation of the approximate amount of the fee that will be payable to the Parent Financial Advisors as a result of the

Merger.

SECTION 3.19. Intentionally Omitted.

SECTION 3.20. Commt¡nications Regulatory Matters'

(a) parent a¡d each ofthe Parent Subsidiaries hold all approvals, authorizations, certiftcates and licenses issued by

the FCC or State Regulators a¡d all other material regulatory perrnits, approvals, licenses and other authorizations, including

franchises, ordinances and other agreements granting access to public rights ofway, issued or granted to Parent or any ofthe Parent

Subsidiaries by a Governmental Entity that are required for Parent and each ofthe Parent Subsidiaries to conduct its business, as

presently conducted (collectively, the "Parent Licenses").
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(b) Each Parent License is valid and in full force and effect and has not been suspended, revoked, canceled or

adversely modified. No Parent License is subject to (i) any conditions or requirements that have rtot been imposed generally upon

licenses in the same serrrice, unless such conditions or requirements are set forth on the face of the applicable authorization or (ii) any

pending Action by or before the FCC or State Regulators to suspend, revoke or cancel, or anyjudicial review ofa decision by the FCC

or State Reg¡lators with respect thereto. To the Knowledge of Parent, there is no (A) event, condition or circumstance attributable

specifically to Pare¡t that would preclude any Parent License from being renewed in the ordinary course (to the extent that such Parent

License is re¡ewable by its terms), (B) pending or threatened FCC or State Regulator regulatory Actions relating specifically to one or

more of the parent Licenses or (C) event, condition or cilcumstance attributable specifrcally to the Company that would rnaterially

impair, delay or preclude the ability of Palent or the Parent Subsidiaries to obtain any Consents from any Governmental Entity. No

Parent License, order or other agreement, obtained frorn, issued by or concluded with any State Regulator imposes or would impose

restrictions o¡ the ability of any Parent Subsidiary to rnake payments, dividends or other distributions to Parent or any other Parent

Subsidiary that limits, or would reasonably be expected to limit, the cash funding and mauagement alternatives of Parent on a

consolidated basis in a ¡1auner disproportionate to restrictions applied by such State Regulators to similarly situated companies.

(c) Parent, with respect to any Parent License and any activity regulated by the FCC or State Regulators but not

requiri¡g a license ("Unlicensed Activitv"), and each licensee ofeach Parent License and each Subsidiary engaged in Unlicensed

Activity (,,U11l_gçnggd_SgþSjdþg") is, and since Decemb er 3l ,2013 has beelt, in compliance with each Parent License and has

fulfrlled and performed all of its obligations with respect thereto and with respect to any Unlicensed Activity required by the

Communications Act of 1934, as anrended (the "Comn.runications Act"), or the rules, regulations, written policies and orders of the

FCC (the,,FCC Rules',) or similar rules, regulations, written policies and orders of State Regulators, and the payment of all regulatory

fees and contributions, except for exemptions, waivers or similar concessions or allowances. The Parent and each licensee of each

parent License and each of its Unlicensed Subsidiaries is in good standing with the FCC and all other Goverumental Entities, and

neither parent nor any such licensee or any of its Unlicensed Subsidiaries is, to the I(nowledge of Parent, the respondent with respect

to any formal complaint, investigation, audit, inquiry, subpoena, forfeiture, or petition to suspend before the FCC, the Universal

Service Administrative Cornpany (the "USAC") or any other Governmental Entify (each, an "EúLge.rn-9r!-Pl8g.9.9djllg")' The Parent

or a parent Subsidiary owrls one hundred percent (100%) of the equity and controls one hundred percent (100%) of the voting power

and decision-making authority of each licensee of the Parent Licenses and each of its Unlicensed Subsidiaries.

(d) NeitherParentnoranyoftheParentSubsidiariesissubjecttoanycurrentlyeffectivecease-and-desistorderor
enforcement action issued by, or is a party to any consent agreement or metnorandum of understanding with, or has beetl ordered since

December 31,2013, to pay any civil money penalty by, the FCC, USAC or any other Governmental Entity (other than a taxing

autl.rorify, which is covered by Section 3.09), other than those of general application that apply to similarly situated providers of the

same services or their Subsidiaries (each item in this sentence, whether or not set forth in the Parent Disclosure Leffet,a "Pê!941

Regulatory Agreer.nent"), nor has Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries been advised in writing since December 31,2013 by any

Governmentai Entity that it is considering issuing, initiating, ordering or requesting any such Parent Regulatory Agreement.
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SECTION 3 .21 . Financing. Parent has provided the Cornpany a true and complete copy, as of the date hereof, of an

executed commitment letter (the "Debt Financi,ns Commitrnent") frorn the financial institutions identified therein (the "Ço!û-!dlm-gul

Parties"), to provide, subject to the terms and conditions therein, debt financing in the amounts set forth therein for the purpose of
funding in part the Cash Consideration and replacing and refinancing any credit facility or other Indebtedness ofthe Company, Parent

or any of their respective Subsidiaries that will not continue after the Effective Time (the "D-eb!-Ejngnciry"). The Debt Financing

Commitrnent is valid, binding and, to the Knowledge of Parent, enforceable by Parent against the other parties thereto in accordance

with its terms, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception. As of the date hereof, the Debt Financing Commitment is in full force

and effect and the respective obligations and commitments therein have not been withdrawn, rescinded or terminated or otherwise

amended or modified in any respect. As of the date hereof, no event has occurred which (with or without notice, lapse of time, or both)

would reasonably be expected to constitute a breach in any material respect ol default on the part of Parent or, to the Knowledge of
parent, any of the other parties to the Debt Financing Cornmitment. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions contained in Section

7.01 and Section 7.03 hereof and thç commencement and cornpletion of the Marketing Period, as of the date hereof, Parent has no

reason to believe that any of the conditions in the Debt Financing Commitment will not be satisfied, or that the Debt Financing will not

be made available on a tirnely basis in order to consummate the Merger. As of the date hereof, no Comrnitment Party has notified
parent of its intention to terminate any of the Debt Financing Cornmitmer.rt or not to provide the Debt Financing. Assuming (i) the

satisfaction of the conditions in Sections 7.01 and 7.03 hereof and (ii) that the Debt Financing is funded in accordance with its terms,

the net proceeds from the Debt Financing, together with cash on hand, will be suffrcient to fund the Cash Consideration, the

refi¡ancing of any credit facility or other Indebtedness of the Company, Parent or any of their t'espective Subsidiaries that will not

continue after the Effective Time, the payment of any fees and expenses of or payable by Parent, and any other amounts reqtrired to be

paid by parent in co¡¡ection with the consummation of the Merger. Parent has paid in full any and all commitment or other fees

iequired by the Debt Fi¡anci¡g Commitment that are due as of the date hereof, and will pay,after the date hereof, all such fees as they

become due. There are no side letters or other Contracts (except for any customary fee letters and/or engagement letters, true and

complete copies of which have been provided to the Company, with customal'y redactions (none of which redacted terms would

reaso¡ably be expected to adversely affect the principal amount or availability of the Debt Financing) relating to the Debt Financing to

which Parent or any of its subsidiaries is a party other than as expressly set forlh in the Debt Financing Commitn'rent'

SECTION 3.22. Merger Sub. Parent is the sole stockholder of Merger Sub. Since its date of incorporation, Merger

Sub has not car.ried on any business nor conducted any operations otherthan the execution of this Agreement, the performance of its

obligations hereunder and matters ancillary thereto.
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SECTION 3.23. No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations aud warranties contained in

this Article III, the Company acknowledges that none of Parent, the Parent Subsidiaries or any other Persou on behalf of Parent makes

any other express or implied representation or warranty in connection with the trausactions contemplated hereby, and that the Company

has not relied on any such other representation or warranty,

ARTICLE IV

Representations and Warranties of the Compan)¡

The Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub that the statements contained in this Article IV are

true and correct except as set forth in the Company SEC Documents filed and publicly available prior to the date of this Agreernent

(the ,,Filed Companv SEC Documents") (excluding any disclosures in the Filed Company SEC Documents under the heading "Risk

Factors,' (other than any statement ofhistorical fact) and any other disclosures ofrisks that are predictive or forward-looking in nature)

or in the disclosure letter delivered by the Cornpany to Parent at or before the execution and delivery by the Company of this

Agreetnent(the..@',).TheCornpanyDisclosureLettershallbearrangedinnumberedand[etteredsections
coirespondi¡g to the ¡umbered and lettered sections contained in this Article IV, and the disclosure in any section shall be deemed to

qualify otheriections in this Arlicle IV to the extent that it is reasonably apparent frorn the face ofsuch disclosure that such disclosure

also qualihes or applies to such other sections.

SECTION 4.01. Organization. Standing and Power. Each of the Company and each of the Company's Subsidiaries

(the ,,Compan)¡ Subsidiaries") is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction in which it is

organized (in tl.,e case ofgood standing, to the extent suchjurisdiction recognizes such concept), except, in the case ofthe Company

Subsidiaries, where the farlure to be so organized, existing or in good standing, individually or in the aggregate, has not had and would

not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Cornpany and the Company Subsidiaries has all

requisite power and authority and possesses all Permits necessary to enable it to own, lease or otherwise hold its properties and assets

and to conduçt its businesses as presently conducted (the "Çq¡pê¡ly-&gnjts,"), except where the failure to have such power or

authority or to possess the Company permits, individually or in the aggregafe, has not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Cornpany Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Cornpany and the Company Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to do

business in åach jurisdiction where the nature of its business or the ownership, operation or leasing of its properties and assets makes

such qualification necessary, otherthan in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or licensed, individually or in the

aggregate,has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a CorTrpany Material Adverse Effect. The Company has made

uuãitÃt. to parent, prior to execution of tlris Agreement, true and complete copies of the Anrended and Restated Celtificate of

Incorporation of the company in effect as of the date of this Agreement (the "Çglnpauy lharter") and the Arnended and Restated

Bylaws of the Cornpany in effect as of the date of this Agreement (the "ÇenEny Ëy.lê\'/å").

SECTION 4.02. Companv Subsidiaries. (a) All the outstanding shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or

other equity interests in, each Compìny-subsidiary have been validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable and are wholly

owned by the Company, by a¡othei Cõrnpuny Subsidiary or by the Company and another Cornpany Subsidiary, free and clear of all

Liens, and free ofany oiher restriction (including any restriction on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose ofsuch capital stock,

voting securities or other equify interests), except for restrictions in,posed by applicable securities Laws. The Company has provided

to parent a true and complete list of all the Company Subsidiaries as of the date of this Agreemerlt.
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(b) Except for the capital stock and voting securities of, and other equity interests in, the Cornpany Subsidiaries,

neitlrer the Compauy nor any Company Subsidiary owns, directly or indirectly, any capital stock ot'voting securities of, or other equity

interests in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, any capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity

interests in, any firm, corporation, partnership, cornpany, limited liability oompany, trust, joint venture, association or other entity.

SECTION 4.03 . Capital Structure. (a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 245,000,000 shares

ofCompanyCotrrmonStockand5,000,000sharesofPreferredStock,parvalue$0.0lpershare(the..@''and,
together with the Company Common Stock, the "Company Canital Stock"), At the close of business on the Capitalization Date, (i)

11,587 ,963 shares of Company Comrnon Stock were issued and outstanding and no shares of Company Common Stock were held in

the treasury of the Company, (ii) no shares of Company Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding and (üi) 468,275 shares of
Company Common Stock were reserved and available for issuauce pursuatlt to the Company Stock Plan, of which (A) 188,894 shares

were subject to outstanding Company RSUs (other than Company PSUs) and (B) 178,700 shares were subject to outstanding Company

PSUs (assuming settlement of outstanding awards based on maximum achievement of applicable performance goals). Except as set

fofth in this Section a.03(a), at the close of business on the Capitalization Date, no shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or

other equity interests in, the Company were issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. From the close of business on the

Capitalization Date to the date of this Agreement, there have been no issuances by the Company of shares of capital stock or voting

securities of, or other equity interests in, the Company, othel than the issuance of Company Cornmon Stock upor.r the vesting and

settlement of Company RSUs in accoldance with their terms in effect on the Capitalization Date.

(b) All outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock are, and, atthetime of issuance, all such shares thatmay be

issued upon the vesting and settlement of Cornpany RSUs will be, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not

subject to, or issued in violation of, any purchase option, call option, right offirst refusal, preemptive right, subscription right or any

sirnilar right under any plovision of the DGCL, the Company Charler, the Company Bylaws or any Contract to which the Company is

apartyorotherwisebound. ExceptassetforthinthisSection4.03,asofthecloseofbusinessontheCapitalizationDate,therearenot
issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding, and there are not any outstanding obligations ofthe Compally or any Cornpany Subsidiary

to issue, deliver or.sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, (i) any capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in,

the Company or any Cornpany Subsidiary or any securities of the Company or auy Company Subsidiary convertible into or

exchangeable or exercisable fol shares ofcapital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, the Company or any

Company Subsidiary, (ii) any warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire from the Company or any Company Subsidiary, or any

other obligation of the Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any

capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity irlterests in, the Cornpany ot'any Company Subsidiary or (iii) any rights issued by

or other obligations of the Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary that are linked in ally way to the price of any class of the Company

Capital Stock or.any shares ofcapital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, any Company Subsidiary, the value of
the Company, a¡y Cornpany Subsidiary or any paft of the Company or any Cornpany Subsidiary or any dividends or other distributions

declared or paid on any shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other equify interests in, the Company or any Company

Subsidiary. Except as set forth above in this Section 4.03 or iu connection with Company RSUs, as of the close of business on the

Capitalization Date, there are not any outstanding obligations of the Contpany or any of the Company Subsidiaries to repurchase,

redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock or voting securities or other equity inferests of the Company or any Company

Subsidiary or any securities, interests, warrants, calls, options or other rights referred to in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) ofthe inrmediately

precedi¡g sentence. There are no debentures, bonds, notes or other Indebtedness of the Company that have or by their terms may have

at any tiure the right to vote (which are convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on

which stockholders of the Company may vote ("Compan)¡ Voting Debt"). Neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries

is a pafty to any voting agleement with respect to the voting of any capital stock or voting securities of, o[ other equity interests in, the

Company. Except for this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of the Cornpany Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement pursuant

to which a¡y Person is entitled to elect, designate or nominate any director of the Compally or any of the Company Subsidiaries.
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SECTION 4.04. Authority: Execution and Delivery: Enforceability. (a) The Company has all requisite corporate

power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the Merger and the

other tralìsactions contemplated hereby, subject, in the case of the Merger, to the receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval. The

Company Board, by a vote at a meeting duly called at which a quorum of directors of the Company was present, adopted resolutions

(i) approving this Agreement ar.rd the Voting Agreement, (ii) determining that entering into this Agreement is in the best interests of the

Company apd its stockholders, (iii) declaring this Agreement advisable and (iv) recotnmending that the Company's stockholders adopt

tþis Agreement a¡d directing that this Agreement be submitted to the Company's stockholders at a duly held meeting of such

stockholders for such purpose (the "Company Stockholders Meeting"), and such resolutions have not been amended or withdrawn as

of the date of this Agreement. Except for the adoption of this Agreement by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the

outstanding shares of Cornpany Common Stock entitled to vote at the Company Stockholders Meeting (the "Cornpany Stockholder

Approval"), no other corporate proceedings on the part ofthe Company are necessary to authorize,adopt or approve this Agreement or

to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby (except for the fìling of the Certificate of Merger with the

Secretary of State pursuant to the DGCL). The Company has duly executed and delivered this Agreement and, assuming the due

authorization, execution and delivery by each of Parent and Merger Sub, this Agreement constitutes its legal, valid and binding

obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subjectto the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception.
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(b) Assurning the accuracy of Parent's representation in the last sentellce of Section 3.04(b), (i) the Company Board

has adopted such resolutions as are necessary to render inapplicable to this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions

conternplated hereby the restrictions on "business combinations" (as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL) as set forth in Section 203 of
the DGCL and (ii) no other "interested stockholder" "fair plice", "moratorium", "control share acquisition" or other similar
antitakeover statute or similar statute or regulation, or similar provision or term of the Company Charter or the Company Bylaws,

applies with respect to the Company with respect to this Agreement, the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby.

Neither the Company nol' any of its controlled Affiliates owns any Parent Common Shares.

(c) Neither the Company nor any Cornpany Subsidiary has in effect a "poison pill", stockholder rights plan or other

similar plan or agreement.

SECTION 4.05. No Conflicts: Consents. (a) The execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement does

not, and the performance by it of its obligations hereunder and the consummation of the Merger and the other transactious

contemplated hereby will not, (i) conflict with or result in any violation of any provision of the Cornpany Charter, the Cornpany

Bylaws or the comparable charter, bylaws or other organizational docutnents of any Company Subsidiary (assuming that the Company

Stockholder Appr.oval is obtained), (ii) conflict with, result in any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or

both) under, give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of, give rise to any obligation to make an offer to purchase

or redeem any Indebtedness or capital stock, voting securities, ot'other equity interests or any loss ofa material benefrt under, or result

in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of the Company or any Cornpany Subsidiary under, any legally binding

Contract to which the Cornpany or any Cornpany Subsidiary is a party or by which any of their respective properties or assets is bound

or any Coprpany Permit or (iii) subject to the fitings and other matters referred to in Section 4.05(b), conflict with or result in any

violation of any Judgme¡t or Law, in each case, applicable to the Company or auy Company Subsidiary or their respective properties

or assets (assuming that the Company Stockholder Approval is obtained), other than, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) above, any

matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse

Effect.

(b) No Consent of or from, or registration, declaration, notice or flrling made to or with any Governmental Entity is

required to be obtained or.made by or with respect to the Company or any Company Subsidiary in connection with the execution and

delivery of this Agreernent or its perforrnance of its obligations hereunder or the consummation of the Merger and the other

transactions contemplated hereby, other than (i) (A) the filing with the SEC of the Proxy Statement in definitive form, (B) the filing

with the SEC, and declaration of effectiveness under the Securities Act, of the Form S-4, and (C) the filing with the SEC of such

reports and other filings under, and such other compliance with, the Exchange Act and the Securities Act, and the rules and regulations

thereunder, as may be required in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby,

(ii) compliance with and frlings under the HSR Act, (iii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State pursuant to

the DGCL and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of the other jurisdictions in which Parent and the Company are

qualified to do business, (iv) such Consents, registrations, declarations, notices or filings as are required to be made or obtained under

tire securities or,,blue sky" Laws of various states in connection with the issuance of the Parent Common Shares constituting the Share

Consideration and the Mixed Share Consideration, (v) such Consents from, or registrations, declarations, notices or filings made to or

with, the FCC as are required in connection with the transactions conternplated hereby (the "Company FCC Consents" and, together

with the parent FCC Consents, the "FCC Consents"), (vi) such Consents from, or registrations, declarations, notices or filings tnade to

or with, State Regulators as are required in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (the "@p-Any-P-Se-ÇsnSeÉ" and,

together with the parent pSC Consents, the "B$Ç_Çg!s-gn!s,"), (vii) such Consents from, or registrations, declarations, notices or filings

,r1àd. to or with, governments of Localities in connection with the provision of telecommunication and media services as are required

in connection with the transactio¡s co¡te¡rplated hereby (the "Cornpan)' Local Consents" and, together with the Parent Local

Consents, the ,,Local Consents"), (viii) such filings with and approvals of the NYSE as are required to permit the listing of the Parent

Common Shares constituting the Share Consideration and the Mixed Share Consideration and (ix) such other matters that, individually

or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect'
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SECTION 4.06. SEC Docurnents: Undisclosed Liabilities. (a) The Cornpany has furnished or filed all reports,

schedules, folurs, statements and other documents (including exhibits and other information incorporated therein) required to be

furnished or fìled by the Company with the SEC since January 1,2015 (such documents, together with any documents filed with or
furnished to the SEC during such period by the Company on a voluntary basis on a Current Report on Form 8-K, bnt excluding the

Proxy Staternent and the Fonn S-4, being collectively referred to as the "ComBanlv SEC Documents").

(b) Each Company SEC Document (i) at the time filed, complied in all n.raterial respects with the requirements of
SOX and the Exchange Act or the Securities Act, as the case may be, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder

applicable to such Company SEC Docurnent and (ii) did not at the time it was filed (or if amended or superseded by a filing or

amendment prior to the date of this Agreernent, then at the tirne of such filing or amendrnent) contain any untrue statement of a
rnaterial fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of
the circurnstances urlder which they were made, not misleading. Each of the consolidated financial staternents of the Company

included in the Company SEC Documents complied at the time it was filed as to form in all material respects with applicable

accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto, was prepared in accordance with
GAAP (except, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC or other rules and regulations of the SEC)

applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and fairly presented in all

material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and the

consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods shown (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal

year-end audit adj ustments).

(c) Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has any liabilities or obligations of auy nature (whether

accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise) that, individually or in the aggregate, have had or would reasonably be expected to have a

Company Material Adverse Effect.
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(d) The Cornpany maintains a system of "internal control over financial reportir.rg" (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)

and 15d-15(f)oftheExchangeAct)sufficienttoprovidereasonableassul'ance(i)thattransactionsarerecordedasnecessarytopermit
preparation of furancial statements irr conformity with GAAR consistently applied, (ii) that transactions are executed only in

acçordance with the authorization of management and (iii) regarding prevention or timely detection of the unauthorized acquisition,

use or disposition of the Cornpany's properties or assets.

(e) The "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ofthe Exchange Act)

utilized by the Company are reasonably designed to ensure that all information (both financial and non-financial) required to be

disclosed by the Cornpany in the reports that it frles or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, surnmarized and

reporled within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that all such information required to be disclosed is

accurnulated and communicated to the management of the Company, as appropriate, to allow tirnely decisions regalding required

disclosure and to enable the chief executive officer and chief furancial officer of the Company to make the certifications required under

the Exchange Act with respeçt to such repofts.

(f) Neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a

paffy to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any siurilar Contract (including any Contract or arrangelnent relating to any

transaction or relationship between or atnong the Cornpany and any of the Company Subsidiaries, ou the one hand, and any

unconsolidated Affitiate, including any structured finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity or Person, on the other hand, or

any "off-balance sheet arrallgements" (as defrned in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act)), where the result,

purpose or intended effect of such Contract is to avoid disclosure of any rnaterial transaction involving, or material liabilities of, the

Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries in the Company's or such Con'rpany Subsidiary's published financial statements or other

Company SEC Docutnents.

(g) Asoftlledatehereof,sinceJanuary l,20lT,noneoftheCompany,theCompany'sindependentaccountants,the
Compa¡y Board or the audit committee of the Company Board has received any oral or writteu notihcation of any (i) "significant

deficiency" in the inter¡al controls over financial reporting of the Company, (ii) "material weakness" in the internal coutrols over

financial r.eporting of the Company or (iii) fi'aud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees of the

Company who have a significant role in the internal controls over financial reporling of the Company.

(h) None of the Company Subsidiaries is, or has at any time siuce January l, 2017 been, subject to the reporting

requirements of section l3(a) or l5(d) of the Exchange Act.

SECTION 4.07. Information Supplied. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by the Company for

inclusion or incorporation by reference in (i) the Form S-4 will, at the time the Form S-4 is filed with the SEC, at any time it is

amended or supplemented or at the time it is declared effective under the Securities Act, coutain any untrue statement of a material fact

or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein ol'necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (ii) the

proxy Statement will, at the date it is first mailed to the Company's stockholders or at the time of the Company Stockholders Meeting,

contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any rnaterial fact required to be stated therein or necessary in orderto

make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, uot misleading. The Proxy Statement will
comply as to form in all nraterial respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder, except

that no representation is rnade by the Company with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on

information supplied by Parent or Mergel Sub for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.
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SECTION 4.08. Absence of Certain Changes or Events. From January 1,2017 to tl.re date of this Agreernent, (i)

there has not occurred any state offacts, change, effect, condition, development, event or occurrence that, individually or in the

aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (ii) neither the Company nor any of
the Company Subsidiaries has taken any action which, if taken after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Closing Date without
the prior written consent of Parent, would constitute a breach of Section 5.01(bxii), 5.01(bXiv), 5.01(b)(v), 5.01(b)(vii), 5.01(b)(viii) or

5.01(bXix) and (iii) each of Company and the Company Subsidiaries has conducted its respective business in the ordinary course in all

material respects.

SECTION 4.09. Taxes. (a)(i) Each of the Company and each Company Subsidiary has timely filed, taking into

account any extensions, all material Tax Returns required to have been filed and such Tax Returns are accurate and complete in all

material respects; (ii) each of the Company and each Company Subsidiary has paid all material Taxes required to have been paid by it
other than Taxes that are not yet due or that are being contested in good faith in appropriate proceedings; and (iii) no material

deficiency for any Tax has been asserted or assessed by a taxing authority against the Company or any Company Subsidiary which

deficiency has not been paid or is not being contested in good faith in appropriate ploceedings.

(b) No material Tax Retum of the Company or any Company Subsidiary is under audit or examiuation by any taxing

authorify, and no written notice of such an audit or examinatiou has been received by the Compally ol'any Company Subsidiary that

remains outstanding. No deficiencies for any material Taxes have been proposed, asserted or assessed against the Company or any

Company Subsidiary that were not finally resolved in full prior to the date of, with all consequences thereof properly reflected in

acçordance with GAAP in, the most recent Cornpany SEC Documents, and no requests for waivers of the tirne to assess any such

Taxes are pending. No other procedure, proceeding or çontest of any refund or deficiency in respect of material Taxes is pending in or

on appeal from any Governmental Entity.

(c) Each of the Cornpany and each Company Subsidiary has cornplied in all material respects with all applicable

Laws relating to the collection, payment and withholding and remiftances of Taxes.

(d) Neither the Cornpany nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to or is otherwise bound by any material Tax

sharing, allocation or indemnification agreement or arrangement (other than such an agl'eement or arrangement exclusively between or

among the Company and the Cornpany Subsidiaries or customary Tax payment or indernnification provisions in Contracts the prirnary

purpose ofwhich does not relate to Taxes).
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(e) Within the past three years, neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has been a "distributing
corporation" or a "controlled corporation" in a distribution intended to qualifu for tax-free treatment under Section 355 ofthe Code.

(f¡ Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has parlicipated in a "listed transaction" or a "transaction of
interest" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b).

(g) Since January 1 ,2014, no claim has been made by a taxing authority in a jurisdiction where the Company or any

Company Subsidiary does not file Tax Returns that the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Taxes

assessed by such jurisdiction.

SECTION 4.10. Benefits Matters: ERISA Compliance. (a) The Company has delivered or made available to Parent

true and complete copies of (i) all material Company Benefit Plans or, in the case of any unwritten material Company Benefit Plan, a

description thereof, including any amendment thereto, (ii) the most recent annual repoft on Form 5500 or such similar repolt, statement

or infolmation return required to be filed with or delivered to any Governmental Entity, if any, in each case, with respectto each

rnaterial Company Benefìt Plan, (iii) each trust, insuranÇe, annuity or other funding Contract relating to any material Company Benefit

Plan and (iv) the most recent financial statements and actuarial or other valuation repofts for each Company Benefit Plan (if any). For

purposes of this Agreenrent, "Comnany Benefit Plans" means, collectively (A) all "employee pension benefit plans" (as defined in

Section 3(2) of ERISA) ("Comnanv Pension Plans"), "employee welfare benefit plans" (as defined in Section 3(l) of ERISA) and all

other material bonus, pension, prof,rt sharing, retirement, deferred compensation, incentive compensation, equify or equity-based

compensation, severance, retention, terrnination, change in control, disabiliry, vacation, death benefit, hospitalization, medical or other

material compensation or benefit plans, arrangenrents, policies, programs or understandings providing compensation or benefits (other

than foreign or domestic statutory prograrns), in each case, sponsored, maintained, contributed to or required to be maintained or

contributed to by the Company, any Cornpany Subsidiary or any other pel'son or entity that, together with the Company is treated as a

singleer-rrployerunderSection4|4(b),(c),(m)or(o)oftheCode(each,a..,,)forthebenefìtof
any current or fonner directors, officers, employees, independent contractors or consultants of the Company or any Company

Subsidiary (each a "Çolnp4¡ty_PêrtiçipAu1") and (B) all material eurploymeut, consulting, bonus, iucentive compensation, deferred

compensation, equity or equity-based compensation, indemnification, severauce, retention, change of control or tertniuation

agreements or al'rangements between the Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary and any Company Participant.

(b) All Cornpany Pension Plans have been the subject of, have tirnely applied for or have not been eligible to apply

for, as of the date of this Agreernent, determination letters or opinion letters (as applicable) from the IRS to the effect that such

Company Pensio¡ Plans and the trusts created thereunder are qualified and exernpt from 'faxes under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) ofthe

Code or other applicable LaW and no such deterrnination letter or opinion letter has been revoked nor, to the Knowledge of the

Company, has revocation been threatened, nor has any such Cotnpany Pension Plan been amended since the date ofits lnost recent

determinatio¡ letter or opinion letter (or application therefor) in any respect that would reasotrably be expected to result in the loss of
its qualification.
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(c) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Company Material Adverse Effect, other than any Company Pensiott Plan that is a "multiemployer plan" within the rneaning of
Section a00l(aX3) of ERISA (a "Company Multiemployer Pension Plan"), (i) no Company Pension Plan had, as of the respective last

annual valuation date for each such Company Pension Plan, an "unfunded benefit liability" (within the meaning of Section a001(aX18)

of ERISA), based on actuarial assurnptions made available to Parent, (ii) none of the Company Pension Plans has failed to meet any

"minimum fundi¡g standards" (as such terrn is defined in Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code), whether or not waived,

(iii) none of such Company Benefit Plans or related trusts is the subject of any proceeding or investigation by any Person, including

any Governmental Entity, that could be reasonably expected to result in a termination of such Company Benefit Plan or trust or ally

other material liability to the Company or any Company Subsidialy, and (iv) thele has not been any "repot'table event" (as that term is

defined in Section 4043 of ERISA and as to which the notice requirement under Section 4043 of ERISA lTas not been waived) with

respeÇt to any Company Benefit Plan during the last six years, Except for tnatters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had

and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, noue of the Company, any Company Subsidiary or

any Compa¡y Commonly Controlled Entity has, or within the past six years had, contributed to, been required to contribute to, or has

any liability (incl¡ding "withdrawal liability" within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA) with respect to, any Cornpany Multiernployer

Pension Plan.

(d) With respect to each material Company Benefit Plan that is an employee welfare benef,rt plan, (i) such Company

Benefit plan (including any Company Benefit Plan coveling retirees or other former employees) may be amended to reduce benefits or

limit the liability of the Cornpany or the Company Subsidiaries or terminated, in each case, withottt material liability to the Company

and the Company Subsicliaries on or at any time after the Effective Tirne and (ii) no such Company Benefit Plan is unfunded or self-

insured or funded through a "welfare benefit fund" (as defined in Section 419(e) ofthe Code) or other funding Inechanism.

(e) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Company Mater.ial Adverse Effect, no Company Benefrt Plan provides health, rnedical or other welfare benefits after retirement

or other ter¡ri¡ation of employment (other than for continuation coverage required under Section 49s0(BXÐ of the Code or applicable

Law).

(f) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) each Cornpany Benefit Plan and its related trust, insurance contract or other funding

vehicle has bee¡ admi¡istered in accordance with its terms and is in compliance with ERISA, the Code and all other Laws applicable

to such Company Benefit plan and (ii) the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries is in compliance with ERISA, the Code

and all other Laws applicable to the Cornpany Benefrt Plans.
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(g) Except for lnatters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Company Material Adverse Effect, all contributions or other alnoullts payable by the Company or any Company Subsidiary

with respect to each Cotnpany Benefit Plan have been paid or accrued iu accordance with the terms of such Company Benefit Plan,

GAAP and Section 412 of the Code (or any comparable provision under applicable non-U.S. Laws). Except as fully accrued or

reserved against on the Company's hnancial statements in accordance with GAAR there are no material unfunded liabilities, solvency

deficiencies or wind-up liabitities, where applicable, with respect to any Company Benefit Plan.

(h) Except for matters that, individually or in fhe aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Company Material Adverse Effect, there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Contpany, threatened claims or Actions by

or on behalf of any participant in any of the Cornpany Benefit Plans, or otherwise involving any such Company Benefit Plan or the

assets of any Company Benefit Plan, other than routine claims for benefits payable in the ordinary course.

(i) None of the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the obtaining of the Company Stockholder Approval or

the consummation of the Merger ol any other transaction conternplated by this Agreernent (alone or in conjunction with any other

event, including any termination of elnployment on or following the Effective Time) will (i) entitle any Company Participant to any

compe¡satio¡ or be¡efit, (ii) accelerate the time of payrnent or vesting, or trigger any payment or funding, of any compensation or

be¡efits or trigger any other material obligation under any Cornpany Benefit Plan, (iii) result in any breach or violation of, default

under or limit the Company's right to amend, modifu or terminate any Company Benefit Plan or (iv) result in any "excess parachute

payment" (within the rneaning of Section 280G of the Code) becoming due to any Cornpany Participant. No Cornpany Participant is

èniitt.¿ to receive any gross-up or additional payment in respect of any Taxes (including, without limitation, the Taxes required under

Section 4094 or Section 4999 ofThe Code) being imposed on such Person.

SECTION 4.1L Litigation. There is no Action pending or', to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against or

affecting the Co¡rpany or any Company Subsidiary that, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to

have a õornpany Material Adverse Effect, nor is there any Judgment outstanding against or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any

i'vestigation by any Governmental Entity involving the Company or any Company Subsidiary or any of their respective properties or

assets tlrat, individually or in the aggtegate,has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Cornpany Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 4.12. Compliance with Applicable Laws. Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have

not had a'd would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and the Company

Subsidiaries are in cornpliance with ail applicable Laws and the Company Permits. To the Knowledge of the Cornpany, except for

matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse

Effect, no rnaterial action, demand or investigation by or before any Governmental Entity is pending or threatened alleging that the

Company or a Company Subsidiary is not in cornpliance with any applicable Law or Company Perrnit or which challenges or

qu.riion, the validiiy oî any rights of the holder of any Company Permit. This section does not relate to Tax tnatters, employee

benefìts matters, labor matters, environmeutal matters or lntellectual Property IÌ1atters.
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SECTION 4.13. Environmental Matters. (a) Except for matters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had

and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect:

(i) the Company and the Company Subsidiaries have cornplied with all Environmental Laws,

and neither the Cornpany nor any Company Subsidiary has received any written communication that alleges that the

Co¡rpany or any Company Subsidiary is in violation of, or has liability under, auy Environmental Law and, except as

reflected in the most recent audited financial statemellts of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents,

to the Knowledge of the Company, no knowrr capital or other expenditure is required for the Company or the

Company Subsidiaries to achieve or maintain compliance with Environmental Law;

(ii) the Cornpany and the Company Subsidiaries have obtained and complied with all Permits

issued pursuant to Environmental Law necessary for their respective operations as currently conducted, all such

Permits are valid and in good standing and neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has been advised in

writing by any Governmental Entity of any actual olpotential change inthe status orterms and conditions of any

such Perrnits;

(iii) there are no Environtnental Claims pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened

against the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries;

(iv) there have been no Releases of any Hazardous Material that could reasonably be expected to

form the basis of any Envilonmental Claim against the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries; and

(v) neither the Company nol'any of the Company Subsidiaries has retained or assumed, either

contractually or by operation of Law, any Known liabilities or obligations that could reasonably be expected to form

the basis of any Environmental Clain, against the Cornpany or any of the Cornpany Subsidiaries.

SECTION 4.14, Contracts. (a) As of the date of this Agreernent, neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary

is a parry ro any Contract required to be filed by the Company pursì.rant to Item 601(bX2), (bX4), (bX9) or (b)(10) of Regulation S-K

under the Securities Act (a "Filed Company Contract") that has not been so fìled.

(b) Except for matters which, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) each Filed Company Contract (including, for purposes of this Section 4.14(b)' any

Contract entered into after the date of this Agreement that would have been a Filed Company Contract if such Contract existed on the

date of this Agreement) is a valid, binding and legally enforceable obligation of the Company or one of the Company Subsidiaries, as

the case ¡ray be, a¡d, to the Knowledge of the Company, of the other parties thereto, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception,

(ii) each such Filed Compa¡y Contract is in full force and effect and (iii) none of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries is

(with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) in breach or default under any such Filed Company Contract and, to the Knowledge

of the Company, no other pafty to any such Filed Company Contract is (with or without notice or lapse of tirne, or both) in breach or

default thereunder.
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SECTION 4.15. Properties. (a) Section 4.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list,

as of the date hereof, of all of the real property owned in fee simple by the Cornpany or the Company Subsidiaries (the "Companv

Owned Real propelt_v"). Except in respects that, individually or in the aggregate, have uot had and would not reasonably be expected

to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, either Company or the Company Subsidiaries: (i) has good and valid fee simple title to all

of the Company Owned Real Property, free and clear of all Liens otherthan Permitted Liens; (ii) is in sole and exclusive possession of

the Compa¡y Owned Real Property and there are no Real Property Leases pursuant to which any third party is granted the right to use

any Compa¡y Owned Real Property, other than Permitted Liens; (iii) has sufficient right of ingress and egress to the Company Owned

Real property in all ¡naterial respects and enjoys peaceful and quiet possession thereof; and (iv) there are no outstanding options or

rights of first offer or refusal to purchase the Company Owned Real Property.

(b) Section4.l5(b)theCompanyDisclosureLettersetsforthatrueandcompletelist,asofthedatehereof,ofall of

the real properry leased by Company or the Company Subsidiaries for which the annual rental value exceeds $100,000 pursuant to a

Real properfy Lease (the "Compan)¡ Leased Real Property"). Except in respects that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had

and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, with respect to the Conrpany Leased Real Property

and each Real property Lease: (i) each Real Property Lease is in full force and effect, and Company or the Cornpany Subsidiaries

holds a valid and existing leasehold interest under each Real Property Lease; (ii) the possession and quiet use and enjoyment ofthe

Cornpany Leased Real property under such Real Property Lease has not been disturbed and there are no disputes with respect to any

such Real property Lease; (iii) Company or the Company Subsidiaries have not given or received any written notice of default

pursgant to any such Real Property Lease; (iv) Company or the Cornpany Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of Company or the

bon.puny Subsidiaries, any ot-her pafty to such Real Property Lease, is in breach or violation in any material respect of, or in default

under, such Real property Lease, and no event has occurred or circumstance exists which, with the delivery of notice, the passage of

time or both, would .on.iitut. such a breach, violation or default in any material respect, or permit the terrnination, modification or

acceleration of rent under such Real Properly Lease on the parl of Company or the Company Subsidiary, nor, to the Knowledge of

Company or the Company Subsidiaries, on the part of the other party thereto; (v) no security deposit or portion thereof deposited with

respect tá such Real property Lease has been applied in respect ofa breach or default under such Real Property Lease which has not

bee' re-deposited in full; (vi) neither Company or the Company Subsidiaries owes, or will owe in the future based on arrangements

currently in existence, any brokerage conrmissions or finder's fees with respect to any Real Properfy Lease; (vii) Company or the

Company Subsidiaries has not collaterally assigned or granted any other security interest in such Real Property Lease or any interest

therein, other than permitted Liens; and (viii) there are no Liens on the estate or interest created by such Real Property Lease, other

tha' perr¡itted Liens; and (ix) Cornpany nor any Company Subsidiary has subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any person the

right to use or occupy any company Leased Real Property or any portion thereof.
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SECTION 4.16. Intellectual Property. Except for rnatters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and

would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect:

(a) Company and the Company Subsidiaries own, free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens, or are

validly licensed or otherwise have the right to use, all Intellectual Property used in the operation oftheir business as currently

conducted;

(b) neithertheCompanynoranyoftheCompanySubsidiarieshasreceivedinthethreeyearspriortothedateofthis
Agreement any written notice from any Person, and there are no pending Actions, or to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened,

against the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries, (A) asserting the infringement, rnisappropriation or violation of any

I¡tellectual Properfy by the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries or (B) challenging the validity, enforceability, priority or

registrabilify of, or any right, title or interest of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries with respect to, any Intellectual

Property owned or purporled to be owned by the Company or alty of the Company Subsidiaries;

(c) neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries has sent any written notice in the year prior to the

date of this Agreernent to a¡y Person, and there are no pending Actions, by the Cornpalìy or any of the Company Subsidiaries, (A)

asserting tlre i¡fringement, misappropriation or violation of any Intellectual Property owned by or exclusively licensed to the Company

or a¡y of the Company Subsidiaries or (B) challenging the validify, enforceability, priority or legistrability of, or any right, title or

interest of any Person with respect to, any Intellectual Property;

(d) to the Knowledge of the Company, (A) no Person is infringing, rnisappropriating or violating any Intellectual
property owned by or exclusively licensed to the Company or any of the Cornpany Subsidiaries and (B) the conduct of the businesses

of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries as currently conducted does not infringe upon, misappropliate or violate the Intellectual

Property rights ofany Person;

(e) the Company and the Company Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable measures to protect the

confidentiality and security of the (A) IT Assets and (B) personal inforrnation gathered, used, held for use or accessed by the Company

or the Cornpany Subsidiaries in the course ofthe operations oftheir respective btrsinesses; and

(Ð to the K¡owledge of the Company, the IT Assets (A) meet the needs of the Company's business as currently

conducted and (B) have ¡ot materially malfunctioned or failed in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement in a manner that has

had a material impact on the businesses of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries. To the Knowledge of the Company, no Person

has gained unauthorized access to the IT Assets or any personal information gathered, used, held for use or acçessed by the Company

or any of the Company Subsidiaries.
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SECTION 4.17. Labor Matters. (a) Section 4.17 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete

list, as of the date hereof, of all material Courpany Collective Bargaining Agreements. The Company has rnade available to Parent

copies of such Cornpa¡y Collective Bargaining Agreements, including with respect to employees based outside the United States.

Neither.the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries has breached or otherwise failed to comply with any provision of any

Company Collective Bargaining Agreement, except for any breaches, failures to comply or disputes that, individually or in the

aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Except for rnatters that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to

have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) there is not an¡ and during the past three years there has not been any, labor strike,

dispute, work stoppage or lockout pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, against or affecting the Company or any

Company Subsidiary; (ii) to the Knowledge of the Cornpany, uo uniou organizational carnpaign is in progress with respectto the

employees of the Company or any Company Subsidiary and no question concerning representation of such employees exists;

(iii) neither the Company nor ally Company Subsidiary is engaged in any unfair labor practice; (iv) there are not any unfair labor

practice charges or cornplaints against the Company or any Company Subsidiary pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company,

threatened, before the National Labor Relations Board; (v) there are not any pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company,

threatened, union grievances against the Company or any Company Subsidiary that reasonably could be expected to result in an

adverse determination; (vi) the Company and each Company Subsidiary is in compliance with all applicable Laws with respect to labor

relations, employme¡t and employnrent practices, occupational safety and health standards, terms and conditions of employment,

payment of wages, classification of employees, immigration, visa, wot'l< status, pay equity and workers'compensation; and

(vii) neither the Cornpa¡y nor any Company Subsidiary has received written communication during the past three years of the intent of

any Governmental E¡tity responsible for the enforcement of labor or employment Laws to conduct an investigation of or affecting the

Compa¡y or any Company Subsidiary and, to the Knowledge of the Contpany, no such investigation is in progress'

SECT1ON4.l8. Brokers'FeesandExpenses. Nobroker,investmentbanker,financial advisororotherPerson,other

tha. UBS Securities LLC (the "Compan:y Financial Advisor"), the fees and expenses of which wilt be paid by the Company, is entitled

to any broker's, finder,s, financial advisor's or other similar fee or cornmission in connectiotr with the Merger or any of the other

transâctions contemplated hereby based upon al'rangements made by or on behalf of the Cornpany. The Company has furnished to

parent true and complete copies of all agreements between the Company and the Company Financial Advisor relating to the Merget'or

any ofthe other transactions contemplated hereby, subject to redactions ofthe portions ofsuch agreement relating to the calculation of

thé fee payable to such Co¡rpany Financial Advisor. The Company has separately provided Parent with the result of a calculation of

the approxinrate amount of the fee that will be payable to the Company Financial Advisor as a result of the Merger.
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SECTION 4.19. Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Company has received the opinion of the Company Financial

Advisor dated the date of this Agreenrent, to the effect that, as of such date and subject to the assumptiorrs made, procedures followed,

matters co¡sidered and qualifications and limitations set forth therein, the aggregate amount of the Merger Consideration to be

received by the holders of Company Common Stock other than holders of Excluded Shares and shares of Company Common Stock

held immediately prior to the Effective Time by (a) the Company as treasury stock, (b) Parent or Merger Sub and (c) any direct or

i¡direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company or of Parent (other than Merger Sub), is fair, from a finaucial point of view, to such

holders.

SECTION 4.20. Communications Regr,rlatory Matters.

(a) The Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries hold all approvals, authorizations, ceftificates and licenses

issued by the FCC or State Regulators and all other material regulatory permits, approvals, licenses and other authorizations, including

franchises, ordi¡ances and other agreements granting access to public rights of way, issued or glanted to the Company or any of the

Company Subsidiaries by a Governrnental Entity that are required fol the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries to conduct

its business, as presently conducted (collectively, the "Compan), Licenses").

(b) Each Company License is valid and in full force and effect and has not been suspended, revoked, canceled or

adversely modified. No Company l-icense is subject to (i) any conditions or requirements that have not been imposed generally upon

licenses in the same service, unless such conditions or requirernents are set forth on the face ofthe applicable authorization or (ii) any

pending Action by or before the FCC or State Regulators to suspend, revoke or Çancel, or any judicial review of a decision by the FCC

or State Regulators with respect thereto. To the Knowledge of the Compauy, there is no (A) event, condition or circumstance

attributable specificalty to the Company that would preclude any Company License from being renewed in the ordinary course (to the

extent that such Company License is renewable by its terms), (B) pending or threatened FCC or State Regulator regulatory Actions

relating specifically to one or more of the Company Licenses or (C) event, condition or circutnstance attributable specifically to the

Compa¡y that would materially impair, delay or preclude the ability of the Cornpany or the Company Subsidiaries to obtain any

Consents from any Gover¡urental Entity. No Company License, order or otlrer agt'eement, obtained from, issued by or concluded with

a¡y State Regulator irnposes or would impose restrictions on the ability of any Company Subsidiary to make payments, dividends or

other distribgtions to the Company or any other Company Subsidiary that limits, or would reasonably be expected to limit, the cash

fundi¡g and ma¡agement alternatives of the Company on a consolidated basis in a tnanner disproporlionate to restrictions applied by

such State Regulators to similarly situated cornpanies.

(c) The Cornpany, with respect to any Company License and Unlicensed Activity, and each of its Unlicensed

Subsidiaries is, and since Decernber 31,2013, has been, in compliance with each Company License and has fulfilled and performed all

of its obligations with respect thereto and with respect to any Unlicensed Activity required by the Communications Act , or FCC Rules

or similarìules, regulations, written policies and orders of State Regulators, and the payÍnent of all regulatory fees and coutributiotrs,

except for exemptior1s, waivers or sirnilar concessions or allowances. The Company and each licensee of each Company License and

each of its Unlicensed Subsidiary is in good standing with the FCC and all other Governmental Entities, and neither the Company nor

any such licensee or a¡y of its Unlicensed Subsidiaries is, to the Knowledge of the Company, the lespondent with respect to any

Enforcement proceeding. The Company or a Company Subsidiary owns one hundred perçent (100%) of the equity and controls one

hu¡dl.ed percent (100%) of the voting power and decision-making authorify of each licensee of the Company Licenses and each of its

Unlicensed Subsidiaries.
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(d) Neither the Company nor any of the Cornpany Subsidiaries is subject to any currently effective cease-and-desist

order or enforcement action issued by, or is apafty to any consent agreement or memorandum of understanding with, or has been

order.ed since Decemb er 3l , 2013, to pay any civil rnoney penalty by, the FCC, USAC or ally other Governmetrtal Entity (other than a

taxing author.ity, which is covered by Section 4.09), otherthan those of general application that apply to similarly situated providers of
the same services or their Subsidiaries (each itern in this sentence, whether or not set forth in the Cornpany Disclosure Leltet, a
..@''),norhastlreCornpanyoranyoftheCornpanySubsidiariesbeenadvisedinwritingsince
December 31,2013 by any Governmental Entity that it is considering issuing, initiating, ordering or requesting any such Company

Regulatory Agreement.

SECTION 4.21. No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in

this Article IV, Parent and Merger Sub acknowledge that none of the Company, the Company Subsidiaries or any otherPersou on

behalf of the Company rnakes any other express or implied represetttation or warrallty in connection with the transactions

contemplated hereby, and that neither Parent nor Merger Sub has relied on any such other representation or warranty.

ARTICLE V

Covenants Relating to Conduct of Business

SECTION 5.01. Conduct of Business. (a) Conduct of Business by Parent. Except for matters set forth in the Parent

Disclosure Letter, required by applicable Law or otherwise expressly permitted or expressly contemplated by this Agreernent or with

the prior written consent of the Company (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, it being understood aud

agreed that the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to approve or deny any request by Parent for written consent

pursuant to this Section 5.01(a) within five Business Days of such request), from the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time,
parent shall, and shall çause eaçh Parent Subsidiary to, conduct its business in the ordinary course in all material respects and use

commercially reaso¡able efforts to preserve intact its business organization and advantageous business relationships. In addition, and

without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except for matters set fofth in the Parent Disclosure Letter, required by applicable Law

or otherwise expressly permitted or expressly contemplated by this Agreemelìt or with the prior written consent of the Company

(which shall noi be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), from the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time, Parent shall

not, and shall not permit any Parent Subsidiary to, do any of the following:
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(i) amend the Parent Articles or the Par:ent Regulations, except for such amendments as would

not disproportionately adversely affecta holder of Compatry Colnmon Stock relative to a holder of Parent Comtnon

Shares or prevent or lnaterially irnpede, interfere with, hinder or delay the cotrsutnlnation of the Merger and the other

transactions contemplated hereby;

(ii) (A) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in

cash, stock or propeúy ol any combination thereof) in respect of, any ofits capital stock, other equity interests or

voting securities, other than (1) regular quarterly cash dividends payable by Parentto holders ofits 6 314o/oPreferred

Shar.es and (2) dividends and distributions by a direct or indirect wholly owned Parent Subsidiary to its stockholders

or other equity holders, (B) other than with respect to a wholly owned Parent Subsidiary, split, combine, subdivide or

reclassif, any ofits capital stock, other equity interests or voting securities, or securities convertible into or

exchangeable or exercisable for capital stock or other equity interests or voting securities or issue or authorize the

issuance ofany other securities in respect of, in lieu ofor in substitution for its capital stock, other equity interests or

voting securities, other than as permitted by Section 5.01(a)(ii), or (C) repurchase, tedeetn ol otherwise acquire, or

offer to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any capital stock or voting securities of, or equity interests in,

Parent or a¡y Parent Subsidiary or any securities ofParent ot'any Pareut Subsidiary convertible into or exchangeable

or exercisable for capital stock or voting securities of, or equity interests in, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, or any

warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire any such capital stock, securities or interests, except pursuant to

(1) the Parent Stock Options, Parent SARs and Parent RSUs, in each case, ptlrsuant to their terms as in effect on the

date hereofor thereafter glanted as perrnitted by the provisions of Section 5.0l(a)(iii) or (2) any such transaction by

Parent or a wholly owned Parent Subsidiary in respect of such capital stock, securities or interests in a wholly owned

Parent Subsidiary;

(iii) issue, deliver, sell, grant, pledge or otherwise encutnber or subject to any Lien (A) any shares

ofcapital stock ofParent or any Parent Subsidiary (other than the issuance ofParent Cotnmon Shares (1) upon

conversion of a¡y 6 3l4o/oPreferred Shares outstanding at the close of business on the date of this Agreement into
parent Corn¡ron Shares i¡ accordance with the Parent Articles, (2) upon the exercise of Parent Stock Options and

Parent SARs ol. upoll vesting and settlement of Parent RSUs in each case, outstanding at the close of business on the

date of this Agreement and in accordance with their ternrs in effect at such time or thereafter granted as perrnified by

the provisions of this Section 5,01(a)(iii) and (3) pursuant to the Parent Deferred Compeusation Plan for Outside

Directors in accordance with their respective terms, or the issuance of shares of capital stock of a wholly owned

Parent Subsidiary to Parent or to another wholly owned Pat'ent Subsidiary), (B) any other equity interests or voting

securities ofParent or any Parent Subsidiary, other than in the case ofa Parent Subsidiary, an issuance, delivery or

sale to Parent or any wholly owned Parent Subsidiary, (C) any securities convertible into or exchangeable or

exercisable for capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, other

tha¡ in the case of a Parent Subsidiary, an issuance, delivery or sale to Parent or any wholly owned Pat'ent

Subsidiary, (D) any warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire any capital stock or voting securities of, or other

equify interests in, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, other than in the case ofa Parent Subsidiary, an issuance,

delivery or sale to Parent or any wholly owned Parent Subsidiary, (E) any rights issued by Parent or any Parent

Subsidiary that are linked in any way to the price ofany class ofParent Capital Stock or any shares ofcapital stock

ofany Parent Subsidiary, the value ofParent, any Parent Subsidiary or any pal't ofParent or any Parent Subsidiary or

any dividends or other distributions declared or paid on any shares ofcapital stock ofParent or any Parent

SuUsiaiary, other than in the case of a Parent Subsidiary, an issuance, delivery or sale to Parent or any wholly owned

parent Subsidiary, or (F) any Parent Voting f)ebt, other than, in the case ofeach ofclauses (A) through (F), for grants

of Parent Stock Options, Parent SARs and Parent RSUs under the Parent Benefit Plans in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice;
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(iv) make any material changes in financial accounting rnethods, principles or practices, except

i¡sofar as may be required (A) by GAAP (or any interpretation thereof), (B) by any applicable Law, including

Regulation S-X under the Securities Act, or (C) by any Governtneutal Entity or quasi-governtneutal authority

(including the Financial Accounting Standards Board or any similar organization);

(v) make any acquisition of, or investment in, any properties, assets, securities or business

(including by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise) which would reasonably be expected to prevent or

rnaterially impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the çonsummation of the Merger and the other transactions

contemplated hereby;

(vi) enter into any Contract or amend any Contract which such Contract or amendment would

reasonably be expected to prevent or materially irnpede, interfere with, hinder or delay the çonsummation of the

Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby;

(vii) authorize, adoptor irnplement a plan of cotnplete or parlial liquidation or dissolution of
Parent;

(viii) assign, transfer, lease, cancel, fail to renew or fail to extend any material Parent License

issued by the FCC or any State Regulator or discontinue any operations that require prior regulatory approval for

discontinuance, other than (A) transfers between Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries or between Parent Subsidiaries

and (B) non-renewal or non-extension ofParent Licenses solely related to discontinued businesses ofParent and that

do not require regulatory approval for discontinuance; or
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(ix) authorize any of, or commit, resolve or agree to take any of, or participate in any

negotiations or discussions with any other Persotr regarding any of, the foregoing actions.

(b) Conduct of Business by the Companv. Except for matters set forlh in the Company Disclosure Letter, required

by applicable Law or otherwise expressly permitted or expressly contemplated by this Agreement or with the prior written çonsent of
Parent (which shall not be unreasonabty withheld, conditioned or delayed, it being understood and agreed that Parent shall use

comnrercially reasonable efforfs to approve or deny any request by the Company for written cousent pursuant to this Section 5.01(b)

within five Busi¡ess Days of such request), frorn the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time, the Company shall, and shall cause

each Company Subsidiary to, conduct its business in the ordinary course in all material respects and use commercially reasonable

efforts to preserve intact its business organization and advantageous business relationships. In addition, and without limiting the

generality of the foregoing, except for matters set fofth in the Company Disclosure Letter, required by applicable Law or otherwise

expressly permitted or expressly contemplated by this Agreement or with the prior written consent of Parent (which shall not be

unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), from the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time, the Company shall not, and

shall not permit any Company Subsidiary to, do any of the following:

(i) (A) amend the Cornpany Charter, (B) amend the Company Bylaws or (C) amend the charter

or organizational docunrents of any Company Subsidiary;

(ii) (A) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in

cash, stock or property or any combination thereof) in respect of, any ofits capital stock, other equity interests or

voting securities, other than dividends and distributions by a direct or indirect wholly owned Company Subsidiary to

its stockholders or other equity holders, (B) other than with respect to any wholly owned Company Subsidiary, split,

combine, subdivide or reclassify any ofits capital stock, other equity interests or voting securities or securities

convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for capital stock or other equity interests or voting securities or issue

or authorize the issuance ofany other securities in respect of, in lieu ofor in substitution for its capital stock, other

equity i¡terests or voting securities, other than as permitted by Section 5.01(bxii), or (C) repurchase, redeem or

otherwise acquire, or offer to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any capital stock or voting securities of, or

equify interests in, the Company or any Company Subsidiary or any securities of the Company or any Company

Subsidiary convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for capital stock or voting securities of, or equify interests

in, the Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary, or any warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire any such

capital stock, securities or interests, except pursuant to (l) the Company RSUs, in each case, pursuant to their terms

in effect on the date hereof or thereafter granted as permitted by the provisions of Section 5.01(bxiii) or (2) any such

transaction by the Company or a wholly owned Company Subsidiary in respect of such capital stock, securities or

interests in a wholly owned Company Subsidiary;
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(iii) issue, deliver, sell, grant, pledge or othelwise encumber or subject to any Lien (A) any shares

of capital stock of the Company or any Company Subsidiary, other than the issuance of Company Common Stock

upou the vesting and settlelîent of Company RSUs outstanding at the close of busiuess on the date of this Agreernent

and i¡ accordance with their terms in effect at such time or thereafter granted as permitted by the provisions of this

Section 5.01(bxiii) or the issuance of shares of capital stock of a wholly owned Company Subsidiary to the

Cornpa¡y or another wholly owned Company Subsidiary, (B) any other equity interests or voting securities of the

Company or any Company Subsidiary, other than in the case of a Cornpany Subsidiary, an issuance, delivery or sale

to the Company or any wholly owned Contpany Subsidiary, (C) any securities convertible into or exchangeable or

exercisable for capital stock or voting securities of or other equity interests in, the Conrpany or any Company

Subsidiary, other than in the case of a Cornpany Subsidiary, an issuance, delivery or sale to the Company or any

wholly ow¡ed Company Subsidiary, (D) any warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire any capital stock or

voting securities of, or other equity interests in, the Company or any Cornpany Subsidiary, other than in the case of a

Company Subsidiary, an issuance, delivery or sale to the Company or any wholly owned Company Subsidiary,

(E) any rights issued by the Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary that are linked in any way to the price of any class

of the Company Capital Stock or any shares of capital stock of any Company Subsidiary, the value of the Company,

a¡y Company Subsidiary or any paft of the Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary or any dividends or other

distributions declared or paid on any shares ofcapital stock ofthe Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary, otherthan

in the case of a Company Subsidiary, an issuance, delivery or sale to the Company or any wholly owned Company

Subsidiary, or (F) any Cornpany Voting Debt;

(iv) except as required to comply with applicable Law or to comply with any Cornpany Benefit

Plan as in effect as of the date of this Agreement, (A) establish, adopt, enter into, terminate or materially ameud, or

take any action to accelerate the vesting or payment of, any compensation or benefits under, any Company Benefit

Plan (or any award thereunder), (B) grant or increase in any manner the salaries, bonuses, or incentive-based

compe¡sation or benefits ofor pay any bonus to, or grant any loan to any Company Participant other than such

grants, increases or payments made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice to Company

Participa¡ts who a¡e not "narned executive officers" as defined in Item a02@)(3) of Regulation S-K promulgated

under the Securities Act, (C) grant or pay any change in control, retention, severance, tertnination or sirnilar

co¡rpensation or benefits to, or increase in any manner the change in control, retention, severance, termination or

similar compensatio¡ or benefits of, any Compauy Participant, (D) take any action to fund or in any other way secure

the payment of compensation or benefits under any Company Benefit Plan, (E) change any actuarial or other

assumption used to calculate funding obligations with respect to any Cornpany Pension Plan, except to the extent

r.eqgired by applicable Law or GAAP, or (F) change the manner in which contributions to any Cornpany Pension

Plan are made or the basis on which such contributious are determir,ed;
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(") rnake any material changes in financial accounting rnethods, principles or practices, except

insofar as may be required (A) by GAAP (or any interpretation thereof), (B) by any applicable Law, including
Regulation S-X under the Securities Act, or (C) by any Governmental Entity or quasi-governmental authority
(including the Financial Accounting Standards Board or any similar organization);

(vi) other than in the ordinary course of business, (A) make any Tax election that results in a

material amount of Taxes of the Company or any Company Subsidiary, (B) make any changes to any existing Tax

election that results in a rnatelial amount of Taxes of the Cornpany or any Company Subsidiary, (C) settle or

compromise any Tax claim or assessÍnent or surrender any right to claim a Tax refund with respect to a material

amount of Taxes, (D) file an arnendment to any Tax Return if such amendment results in a material amount of Taxes

or (E) fail to pay any material Taxes that are due and payable;

(vii) except as permitted under Section 5.01(b)(x), make any acquisition of, or investment in, any

properties, assets, securities or business (including by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise) if the

aggregate amount of consideration paid or transferred by the Company and the Cornpany Subsidialies in connection

with all such transactions would exceed $5 million, except for the acquisitions of supplies, inventory, merchaudise or
products in the ordinary course of business; plql¿kþd, that in no event shall the Company or any of the Company

Subsidiaries make any acquisition or investment which would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially

impede, interfere with, hinder or delay the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated
hereby;

(viii) sell or lease to any Person, in a single transaction or series ofrelated transactions, any of its
material properties or assets for consideration, except (A) ordinary course dispositions of inventory and dispositions

ofobsolete, surplus or worn ont assets or assets that are no longer used or useful in the conduct ofthe business ofthe
Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries or (B) transfers alnollg the Company and its wholly owned

Subsidiaries;

(ix) (A) incur any Indebtedness, except for (1) Indebtedness incurred under the Company's

revolving credit facility, as existing on the date of this Agreement (including, forthe avoidance of doubt, the

aggîegafe amount of comrnitments in effect on the date of this Agreernent) (including in respect of letters of credit),

in the ordinary course ofbusiness, (2) letters ofcredit, bank guarantees, security or performance bonds or similar

credit support instruments, overdraft facilities or cash managemeut programs, in each case issued, made or entered

into in the ordinary course of bnsiness, (3) intercompany Indebtedness aÍt1ong the Company and its wholly owned

Subsidiaries, (4) guarantees by the Con'rpany of Indebtedness of the Company Subsidiaries, which Indebtedness is

i¡curred in compliance with this Section 5.01(b)(ix), and (5) capitalized lease obligations in respect of software and

equipment and installment obtigations in respect of insurance, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of
business, (B) enter into any swap oÍ hedging transaction or other derivative agreements other than in the ordinary

course of business or (C) make any loans, capital contributions or advances to, or investments in, any Person other

than (x) to the Company or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Cornpany or (y) as permitted pursuant to Section

5.01(b)(vii);
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(x) rnake any capital expenditures in excess of $105,000,000 annually;

(xi) except in the ordinary course ofbusiness, enter into any Contract or amend any Contract if
the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby would conflict with, result in any

violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, give rise to a right of termination,

cancellation or acceleration of, give rise to an obligation to make an offer to purchase or redeem any Indebtedness or

capital stock, voting securities or other equity interests or any loss ofa material benefit under, or result in the creation

of any Lien (other than Pennitted Liens) upon any of properties or assets of the Company or ally Company

Subsidiary under such new Contract or as a result ofsuch amendment to such existing Contract, as applicable;

(xii) grant any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) on any of its material assets other than (A) to
secure Indebtedness and other obligations in existence at the date ofthis Agreement (and required to be so secured

by their terms) or permitted under Section 5.01(bXix) or (B) to the Company or to a wholly owned Subsidiary of the

Company;

(xiii) sell, transfer, license, abandon, permit to lapse or otherwise dispose of any nraterial

Intellectual Property owned by the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries, except grants of non-exclusive

licenses (without any right to sublicense) of such material Intellectual Property in the ordinary coulse of business;

(xiv) settle any pending or threatened Action against the Cornpany or any of the Cornpany

Subsidiaries, other than settlements of any pending or tht'eatened Action (A) in wlrich the Company or any of the

Company Subsidiaries is named as a nominal defendant, (B) with respect to which there is a specifìc reserve in the

balance sheet (or the notes theleto) of the Company as of Malch 31,2017 included in the Filed Company SEC

Documents for an arnount not materially in excess of the amount so reflected or reserved (excluding any amount that

would be expected to be paid or reimbursed under insurauce policies or for which the Company or any of the

ConTpany Subsidiaries is entitled to indemnification or contribution) or (C) that do not involve payment by the

Company or the Cornpany Subsidiaries of more than $2,000,000 individually (excluding any amount that would be

expected to be paid or reimbursed under insurance policies or for which the Company or any of the Company

Subsidiaries is entitled to indemnification or contribution); provided that no settleurent ofany pending or threatened

Action may: (l) involve any material injunctive or equitable relief, or impose rnaterial restrictions, on the business

activities of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries, (2) involve any admission of wrongdoing by the Company

or the Company Subsidiaries, (3) involve the grant of any license, cross-license or similar arrangement by the

Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries with respect to any material Intellectual Ploperly owned by or

licensed to the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries or (4) impose any restrictions on the use by the

Cornpany or any of the Cornpany Subsidiaries of any material Intellectual Propefty owned by or licensed to the

Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries;
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(xv) cancel any material Indebtedness owed to the Company or a Company Subsidiary or waive

any claims or rights ofsubstantial value, in each case other than in the ordinary course ofbusiness;

(xvi) enter into, modify, amend or terminate any Company Collective Bargaining Agreement,

otþer than (A) the entry into new collective bargaining ot'other labor union Contracts in the ordinary course of
business required to be entered into by any non-US Law, (B) modifications, amendments, renewals or terminations

of such Contracts in the ordinary course of business consisteut with past practice or (C) any modification,

amendment, renewal or termination of any collective bargaining agreement to the extent required by applicable Law;

(xvii) assign, transfer, lease, cancel, fail to renew or fail to extend any material Company License

issued by the FCC or any State Regulator or discontinue any operations that require prior regulatory approval for
discontinuance, other than (A) transfers between the Company and the Company Subsidiaries or between Company

Subsidiaries and (B) non-renewal ornon-extension of Company Licenses solely related to discontinued businesses of
the Company and that do not requile regulatory approval fol discontinuance;

(xviii) authorize, adopt or implement a plan of complete or paftial liquidation or dissolution of the

Company; or

(xix) authorize any of, or commit, resolve or agree to take any of, or participate in any

¡egotiations or discussions with any other Person regarding any of, the foregoing actions.
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(c) No Control of Parent's Business. The Company acknowledges and agrees that (i) nothing contained in this

Agreenrent is i¡tended to give the Conrpany, directly or indirectly, the right to çontrol or direct the operations ofParent or any Parent

Subsidiary prior to the Effective Tinle and (ii) prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall exercise, consistent with the terms and

conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over its and the Parent Subsidiaries' t'espective operations'

(d) No Control of the Com . Parent acknowledges and agrees that (i) nothing contained in this

Agreement is i¡tended to give Parent, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the operations of the Conrpany or any

Company Subsidiary prior to the Effective Time and (ii) prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall exercise, consistent with the

terms and conditions of this Agleement, complete contlol and supervision over its and the Company Subsidiaries' respective

operations.

(e) AdviceofChanses. ParentandtheCompanyshall promptlyadvisetheotherorallyandinwritingofanychange
or event tlrat, individually or in the aggrega\e with alt past changes and events which have occurred since the date of this Agreement,

has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect with respect to strch Person.

SECTION 5.02. Intentionally Omitted.

SECTION 5.QJ. No Solicitation by the Company: Company Board Recommendation. (a) The Company shall not,

nor shall it a¡thorize or permit any of its Affiliates or any of its or their respective directors, officers or ernployees or any of its or their'

respective i¡vestment bankers, accountants, aftorneys or other advisors, agents or representatives (collectively, "Representatives") to,

(i) directly or indirectly soticit, initiate or knowingly etlcourage, induce or facilitate any Company Takeover Ploposal or any inquiry or

proposal that ¡ray reasonably be expected to lead to a Company Takeover Ploposal or (ii) directly or indirectly participate in any

discussions or negotiations with any Person regarding, or furnish to any Person any information with respect to, or cooperate in any

way with any Person (whether or not a Person making a Company Takeover Proposal) with respect to, any Company Takeover

Proposal or a¡y inquiry or proposal that rnay reasonably be expected to lead to a Company Takeover Proposal. The Company shall,

and shall cause its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives to, imrnediately cease and çause to be terrninated all existing

solicitation, discussions or ¡egotiations with any Person conducted heretofore with respect to any Company Takeover Proposal, or any

inquiry or proposal that may reasonably be expected to lead to a Company Takeovet'Proposal, request the prompt return or destruction

of all confìdential information previously furnished in connection therewith and immediately terminate all physical and electronic

dataroomaccesspreviouslygrantedtoanysuchPersonoritsRepreseutatives. Notwithstandingtheforegoing,ifatanytimepriorto
obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, the Company or any of its Representatives receives an oral or written Company

Takeover proposal, which Company Takeover Proposal did not result frorn any breach of this Section 5.03, (i) the Company and its

Representatives may contact such Person making the Company Takeover Proposal or its Representatives to l'equest that any Company

Takeover proposal made orally be made in writing and (ii) in response to a written Company Takeover Proposal that the Company

Board detelnines in good faith (after consultation with outside counsel and a financial advisor of nationally recognized reputation)

constitutes or is reasonably likely to lead to a Superior Company Proposal, the Conrpany may (and may authorize and permit its

Affiliates and its and theirRepresentativesto), subjectto compliancewith Section 5.03(c), (A) furnish information (includingnon-

public information and data) with respect to the Company and the Company Subsidiaries to the Person making srtch Company

îakeover proposal (and its Representatives) (p¡syj-d-ed that all such information has previously been provided to Parent or is provided

to parent prior.to or substantially concurrent with the time it is provided to such Person) pursuant to a customary confidentiality

ug...n,.ni not less restrictive of such Person than the Confidentiality Agreement (other than with respect to standstill provisions), and

(B) participate in discussions regarding the terms of such Cornpany Takeover Proposal and the negotiation of such ternls with, and only

with, the person making such Company Takeover Proposal (and such Person's Representatives). Without limiting the foregoing, it is

agreed that any violation of the restrictions set forth in this Section 5.03(a) by any Representative of the Company or any of its

Affiliates shall constitute a breach of this Section 5'03(a) by the Company.
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(b) Except as set forth below, neither the Company Board nor atly committee thereof shall (i) (A) withdraw (or

modify i¡ any manner adverse to Parent), or propose publicly to withdraw (or modify in atry mauuer adverse to Parent), the approval,

recommendatiou or declaration of advisability by the Company Board or any such committee thereof with respect to this Agreement or

the Merger or (B) adopt, recommend or declare advisable, or propose publicly to adopt, recommend or declare advisable, any

CompanyTakeoverProposal(anyactioninthisclause(i)beingreferredtoasa..'')or
(ii) adopt, reco¡rmend or declare advisable, or propose publicly to adopt, recomnrend or declare advisable, or allow the Company or

any of its Aff,rliates to execute or enter into, any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, merger

agreement, acquisition agreement, option agreement, joint venture agreemellt, alliance agreement, partnership agreement or other

similar agreement or arrangement (an "Acquisition Asreement") constituting or related to any Company Takeover Proposal.

Notwithstandi¡g the foregoing, at any time prior to obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, the Company Board may make a

Company Adverse Recomrnendation Change if the Company receives a Superior Company Proposal or the Company Board

determines in good faith (after cor.rsultation with outside counsel and a f,tnancial advisor of nationally recognized reputation) that the

failure to do so would reasonably be expected to be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Law; ævidçd, h.Q,wgv.gl

that the Company shall not be entitled to exercise its right to make a Company Adverse Recommendation Change until after the third

Business Day following Parent's receipt of written notice (a "Companv Notice of Recommendation Change") from the Company

advising Pare¡t that the Cornpany Board intends to take such action and specifying the reasons therefor, including in the case ofa
Superior Cornpany Proposal the terms and conditions of such Superior Company Proposal that is the basis of the proposed action by

the Company Board (it being understood and agreed that any amendment to any material term of such Supelior Company Proposal

shall require a new Company Notice of Recomnrendation Change and a new notice period (which shall be two Business Days instead

of three Business Days)). In determining whether to rnake a Company Adverse Recommendation Change, the Company Board shall

take into account any changes to the terms of this Agreement proposed by Parent in respouse to a CompanyNotice of
Recommendation Change.
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(c) In addition to the obligations of the Cornpany set forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section 5.03, the

Company shall pronrptly (and in any event within 48 hours of knowledge of receipt thereof by an officer or director of the Company)

advise parent orally and in writing of any Cornpany Takeover Proposal ol any inquiry or ptoposal that rnay reasonably be expected to

lead to a Company Takeover Proposal, the matelial terms and conditions of any such Company Takeover Proposal or inquiry or

proposal (including any changes thereto) and the identity ofthe Person making any such Company Takeover Proposal or inquiry or

proposal. The Company shall (i) keep Parent informed in all material respects on a reasonably current basis of the status and details

(including any cha¡ge to the terms thereof) ofany Company Takeover Proposal, and (ii) provide to Parent as soon as practicable after

receipt or delivery thereof copies of all correspondence and other written and electronic rnaterial exchanged between the Company or

any of the Company Subsidiaries and any Person that describes any of the material terms or conditions of any Company Takeover

Proposal.

(d) Nothing contained in this Section 5.03 shall prohibit the Company from (i) issuing a "stop*look-and-listen

communication" pursuant to Rule l4d-9(Ð pronrulgated under the Exchange Act or taking and disclosing to its stockholders positions

required by Rule i+d-g or Rule l4e-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act, in each çase after the comrnencement of a tender offer

lwittrin the meaning of Rule l4d-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act), (ii) issuing a statement in connection with a Company

Takeover.proposal that does not involve the commencement of a tender offer (within the meaning of Rule 14d-2 prornulgated under the

Exchange Act), so long as the statement includes uo more information than would be required for a "stop-look-and-listen

communication" u¡der Rule l4d-9(f promulgated under the Exchange Act if such provision was applicable, or (iii) making any

disclosure to the stockholders of the Company if, in the good faith judgment of the Company Board (after consultation with outside

counsel) failure to so disclose would reasonably be expected to be inconsistent with its duties under applicable Law; provj-dgd,

hoygvg,t, that i¡ ¡o event shall the Company or the Company Board or any cornmittee thereof take, o[ agree or resolve to take, any

action prohibited by Section 5.03(b).

(e) For purposes of this Agreetnent:

,,Company Takeover Proposal" means any proposal or offer (whether or not in writing), with respect to any

(i) merger, co¡solidation, share exchange, otl.rer business combination or similar transaction involving the Company, (ii) sale, lease,

contribution or other disposition, directly ol indirectly (including by way of merger, consolidation, share exchange, other business

combination, partnership, joint venture, sale of capital stock of or other equity interests in a Company Subsidiary or otherwise) of any

business or assets of the Co¡rpany or the Company Subsidiaries representing l5o/o or more of the consolidated revenues, net incotne or

assets of the Compa¡y and ttrà Cómpany Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (iii) issuance, sale or other disposition, directly or indirectly,

to any person (or the stockholders ofany Person) or group ofsecurities (or options, rights or warrauts to purchase, or securities

convertible into or exchangeable for, such securities) replesenting l5o/o or more of the total olrtstanding voting power of the Cotnpany,

(iv) transaction in which any person (or the stockholders ofany Person) shall acquire, directly or indirectly, benefrcial ownership, or

ìhe right to acquire beneficial ownership, or formation of any group which beneficially owns or has the right to acquire beneficial

owneiship of, l5o/oor more of the company Common Stock or (v) any combination of the foregoing (in each case, other than the

Merger).
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"superior Companl¡ Proposal" means any bona frde written offer rnade by a third paffy or group pursuant to which

such third party (or, in a merger, consolidation or statutory share-exchange involving such third party, the stockholders ofsuch third

party) or group would acquire, directly or indirectly, nrore than 50% of the Company Common Stock or substantially all of the assets

of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, which the Company Board determines in good faith (after

consultation with outside counsel and a financial advisor of nationally recognized reputation) (i) is on terms tnore favorable from a

financial point of view to the holders of Company Common Stock thar.r the Merger, taking into account all the terms and conditions of
such proposal (including the legal, financial, regulatory, timing and other aspects of the ploposal and the identity of the Person making

the proposal) a¡d this Agreement (including any changes proposed by Parent to the tertns of this Agreement), and (ii) is reasonably

likely to be completed on the terms proposed, taking into açcount all legal, financial, regulatory and other aspects ofsuch proposal, and

is fully financed or for which financing (if required) is fully cornmitted or, in the good faith determination of the Cornpany Board, is

reasonably likely to be obtained.

ARTICLE VI

Additional Agreements

SECTION 6.61. Preparation of the Form S-4 and the Proxy Statementl Company Stockholders Meeting. (a) As

promptly as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and cause to be filed with the

SEC a proxy statement to be sent to the stockholders of the Company relating to the Company Stockholders Meeting (together with

any amendments or supplements thereto, the "Proxy Statement") and Parent shall prepare and cause to be filed with the SEC the

Form S-4 registering a number of Parent Courmon Shares equal to the number of Pat'ent Common Shares to be issued as Share

Consideration and Mixed Share Consideration in the Merger, in which the Proxy Statenrent will be included as a prospectus, and

parent and the Company shall use their respective çommelcially reasonable efforts to have the Form S-4 declared effective under the

Securities Act as promptly as reasonably practicable after such filing. Each of the Company aud Parent shall furnish all information

concerni¡g such person and its Affiliates to the other, and provide such other assistance, as may be reasonably requested in connection

with the preparatio¡, filing and distribution of the Fomr S-4 and Proxy Statement, and the Form S-4 and Proxy Staternent shall include

all info¡nation reasonably requested by such other party to be included therein. Each of the Company and Parent shall promptly notifu

the other upon the receipt of any comments from the SEC or any request from the SEC for amendments or supplements to the Form S-

4 or proxy Statement and shall provide the other with copies of all related correspondence between it and its Representatives, on the

one hand, and the SEC, on the other ha¡d. Each of the Company and Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to respond as

pronrptly as practicable to any comments from the SEC with respect to the Form S-4 or Proxy Statement. Notwithstanding the

îoregoing, prior to filing the Form S-4 (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or mailing the Proxy Statement (or any amendment

o. r¡tppt.¡1.nt thereto) or r.esponding to any comments of the SEC with respect thereto, each of the Company and Parent, as applicable,

(i) shall provide the other an opportunity to review and comment on such document or response (including the proposed final version

of such docume¡t or response), (ii) shall include in such document or response all cornments reasonably proposed by the other and (iii)

shall not file or mail such document or respond to the SEC prior to receiving the approval of the other, which approval shall not be

unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Each of the Company and Parent shall advise the other, ptomptly after receipt of
notice thereof, of the time of effectiveness of the Fonn S-4, the issuance of any stop order relating thereto or the sttspension of the

qualification of the parent Common Shares constituting the Share Consideration or Mixed Share Consideration for offering or sale in

any jurisdiction, and each of the Cornpany and Parent shall use its çommercially reasonable efforts to have any such stop order or

surp.r.,sionlifted,reversedorotherwiseterminated. EachoftheCornpanyandPatentshall alsotakeanyotheraction(otherthan

quutifying to do business in any jurisdiction in which it is not now so qualified) required to be taken under the Securities Act, the

exchánge Act, any applicable foreign or state securities or "blue sky" Laws and the rules and regulations thereunder in connection with

the Merger and the issuance of the Parent Cornrnon Shares constituting the Share Consideration and the Mixed Share Consideration.
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(b) If prior to the Effective Time, any event occurs with respect to Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, or any change

occurs with respect to other i¡formation supplied by Parent for inclusion in the Proxy Statement or the Form S-4, which Parent in good

faith believes is required to be described in an amendment of, or a supplement to, the Proxy Statement or the Form S-4, Parent shall

promptly notify the Company of such event, and Parent and the Company shall cooperate in the prompt filing with the SEC of any

necessary amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement or the Form S-4 and, as required by Law, in disseminating the information

containedinsuchamendmentorsupplementtheCornpany'sstockholders. NothinginthisSection6.0l(b)shalllimittheobligationsof
any party under Section 6.01(a).

(c) If prior to the Effective Time, any event occurs with respect to the Company or any Cornpany Subsidiary, or any

change occurs with respect to other information supplied by the Company for inclusion in the Proxy Statement or the Forr.n S-4, which

the Company i¡ good faith believes is required to be described in an amendment of, or a supplement to, the Proxy Staternent or the

Form S-4, the Company shall promptly notifu Parent of such event, and the Company and Parent shall cooperate in the prompt filing

with the SEC of any necessary amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement or the Form S-4 and, as required by Law, in

disseminating the infolmation contained in such amendment or supplement to the Company's stockholders. Nothing in this

Section 6.01(c) shall limit the obligations of any parly under Section 6.01(a).

(d) The Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement, duly call, give

notice of, convene and hold the Company Stockholders Meeting for the sole pul'pose of seeking the Company Stockholder Approval.

The Company shall use its cornmercially reasonable efforts to (i) cause the Proxy Statement to be rnailed to the Cornpany's

stockholders as prornptly as practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective under the Securities Act and to hold the Company

Stockholders Meeting as soon as practicable after the Form S-4 becomes effective and (ii) solicit the Company Stockholder Approval.

The Company shall, through the Company Board, recotnmend to its stockholders that they give the Company Stockholder Approval

and shall include such recommendation in the Proxy Statement, except to the extent that the Company Board shall have made a

Company Adverse Recomnrendation Change as permitted by Section 5.03(b). Except as expressly contemplated by the foregoing

serltence, the Company agrees that its obligations pursuant to this Section 6.01 shall not be affected by the comlnencement, public

proposal, public disclosul'e or colllmunication to the Company of any Company Takeover Proposal or by the making of any Company

Adverse Reco¡rmendation Change by the Company Board; provided, however, that the Company shall be permitted to postpone

convening or to adjo¡rn the Cornpany Stockholders Meeting (but not beyond the End Date) if (x) such postponement or adjournment is

required to allow reasonable additional time for the filing and mailing of any suppleurental or amended disclosure in accordance with

Section 6.01(c) and to permit sucl.r supplemental or aurended disclosure to be dissen.rinated and reviewed by the Company's

stockholders prior to the Company Stockholders Meeting, (y) such postponement or adjournment is in order to solicit additional

proxies for the purpose of obtaining the Cornpany Stockholder Approval or (z) as of the time for which the Company Stockholders

Meeting is originally scheduled (as set forth in the Proxy Statement), thçt'e are insuffrcient shares of Company Common Stock

represented (either in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduçt the business ofthe Company Stockholders

Meeting.
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SECTION 6.02. Access to Informationl Coqfidentialit)¡. Subject to applicable Law and any applicable Judgnrent,

between the date of this Agreernent and the earlier of the Effective Time and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section

8,01, upon reasonable notice, each ofParent and the Company shall, and shall cause each oftheir respective Subsidiaries to, afford to

each other and to their respective Representatives reasonable access during normal business hours to the officers, employees, agents,

properties, books, Contracts and records ofParent, the Company or their respective Subsidiaries, as applicable (other than any ofthe
foregoing that relate to the negotiation and execution ofthis Agreement, or, except as expressly provided in Section 5.03 to any

Compa¡y Takeover Proposal) and Parent or the Cornpany, as applicable, shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, furnish promptly to

the other party and such other parfy's Representatives such information concerning its business, personnel, assets, liabilities and

properties as such other parly may reasonably request; provided that such requesting party and its Representatives shall conduct any

such activities in such a manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the business or operations of the providing paffy;

nrovided fu¡ther, holrypvçL that neither Parent, the Company nor any oftheir respective Subsidiaries shall be obligated to provide such

access or information if such party determines, in its reasonable judgment, that doing so is reasonably likely to (i) violate applicable

Law or an applicable Judgment or (ii)jeopaLdize the protection ofan attorney-client privilege, attorney work product protection or

other legal privilege. In any such event, Parent or the Cornpany, as applicable, shall, and shall cause its SLrbsidiaries to, use its

reaso¡able best efforls to çommunicate, to the extent feasible, the applicable information in a way that would not violate applicable

Law, Judgment or obligation or risk waiver of such privilege or protectiou or risk such liability, including entering into a joint defense

agreernent, common interest agreement or other sirnilar arrangement. All t'equests for informatiou made pursuant to this Section 6.02

shall be dilected to the executive offrcer or other Person designated by the other party. Until the Effective Time, all information

provided will be subject to the terms of the tetter agreement dated as of March 27 , 2017 , by and arnong the Cornpany and Parent (the

"Confi dentiality A greement").
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SECTION 6.03. Required Actions. (a) Subject to the terms hereof, including Section 6.03(c), Parent and the

Company shall each use reasonable best efforts to (i) take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, and to assist

and cooperate with the other party in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective the

transactions contemplated heleby as promptly as practicable, (ii) as prornptly as practicable, obtain from any Governmental Entity or

any other third party any Consents required to be obtained or made by Parent or the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries in

connection with the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consumtnation of the transactions contemplated

hereby, (iii) defend any lawsuits or other Actions, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or the consummation

ofthe transactions conternplated hereby, including seeking to have any stay or temporary restraining order entered by any court or

other Governmental Entity vacated or reversed, (iv) as promptly as practicable, make all necessary filings, and thereafter make any

other required submissions, with respect to this Agreement and the Merger required under (A) the Securities Act and the Exchange

Act, and any other applicable Federal or state securities Laws, aud (B) any other applicable Law and (v) execute or deliver any

additional instruments necessary to consummate the transaçtions contemplated by, and to fully carry out the purposes of, this

Agreement. Parent and the Company shall cooperate with each other in connection with the making of all such filings, including

providing copies of all such documents to the non-filing party and its advisors priorto filing and, if requested, considering in good

faith all reasonable additions, deletions ol changes suggested in çonnection therewith. Parent and the Company shall use their

respective reasonable best efforts to furnish to each other all infolnration required for any application or other hling to be made

pursuant to any applicable Law in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) In connection with and without lirniting Section 6.03(a), the Company and the Cornpany Board and Parent and

the Parent Board shall (i) take all action reasonably appropriate to ensure that no state takeover statute or sirnilar statute ot'regulation is

or beco¡nes applicable to this Agreement or any transaction contemplated by this Agreetnent and (ii) if any state takeover statute or

similar statute or regulation becomes applicable to this Agreerneltt or any transaction contemplated by this Agreenrent, take all action

reasonably appropriate to ensule that the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby may be consummated as promptly as

practicable on the terms contemplated by this Agreement.

(c) Upon the tenns and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Parent and the Company agree, and

shall cause each oftheir respective Subsidiaries, to cooperate and use their respective reasonable best efforts to (i) obtain any FCC

Consents, PSC Consents, and Local Consents, and to make any registlations, declarations, notices or filings, if any, necessary for the

consurnmation of the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) in consultation and cooperation with the other, as promptly as practicable

file all applications required to be filed with the FCC (the "Keéppliçg!i.eng"), any State Regulators (the "PSC Applications") and

any Localities to obtain the FCC Consents, PSC Consents and Local Consents, respectively, (iii) respond as prornptly as practicable to

any requests of the FCC, any State Regulator, or any Locality for information relating to any FCC Application or PSC Application, as

applicable; provided, that each of Parent and the Company shall consult with the other before communicating with any Governmental

Entity relating to these matters, and to the extent permitted by applicable Law and reasonably practicable shall enable the other pafty to

participate i¡ each such cornmunication, and (iv) cure, not later than the Effective Time, any material violations or defaults under any

FCC Rules or rules of any State Regulator or Locality.
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(d) Upon the terms and subject to the tenns and conditions of this Agreement, Parent aud the Company agree, and

shall cause each oftheir respective Subsidiaries, to cooperate and to use their respective reasonable best efforts to obtain any Consents

of any Gove¡t¡rental Entity, and to make any registrations, declarations, trotices or filings, if atty, necessary for Closing under the HSR

Act, and any other.Federal, state 01'foreign Law designed to prohibit, restrict or regttlate actions for the purpose or effect of
¡ronopolization, restraint oftrade or regulation offoreign investment (collectively, "4¡1ûlru5ll-al¡¿S"), to respond to any requests ofany

Governmental Entity for infonnation under any Antitrust Law, to secure the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period,

to resolve any objections assefted with respectto the transactions contemplated hereby raised by any Goverumental Entity and to

contest and resist any action, including any legislative, administrative oljudicial action, and to prevent the entry ofany court order and

to have vacated, lifted, reversed or overlurned any Judgment (whether temporaly, prelirninary or permanent) that restricts, prevents or

prohibits the consummation of the Merger or any other transactions contemplated hereby under any Antitrust Law.

(e) Subject to applicable Law and the instructions of any Governmental Entity, Parent and the Cornpany shall in

good faith cooperate, consult and consider the other's views in older to jointly develop (but subject to Parent's final approval (not to be

unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed)), (x) the strategy for obtaining any Consents from any Governmental Entity (including

the FCC Consents, PSC Consents and Local Consents) in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby

and (y) the positions to be taken and the regulatory actions to be requested in any filing or submission with a Governmental Entity in

connection with the Merger and the other tlansactions contemplated hereby and in connection with any investigation or other inquiry

or Action by or before, or any negotiations with, a Governmental Entity relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated

hereby and ofall other regulatory matters incidental thereto.

(Ð For the purposes ofthis Section 6.03, "reasonable best efforts" shall include taking any and all actions necessal'y

to obtain the Consents of any Governlnental Entity (including the FCC Consents, PSC Consents and Local Couset'rts) required to

oonsummate the Merger and the othel transactions contemplated hereby prior to the End Date; pfgl¿klgd that nothing in this Agreement

shall permit the Company or the Company Subsidiaries (without the prior written consent of Parent) or require Parent or the Parent

Subsidiaries to take or refrain from taking, or agree to take or refrain from taking, any action or actions that, individually or in the

aggregate,would be reasonably likely to have a either a Parent Matelial Adverse Effect or Company Material Adverse Effect (each a

,,BurdensomeCondition"). Forthe avoidanceofdoubt,notwithstandinganyrequestorconsentofParenttodoso,iunoeventshall the

Company or the Company Subsidialies be required to submit to a Burdensome Condition unless such Burdensome Condition is

conditioned in all respects upon the consumlxation of the Merger and will not be effective for any purpose until after the Effective

Time, and any such Burdensorne Condition imposed on the Cornpany or the Company Subsidiaries at the request of or with the consent

of pare¡t shall not affect any replesentatiorl or warranty of the Company under this Agreement or any condition under Section 7.01 or

Section 7.03 to the obligation of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger.
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SECTION 6.04. Stock Awards. (a) As soorl as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the Cornpany

Board (or, if appropriate, any comn'rittee adnrinistering the Company Stock Plans) shall adopt such resolutions or take such other

actions as may be required to effect the following:

(i) adjust the terms of each Cash-Out RSU that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective

Time to provide that, as of the Effective Time, each such Cash-Out RSU shall be canceled and the holder thereof

shall, automatically and without any required action on the part of the holder thereof, become entitled to receive

solely, i¡ full satisfaction of the rights of such holder with respect thereto, (A) the Merger Consideration (which shall

be (l) the Share Consideration in respect of each Share Election RSU Share, (2) the Mixed Consideration in respect

of each Mixed Election RSU Share and Non-Election RSU Share and (3) the Cash Consideration in respect of each

Cash Election RSU Share, based on such holder's election or Non-Election in accordance with Section 2.04) for each

share of Cornpany Common Stock subject to suçh Cash-Out RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time and (B) a

cash payment equal to any accrued dividend equivalents in respect of each such Cash-Out RSU, provided that, (x)

witl'r respect to any Cash-Out RSU that is a Company PSU, the number of shares of Company Common Stock

deemed subject to such Cash-Out RSU imrnediately prior to the Effective Time shall be based upon actual

performance duling the two years following the date of grant of the applicable Cash-Out RSU (if such two-year

period has concluded prior to the Effective Time) or during the period beginning on the date of grant of the

applicable Cash-Out RSU and ending as of the Effective Time (if such two-year period has not concluded prior to the

Effective Ti¡re) as reasonably detennined by the Company Board in good faith (oL, if appropriate, any committee

thereof) in consultation with Parent iurrnediately plior to the Effective Tinle and (y) each such holder shall be entitled

to receive, in lieu of any fractional Parent Common Shares that would result from the calculation in this Section

6.ga(a)(i), a cash payrnent calculated in the mauner set forth in Section 2.02(Ð;

(ii) adjust the terms of each Rollover RSU that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective

Time to provide that, as of the Effective Time, each sucl'r Rollover RSU shall, autornatically and without any required

action on the part of the holder thereof, be converted into a time-based restricted stock unit of Parent, with respect to

a number of Parent Common Shares (rounded down to the nearest whole share) determined by multiplying the

number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Rollover RSU by the RSU Exchange Ratio (each, an
,,Adjusted RSU"), subject to substantially the same terms and conditions as were applicable to strch Rollover RSU

im¡.rediately prior to the Effective Tirne (except that any performance-based vesting conditions or requirements shall

no longer apply) pfsyjdgd that, with respect to any Rollover RSU that is a Company PSU, the number of shares of
Company Comrnon Stock deemed subject to such Rollover RSU imrnediately prior to the Effective Time shall be

based upon the target level ofperformance;
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(b) The holder of any Cash-Out RSU shall be entitled to make a Share Election, Mixed Election or Cash Election

with respect to each share of Company Common Stock subject to such Cash-Out RSU in accordance with Section 2.04 (and subject to

Section 2.05). Any such holder who makes a Non-Election shall receive the Mixed Consideration pursuant to this Section 6.04 in

respectofeachNon-ElectionRSUShare. ParentshallpayanycashamountspayablepursuanttothisSection6.04assoonas
reasonably practicable (but in any event no later than 20 Business Days) after the Effective Time. All amounts (whether in the form of
cash or equity) payable pursuant to this Section 6.04 shall be subject to any required withholding oftaxes and shall be paid without

interest.

(c) At the Effective Time, Parent shall assume all of the obligations of the Company nnder the Company Stock

Plans, each Adjusted RSU and the agreements evidencing the grants tl,ereof. As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, Parent

shall deliver to the holders of Adjusted RSUs appropriate notices setting forth such holders' rights pursuant to the respective Company

Stock Plans, and the agreements evidencing the grants of such Adjusted RSUs shall continue in effect on the satne terms and

conditions (subject to the adjustments required by this Section 6.04 after giving effect to the Merger).

(d) Parent shall take all corporate action necessary to reserye for issuance a sufficient number of Parent Common

Shares for delivery with respect to the Adjusted RSUs. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall cause to be filed with the SEC a

registration statement on Fornr S-8 (or another appropriate fonn) registering (to the extent pernritted under applicable Law) a number

of Parent Common Shares equal to the number of Parent Common Shares subject to the Adjusted RSUs pursuant to Section 6.04(a)'
parent shall use reasonable efforts to rnaintain (to the extent permitted under applicable Law) the effectiveness of such registlation

statetnent (and maintain the current status of the prospectus or prospectuses contained therein) for so long as any Adjusted RSUs

remain outstanding, The Company shall cooperate with, and assist Parent in the preparation of, such registration statement'

SECTION 6.05. Indemnification. Exculpation and Insurance. (a) Parent agrees that all rights to indemnification,

advancement of expenses and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time now existing

in favor of the current or former directors or ofhcers of tl,e Cornpany and the Company Subsidiaries (each, an "Indernnified Person")

as provided in their respective charlers or bylaws (or conrparable organizational documents) and any indemnification or other similar

agreernents of the Cornpany or any of the Company Subsidiaries, in each çase as in effect on the date of this Agreement, shall be

assunred by parent in the Merger, without further action, as of the Effective Time and shall survive the Merger and shall contintte in

full force and effect in açcordance with their terms for a period of not less than six years following the Effective Time.

(b) In the event that Parent or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person

and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity ofsuch consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or

substantially all ofits properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, Parent shall cause proper provision to be made

so that the successors and assigns ofParent assunle the obligations set forth in this Section 6.05 contemporaneous with the closing of

any such consolidation, merger, transfer or conveyance.
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(c) At or prior to the Effective Tirne, the Company shall purclrase a fully prepaid, non-cancellable, non-amendable

and non-refundable "tail" directors' and officers' liability insurance policy for the Cornpany and the Company Subsidiaries and their
current and former directors, officers and employees who are currently covered by the directors' and officers' liability insurance

coverage currently maintained by the Company or the Company Subsidialies in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company that
shall provide such directors, officers and employees with coverage for six years following the Effective Time of not less than the

existing coverage and have other terms not less favorable to the insured persorls than the directors' and offrcers' liability insurance

ceverage currently maintained by the Company or the Company Subsidiaries, except that in no event shall the Company pay with
respect to such "tail" policy nrore than 300% ofthe aggregate annual premium payable by the Company for such insurance policy for
the year ended December 3 I , 20 16 (the "Maximnrn Amount"), and if the Company is unable to obtain the insurance required by this

Section 6.05(c) for an amount that is equal to or less than the Maximurn Arnount, it shall obtain as much comparable "tail" insurance

as possible for the years withiu such six-year period for an amount equal to the Maximum Amount. The "tail" policy obtained
pursuant to this Section 6.05(c) shall not be amended, rnodified, cancelled or revoked by the Company, Parent or the Surviving
Corporation.

(d) TheprovisionsofthisSection6.05(i)shall surviveconsummationoftheMerge¡(ii)areintendedtobeforthe
benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each indemnified or insured party (including the Indernnified Person), his or her heirs and his or
het representatives and (iii) are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or contribution that any

such Person may have by contract or otherwise, including under the terms of the respective chafters or bylaws or comparable

organizational docurnents of the Company and the Cor.npany Subsidiaries.

SECTION 6.06. Fees and Expenses.

(a) Except as provided below, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger and the other
transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the parly incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not such transactions are

consummated.

(b) the Company shall pay to Parent a fee of $11,940,000 (the "Company Terrnination Fee") if:

(i) Parent terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01(e); or

(ii) this Agreement is terminated by the Company or Parent pursuant to Section 8.01(b)(i) (but

only if the Company Stockholders Meeting has not been held by the End Date) or Section 8.01(bxiii) and, in either

case, (A) a Company Takeover Proposal shall have been publicly made, proposed or communicated by a third party

after the date of this Agreement and (x) before the tirne this Agreement is terrninated in the case of a termination

under Section 8.01(bxi) or (y) before the completion of the Company Stockholders Meeting (including any

adjournment or postponernent thereof) in the case of a termination under Section 8.01(bxiii) and (B) within
12 months of the date this Agreement is terminated, the Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to a

Cornpany Takeover Proposal or a Company Takeover Proposal is consummated (in each case, whether or not such

Cornpany Takeover Proposal was the sarne Company Takeover Proposal referred to in clause (n)); provided that, for
purposes of clauses (B) of this Section 6.0ó(bxii), the references to"l5%o or more" in the definition of Cornpany

Takeover Proposal shall be deemed to be t'eferences to "more fhatt 50Yo".
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Any Company Termination Fee due under this Section 6.06(b) shall be paid by wire transfer of sarne-day funds (x) in the case of
clause (i) above, no later than the second Business Day imrnediately following the date of termination of this Agreement and (y) in the

case of clause (ii) above, no later than the second Business Day immediately following the date of the first to occur of the events

referred to in clause (ii)(B) above; it being understood that in no event shall the Company be required to pay ol cause to be paid the

Company Termination Fee on more than one occasion.

(c) The Company acknowledges and agrees that the agreements contained in Section 6.06(b) are an integral part of
the transactions contemplated hereby, and that, without these agreements, Parent would not enter ittto this Agreernent. Accordingly, if
the Company fails promptly to pay the amount due pnrsnant to Section 6.06(b) and, in order to obtain such payment, Parent

comlllences an Action that results in a Judgment in its favor for such payment, the Cornpany shall pay to Parent its costs and expenses

(including reasonable and documented attorneys' fees and expenses) in connection with such Action, together with interest on the

amount of such payment from the date such paymeut was required to be made until the date of paymertt at the prime rate as published

by The Wall Street Journal in effect on the date such payment was required to be made.

(d) In the event that this Agreernent is terminated and the Cornpany Termination Fee is paid to Parent in

circumstances for which such fee is payable pursuant to Section 6.06(b), payment of the Cornpany Termination Fee shall be the sole

and exclusive monetary damages rernedy of Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Subsidiaries and any of their respective former,

current or future officers, directors, paftnel's, shareholdels, managers, members or Affìliates against the Company and the Company

Subsidiaries and any of their respective former, current or future officers, directors, paftners, shareholders, managers, members or

Affiliates (collectively, "Cornpan]¡ Related Parties") for any loss suffered as a result of the failure of the Merger or the other

transactions contemplated hereby to be consurnmated or for a breach or failure to perfortn hereunder or otherwise (so long as, in the

event that this Agreenrent was terminated by the Cornpany, such termination was in accordance with the applicable provisions of this

Agreement), and, subject as aforesaid, upon payment of such amount none of the Company Related Parties shall have any further

monetary liability or obligation relating to or arising oLrt of this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions contetnplated hereby.

SECTION 6.07. Income Tax Treatment. Without the advance written consent of the Company prior to the Effective
Time (which consent may be given or withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the Company), Parent shall not cause or permit

the Company to be combined with another entity following the Effective Time in a manner that (alone or together with other

transactions) would result in the Merger being treated other than as a taxable sale of the Company Comnon Stock by the Company's

stockholdels for U.S. federal incolne tax purposes.
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SECTION 6.08. Transaction Litigation. The Company shall give Parent the opportunify to participate in the defense

or settlement of any stockholder litigation against the Company or its directors relating to the Merger and the other transactions

contemplated hereby, and no such settlelnent shall be agreed to without the prior written consent of Parent, which consent shall not be

unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Parent shall give the Company the opportunity to parlicipate in the defense or

settlement of any shareholder litigation against Parent or its directors relating to the Merger and the other transactions conternplated

hereby, and no such settlement shall be agreed to without the prior written consent of the Company, which consent shall not be

unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

SECTION 6,09. Section 16 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company, Parent and Merger Sub each shall

take all such steps as lnay be reasonably required to cause (a) any dispositions of Company Common Stock (including derivative

securities with respect to ConTpany Common Stock) resulting from the Merger and the other transactious contetnplated hereby, by each

individual who will be subject to the reporting requirernents of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to the Company

immediately prior to the Effective Time, to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act and (b) any acquisitions

of Parent Common Shares (including derivative securities with respect to Parent Common Shares) resulting froln the Merger and the

other transactions conternplated hereby, by each individual who may becotne or is reasouably expected to becotne subject to the

reporling requirernerrts of Section l6(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to Parent immediately following the Effective Tirne, to be

exempt utrder Rule 16b-3 prornulgated under the Exchange Act.

SECTION 6.10. Governance Mattels. The Company and Parent shall canse the matters set for-th on Exhibit A to

occul'

SECTION 6..1 I . Public Announcements. Parent and the Company shall consult with each other before issuing, and

give each other the opportunify to review and comment upon, any press release or other public statements with respect to the Merger

and the other transactions conternplated hereby, and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement prior to

such consultation, except as may be required by applicable Law, Judgment, coufi process orthe rules and regulations ofany national

securities exchange or national securities quotation system and except for any matters referred to in, and rnade in compliance with,

Section 5.03. The parties hereto agree that the initial press release to be issued with respect to the Merger and the other transactions

contemplated hereby following execution of this Agreement shall be in the form heretofore agreed to by the parties hereto (the

"Announcement"). Notwithstanding the forgoing, this Section 6.l l shall not apply to any press release or other public statement made

by the Company or Parer.rt which is consistent with the Announcenrent and the terrns of this Agreerlent and does not coutain any

information relating to the Comparry, PaLent, the Merger or the transactions contemplated hereby that has not beeu previously

announced ot'made public in accordattce with the tenns of this Agreement.
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SECTION 6.12. Stock Exchange Listing. Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Parent

Common Sl.rares to be issued in the Merger to be approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance, prior to the

Closing Date.

SECTION 6.13. Ernployee M4tters. (a) Parent agrees that, during the period comrnencing at the Effective Time and

ending on the first anniversary thereof, the ernployees of the Company and the Cornpany Subsidiaries who remain in the employment

of parent and the parent Subsidiaries (including the Cornpany and any Company Subsidiary) after the Effective Time (the "Continuing

Ernplovees") shall receive (x) base salary or wages (as applicable), target annual incentive opportunities and, solely with respect to the

valqe thereof, long-term incentive opporlunities that are no less favorable in the aggregate than those provided to such Continuing

Employees imrnediately prior to the Effective Tirne and (y) other employee benefrts that are substantially cornparable in the aggregate

to the benefits provided to such Continuing Employees imrnediately prior to the Effective Tirrre (excluding, for purposes of
dete¡ni¡ing such comparabiliry, any retention bonus, defined benefit peusion or retiree or post-employment welfare benehts, except to

the extent required by applicable Law).

(b) Parent shall use comn.rercially reasonable efforls to cause each ernployee benefit plan or program of Parent or its

Affiliates ip which Continuing Employees and their eligible dependents are eligible to participate after the Effective Time to take into

account for purposes ofvesting and eligibility (and for purposes ofbenefit accrual utrder each vacation and other paid time offplan or

program) the service of such Continuing Employees prior to the Effective Time with the Company or any Company Subsidiaty

(including any predecessors thereto) as if such service were with Parent or its Aff,iliates, in each çase to the same extent that such

service was recognized by the Conrpany or any Company Subsidiary imrnediately prior to the Effective Tirne under the cornparable

Compa¡y Benefit Plan; ryi¡þ[ that no such ctediting of service shall be required to the extent it would result in any duplication of
benefits.

(c) Parent shall use commelcially reasonable efforts to cause each employee benefit plan or program that is a group

health plan of Parent and its Affiliates (including the Company or any Company Subsidiary) in which Continuing Employees are

eligible to participate after the Effective Time (each such employee benefìt plan or program, a "N-91,v-P.!ên") to (i) waive, or cause the

waiver of, all lirnitations as to preexisting conditions, exclusions and waiting periods with respect to parlicipation and coverage

requirements, other than Iimitations or waiting periods that are ah'eady in effect prior to the Effective Time with respect to such

Continuing Employee under the cornparable Company Benefit Plan and that have not been satisfìed as of the Effective Tirne and (ii)

provide such Conti¡uing Employee and his or her covered dependents with credit for any co-payments and deductibles paid during the

plan year of and prior to any change in coverage fronr a Company Benefit Plan to such New Plan in satisfying any applicable

deductible or out-of-pocket requirements under sr'rch New Plan.

(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary and without limiting the generality of Section 9.07, the parties

hereby ack¡owledge and agree that all provisions contained in this Section 6.13 are included for the sole benefit ofthe parties, and that

nothi¡g i¡ this Agreenrent, whether express or implied, (i) shall be treated as an amendtnent or other modification of any Company

Benefit Plan, Compa¡y Collective Bargaining Agreement, New Plan or other employee benefit plan, program, policy, arrangement or

agreement (or an nndertaking to amend any such plan or arrangement), (ii) shall lirnit the right of Parent, the Con'rpany or their

respective Affrliates to tenninate, amend or otherwise modifu any Company Benefit Plan, Company Collective Bargaining Agreernent,

New plan or other employee benefit plan, program, policy, arrangernent or agreement following the Effective Tirne or (iii) shall create

any thir.d-party be¡eficiary or other right (A) in any other Person, including any Company Parlicipant or any participant in any

Company Benefit Plan, Company Collective Bargaining Agreement, New Plan ot other employee benefit plan, program, policy,

arrangement or agreen1ent (or any dependent or beneficiary thereof or (B) to continued employment with Parent or the Company or

any of their respective Affiliates.
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SECTION 6.14. Parent Vote. Parent shall vote, or cause to be voted, any Cornpany Common Stock beneficially

ow¡ed by it or any of the Parent Subsidiaries or with respect to which it or any of the Parent Subsidiaries has the power (by agreemerlt,

proxy or otherwise) to cause to be voted, in favor of the adoption of this Agreement at the Company Stockholders Meeting or any other

meeting of stockholders of the Cornpany at which this Agreement shall be subrnitted for approval and at all adjournments or

postponements thereof.

SECTION 6.15. Obligations of Merger Sub. Parent shall cause Merger Sub to perform its obligations under this

Agreernent and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby upon the terms and subject to the conditions set fodh in this

Agreernent.

SECTION 6.16. Financing.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Parent shall use its cotnmercially reasonable efforfs to

obtai¡ the Debt Financing on the terms and conditions (including "market flex" provisions) described in the Debt Financing

Comrnitrnent, including using its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) comply with its obligations under the Debt Financing

Commitment and any definitive agleements related thereto (the "Debt Financing Documents"), (ii) maintain in effect the Debt

Fi¡a¡cing Commitment, (iii) negotiate and enter into Debt Financing Documents on a tirnely basis on terms and conditions (including

the "market flex" plovisions) contained in the Debt Financing Commitment or othet'wise not materially less favorable with respect to

conditionality to Parent in the aggregate than those contained in the Debt Financing Comtnitrnent, (iv) satisf' on a timely basis all

co¡ditio¡s contained ip the Debt Financing Cornmitment that are applicable to Parent and within its control, including the payrnent of
any commitment, engagement ol placement fees required as a condition to the Debt Financing and (v) if all conditions to the Debt

Financi¡g Commiturent have been satisfied, cause the Courmittnent Parlies to collsulrmate the Debt Financing at or prior to the

Closing Date (it being understood that it is not a condition to Closing under this Agreement for Parent to obtain the Debt Financing)'

Parent shall give the Cornpany prolnpt notice upon having knowledge of any breach by any Commitment Party under the Debt

Fi¡a¡cing Documents or any tennination of any of ttre Debt Financing Documents. Other than as set forth in this Section 6.16, Parent

shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, amend, modify, supplement or waive any of the conditions or

contingencies to fundi¡g contained in the Debt Financing Documents or any other provision of, or remedies under, the Debt Financing

Documents (other than in accordance with the "market flex" provisions), in each case to the extent such amendment, modification,

supplement or waiver (i) would reasonably be expected to have the effect of (A) adversely affecting the ability of Parent to timely

consurnmate the Merger and other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (B) delaying the Closing or (ii) contains conditions

a¡d other terms that would reasonably be expected to affect the availability of the Debt Filtancing that are more onerous, taken as a

whole, than those conditions and terms contained in the Debt Financing Cornmitment as of the date hereof; p¡ov(þ! that

notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Parent shall be entitled from time to time to (x) arnend, restate, replace,

suppleme¡t or otherwise modifu, or waive any of its rights under, the Debt Financing Conrmitment or substitute other hnancing for all

or any portion of the Debt Financing from the same or altemative financing sources, and (y) amend, restate, replace, supplement or

otherwise rnodiff the Debt Financing Courmitment for the purpose of adding agelìts, co-agents, lenders, arrangers, bookrunners or

other per.sons that have not executed the Debt Financing Commitment as of the date hereof, in each case, subject to subclauses (i) and

(ii) above. Upon any such amendment, supplement or modifiçation, in accordance with the terrns of this Section 6.16(a), the term

"Debt Financing Commitrnent" shall lnean for all purposes of this Agreement the Debt Financing Commitment as so amended,

suppleme¡ted or modified. Parent shall promptly deliver to the Company true and complete copies of any such amendment,

supplernent or modification (subject, in the case of any fee letter ot engagement letter, to customary redactions (none of which redacted

terms would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the principal amount or availability of the Debt Financing)).
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(b) In the event that all or any portion of the Debt Financing becomes unavailable, Parent shall use its reasonable

best efforts to (i) promptly obtain the Debt Financing or such portion of the Debt Financing from alternative sources iu an amount

sufficiept, when added to any portion of the Debt Financing that is available and cash on hand and other readily available liquidity, to

pay in cash all amounts required to be paid by Parent in cash in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated

hereby ("Alternative Debt Financing") and (ii) obtain a new financing commitment letter (the "Alternative Debt Commitment Letter")

and a ¡ew defr¡itive agreement with respect thereto that provides for financing (A) on terms not materially less favorable, in the

aggregate, to Parent (taking into account the "market flex" provisions of the existing Debt Financing Corlnitment), (B) containing

conditions and other terms that would reasonably be expected to affect the availability thereof that (l) are not more onerous, taken as a

whole, than those conditions and terms contained in the Debt Financing Commitment as of the date hereof and (2) would not

reaso¡ably be expected to delay the Closing and (C) in an amount that is sufficient, when added to any portion of the Debt Financing

that is available and cash on hand and other readily available liquidity, to pay in cash all amoutrts required to be paid by Parent in cash

in con¡ection with the Metger and the other transactions conternplated hereby. In such event, the term "Debt Financing" as used in this

Agreement shall be deemed to include any Alternative Debt Financing, and the term "Debt Financing Commitment" as used in this

AgreementshallbedeemedtoincludeanyAlternativeDebtCommitmentLetter. Fortheavoidanceofdoubt,thepartiesheretoagree
that the Company shall cooperate with Parent to obtain any Alternative Debt Financing in the lnanner set forth in Section 6.16(c).
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(c) Prior to the Effective Time, the Cornpany shall use commercially reasonable efforts, and shall cause the

Company's wholly owned Subsidiaries to use commercially reasonable efforts to, provide, and shall use its commercially reasonable

efforts to cause any Representative retained by the Company to provide, all cooperation reasonably requested by Parent in connection

with any debt financing by Parent, including the Debt Financing, including: (i) parlicipating in meetings (including with prospective

Financing Sources), drafting sessions, road shows, due diligence sessions and rating agency presentations; (ii) furnishing Parent and

Financing Sources with the financial inforrnation required by the Debt Financing Commitment, from the Commitment Parties, audited

consolidated balance sheets and related statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Company for the three most

recently conrpleted hscal years ended at least 90 days prior to the Closing Date, unaudited consolidated balance sheets and related

statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows of the Company for each subsequent fiscal quarler ended at least 45 days

before the Closing Date (and comparable periods for the prior fiscal year) (which shall have been reviewed by the Company's

independe¡t accountants as provided in SAS 100) and information (financial or otherwise) regarding the Company and the Company

Subsidiaries that is reasonably necessary for Parent to prepare pro forma financial statements under and in accordance with Afticle 11

of Regulation S-X and the relevant SEC rules and regulations applicable thereto for registration statements on Form S-1, as well as

business and other financial information of the type required in a registered offering by Regulation S-X and Regulation S-K under the

Securities Act (such information, the "Required Financial Infonnation"); p¡syrdgd, however, that the Required Financial Information

shall be deemed to have been furnished to Parent and to the Financing Sources to the extent included in the Company's periodic reports

under the Excha¡ge Act as and when filed with the SEC; (iii) assisting Parent and the Financing Sources in the preparation of (A) a

customary bank i¡formation memorandum (as well as a public-side version thereof) for the Debt Financing and any other debt

financing by Parent, (B) matelials for rating agency presentations and (C) prospeçtuses, offering metnoranda and private placernent

mernoranda (including any pro forma financial statements included therein); (iv) using its commercially reasonable efforls to cause it
current or former indepe¡dent accountants to provide assistance and cooperatiotl in the Debt Financing (including any offering of debt

securities in lieu of the Debt Financing Commitment) or any other debt financing by Pareut, including (A) participating in a reasonable

number ofdrafting sessions and accounting due diligence sessions, (B) providing any necessaly written consents to use their audit

repofts relating to the Company and the Cornpany Subsidiaries and to be named as an "Expert" in any document related to any Debt

Financing (including any offering of debt securities in lieu of the Debt Financing Comrnitment) or any other debt financing by Parent

and (C) providi¡g any customary "comfoft" letters (including customary "negative assurance" comfort); (v) assisting Parent with the

preparation of any definitive agreements related to the Debt Financing Commitment by providing any infonnation related to the

Cornpany that is required to be delivered thereunder (including any schedules thereto and, to the extent required by the Debt Financing

Documents, any financial projections required to be delivered thereunder); (vi) executing and delivering (or using commercially

reasonable efforts to obtain) custornary cerlificates, açcountants' comfoft letters (which shall provide "negative assurance" cornfort),

consents, legal opinions and negative assurance letters in connection with the Debt Financing or any other debt financing by Parent;

(vii) using cornmercially reasonable efforts to pledge collateral and grant guaranties in connection with the Debt Financing or any other

debt financing by Parent, including delivery ofceftificates representing equity interests constituting collateral, intellectual propefty

filings with respect to intellectual propefty constituting collateral and rnortgages with respect to owned real properfy constituting

collateral; (viii) facilitati¡g the receipt of documentation that will evidence the repayment of existing Indebtedness of the Company and

the Company Subsidiaries and releases of any Liens securing existing Indebtedness of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries, in

each case upon the repayment of such Indebtedness substantially concurrently with the initial funding of the Debt Financing (including

providing executed and customary payoff letters in respect of existing Indebtedness fol borrowed llloney, which provide forthe

termination of all commitments of the lenders thereof, the payrnent and satisfaction of all obligations of the Company and the

Company Subsidiaries in connection therewith (other than customary indernnity and other obligations that survive the repayrnent of
I¡debtedness) and the release of all Liens on the Company's and the Company Subsidiaries'properties and assets securing the

Compa¡y's a¡d the Compa¡y Subsidiaries' obligations in connectiou therewith); (ix) providing the Financing Sources and any other

financing sources in connection with a debt financing by Parent with all custonrary documentation and other information required by

regulatory authorities and as reasonably requested by Parent with respect to the Company and the Company Subsidiaries in connection

wittr appiicable "know your customer" and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the USA PATzuOT ACT, Title III of
pub. L. I 07-56 (signed iuto law October 26, 2001), provided that such documentation and/or information requests are provided to the

Company at least five Business Days prior to any deadline plescribed by the Financing Sources; and (x) consenting to the reasonable

tuse of the Company's ancl the Company Subsidiaries' trademarks, service rlarks or logos in connection with the Debt Financing or any

other debt financing by Pare¡t prior to the Closing Date; provided that the Company and the Cornpany Subsidiaries shall not be

required to pay any commitment or other similar fee or incur any other liabilify in connection with the Debt Financing or atty other

debt financing by pare¡t; provided fudbe¡¡ that (A) nothing herein shall require any cooperation to the extent it would interfere

unreasonably with the business or operations of the Company and the Company Subsidialies, (B) neither the Company nor any

Company Subsidiary shall be requir.ed to take any corporate action with respect to any Debt Financing (including with respect to any

boará approvals) or other debt financing by Parent, and (C) the effectiveness ofany docutnentation executed by the Company or the

Company Subsidiaries with respect thereto (solely in the case of the Company and the Colnpany Subsidiaries) shall be subject to the

consummation of the Closing (and the Cornpany and the Company Subsidiaries shall not be required to execute auy solvency, 1 0b-5 or

other certificates prior to the Closing). Parent acknowledges and agrees that none of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries

or any oftheir respective mallagers, directors, officers, employees, representatives and advisors (including legal, fìnancial and

accou¡ti¡g advisois) shall incur any liability to any person under or in connection with the Debt Financirlg or any other debt financing

by pare¡t prior to the Closing. Except in the case of Iosses arising or resulting from fraud, intentional or willful misrepreseutation,
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gross negligence, willful misconduct or willful concealment, in each case as determined by a final, non-appealable judgrnent by a coutt

of .o-pãt"nt¡urisdictio¡, parent shall indernnifl and hold harmless the Company and the Cornpany Subsidiaries and their respective

*u,1ug.r., directors, officers, employees, representatives and advisors (including legal, financial and accounting advisors) from and

against any and all liabilities, costs and expenses suffered or incurred by them in connection with the arrangement of the Debt

Financing, any alternative Debt Financing or any other debt financing by Parent for which cooperation is requested under this

Section 6.16 and any information utilized in connection therewith (other than information provided by or on behalf of the Company

expressly for use in co¡nection therewith). Parent shall, upon the request of the Company, promptly reimburse the Company for all

do.u*.nt.d out-of-pocket costs or expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in connection with cooperation provided for in this

Section6.16. Fortheavoidanceofdoubt,ParentandMergerSubexpresslyacknowledgeandagreethattheirrespectiveobligationsto
çonsurnmate the tr.ansactions contemplated by this Agreement are not subject to any condition or contingency with respeat to receipt of

the Debt Financing or any financing or funding by any third party'
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SECTION 6.17. Voting Agreement. The Cornpany shall instruct its transfer agent not to register the transfer of any

Subject Shares (as defined in the Voting Agreement) made or attempted to be rnade in violation of the Voting Agleement'

ARTICLE VII

Conditions Precedent

SECTION 7.Q I . Conditions to Each Partv's Obligation to Effect the Merger. The respective obligation of each party

to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(al Companv Stockholde . The Company Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained.

(b) Listing. The Parent Common Shares issuable as Merger Consideration pursuant to this Agreement shall have

been approvecl for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance.

(c) Antitrust. Any waiting period applicable to the Merger under the HSR Act shall have been terminated or shall

have expired.

(d) FCC. State and Local Ap . The FCC Consents, the PSC Consents and the Local Consents set forlh on

Section 7.01(d) ofthe Company Disclosure Letter shall have been obtained, shall not be subject to agency reconsideration orjudicial

review, and the time for any persoll to petition for agency reconsideration or judicial review shall have expired.

(e) No Leeal Restraints. No applicable Law and no Judgment, preliminaly, temporary or petmanent, or other legal

restraint and no binding order or determination by any Governmental Entity (collectively, the "Legal Restraints") shall be in effect that

prevents, restrains, enjoins, makes illegal or otherwise prohibits the consumtnation of the Merger or imposes any Burdensome

Condition on the çotrsummation of the Melger and no Action by a Governmental Entity shall be pending that seeks to prevent, restraitr,

enjoin, ¡rake illegal or otherwise prohibit the consumnration of the Merger or to impose any Burdensome Condition on the

consumrnation of the Merget'.

(f) Form S-4. The Form S-4 shall have been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act. No stop order

suspending the effectiveness ofthe Form S-4 shall have been issued by the SEC and no Actions for that purpose shall have been

initiated or threatened by the SEC.

SECTION 7.02. Conditions to Obligations of the Compan)r. The obligation of the Company to consumurate the

Merger is further subject to the following conditions:
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(a) Representations and Warranties. The representatious and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this

Agreeme¡t (except for the representations and warranties contained in Section 3.03) shall be true and correct (without giving effect to

a¡y limitation as to "rnateriality" or "Parent Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein) at altd as of the date of this Agreement and at

and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (exceptto the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as

ofsuch earlier date), except wþere the failure ofsuch representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving effect to any

limitation as to ,'materiality" or "Parent Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein), individually or in the aggregate, has not had and

would ¡ot reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, and the representations and warranties of Parent and

Merger Sub contained i¡ Section 3.03 shall be true and correct in all material respects at aud as of the date of this Agreement and at

and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as

of such earlier date). The Cornpany shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of each of Parent and Merger Sub by an

executive officer of each of Parent and Merger Sub, respectively, to such effect.

(b) Performance of Obligations of Parent and Mergel sub. Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed in all

rnaterial respects all ¡raterial obligations required to be perforrned by them under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date, and

the Company shall lrave received a certificate signed on behalf of each of Parent and Merger Sub by an executive officer of each of

Parent and Merger Sub, respectively, to such effect.

(c) Absence of Parent Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any

event or developrnent that, individually ol in the aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material

Adverse Effect.

SECTION 7.03. Conditions to Oblisation of Parent. The obligation of Parent and Merger Sub to consumrnate the

Merger is further subject to the following conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Cornpany contained in this

Agreerne¡t (except for the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.03) shall be true and correct (without giving effect to

arly lirnitation as to..materiality" or "Company Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein) at and as of the date of this Agreement and

at and as of the Closing Date as if ¡Tade at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case

as ofsuch earlier date), except where the failure ofsuch representations and warranties to be true and correct (without giving effect to

any limitation as to ,,materiaiity" or "Cornpany Material Adverse Effect" set fo¡th therein), individually or in the aggregate, has not had

and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, and the representations and warranties of the

Compa'y contai¡ed in Section 4.03 shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the date of this Agreenlent and at and

as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of

s'ch earlier date). parent shall have received a cerlificate signed on behalf of the Cornpany by an executive officer of the Company to

such effect.

(b) performance of Oblisations of the Cornpany. The Company shall have performed in all material respects all

luraterial obligations ,.qui..d to be perfonned by it under this Agreernent at or prior to the Closing Date, and Parent shall have received

a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an executive officerof the Company to such effect'
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(c) Absence of Company Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreernent, there shall not have occurred

any event or development that, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Cornpany Material

Adverse Effect.

ARTICLE VIII

Termination. Amendment and Waiver

SECTION 8.01. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether

before or after receipt of the Cornpany Stockholder Approval:

(a) by mutual written consent of the Company and Parent;

(b) by either the Cornpany or Parent:

(i) if the Merger is not consumnrated on ol before the End Date. The úrEnd Date" shall mean the

date that is fifteen itS) months after the date hereof; provided, however, that if on the date that is fifteen (15) months

after.the date hereof the conditions to Closing set forth in any or all of Section 7.01(a), 7.0-l(c), 7.01(d) or 7.0-l(e)

shall not have been satisfied or waived but all other conditions to Closing shall have been satisfied or waived (or in

the case ofconditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, shall be capable ofbeing satisfied on such

date), then the End Date shall be automatically extended to the date that is eighteen (18) months after the date hereof;

and provj-dcd_furtl:Cl that the right to terminate this Agreernent under this Section S.01(bxi) shall not be available to

uny pu,ty if *.h fuilur.e of the Merger to oçcur on or before the End Date is the result of a breach of this Agreement

by such party (including, in the casã of Parent, Merger Sub) or the failure of any representation or warranty of such

party linctuiing, in the case of Parent, Merger Sub) contained in this Agreetnent to be true and correct;

(ii) if the condition set forth in Section 7.01(e) is not satisfred and the Legal Restraint giving rise

to s'ch non-satisfaction shall have become final and non-appealable; prgu-dçd that the terminating party shall have

complied with its obligations to use its reasonable best efforls pursuant to Section 6.03;

(iii) if the Company Stockholder Approval is not obtained at the Company Stockholders Meeting

duly co'vened (unless such Compàny Stockholdels Meeting has beeu adjourned, in which case at the final

adjournment thereof);

(c) by the Company, if parent or Merger Sub shall have breached any of its representations or warranties or failed to

perfornr a'y of its covenants or agreernents contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure (i) would give rise to the failure of a

condition set forth in Section Loi(a) or Section 7 .oz(b) and (ii) is incapable of being cured or, if capable of beirtg cured by the End

Date, parent and Merger Sub (x) shall not have commenced good faith efforts to cure such breach or failure to perform within

30 calendar days following reòeipt by parent or Merger Sub of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from the company

statirlg the company,s intãrtion io terminate this Agreement pursuant to this section 8.01(c) and the basis for such termination or (y)

are llot thereafter co'tinuing to take good faith effois to cure such breach or failure to perform; provided that the company shall not

have the r.ight to terminate this Agreement pul'suant to this Section 8.01(c) if the Company is then in material breach of any of its

representations, warranties, covenants or agreelnents hereunder;
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(d) by Parent, if the Company shall have breached any of its representations or warranties or failed to perform any of

its covenants or agreements contained in this Agreernent, which breach or failure (i) would give rise to the failure of a condition set

forth in Section 7 .03(a) or Section 7.03 (b) and (ii) is incapable of being cured or, if capable of being cured by the End Date, the

Company (x) shall not have commenced good faith efforts to çure such breach or failure to perform within 30 calendar days following

receipt by the Company of written notice of such breach or failure to perform frorn Parent stating Parent's intention to terminate this

Agreernent pursuant to this Section 8.01(d) and the basis for sucl.r termination or (y) is not thereafter continuiug to take good faith

efforls to cure such breach or failure to perform; provided that Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to

this Section S.0l (d) if parent or Merger Sub is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or

agreements hereunder; or

(e) by Parent, in the event that a Con.rpany Adverse Recomlnendation Change shall have occurred; p¡a(þ[ that

pare¡t shall no longer be e¡titled to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.01(e) if the Company Stockholder Approval is

obtained at the Company Stockholders Meeting,

SECTION 8.02. Effect of Terrnination. In the event of termination of this Agreement by either Parent or the

Company as provided in Section 8.01, this Agreement shall forthwith become null and void (other than Section 3.18, Section 4.18,

Section 6.00, tt.tir Sectio¡ 8.02, Article IX and the Confìdentiality Agreement, all of which shall survive termination of this Agreement)

and ther.e shall be no liabilify on the par-t of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company or their respective directors, officers and Affiliates,

except no such termination shall (i) subject to Section 6.06(e), rclieve any pafty from liability for damages to another palty resulting

frorn fraud or any willful and material breach by a party of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreenlent set forth in this

Agreement or (ii) release the Commitment ParÍies from any liabilify to Parent under the Debt Financing Commitn'rent,

SECTION 8.03. Amendment. This Agreement mây be amended by the pafties at any time before or after receipt of

the Company Stockholder Approval; provided, however, that (i) after receipt of the Cornpany Stockholder Approval' there shall be

made no ame'dment that by Ïaw ."quir.t furlher approval by the stockholders of the Cornpany without the further approval of such

stockholders, (ii) no amend¡rent shall be made to this Agleement after the Effective Time and (iii) except as provided above, no

amendme¡t of this Agreement shall require the approval of the shareholders of Parent or the stockholders of the Company; Wyi-dgd,

fur1her., that Sections g.02, g.03, 9.0g(a), 9.08(c), 9.1I and 9.12 (in each case, together with any related definitions and other provisions

of this Agreement to the extent a modification or termination would serve to modify the substance or provisions or such sections) may

not be amended, modified, superseded, canceled or waived in a rnanner that is adverse to the Comrnitment Parties or the Financing

Sources without the prior writìen corìsent of the Commitment Parties. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in

writing signed on behalf of each of the parties.
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SECTION 8.04. Extension: Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Tirne, the parlies may (a) extend the time for

the performance ofa¡y ofthe obligations or other acts ofthe other parties, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and

warranties contai¡ed in this Agreement or in any docunrent delivered pursuant to this Agreement, (c) waive compliance with any

covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement or (d) waive the satisfaction of any of the conditions contained in this

Agreement. No extension or waiver by Parent shall require the approval of the shareholders of Parent unless such approval is required

by Law and no extension or waiver by the Company shall require the approval of the stockholders of the Cornpany unless such

approval is required by Law. Any agreement on the part of a paffy to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an

instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party. The failure of any party to this Agreement to asseft any of its rights under this

Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.

SECTION 8.05. Procedure for Termination. An.rendment. Extensiorr or Waiver. A tennination of this Agreement

pursua¡t to Section 8.01, an amendment of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.03 or an extensiou or waiver pursuant to Section 8.04

rt'utt, in order to be effective, require, in the case of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub, action by its Board of Directol's, or the duly

authorizeddesigneeofitsBoardofDirectors. TerrninationofthisAgreementpriortotheEffectiveTimeshallnotrequiretheapproval
ofthe shareholders ofParent or the stockholders ofthe Company.

ARTICLE IX

General Provisions

SECTION 9.0 L Nonsurvival of Replesentations and Warranties. Noue of the representations or warranties in this

Agree¡re¡t or in any document or instrument delivered pul'suant to or in çonnection with this Agreement shall survive the Effective

Tirne. This Section 9.01 shall not limit any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or in any document or instrument

delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Agreernent that by its terrns applies in whole or in part after the Effective Tirne.

SECTION 9.02. Notices. AII notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be in wliting

and shall be deemed give¡ if delivered personally, by facsirnile (which is confirrned), emailed (which is confirmed) or sent by Federal

Express, UpS, DHL or similar courier service (providing proof of delivery) to the parlies at the following addresses:
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if to the Company, to

Hawaiian Telcom Holdco, Inc.
1177 Bishop Street

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

Facsimile: (808) 546-8992
Email : john.komeiji@hawaiiantel.com
Attention: General Counsel

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
2029 Century Park East

Los Angeles, California 90067

Facsirnile: (310) 552-7053

Email : j layne@gibsondunn.cont
Attention: Jonatharr K. LaYne

if to Parent or Merger Sub, to

Cincinnati Bell Inc.
221 Easf Fourth Street

Cincinnati, OH 45202
Facsinrile: (513) 721-7358
Email: christopher.wilson@cinbell.com
Attention: Christopher J. \rVilson, Vice President and General Counsel

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP
Worldwide Plaza

825 Eighth Avenue

New York, New York 10019

Facsinrile: (212) 47 4-37 00

Er rail : RTownsend@cravath. com

KHallam@cravath.cotn
Attention:Robert I. Townsend, III, Esq

O. Keith Hallam, IIl, Esq.

SECTION 9.03. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreernent:

An,,Affilide.,, of any Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intertnediaries,

controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first Person.

.,Available Cash Election Amount" means the remainder of (i) the product of (A) the Mixed Cash Consideration

muttiplied by (B) the sum of (1) the total number of shares of company common stock (othel than shares of company common

Stock to be cancelled in accordance with Section 2.01(b)) issued and outstanding irnmediately prior to the Effective Time plus (2)the

total 
'umber 

of shares of Cornpany Common Stock subject to Cash-out RSUs outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time,

mi.nns (ü)the product of (A) the total number of Mixed Election Shares, Non-Election Shares, Mixed Election RSU Shares and Non-

Election RSU Shares ,uritiptfrd by (B) the Mixed Cash Consideration, minus (iii) the product of (A) the total number of Excluded

Shares as of immediately prior to the Effective Time muttiplied by (B) the Mixed Cash Considelation.
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"fu,j!.9s.S._Dêy" nleans any day other than (i) a Saturday or a Sunday or (ii) a day on which banking and savings and

loan institutions are authorized or required by Law to be closed in New YoLk City.

"ç'4shlBþçxþném.s-un!" means the product of (i) the sum of (A) the numbel of Cash Election Shares plus (B) the

nunrber of Cash Election RSU Shares mult¡plied by (ii) the Cash Consideration.

"Cash Election RSU Share" means each share of Company Common Stock subject to a Cash-Out RSU outstanding

irnrnediately prior to the Effective Time with respect to which the Cash Election has been made.

"Cash-Out RSU" means any Company RSU that is not a Rollover RSU

(rcode" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as ameuded.

"Company Board" nleans the Board of Directors of the Cornpany,

"Compan), Collective Bargaininq Asreement" means ar,y collective bargaining or other labor union Contract

applicable to any employees of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries.

"Companv Material Adverse Effect" means a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Cornpany.

"Compan)¡ PSU" rneans any Company RSU that is subject to performance-based vesting or delivery requirements.

"Company RSU" means any testricted stock unit payable in shares of Company Common Stock or whose value is

determined with reference to the value of shares of Company Common Stock, whether granted under a Company Stock Plan or

otherwise.

,,&!¡p4D.y_Sþçk_P.lan" means the Cornpany 2010 Equity Incentive Plan and the Amended and Restated Performance

Compensation Plan.

,,Ej-n3¡1gjing_&.UjçgÊ," means the Cornmitment Parties and each other Person that has cornmitted to provide or

otherwise entered into any commitrnent letter, engagement letter, credit agreement, underwriting agreement, purchase agreement,

placeme¡t agreelnent, indenture or other agreement with Parent or Merger Sub or any of their AfÍiliates in connection with, or that is

otherwise acting as an a¡.anger, bookrunner, underwriter, initial purchaser, placementagent, adrninistrative or collateral agent, trustee

or a sirnilar representative in respect of, any Debt Financing and, in each case, their respective Affrliates, officers, directors, employees

and representátives involved i¡ the Debt Financing and their respective pennitted successors and assigns; provided, for the avoidance

of doubt, that "Financing Sources" shall exclude Parent and any of its Affiliates.
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"Indebtedness" lÌleans, with respect to any Person, without duplication, (i) alt obligations of such Person f.or

borrowed money, or with respect to unearned advances of any kind to such Person, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by

bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (iii) all capitalized lease obligations of such Person, (iv) all guarantees atld

arrangements having the economic effect ofa guarantee ofsuch Person ofany Indebtedness ofany other Person, (v) all obligations or

undertakings of such person to maintain or cause to be rnaintained the financial position of others or to purchase the obligations of
others, (vi) net cash paynrent obligations ofsuch Person under swaps, options, derivatives and other hedging agreelnellts or

arrangements that will be payable upon termination theleof (assuming they were termirtated on the date of determination) or

(vii) Ietters ofcredit, bank guarantees and other similar contractual obligations eutered into by or on behalfofsuch Person.

,,lnlgll_Wlgêl l.ppclt" means all right, title and interest in or relating to intellectual property, whether protected,

created or arising under the Laws of the United States or any other jurisdiction, including: (a) patents (including all applications,

reissues, divisions, conti¡uations, continuations-in-part, re-examinations, substitutions and extensions thereof) and inventions; (b)

trademarks, service marks, trade nanres and service names, business names, brand names, logos, slogans, trade dress, design rights and

other similar designations of source or origin, including any and all goodwill associated with any of the foregoing, along with all

applications, registrations, renewals and extensions thereof; (c) internet domain natnes and social media identifiers, tags and handles;

(åj copyrights a¡d copyrightable subject matter and database rights, whether or not registered or published, all registrations and

recordations thereof and all applications in connection therewith, along with all reversions, extensious and renewals thereof; and (e)

trade secrets, know-how and other information ofa confrdential nature.

,,Ifé!Þ..96." means all communiçations networks, data centers, computers, software, firmware, middleware, servers'

workstatio's, routers, hubs, switches, data communications lines, cable rnodents, fiber optic systems, all other itlfortnation techrlology

equipment, and all associated documentation.

The,,Knowledge" of (a) the Cornpany means the actual knowledge of the individuals listed on Section 9.03(a) of the

Company Disclosure t-rtt"r urt.r. t.ruvingmade reasonable inquiry of those employees of the Company and the Company subsidiaries

priuràrily responsible for such rnatters and (b) Parent or Merger Sub means the actual knowledge of the individuals listed on
-section 

9.03(a) of pare¡t Disclosure Letter after having made reasonable inquiry of those enrployees of Parent and the Parent

Subsidiaries primarily responsible for such matters.

,,Marketing period,'means the first period of 15 consecutive Business Days after the date hereof throughout which

(i) parent shall have tl.t. n.qii..¿ financial Information and (ii) the conditions set forth in Sections 7.01 and 7.03 have been satisfied

or waived (other tha¡ those co¡ditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing); provided, however, that (A) such l5

consecntive Business Day period shall commence no earlier than September 5,2017, (B) the Marketing Period shall end on any earlier

date on which the Debt Financing is consummated and (C) the Marketing Period shall not be deemed to have cotnmenced if, prior to

the completion of such l5 consecutive Business Day period, (l) KPMG LLP shall have withdrawn its audit opinion with respect to any

y.u, 
",rd 

audited financial statements set forth in thè Required Financial Information, or (2) any of the financial statements included in

the Required Financial Information shall have been restated or the Company Board shall have determined that a restatement of any

such financial statements included in the Required Financial Information is required, in which case the Marketing Period shall be

deemed not to cornmence at the earliest unless and until such restatement has been completed or the Company Board has determined

that no restatement shall be required.

t5
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"Material Adverse Effect" with respect to any Person means any state of facts, change, effect, condition,

development, event or occurrence that, individually or in the aggregate (i) rnaterially and adversely affects the business, properties,

financial condition or results ofoperations ofsuch Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, excluding any such state offacts,

cha¡ge, effect, condition, development, event or occun'enee to the extent arising out of or in connection with (A) any change generally

affecii¡g the economic, financial, regulatory or political conditions in the United States or elsewhere in the world, (B) the outbreak or

escalation ofhostilities or any acts ofwar, sabotage or terrorisrn, or any earthquake, hurricane, tornado, tsuuami or other natural

disaster, (C) any change that is generally applicable to the industries or markets in which such Person and its Subsidiaries operate,

(D) any change in applicable Laws or applicable accounting regulations or principles or authoritative interpretations thereof, (E) any

failure, in and of itself, to meet projections, forecasts, estimates or predictions in respect of revenues, EBITDA, free cash flow,

earnings or other furancial or operating rnetrics for any period (it being understood that the underlying facts or ocQurrences giving rise

to or cónffibuting to such failure shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect (except to

the extent such underlying facts or occurrences are excluded from being taken into account by clauses (A) through (G) ofthis

definition)), (F) any termination of, reduction in or similar negative impact on relationships, contractual or otherwise, with customers,

suppliers, distributors, paltners or employees of such Person and its Subsidiaries due to the announcetnent and performance of this

Agieernent orthe identity of the parlies to this Agreement, or (G) any action taken by such Person or its Subsidiaries that is expressly

required by this Agreement to be taken by such Person or its Subsidiaries, or that, in the case of the Company and its Subsidiaries, is

taken or not taken with the prior express written consent or at the express writteu direction ofParent or that, in the case ofParent and

its Subsidiaries, is taken or not taken with the prior express written consent or at the express w|itten direction of the Company;

provided, that any state offacts, change, effect, condition, development, event or occurrence referred to in clause (A) or clause (D)

may be taken into account in detennining whether there has been, or would reasotlably be expected to be, a Material Adverse Effect to

the exte¡t such effect, change, everlt or oçcurrerÌce has a disproportionate adverse effect on such Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a

whole, as compared to other participants in the industry in which such Person and its Subsidiaries operate (in which case the

incremental disproportionate'impact or impacts may be taken into account in determining whether there has been, or would reasonably

be expected to be, a Material Adverse Effect), (ii) impairs in any material respect the ability of strch Person to consumtnate the

transáctions contemplated by this Agreement or (iii) prevents or materially impedes, interferes with, hinders or delays the

consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby.

'16
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..@',meanseaclrslrareofCompanyConrmotrStocksubjecttoaCaslr-outRSUoutstarrdirrg
immediately prior to the Effective Time with respect to which the Mixed Election has been rnade'

..@''meanseachshareofCompanyCommotrStocksubjecttoaCash-outRSUoutstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time with respect to which there has been a Non-Election.

"Parent Board" n'ìeans the Board of Directors of the Parent.

"Parent Material Adverse Effect" means a Material Advcrse Effect with respect to Parent.

,.parent PSU" means any Parent RSU that is subject to performance-based vesting or delivery requiretnents.

,,pAIg!ÅSU" means any restricted stock unit payable in Parent Common Shares or whose value is determined with

reference to the value of Parent Common Shares, whether granted under a Parent Stock Plan or otherwise.

,,p-AIgg!SÂR" means any stock appreciation rights relating the Parent Common Shares, whether granted under a

Parent Stock Plan or otherwise.

,,p¿fgllSloç!_Qp!-e¡1" means any option to purchase Parent Comtnon Shares, whether granted under a Parent Stock

Plan or otherwise

.,pgg!!Slg_çk_pþ!Ä,' means the Parent 2017 Long-Term lncentive Plan, the Paren|20lT Stock Plan for Non-

Employee l)irectors, par,ent zool Long Ter.m Incentive Plan, the Parent 2007 Stock option Plan for Non-Employee Directors and the

parent l99i Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, each as rnay be amended from time to time'

,,person,'means any natural person, firm, corporation, partnership, company, lirnited liability company, trust, joint

venture, association, Govet'nmeutal Entity or other entity.

..permitted Liens" rneans (i) statutory Liens for Taxes not yet delinquent or the amount or validity of which is being

contested in good fuittt t y upptopriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP;

(ii) nrechanics,, rnaterialmen;s, carriers', workrnen's, repairmen's, warehousemen's, landlords' and other similar statutory Liens

ìecuring obligatio's that are not yet due and payable or the validity ofwhich are being contested in good faith by appropriate

proceedings and incurred in the ordinary course of business; (iii) zoning, entitlement, building and other land use regulations imposed

fy Gou".J-.ntal Entities; (iv) covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, rights-of-way, encroachments and otl,er sirnilar matters

oipublic record affecting tiìleto any par.ent Real Property or Company Real Property that does not rnaterially impair the occupancy or

useofsuch parentRealÞropeúyorcompanyRealPropertyforthepurposesforwhichitiscurrentlyused; (v)Liensthat,individually

or i' the aggregate, (A) are not substantial in character, amount or extent in relation to the applicable Parent Real Pfoperty or Company

Real eroperty ãnd 1g,) do not nraterially and adversely impact the current ol contemplated use, utility or value of any such propefty or

otherwise materially and adversely irnpair the present or contemplated business operations thereon; (vi) Liens arising under worker's

compensatio', unemployme¡t insurance, sociaì security, retirement and similar legislation; (vii) purchase molìey Liens and Liens

,..uii',g re.tal paynrents under capital lease arrangements; (viii) the terms and conditions of Real Property Leases to third party

tenants disclosed in Section 3.15 of the parent Disclosure Letter or Section 4.15 of the Company Disclosure Letter; (ix) the terms and

conditions of Real property Leases to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a tenant or occupant disclosed in Section 3.15 of the

parent Disclosure Letter.oi Section 4.15 of the company Disclosure Letter; (x) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade

contraÇts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, perforrnance bonds and other obligations ofa like nature incurred in

tl"re ordinary course of bu.si¡ess co¡sistent with past practice, (xi) non-exclusive licenses granted to third parties in the ordinary course

of business and (xii) Liens set forth on Section 9.03(b) of the Parent Disclosure Letter or section 9.03(b) of the company Disclosure

Letter.
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,,Rollover RSU" means any Company RSU granted on or after January 1,2017 that does not provide for autonlatic

vesting upon the consummation of the transactions conternplated by this Agreement.

,,N_Exc,hAggç_B.atþ" means the sum of (i) the Mixed Share Considetation plus (ü) the quotient of (A) the Mixed

Cash Consideration over (B) the closing price of one Parent Common Share on the last trading date preceding the Closing Date as

reported on the NYSE.

,,Share Election RSU Share" means each share of Company Common Stock subject to a Cash-Out RSU outstanding

immediately prior to the Effective Time with respect to which the Share Election has been made.

A ,,Suþgi4jêIy" of any Person means another Person, an amount of the voting securities, other voting ownership or

voting part¡ership interests of which is sufficient to elect at least a majority of its Board of Directots or other governing body (or, if
there are no such voting interests, more than 50% of the equity interests of which) is owned directly or indirectly by such first Person.

((Taxes" rneans all taxes, austoms, tariffs, irnposts, levies, duties, fees or other like assessments or charges of any

kind in the nature of a tax i¡rposed by a Governmental Entity, together with all iuterest, penalties and additions imposed with respect to

such amounts.

,,Tax Retur.n" means all Tax returns, declarations, statements, rgpolts, schedules, forms and information returns and

any amended Tax return relating to Taxes.

SECTION 9,04. Interpr.etation. When a reference is rnade in this Agreement to an Article, a Sectiotl, Exhibit or

Schedule, such reference shall be to an Article of, a Section of, or an Exhibit or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise

indicated. The table of contents, index of defined terms and headings contained in this Agreernent are for referençe purposes only and

shall not affect i' any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Any capitalized term used in any Exhibit but not otherwise

defined therein shall havè the meaning assigned to such term in this Agreen,ent. Whenever the words "include", 'o¡¡çludes" or
.(jjtçlud.il1g" are used in this Agreem.nt, th.y shall be deemed to be followed by the wol'ds "giûlg]¿l!-!qj.t4û.9.u". The words "hereof',
,,herein,, ánd ,,hereunder." and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agleement as a whole and not to

anyparticularprovisionofthisAgreernent. Thewords"dê!ç-b.grggf'whenusedinthisAgreementshallrefertothedateofthis
Agreerne't. The terms ,,-,', ,,u*" and "g!!þç¡" are not exclusive. The word "extent" in the phrase "þilg-gr!çn!" shall mean the

degreetowhichasubjectorotherthingextends,andsuchphraseshallnotmeansirnply"jf'. Theword"will"shall beconstruedto

have the sanre meaning and effect as the word "shall". The words "!lgde.-ava!lgþþlo-&renl" and words of similar import refer to

docu'nents (A) posted to the online dataroom by ol on behalf of the Company by 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on July 8,2017 or

(B) delivered in perso¡ or electronically to Parent, Merger Sub or their respective Representatives by l0:00 a'm' (New York City time)

on July g, z0l7 . The words ,.made available to the Company" and words of sirnilal import refer to documents (A) posted to the online

dataroom by or on behalf of pãrent by l0:00 a.m. (New York City tirne) on July 8, 2017 or (B) delivered in person or electronically to

company or its Representatives by l-0:00 a.m. (New York city time) on July 8,2017 . All accounting terms used and not defined herein

shall have the respective meanings given to them under GAAP. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings

when used in any document madã oi delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The definitions contained in this

Agreernent are applicable to the singula, u, *.il as the plural fonns of such tenns atrd to the masculine as well as to the feminine and

nÃter genders of such term. Any agreement, instrument or Law defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrurnent that is

referred to herein means such agieement, instrument or Law as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in

the case of agreements or instr.uments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of statutes) by succession of comparable successor

statutes and referençes to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. Unless otherwise specifically indicated, all

references to ,,dollars,,or,,$', shall refer to the lawful money of the United States. References to a Person are also to its permitted

assigns and successors.
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SECTION 9.05. Severabiliti¡. If any term, condition or other provision of this Agreement is determined by a court

of competent jurisdictio¡ to be invalid, iltegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of Law or public policy, all other terms,

provisiòns a¡à conditio¡s of this Agreement shall nevertheless retnain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term,

òondition or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify

this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent perrnitted by applicable Law.

SECTION 9.06. Counternarts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by

facsirnile or electronic mail), each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and

the same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more counterparls have been signed by each of the parlies hereto and

delivered to the other parties hereto.

SECTION 9.07. Entire Agreement: No Third-Partv Benefrciaries. This Agreement, illcluding the Company

Disclosure Letter and the parent Disclosure Letter, together with the Confidentiality Ag|eement, constitutes the entire agreement, and

supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, alnong the parties and their Affiliates, or any of them,

wùh respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. This Agreement is not intended to and does not confer upon any Person other

tha' the parlies hereto any rights or remedies hereunder, except for: (i) if the Effective Time occurs, the right of the Company's

stockholders to receive the Merger Consideration in accordance with Article II; (ii) if the Effective Time occurs, the right of the

holders of Cash-Out RSUs to receive such amounts as plovided for in Section 6.0a; (iii) if the Effective Time occurs' the rights of the

Indemnified persons set forth in section 6.05 of this Agreement; (iv) the rights of the Cornpany Related Parties set fofth in

Section 6.06); (v) if the Effective Time occurs, the rights of the Cornpany's stockholders to enforce Section 6.07 of the Agreernent; and

(vi) the rights of the lnanagers, directors, offìcers, employees, representatives and advisors of the Company and its Subsidiaries set

forth in the third to last sentence ofSection 6.16, which are intended for the benefit ofthe Persons and shall be enforceable by the

persons refer.r.ed to respectively in clauses (i) through (vi) above. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Commitment Parlies and the

Financing sonrces are express third parly beneficiaries of this Section 9.07 and Sections 8.02,8.03,9.08(a),9.08(c),9.11 and 9'12(in

each case-, together with ány related àefinitions and other provisions of this Agreernent to the extent a rnodification or termination

would serve lo urodify the substance or provisions or such sections) and shall be entitled to enforce such provisions directly.
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SECTION 9.08. Governing Law. (a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed iu accordance with, the

Laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contl'acts executed in and to be performed entirely within that State, regardless of the Laws

that might otherwise govern under any applicable conflict of Laws principles (except that the matters relating to the fiduciary duties of

the parent Board shall be subject to the internal Laws of the State of Ohio); prsyldgd that notwithstanding the foregoing, all matters

relating to the Debt Financing shall be exclusively governed and construed in accordance with the Laws of the State ofNew York

withouì giving effect to any cl.roice or conflict of law provision or rule whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdiction that

would cause the apptication of Law of any jurisdiction otl.rer than the State of New York and each of the parties hereto agrees that the

waiver of jury trial set forth in Section 9. 1 I shall be applicable to any such matter.

(b) All Actions arising out of or relating to this Agreernent, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated

hereby shall be heard and determined in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if the Court of Chancery of the State of

Delaware decli¡es to accept jurisdiction over any Action, the Superior Court of the State of Delaware (Complex Comrnercial Division)

or, if subject matter jurisdiction over.the matter that is the subject of the Action is vested exclusively in the federal courts of the United

States of America, the United States District Courl for the District of Delaware, and any appellate courl from any thereof (such cottlts,

the ,,selected Courts"). The parties hereto hereby irrevocably (i) subrnit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Selected Courts

in unyiuc¡ Action, (ii) waive the defense of an inconvenient forum or lack ofjurisdiction to the maintenance of any such Action

brougtrt in the Selected Courts, (iii) agree to not contest the jurisdiction of the Selected Courts in any such Action, by motiou or

otherwise and (iv) agree to not bring any Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions

contemplated hereby in any court oiher than the Selected Courts, except for Actions brought to enforce thejudgment ofany such

court. ihe consents to jurisdiction and venue set forth in this Section 9.0s(b) shall not constitute general çonsents to service of

process in the State ofDelaware and shall have no effect for any purpose except as provided in this paragraph and shall not be deemed

io confer rights o¡ any person other than the parlies hereto. Each party hereto agrees that service of process upon suclr party in any

Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be effective if notice is given by Fcderal Express, UPS, DHL or similar courier

service to the address set forthln Section 9.02 of this Agreement. The parties hereto agree thaf a hnal judgrnent in any such Action

shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other tnanner provided by applicable

Law; pfsvj_d-ed, however, that nothing in the foregoing shall restrict any party's rights to seek any post-judgment relief regarding, or

any appeal frotn, a final trial court judgment.
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(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each of the parties hereto agrees that it will not

bring, or permit any of its Affiliates to bring, any suit, action or other proceeding of any kind or description, whether in law or in

equity, whether in contract or in toft or otherwise, against any Commitment Party or any Financing Source arising out of or relating to

(x) the Debt Financing or (y) this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any forum other than a

court of competent jurisdiction located within Borough of Manhaftan in the City of New York, New York, whether a state or federal

couft, and .u.tt otti.t. parties hereto agrees that the waiver ofjury trial set forth in Section 9.ll shall be applicable to any such suit,

action or other proceeding.

SECTION 9.09. Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall

be assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of Law or otherwise, by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the

other pãrties hereto, exceptihat parent may assign, in its sole discretion, all ofthe rights, interests and obligations ofParent under this

Agreernent to (i) any wtrotty owned Subsidiary of Parent or (ii) pursuant to a collateral assignment of all of its rights hereunder to any

oiits fi'anci¡g sources, but, in each case, no such assignment shall relieve Parent of its obligations under this Agreement. No

assignmentbyanypa¡¡yshallrelievesuchpartyofanyofitsobligationshereunder. Subjecttotheimmediatelyprecedingtwo

sentençes, this Agreernent shall be binding upon, inure to the benefìt of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective

successors and permitted assigns. Any purported assignment not permitted under this Section 9.09 shall be null and void'

SECTION 9.10. Specific Enforcement. The parlies heleto agree that ilreparable damage for which monetary relief,

even if available, would not be an adequate renredy, would occur in the event that any provision of this Agreement is not perfonned in

accorda'ce with its specific terms or is otherwise breached, including if the parties hereto fail to take any action required of them

hereunder to consummate this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby. Subject to the following

sentence, the parties acknowledge and agree thaf (a) the parties shall be entitled to an injunctior, or injunctions, specific performance or

other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifìcally the terms and provisions hereof in the coutts

described in Section 9.0s(b) without proof of darnages or otherwise, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are

entitled under this Agreement and (bj the right of specif,rc enforcement is an integral part of the Merger and the other transactions

contemplated hereby and without that rightìreither the Company nor Parent would have entered into this Agreement. The parties

hereto agree not to assert that a remedy ãf specifìc enforcement is unenforceable, invalid or contrary to Law, and not to assert that a

remedy ãf monetary damages would provide an adequate lemedy ol that the parlies otherwise have an adequate remedy at law' The

parties hereto acknowledgã and agree that any pafty seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches ofthis Agreement and to

lnforce specifically the tJrms anJprovisions of this Agreement in accordance with this Section 9.10 shall not be required to provide

any bond or otlter security iu connectiou with any such order or injurlction'
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SECTION 9.I1. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY

CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED ANI)
DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE IT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND T]NCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE

FIILLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TzuAL BY JURY IN RESPECT

OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF ORRELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY OF

THE AGREEMENTS DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR TI{E TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR

THEREBY. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY

OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT,

IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE TTIE FOREGOING WAIVER, (B) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS

CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF SUCH WAIVER, (C) IT MAKES SUCH WAIVER VOLUNTAzuLY AND (D) IT HAS

BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTFIER TI'IINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVER AND

CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 9.I1.

SECTION 9.12. No Recourse to Financing Sources. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary,

the Company (i) agrees on its behalf and on behalf of its Affiliates that none of the Cornmitrnent Parties nor the Financing Sources

shall have any liability or obligation to the Company and their respective Affiliates relating to this Agreement or any of the

tra'sactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the Debt Financing), (ii) waives any rights or claims against any Commitment

party or any Financipg Souice in connection with this Agreement (including any of the transactions contemplated hereby) and the Debt

Financing, whether at law or equity, in contract, in torl or otherwise and (iii) agrees not to, and shall not, (A) seek to enforce this

Agree'reìit against, make any claims for breach of this Agreement, or seek to recover tnonetary datnages (including, for the avoidance

of doubt, a.y special, co¡seque¡tial, punitive, indirect, speculative or exemplary damages or damages of a tortious nature) from, auy

Comrnitrne't party or any Financing Source or (B) seek to enforce the commitment in respect of any Debt Financing against, make any

claims for breach of conrmitnrents in respect of any Debt Financing against, or seek to recover monetary damages (including' for the

avoidance of doubt, any special, consequential, punitive, indirect, speculative or exetnplary damages or damages of atortious nature)

from, or otherwise ,u., uny Commitment party or any Financing Source for any reason in connection with cornmitrnents in respect of

any Debt Fi'a'ci'g or the obligations of the Commitnrent Parties and the Financing Sources thereutlder, this Agreement, or any of the

transactions contemplated by this Agreement or Debt Financing'

[Rernainder of page intentionally blank.]

82

https://wvw.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/7161 33/00009501 571 7001 065/ex2-1 .htm 91/S8



7t18t2017 https://wwwsec. gov/Archives/edgar/data/71 6 1 33/00009501 571 7001 065/ex2-1.htm

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Cornpany, Parent and Merger Sub have duly executed this Agreement, all as of the

date first written above.

HAWAIIAN TELCOM HOLDCO, INC

by
/s/ Scott K. Barber

Name:Scott K. Barber
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

CINCINNATI BELL INC

by
lslLeis,h R. Fox

Name: Leigh R. Fox
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

TWIN ACQUISITION CORP

by
/s/ Leigh R. Fox

Narne: Leigh R. Fox

Title: President and Chief Executive Off,rcer

[Signature Page to Merger Agreement]
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Annex A
to

Merger Agreeurent

Index of Defined Terms

$
6 314% Preferred Shares
Acquisition Agreement
Action
Adjusted RSU
Affiliate
Agreement
Alternative Debt Commitment Letter
Alternative Debt Financing
Announcement
Antitrust Laws
Available Cash Election Amount
Bankruptcy and Equity ExcePtion
Burdensome Condition
Business Day
Capitalization Date
Cash Consideration
Cash Election
Cash Election Amount
Cash Election RSU Share

Cash E,lection Shares

Cash Fraction
Cash-Out RSU
Certificate
Certificate of Merger
Closing
Closing Date
Code
Commitment Parties
Communications Act
Company
Cornpany Adverse Recommendation Change

Company Benefit Plans

Company Board
Company Bylaws
Company Capital Stock
Company Charter
Company Collective Bargaining Agreement

Company Common Stock
Company Commonly Controlled Entity

Section 9.04
Section 3.03(a)
Section 5.03(b)

Section 3. 1 1

Section 6.Oa(a)(ii)
Section 9.03

Preamble
Section 6.16(b)
Section 6.16(b)

Section 6.1 I
Section 6.03(d)

Section 9.03
Section 3.04(a)
Section 6.03(Ð

Section 9.03
Section 3,03(a)

Section 2.01(c)(iii)
Section 2.01(c)(iii)

Section 9.03
Section 9.03

Section 2.01(cXiii)
Section 2.05(aXi)

Section 9.03
Section 2.01(d)

Section 1,03

Section 1.02

Section 1.02
Section 9.03
Section 3.21

Section 3.20(c)
Preamble

Section 5.03(b)
Section 4.10(a)

Section 9.03
Section 4.01

Section 4.03(a)
Section 4.01

Section 9,03
Section 2.01

Section 4.10(a)
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Company Disclosure Letter
Company FCC Consents
Company Financial Advisor
Company Leased Real Property
Company Licenses
Company Local Consents
Company Material Adverse Effect
Company Multiemployer Pension Plan
Company Notice of Recommendation Change

Company Owned Real Property
Company Participant
Company Pension Plans
Cornpany Permits
Company Preferred Stock
Company PSC Consents
Company PSU
Cornpany Regu latory Agreement
Company Related Parties
Company RSU
Company SEC Documents
Company Stock Plan
Company Stockholder ApProval
Company Stockholders Meeting
Company Subsidiaries
Company Takeover Proposal
Company Termination Fee

Company Voting Debt
Confi dentiality Agreement
Consent
Continuing Employees
Contract
Debt Financing
Debt Financing Commitment
Debt Financing Documents
DGCL
D issenting Stockho lders
dollars
Effective Time
Election Deadline
Election Form
End Date
Enforcement Proceeding
Environmental Claim
Environmental Laws
ERISA
Exchange Act

Article IV
Section 4.05(b)

Section 4.18
Section 4.15(b)
Section 4.20(a)
Section 4.05(b)

Section 9.03

Section 4.10(c)
Section 5.03(b)
Section a.15(a)
Section 4.10(a)
Section a.10(a)

Section 4.01

Section a.03(a)
Section 4.05(b)

Section 9.03
Section 4.20(d)
Section 6.06(d)

Section 9.03
Section 4.06(a)

Section 9.03
Section 4.04(a)
Section 4.04(a)

Section 4.01

Section 5.03(e)
Section 6.06(b)
Section 4.03(b)

Section 6.02
Section 3.05(b)
Section 6.13(a)
Section 3.05(a)

Section 3.21

Section 3.21

Section 6.16(a)
Section l.0l

Section 2.01(c)
Section 9.04
Section 1.03

Section 2.04(d)
Section 2.04(b)

Section 8.01(bxi)
Section 3.20(c)

Section 3.l3(bxi)
Section 3.13(bxii)

Section 3.10(a)
Section 3.05(b)

2
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Exchange Agent
Exchange Fund
Excluded Share
Excluded Shares
FCC
FCC Applications
FCC Consents
FCC Rules
Filed Company Contract
Filed Company SEC Documents
Filed Parent Contract
Filed Parent SEC Documents
Financing Sources

Form S-4

GAAP
Governmental Entity
Hazardous Materials
HSR Act
Indebtedness
Indemnified Person
Intellectual Property
IRS
IT Assets
Judgment
Knowledge
Law
Legal Restraints
Letter of Transmittal
Liens
Local Consents
Localities
Mailing Date
Marketing Period
Material Adverse Effect
Maximum Amount
Merger
Merger Consideration
Merger Sub
Mixed Cash Consideration
Mixed Consideration
Mixed Election
Mixed Election RSU Share

Mixed Election Shares

Mixed Share Consideration
New Plan
Non- Election

Section 2.02(a)
Section 2.02(a)
Section 2.01(c)
Section 2.01(c)
Section 3.05(b)
Section 6.03(c)
Section 4.05(b)
Section 3.20(c)
Section a,la@)

Article IV
Section 3.la@)

Article III
Section 9.03

Section 3.05(b)

Section 3.06(b)
Section 3.05(b)

Section 3.13(bxiii)
Section 3.05(b)

Section 9.03
Section 6.05(a)

Section 9,03
Section 3.10(b)

Section 9.03
Section 3.05(a)

Section 9.03
Section 3.05(a)
Section 7.01(e)
Section 2.02(b)
Section 3.02(a)
Section 4.05(b)
Section 3.05(b)
Section 2.04(b)

Section 9.03
Section 9.03

Section 6.05(c)
Section 1.01

Section 2,01(c)
Preamble

Section 2.01(c)(ii)
Section 2,01(c)(ii)
Section 2.01(cXii)

Section 9.03
Section 2.01(c)(ii)
Section 2.01(c)(ii)

Section 6.13(c)
Section 2.01(c)(iv)

3
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Non-Election RSU Share
Non-Election Shares
NYSE
OGCL
Parent
Parent Articles
Parent Benefit Plans
Parent Board
Parent Capital Stock
Parent Collective Bargaining Agreements
Parent Common Shares

Parent Commonly Controlled Errtity
Parent Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors
Parent Disclosure Letter
Parent FCC Consents
Parent Financial Advisors
Parent Leased Real Property
Parent Licenses
Parent Local Consents
Parent Material Adverse Effect
Parent Multiemployer Pension Plan
Parent Non-Voting Preferred Shares

Parent Owned Real Property
Parent Participant
Parent Pension Plans
Parent Permits
Parent PSC Consents
Parent PSU
Parent Regulations
Parent Regulatory Agreement
Parent RSU
Parent SAR
Parent SEC Documents
Parent Stock Option
Parent Stock Plans
Parent Stock-Based Awards
Parent Subsidiaries
Parent Voting Debt
Parent Voting Preferred Shares

Permits
Permitted Liens
Person
Proxy Statement
PSC Applications
PSC Consents
Real Property Leases

Section 9.03
Section 2.01(cXiv)

Section 2.02(Ð
Section 3.03(b)

Preamble
Section 3.01

Section 3.10(a)
Section 9.03

Section 3.03(a)
Section 3.17(a)
Section 2.01(d)
Section 3.10(a)
Section 3.03(a)

Article III
Section 3.05(b)

Section 3.18
Section 3.15(b)
Section 3,20(a)
Section 3.05(b)

Section 9.03
Section 3.10(c)
Section 3.03(a)
Section 3.15(a)
Section 3.10(a)
Section 3.10(a)

Section 3.01

Section 3.05(b)
Section 9.03
Section 3.01

Section 3.20(d)
Section 9.03
Section 9.03

Section 3.06(a)
Section 9.03
Section 9.03

Section 3.03(a)
Section 3.01

Section 3.03(b)
Section 3.03(a)

Section 3.01

Section 9.03
Section 9.03

Section 6.01(a)
Section 6.03(c)
Section 4.05(b)
Section 3.15(a)

4

https://\^/Vwv.sec.gov/Archives/e dgatldala1716133/00009501 571 7001065/ex2-1 .htm 96/98



7t18t2017

Release
Representatives
Required Financial Information
Rollover RSU
RSU Exchange Ratio
SEC
Secretary of State
Securities Act
Selected Courts
Share Consideration
Share Election
Share Election RSU Share
Share Election Shares

SOX
State Regulators
Subsidiary
Superior Company Proposal
Surviving Corporation
Surviving Corporation Bylaws
Tax Return
Taxes
Unlicensed Activity
Unlicensed Subsidiary
USAC
Voting Agreement

https://vwwv.sec.gov/Archives/edgarldalalT 161 33/0000950 1 57 1 7001 065/ex2-1 .htm

Section 3,13(bXiv)
Section 5.03(a)
Section 6,l6(c)

Section 9.03
Section 9.03

Section 3.05(b)
Section 1.03

Section 3.05(b)
Section 9.08(b)

Section 2.01(c)(i)
Section 2.01(cXi)

Section 9.03
Section 2.01(c)(i)

Section 3.06(b)
Section 3.05(b)

Section 9.03
Section 5.03(e)

Se ction 1.01

Section 1.05

Section 9.03

Section 9.03
Section 3.20(c)
Section 3.20(c)
Section 3.20(c)

Recitals

5
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Exhibit A
to

Merger Agreemeut

Govelnance Matters

Parent shall take all necessary action to cause, effective at the Effective Time, the Parent Board to be comprised of
nine directors from Parent and two directors from the Company. The Cornpany shall name its directors, subject to approval by the

Parent Board (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/71 6'1 33/00009501 571 7001065/ex2- 1 .htm 9B/98
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FCC IìORM 394
Applicant's Name; Cincinnati Bell Ino.

Transfiror's Name: Ilawaiian'felcom Holdco, Inc.

Cable Franchise System(s): Hawaiian Telconr
Services CotnPanY, lnc.

BXHIBIT 2

Part II - Transferee/Assignee

1(c) Attach as an Exhibit the name, mailing address, and telephone number of
each additional person \üho should be contacted, if any.

The following persons are authorized to act on behalf of Transferee:

Patricia Rupich
Senior Manager - RegulatorY
Cincinnati Bell Inc.
221East Fourlh Street
Cincinnati, OH 45202
513-397-9900
pat. rupich@cinbell. com

Douglas Ing
David Y. Nakashima
WATANABE ING LLP
First Hawaiian Center
999 Bishop Street, Suite #1250
Honolulu, HI96813
808.544.8300 (tel)
808.544.8399 (fax)
douging@wik.com
dnakashima@wik.com

Andrew D. Lipman
Russell M. Blau
Joshua M. Bobeck
Legal Counsel
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius, LLP
1111 Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington, DC 20004
(202) 313-6000
andrew. I ipm an@mor ganl ewi s. com
russell. blau @mor ganlewis. com
j oshua.bobeck@morganlewis. com



FCC IORM 394
Applioant's Nanre: Ci¡rcinnati Bell Inc.

'ùanslèror's Narne: I-lawaiian Telcom Holdco, Inc.

Cable Franchise System(s): Hawaiian Telcom
Services Cotnpany, Inc.

The following persons are authorized to act on behalf of Transferor and
Franchisee:

Steven Golden
VP-External Affairs
Hawaiian Telcom Services Company, Inc
1177 Bishop Street
Honolulu, HI96813
808-546-3877
steven. go I d en@haw aüantel. com

John T. Komeiji
Chief Administrative Officer and General Counsel
Hawaiian Telcom Services Company, Inc.
1177 Bishop Street
Honolulu, HI96813
808-546-1278
j ohn. kome lji@haw ariantel. co m
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FCC FOIIN,I 394
Applicant's Name; Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Transf'eror's Name: Hawaiian Telcom Holdco, Inc.

Cable Franchisc System(s): Hawaiian Telcotn
Services CotnPanY, Inc,

EXHIBIT 3

Part II - Transferee/Assignee

2. Indicate on an attached exhibit any plans to change the current terms and
conditions of service and operations of the system aS a consequence of the
transaction for which approval is sought.

Transferee does not have any plans at this time to change the current terms and

conditions of service and operations by Franchisee.
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FCC IIORM 394
Applicant's Naure: Cincinnali Bell Inc.

Transfèror's Name: Hawaiian Telcom Holdco, Inc,

Cable Franchisc Systern(s): Hawaiian Telcom
Services Company, Inc.

EXHIBIT 4

SECTION III. TRANSFEREE'S/ASSIGNEB'S FINANCIAL QUALIFICATIONS

2. Attach as an Exhibit the most recent fTnancial statements, prepared in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles, including a balance sheet and income

statement for at least one full year, for the transferee/assignee or parent entity that has

been prepared in the ordinary course of business, if any such fïnancial statements are

routinely prepared. Such statements, if not otherwise publicly available, may be marked

CONFIDENTIAL and will be maintained as confidential by the franchise authorify and its

agents to the extent permissible under local law.

Please find the most recent annual financial statements of Cincinnati Bell, Inc. on SEC Form 10-

K, attached.

A copy of Cincinnati Bell's most recent SEC Form 10-K filed as of February 24,2017 is also

avallable at:

httns . sec. sov/A rch i ves/ed sarl datal 7 I 6 I 3 3 I 00007 I 6l 3 3 1 7000007 100007 1 61 jj -1 7 -

000007-index.htm



711812017

'lhble ol Contcnts

Form 10-li Part II

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementâry Dâta

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements Page

Consolidated Financial Statements

Managerrent's R cpolt on Inter^nal Control ovel' l- i nancial R epol-titl g

Rcpurts of llrdenentlent Resistel'ed Pì-rblio Accounting F'irnl

Clonsolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statcnr ents o f' Opclatiols

Consol idated Statenr erìts of' Cornpreheltsivç I ncoln e

Consol i d ated Statenr ents of Shareor.r,nets' Dellcit

Consolidated Staternents of Cash Florvs

Notes to Clonsolidated F-inancial Statements

Financial Statement Schedule

For each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016:

ll - Vlrlrration and Otralilling Accottnts

Financial statement schedules othel than those listed above have been omitted because the required information is contained in the

financial statel.nellts and lrotes theleto, ol because such schedules are not required or applicable.

58

59

60

()-i

64

65

66

67

r35
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FoLnr l0-K Patt II

Document

Cincinnati Bell lnc

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTTNG

The nranagement of Cincinnati Bell Inc. and its sul¡sidialies (tlre "Corrpany") is responsible for establishing and maintaining adeqttate

internal control over fÌnancial leporting as defined in Rule I3a-l5(f) undel tlÌe Seculities Exchange Act of 1934. The Cotnpany's

irrternal co¡trol system is designed to produce retiabte financial statemerlts in confot'nrity with accounting plirrciples generally accepted

in the United States.

Manageme¡t assessed the effectiveness of the Comparry's intelnal contlol over financial repolting as of December3l,20l6.ln making

this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Conrrnittee of Sponsoring Olganizations of the Treadway Courlnission

(COSO) it't Internal C ontrol Inlegratet:l Frantew ork (20 I 3) . Based on this assessntent, lllallagernent has concluded that, as of
December 31,2016,the Company's internal control over financial reporting is efïèctive based on those criteria.

The efl'ectiveness of the Cornpany's internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Deloitte & Tor-rche LLP, an

independent legistered public accounting firrn, as stated irt their report included herein.

February 24,2017

/s/ Theodore H. Tolbeck

Theodole FL Torbeck

Chief Executive Officer

isl Andlew R. Kaiser

Andlew R. Kaiser

Chief Financial Officer
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'lhbkr of'Çt)ntenls

Folm l0-l( Part II Cincinnati Bell Inc.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shal'eowners of Cincill¡lati Bell Inc.

Cincinnati, Ohio

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Cincinnati Bell Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Compatry") as of
December. 31,2016 basecf on cliteria established in Inlernal ConÍrol - Inlegrafed Frantett,ork (2013) issued by the Comrnittee of
Sponsoring Orga¡izatìotrs of the Tleadway Cornmission. The Company's tnauagenrent is t'esponsible for rnaintaining effective intêrnal

control over lìnancial reporting and for its assessment ofthe effectiveness ofiutet'nal control over financial reporting, included in the

accornpanying Mancrgement s lleport on Inîernal Clontrol oyer Iìitloncictl lLeporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

Conrpany's internal coutt'ol ovel'fitrancial reporting based on out'audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Acconnting Oversight Board (United States). Those

standards requir.e that we plan and perfolm the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whethe| efièctive intelnal control ovet'

financial reportingwas maintained in all rnaterial respects. Oul audit included obtaining an uuderstauding of internal control ovet'

financial r.eporting, assessing the lisk that a ulatel'ial weal<ness exists, testing and evaluating the design and opelating effèctiveness of
i¡ternal co¡trol based on the assessed risl<, and pelforming such othel procedures as we co¡rsidered ttecessaty in the circurnstauces. We

believe that our audit plovides a teasonable basis for our opiniotr.

A coutpa¡y's inter.nal cont¡ol over financial leporting is a pt'ocess designed by, ot'under the su¡rervision of, the courpany's principal

executive and p¡incipal financial officels, or persons perfolrning similar functions, and effected by the cornpany's board ofdirectors,

r11a¡agenleut, a¡d other personnel to provide reasonable assurance legarding the reliability offinancial reporting and the pleparation of
financial statelnents for.external purposes in accoldance with generally accepted accounting plinciples. A cotnpany's internal control

over financial reporting includes those policies ancl procedures that (1) pet'taiu to the nlai¡rtenance of l'ecol'ds that, in reasonable detail,

accur.ately and fairly r.eflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) pLovide reasonable assut'ance that

transactio¡s are r.ecorded as l'ìecessary to perrnitpreparation of financial statemellts itr accordancewith generally accepted accounting

pr.i¡ciples, and that receipts and expenditures of the colrpany are being nrade only in accordance with authorizatiotts of management

and directors ofthe cornpany; and (3) provide reasonable assul'allce regarding prevention or tirnely detection ofunauthorized

acquisition, use, or disposition ofthe conrpany's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibilify of collusion ot'itrrpt'oper

managelnent override of controls, material misstatelnents due to errot'ol fraud nìay not be prevented or detected on a titrely basis.

Also, projectio¡s ofany evaluation ofthe effectiveness ofthe intelnal contt'ol over financial leporting to future periods are subjectto

the risl< that the controls nray become inadeqr.rate becanse of changes in conditions, ot' that the degree of compliance with the policies

or plocedures may deteriorate.

In our opiniotr, the Conrpany nraintained, in all material lespects, effective iutelnal coutt'ol over financial repolting as of Decembel'31,

20 16, based on the criteria established in htternal Cotttrol httegrated Frantev,ork (201 3) issued by the Committee of Sponsoling

Organizatious of the Treadway Cornmission.

.We 
have also audited, in accordance with the standalds of the Public Conrpany Accounting Oversight Boald (United States), the

consolidated f,rnancial statemellts and financial staterllellt schedule as of and fortheyear ended December 31,2016 of the Cotlìpauy

and our r.epor.t dated February 24,2017 explessed an unqualifìed opinion on those financial statemetrts and fìnancial statelnellt

schedu le.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio

February 24,2017

https://www.sec.goviArchives/edgar/datai7161 33/0000716'1 331 7000007/cbb 1 231 201 6-1 0k.htm#s2C88974C39C75F3D865CD349'1 38904C2 77 t178
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Form l0-K Pal't II

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareowners of Cincillllati Bell Inc'

Cincinnati, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cincinnati Bell Inc. and sutrsidiaries (the "Cotnpany") as of
Decernber. 31,2016 and 20 I 5, and the lelated consolidated statements of operations, compt'ehensive income, shareownets' deficit, and

cash flows for.each of the threeyeals in the period ended Decernber 31,2016. Our audits also included the financial statenlent

schedulelistedinthelndexatltem l5.Thesefinancial statemerltsandfiuancial statenlentschedulearetheresponsibilityofthe
Company's management. Oul responsibility is to expl'ess an opinion on the financial statelnents and financial statement schedule lrased

on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Con.rpany Accounting Ovelsight Boald (United States). Those

standards r.equire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurauce about whethel the financial statelnents at'e fi'ee of
lnaterial nrisstateme¡t. An audit includes exanrining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the anrouuts and disclosut'es in the financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estitnates rnade by managelnent, as well as

evaluating the ovelall financial statelreut presentation. We l¡elieve that our audits provide a reasottable basis for our opinion.

In our.opi¡io¡, suc¡ co¡solidated fìnancial statements preseut fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cincinnati Bell

Inc. and subsidia¡ies at Decembel'31,2016 and 2015, and the results of their opet'ations and theil cash flows fol'each of the thleeyears

in tlre period euded December 31, 2016,it't confonnity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Arnelica.

AIso, in our opiniou, such fìnancial statenlent schedule, when cousideled in relation to the basic cousolidated finalrcial statelnents

taken as a whole, pl'eseuts fairly, in all rnatetial respects, the inforrnation set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standal'ds of the Public Cornpany Accounting Ovelsight Board (United States), the

Conrpany's internal control over financial reportiug as ofDeceurber 31,2016, based on the criteria established in Inlernal Control -
Integrated Fratnett,ork (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoling Olganizations of the Treadway Commission and our t'epot't

dated Februaly 24,2017 explessed an unqualified opinion on the Cotnpatry's interual contt'ol ovet'finaltcial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Cincinnati, Ohio

Febluary 24,2017
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Fornr l 0-K Part ll

Documeni

Cincinnati Bell Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in millions, except share amounts)

Assets

Culleut assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, less allowances of $9.9 and $12.4

lnventory, nraterials and supplies

Prepaid expenses

Other current assets

Total current assets

Propelfy, plant and equipment, net

lnvestrnent in CyrusOne

Goodwill

Defen'ed income taxes, tret

Other noncurrent assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareowners' Defi cit

Cun'ent liabilities

Current portion of long-telm debt

Accounts payable

Unearued l'evenue aud customer deposits

Acclued taxes

Acclued intet'est

Accrued payroll and benefits

Other curlent liabilities

Other cullent liabilities florn disoontinued operatious

Total culrent liabilities

Long-temr debt, less cui'rent portion

Pension and postretirernent benefìt obligations

Othel nonculrent liabi lities

Total liabilities

Shal'eowners' deficit

Preferred sto cl<, 2,3 57,299 shares auth olized; 1 5 5,25 0 shares ( 3, I 0 5,00 0

depositary shares) of 6 3l+Yo Cumulative Convertible Prefelred Stock issued and

outstanding at December 31 ,2016 and 2015; liquidation prefet'ence $ 1,000 per

share ($50 pel depositary share)

Common shares, $.01 pat'value; 96,000,000 shales authorized;42,056,237 and

42,003,600 shares issued; 42,056,237 and 41 ,975,390 shares outstanding at

Decernber 31 ,2016 and 2015

Additional paid-in capital

Accuruulated de{icit

Accumulated othel cornprehensive Ioss

Comnron shares ill treasuly, at cost

Dcccnrbcr 31,
2016

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Decenrbcr 31,
2015

$ 9.7 $

178.6

22.7

1 5.0

3.9

7.4

157.1

20.6

13.1

2.2

229.9

1,085.5

128.0

14.3

64.5

18.8

200.4

97 5.5

55.5

14.3

182.9

t7.8

$ 1,541.0 s 1,446.4

$ 7.s $

r 05.9

-J O. -t

12.9

t2.7

25.7

31.9

t 3.8

128.9

29.2

14.5

11.2

31.2

25.0

5.4

232.9

I,l99.l
197.7

3 3.0

259.2

1,223.8

225.0

36.6

1,662.7 1,7 44.6

0.4

2,570.9

(2,732.1)

(e0.3 )

t29.4 129.4

0.4

2,577.7

(2,834.2)

(r7r.0)

(0.5)

https://wvwv.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/71 61 33/00007'1 61 331 70000071cbb1231 201 6-1 0k.htm#s2C88974C39C75F3D865CD3491 38904C2 79t178



7 t1812017 Document

Total shareowners' deficit

Total liatrilities alld shareowners' deficit

(121.7) (2e8.2)

$ 1,54r .0 s 1,446.4

The accornpanying notes ale an integlal palt ofthe consolidated frnancial statements
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Cincinnati Bell Inc'
CONSOLIDÄTED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions, except per shâre âmounts)

$

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Ycar Ended Dcccrnber 31,

2016 2015 20t4

Revenue

Servi ces

Products

Total revenue

Costs and expenses

Cost of selvices, excluding itents below

Cost ofploducts sold, excluding itenls below

Selling, general and adrrinistrative

Depreciation aud anrot'tizatiou

Restructuring alld severance related chalges (reversals)

Other

Total operating costs and expeuses

Operating income

Interest expense

Loss on extinguishment of debt, net

Gain on sale of CyrusOne investment

Other (inconre) expense, net

Income flom continuing operations befol'e incotre taxes

Incolne tax expense

Income from continuing operations

Inconre (loss) Îr'om disco¡rtinued operations, tret of tax

Net income

Prefelred stocl< dividends

Net income applicable to common shareowners

Basic net earnings per common share

Basic earniugs pet' conllllon share ft'otn continuing opelations

Basic earnings (loss) per comrnon share fi'om discontinued opel'ations

Basic net earnings per common share

Diluted net earnings per common share

Diluted earnings per cornlnon shat'e fi'olll continuing operations

Diluted ealnings (loss) per cotrlmon shate frot.tr discontintred opelations

Diluted net earnings per common share

1 01 .8 290.8 117 .7

0.3 62.e (42.1)

102.1 353.7 75.6

10.4 10.4 10.4

978.7 $

207.1

933,0 $

234.8

890.2

271.3

1,185.8 1,167.8 l,16l.5

506.4

172.5

218.7

182.2

I 1.9

l.l

472.5

198.1

219.1

141.6

6.0

2.5

416.2

231.5

204.2

127.6

(0 4)

5.5

1,092.8 1,039.8 984.6

93.0

75.7

19.0

( 1s7.0)

(7.6)

128.0

103.1

20.9

(44e.2)

z.t)

176.9

145.9

19.6

( r e2.8)

5.1

162.9

6l.l
450.6

159.8

1 99.1

81.4

$ e1.7 $ 343.3 $ 65.2

$

$

2.17 $

0.01 $

6,6e $

l.s0 $

2.57

(r.0r )

$ 2.18 $ S. tS $ 1.56

$

$

2.17 $

0.0r $

6.68 $

t.4e $

2.56

( r .00)

$ 2.18 $ 8.17 $ 1.56

Weighted-average comrnon shares outstandin g (nrillions)

Basic 42'0 41.9

l)iluted 42'1 42.0

The accornpanying notes are an integlal part ofthe consolidated fìnancial statetnents.
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Cincinnati Bell Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Dollars in millions)

Ycar Ended Decernbcr 31,

2016 2015

Cincinnati Bell Inc

2014

Net income

Other compreheusive incotne (loss), net of tax:

Unlealized gains on luvesttnent in CylusOne, llet of tax of $36.9

Foleign currency tt'anslation loss

Defined benefit plans:

Net gain (loss) arising fronl remeasurement duling the period,

net of tax of $3.6, ($3.4), ($25.0)

Amortization of priol service benefìts included in net income, net

of tax of ($5.2), ($s.5), ($5.4)

Ämortization of net actuarial loss inclucled in net income, net of
tax of $8.5, $10.8, $8.0

Reclassification adjustnrettt for curtailrnetrt loss irlcluded in net

incorne, net of tax of $0.1

Total other comprehensive incotne (loss), net of tax

Total cornplehensive iucotne

$ r02.r $ 353,7 $ 75.6

68.r

(0.1) (0.4) (0. l)

6.6

(e.4)

15.5 r 9.5 14.'7

(6 6) (45.4)

(e.8) (e.8)

0.2

80.7 2.e (40.6)

$ 182.8 $ 356.6 $ 35,0

The accornpanying notes are an integral paft ofthe consolidated financial statements
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Cincinnati Bell Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREOWNERS' DEFICIT

(in millions)

6 3/¡7o Cumulativc
Convcrtiblc

I'refcrrcd Sharcs Cornnron Sharcs

Sharcs Amount Share s Alnortnt

¡\ddition¿l
I'aid-in
Capital

Accumul¿tetl
Dclicit

Accumulatcd
Othcr

Conrprchensivc
l,oss

Cincinnati Bell Inc

Trcasury Sharcs

Sharcs Arnount Total

3.1 s 129.4 41 .'t $ 0.4 $ 2,592.3 $ (3,263 .s) $

756

(r33.3) (01) $ (2,0) $(676 7)

756

(40 6)

14

(40.61

0.2 1.4

(2 0)

33

( 10.4)

09 (1 t)

3.3

( 10.4)

Balancc at Dcccmber
31,20t3

Net incorne

Other com¡rrehensive
loss

Shares ìssuecl under
enrployee ¡rlans

Shares pulchased
under cnrployee plans
and other

Stocl<-based
compensatiotr

Dividends ou
pr elèr'red stocl<

Brlancc at Dcccnrbcr
31,20t 4

Net income

Other. cornplehe nsive
, nconle

Shares issued under
employee plans

Shales purchased under
errployee pÌans and
other'

Stocl<-ì¡ased
conrpensation

Dividends orr plelèrred
stock

Balancc at Dccenrbcr
31,2015

Net incolle

Other corrplehensive
rncorne

Slrales issued under
employee plans

Sharcs ¡rurchased
under emplo¡,ec plans
and other

Stock-based
corlpensation

Repurchase and
retil enlerlt of shafes

Drvidends on
preferled sLock

Balancc at f)cccmbc¡'
31,2016

3l 129 4 41.9

0l

0 4 2,584 6 (3,r 87 9)

353 7

(648. s)

353.1

2.9

0.1

(173 e) (0 1) (l 1)

2.9

0. 1

(0 7)

4.1

(104)

(0 l)

0l

0.6

(0 s)

05

-$-

(0 l)

4.1

iro +l

(2e8 2)

102.1

80.7

3.(r

0.2

5.1

(4 8)

(r04)

$(121.7)

3t 129.4 42 0 0 4 2.517.1 (2.834 2)

102.1

(171 0)

807

03

(0 2)

3.6

(0 3)

5.1

(4 8)

(10 4)

3.r $ 129.4 42.1 $ 04 $ 2,s70.9 s (2,'732.1):: $ (90.3)

The accornpanying notes are all integl'al part of the consolidated financial statelnents
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Cincinn¿ti Bell Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLO\ilS

(Dollars in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities

Net inconre

Adjustments to reconcile net inconre to uet cash provided by operating activities:

Depleciation and amol'tization

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Gain on sale of CyrusOne ittvestlnent

Impairtretrt of assets

Provision f'or Ioss on t'eceivables

Noncash portioll of irtterest expellse

Defen'ed inconre tax expense, including valuatiou allowatrce chauge

Pension and olher postretirement payrnents in excess of'expense

Defen'ed gain on sale of wireless spectlum lice¡rses - discontinued operatious

Amoltization of defetred gain - discontinued opelations

Stocl<-based compeusati on

Gain on tlansfer of lease obligations - discontinued opet'ations

Other, net

Changes in operating assets aud liabilities:

Increase iu receivables

(lnclease) declease in inventory, rnatelials, supplies, prepaid expenses and other curl'ent assets

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable

Decrease in acct'ued and other current liabilities

(lncrease) decrease in other nottcurrent assets

Increase (decrease) in other noncurrent liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditules

Proceeds from sale of Ilrvestment iu CyrusOne

Dividends received fi'onr Investnrent in CyrusOne (equify method investnrent)

Proceeds fronr sale ofwireless spectrum licenses - discontinued operations

Other, net

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuarrce oflong-telnr debt

Net incr.ease (declease) in corpolate credit and t'eceivables fàcilities with initial nratul'ities less

than 90 days

Repaytnent of debt

l)ebt issuance costs

Dividends paid on preferred stock

Cincinnati Bell Inc

Ycar Endcd Dccembcr 31,

2016

5.1

(3.7)

231.0

19.6

( r e2.8)

t2.l
10.4

6.2

47.4

(25.7)

201 5 2014

$ 102.1 $ 353.7 $ 7s.6

t82.2

19.0

( 157.0)

t70.2

20.9

(44e.2)

9.4

-J.-l

s9.4

(8.3)

8.5

4.6

184.5

(il.5)

(112.6)

(6 5)

4.1

(1s.e)

3.1

(22.e)

J.J

10.5

( r 8.3)

(6.2)

(r3.1)

(3,0)

(1.3)

3.6

(l.e)

3.6

( r 7.0)

(30.6)

1.5

1.4

(23.7)

(7.2)

38.7

(0.8)

0.7

(7.2)

173.2 I 10.9 175.2

(286.4)

r89.7

2.1

(283.6)

643.9

22.2

( r 82.3)

355.9

28.4

194.4

(3.8)(0.e) 0.7

(9s.5) 383.2 3e2.6

63 5.0

71.9

(75e.3)

(1r.1)

( 10.4)

(1.6)

(53 r .7)

(0.4)

( 1 0.4)

(127.0)

(376.5)

(0.e)

( 10.4)
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Cornmon stocl< repurchase

Other, net

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash attd cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ofyeat'

Cash arrd cash equivalents at end of year'

Document

(4.8)

3.3 (0.5) 0.3

(7 5 .4) (s44.6) (5 r 4.5)

(50.5)

57.9

2.3

7.4

53.3

4.6

$ e.7 $ 7.4 $ 57.9

The acconrpanying notes are an integlal part ofthe consolidated financial statelnents.
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Cincinnati Bell Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business and Accounting Policies

Description of Business-Cincinnati Bell Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries ("Cincinnati Bell", "we", "oLÌt'", "us" orthe

"Compar1y") provides diversified telecontntunications and technology setvices. The Cornpany gettel'ates a large portion of its revenue

by serving customel's in the Gt'eater Cincinnati and Dayton, Ohio areas. An economic downtttrn ol'natural disaster occurring in this, or

a poltion of this, limited operating tellitory could have a dispropoltionate effect on our business, financial condition, results of
oper.atìons and cash flows corrpared to sintilar companies of a national scope and similar compauies opelating in different geographic

areas.

As of Decernber 31 ,2016,we operate our business through the following segments: Entet-tainrnent and Comrnunications and IT

Services and Hardware.

Tlre conrpa¡y has 3,400 elnployees as of December 31,2016, and approxinrately 30% of its employees at'e covered by a collective

bargaining agreement with Cornmunications Workers of America ("CWA") that will be in effect through May 12,2018.

Basis of Presentation 
- 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been plepaled pul'suant to the lules and

legulations of the U.S. Seculities and Exchange Cournrission ("SE,C") and, in the opinion of nranagenlent, include all adjustntents

luecessary for.a fail plesentation of the t'esults of opelations, comprehensive income, linancial position and cash flows for each peliod

plesented.

Orr October' 4,2016, the Cornpany filed an amendment to its Ar¡ended and Restated Articles of Incorporation to affect a one-for-

five reverse split of its issued comuron stock (the "Reverse Split") which had the effect of redtrcing the lrutnber of issued shares of
col'r1¡lo¡stockfiom 210,275,005 to42,055,00 I,effectiveasof II:59pnronOctober4,2016. Anyfi'actional shal'esof conruronstock

resulting from the Reverse Split were settled in cash equal to the fraction of a share to lvhich the ltolder r,vas entitled. As a lesult of the

Reverse Split, the Cornpany redLtced total par value fÌorn coullnon stock by $1.7 million and inct'eased the additional paid-in capital by

the sanre aÍnourlt fol the reporting periods.

Allshares of comrnon stock, stock options, the couversiou rate of pt'efelled stock and per share information presented irl the

consolidated financial statelnents have been adjusted to reflect the Reverse Split on a t'etroactive basis for all periods presented and all

share information is rounded down to the nearest whole sliare after reflecting the Reverse Split.

Basis of Consolidation - 
The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of Cincinnati Bell Inc. and its

rnajority-otvned subsidiaries over which it exercises contt'ol. Iutelcotrrpauy accounts and transactiotts have been elirninated in the

consolidated financial statements. Illvestments ovel which the Company exet'cises significant influence al'e t'ecorded undel the equity

method.

RecastofFinanciallnfornlationforDiscontinuedOperations-luthesecondqual'ter of2ü4,weentereditttoagreenrentstosell
our wireless spectl'um licenses and certain other assets lelated to out'wireless business. The agt'eenrent to sell our wireless spectrum

licenses closed on September 30,2014, fol cash proceeds of $194.4 million. Sitnultaneously, we entered into a separate agreement to

use certain spectrum licenses foL $8.00 until we no longer provided wireless sel'vice. E,ffective March 31,2015, all wireless subscribers

were rnigrated off our netwolk and we ceased providing wireless selices and operations. Certain wireless towel'lease obligations and

otlrel assets were transfet'red to the acquit'ing cotîllally on April 1,2015.

The closing of oul wireless operations represerlts a strategic shift in our busiuess. 'l-herefore, certain wireless assets, liabilities and

lesults of operations ale reported as discolltinued operations in our financial statetnents. Accordingly, the Company lecast 20 l5 and

20 l4 r.esutts with the exception of the Consolidated Staternents of Comprehensive Inconre, Consolidated Statements of Shareowners'

Deficit and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See Note l6 fol all lequired disclosures.
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Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Use of Bstimates 
- 

The preparation of financial statements in confornrify with generally accepted accounting plinciples ("GAAP")
requires managelnent to mal<e estimates and assulnptions that affect the amounts reported. Actual results could diffel frorn those

estimates. Significant iterns subject to such estimates and judgnrents include: the carrying value of ploperty, plant and equipment; the

valuation of insul'ance and clairns liabilities; the valuation of allowances for receivables and defen'ed income taxes; reserves l'ecorded

fo¡ income tax exposures; the valuation ofasset retireurent obligations; assets and liabilities related to employee benefits; and the

valuation of goodwill. In the nolnral course of business, the Company is also subject to vat'ious regulatory and tax proceedings,

lawsuits, claims and other rnattels. The Colnpany believes adequate provision has been made for all such asserted and unasserted

clainls in accoldance with GAAP. Such matters are subject to many uncet'tainties and outcomes that are not predictable with assurance.

Cash and Cash Equivalents-Cash consists of funds held in banl< accounts. Cash equivalents consistof slrort-tertrr, highly liquid

investrnents with original matulities of three months ot' less.

Receivables 
- 

Receivables consist plincipally of trade receivables from cttstotnet's and are generally unsecttred and due within 21 - 90

days. The Cornpany has receivables with one custornel', General Electric Conrpany ("GE"), that makes up21o/oand22Yoof the

outstanding accoqnts l'eceivable balance at Decernber 31,2016 and 20 15, r'espectively. Unbilled leceivables arise fi'om sel'vices

lerrdered but notyet billed. As of December 31,2016 and2015, unbilled receivables totaled $14.5 million and $14.0 nrillion,
lespectively. Expected credit losses related to trade receivables are recot'ded as an allowance for uncollectible accounts in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Cornpany establishes the allowances for uncollectible accounts ttsing percentages ofaged accounts

t.eceivable balances to leflect the histolical average of credit losses as well as specific pt'ovisions for certain identifiable, potentially

uncollectible balances.'When internal collection efforts on accounts have been exhausted, the accounts ale written offand the

associated allowance fol uncollectitrle accouuts is reduced.

Inventory, Materials and Supplies - 
Inventory, nraterials and supplies consists of netwolk componetlts, various telephorry and IT

equiprnentto be sold to cnstolllers, ntaintenance inventories, and other ntaterials and supplies, which are calried atthe lower ofaVerage

cost or market.

Property, Plant and Equipment - 
Ploperty, plant and equiprrrent is stated at original cost aud presetrted net of accumulated

depr.eciation and impairment losses. Maintenance and lepairs are charged to ex¡tense as incurred while inrprovenlents, which extend an

asset's useful life or increase its functionality, are capitalized and depleciated overthe asset's relnaining life. The rnajority ofthe
Entertainnre¡t and Coulluunications network property, plant and equipnrent used to generate its voice and data revenue is depreciated

using the group method, which develops a depreciation rate annually based on the average useful life ofa specific group ofassets

¡athe¡ than for each individual asset as would be utilized under the unit rnethod. Provision for depreciation ofother pÍoperty, plant and

equipment, except fol leasehold implovements, is based on the stlaight-line method over the estimated economic useful life.

Depreciation of leasehold irrplovernents is based on a straight-line r¡ethod over the lesser of the ecouotnic useful life of the asset or

the term of the lease, including optional renewal periods if renerval of the lease is reasonably assut'ed.

Additious atrd ir¡provernents, including interest and cet'tain Iabor costs incurl'ed during the constl'uctiolr period, are capitalized. The

Cornpany r.ecords the fair value of a legal liability for an asset letirement obligation in the period it is incurred. The estimated retnoval

cost is initially capitalizedand depreciated ovel the lemaining life of theundellyirtg asset. The associated liability is accl'eted to its

present value each period. Once the obligation is ultirnatety settled, any difference between the final cost and the recorded liabilify is

lecognized as gain or loss ot.t disposition.

Goodwill Goodwill represeuts the excess of the pulchase price considelation over the fair value of uet assets acquired and recorded

ilr connection with business acquisitions. Goodwill is generally allocated to reporting units one level below bnsiness segments.

Goodwill is tested for impairnrent on an annual basis or when events ol' changes in circumstances indicate that such assets tnay be

impaired. If the net book value of the leportiltg unit exceeds its fair value, an inrpairment loss rray be recognized. An impairment loss

is rneasured as the excess of the calrying value of goodwill of a lepor-ting unit over its implied fail'value. The implied fäir value of
goodwill l.epr.esents the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit aud the fair value of all the assets arld liabilities of that

unit, including any unlecognized intangìble assets.

Long-Lived Assets - 
Manage¡rent leviews the canying value of properly, plant and equipment and other long-lived assets, including

intangible assets with definite lives, when evellts or changes in circumstauces indicate that the calrying antoullt of the assets may rlot

be r.ecover.able. An impairment loss is recognized when the estimated future undiscouuted cash flows expected to result fi'om the use of
an asset (or group of assets) and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying arnount. An irnpailment loss is measured as the alnount

by which the asset's car.rying value exceecls its estiulated fair value. Long-lived intangible assets are anrortized based on the estimated

economic value genet'ated by the asset in future years.
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Investment in Cyrusone - On January 24,2013, we completed the initial public offering ("lPO") of CyrusOne Inc. ("CyrusOne"),

which owns and opelates our former Data Center Colocation business. CylusOne conducts its data center bttsiness through CyrusOne

LP, an operating partuershi¡t. Effective with the IPO, we retained ownersh ip of approxinrately I .9 nl illion shares, or 8.60/o, of
Cyr.usOne's collìlron stocl< and wete a lirnited paftner in CylusOne LP, owning approxirnately 42.6 tnlllion, or 66o/o, of its partnership

units. We effectively ownecl 69% of CylusOne and cor.rtinued to have significant influence ovel'the entity, but we did not control its

oper.ations. Thelefore, effective January 24,2013,we no longet'included the accounts of CylusOne in out'consolidated financial

statements, but accounted for oul ownership in CyrusOne as an equity method iuvesttnent. Fronl the date of IPO, we t'ecoguized out'

proportionate s¡ar.e of CyrusOne's net inconre or loss as non-operating irrconre or expense in oul Corrsolidated Statetrent of Opelations

tlrroughDecember3l,2Ol5.Forthepet'iodJanuary l,2013throughJanuaty23,20l3,weconsolidatedCyrusOne'soperatingresults.

On December'31, 2015, we exchanged oul lemaining 6.3 million operating partnelship units in CyrusOne LP for an eqttal number of

newly issued sha¡es of cont¡ro¡ stocl< of CyrusOne Inc. As a result, oul9.5o/o ownelship in CyrusOne, which consisted of 6.9 rnillion

commorl shar.es, no longel'constituted significant inflnence over the entity. Effective Januaty 1,2016, our investmetrt in CyrusOne was

no longer.accounted for usingthe equity rnethod. Dividends declared by Cyrusone in2016 totaled $6.4 million and wet'e included in

"Other.(income) expense, net" in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of December 31,2016, we held 2.8 million shat'es of
CyrusOne Inc. comnron stocl< valued at $128.0 urillion which al'e accounted for as available-for'-sale securities.

As of Decenlb er 31,2016, "lnvestnrent in CyrusOne" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets has lreetr l'ecorded at fair value, which was

determined based on closing marl<et plice of CyrusOne at Decenrber 3 1 , 201 6. This investtnent is classified as Level I in the fair value

¡ierar.chy. Unrealized gains and losses on our investment in CyrusOne at'e included in "Accurnulated othel comprehettsive loss", net of
taxes on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. AtDecenrber 3l,20l6,gross uurealized gains totaled $105.0 nillion. When evaluatingthe

investrre¡ts for other-than-tenlporary impaitment, the Conrpany leviews such factors as the financial conditiorr of the issuer', severity

and dur.ation of the fair value decline and evaluation of factols that could cause the investment to have an othel'-than-temporaly decline

in fair value. During the year ended Decelnber 31, 20 16 the Company did not t'ecoguize any inrpairment chat'ges related to Investtrent

in CyrusOne.

Equity Method Investments - 
During 2014,we invested a total of $5.5 million in othel entities, which are accottnted f'or as equity

method investnrents and the calrying value has been recorded within "Othel noncurretrt assets" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company's pr.oportionate shale of the investments' net loss had a nrinimal impact on ottr Consolidated Statement of Operations in

2014,2015 and 2016. Equity rnethod investments are tested for itnpairmerlt on an annual basis or wheu events or changes in

circurnstances indicate that such assets ntay be impaired.

Cost Method Investments 
- 

Certain of our cost lnethod investrrrents do not have leadily detenninable fair values. The canyiug value

of these investrrre¡ts was $3.4 r¡illion and $3.0 rnillion as of Decernber 31,2016 and 2015, respectively, and was included itr "Other

noncurreut assets" i¡ the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Irrvestments are reviewed anrtually for itnpairnretlt, or sooner if changcs in

circurnstances inclicate the can'ying value nray not be recoverable. Ifthe carlying value ofthe investment exceeds its estinlated fair'

value a¡d the decline in value is detelmined to be other'-than-tel'rlporaly, an itrpairment loss is recogtrized for the difference. The

Comltany estintates fair value using external information and discounted cash flow analysis.

Leases 
- 

Certain pÍoperfy and equipment are Ieased. At lease inception, the lease tel'ms are assessed to detelmine if the transaction

should be classified as a capital or operating lease.

Treasury Shares 
- 

The lepulchase ofcommon shares is recorded at purchase cost as treasury shares. Oul policy is to retire, either

formally or constructively, tt'easury shares that l.nallagement anticipates will not be reissued. Upon retiretnent, the purchase cost of the

tr.easury shar.es that exceeds pal value is recolded as a leduction to "Additional paid-in capital" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue Recognition 
- 

We apply the revenue lecognition principles described in Financial Accounting Standalds Board ("FASB")

Accounting Sta¡dalds Codification Topic ("ASC") 605, "Revenue Recognition." Under ASC 605, t'evenue is recognized when there is

pe¡suasive evidence of a sale al'rallgement, delivery has occurred or set'vices have been lendeled, the sales plice ìs fixed or

detenninable, and collectability is leasonably assured.

'With 
respect to arrallgemetrts with rnultiple deliverables, managelnent detenniues whether lilore thall one unit of accoutrtittg exists in

all al.rallgelnent. To the extent that the delivelables are separable into nrultiple units of accountiug, total consideration is allocated to the

individual units of accor"lnting based on theil relative fair value, detel'rnined by the price of each deliverable when it is regularly sold on

a stand-alone basis. Revenue is recognized fol each unit ofaccourrting as delivered, or as setryice is performed, depending on the nature

of the deliverable complising the unit of accounting.
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Tlre Conrpany has sales with one custonrer', GE, that coutributed 12"/ofo total t'evenue in each of 2016 and 2015, artdl4o/oitt2014.
Revenue derived from foleign operatiolls is Iess than lolo of consolidated t'evenue.

Entertcti1aenl ond Commtutications Revenues frorn local telephone, special access, iuteruet pl'oduct and video services, which are

billed monthly prior to pelformance of selvice, are not lecognized upon billing or cash leceipt but rather ale deferred until the service

is provided. Long distance, switched access and other usage based charges are billed nronthly in at'rears. Entertainrnent and

Cortrurunications bills service revenue in regulal rnonthly cycles, which are sptead throughout the days of the nronth. As the last day of
each billing cycle rarely coincides with the end ofthe reporting period for usage-based services such as long distance and switched

access, we must estimate service revenues earned but notyet billed. These estitnates are based upon historical usage, and we adjust

these estirnates during the period in which actual usage is determinable, typically in the following reporting period.

Pricing of local voice services is generally subjectto oversightby both state alld federal regulatoly commissions. Such regulation also

covers seLvices, courpetition, and other public policy issues. Various regulatory rulings and interpt'etations could result in increases ot'

decleases to l'evenue in futule peliods.

17'Sen'ices and Hardy,at's Services ale generally lecognized as the service is provided. Maintenance on telephony equipment is

defèr'red and recognized latably ovel the telm ol'the undellying customel'contract, genelally one to three yeat's.

Equipment revenue is lecognized upon the completion of out'contractual obligations, such as shipment, delivery, ol'customer

acceptallce. Installation ser.¡ice revenue is generally lecognized when installation is cotnplete. We sell equipment and installation

services on both a conlbined and standalone basis.

The Conrpany is a leseller oflT and telephony equipnrent. For these trarrsactions, we consider the gross versus net revenue recording

criteria ofASC 605. Based on this critelia, these equipmeut revenues and associated costs have generally been recorded on a gross

basis rather thau lecording the revenues net ofthe associated costs. Vendor rebates are earned o¡r certain equipnrent sales. When the

lebate is earned and the amount is detelminable, we lecognize the lebate as an offset to cost ofploducts sold.

I)iscottÍinued Operations - Postpaid wireless and reciprocal cornpensation were billed monthly in arrears. Selvice revenue was billed
in regulal monthly cycles, which wel'e spread throughout the days of the month. As the last day of each billing cycle rarely coincided
with the end ofthe lepolting period for usage-based services such as postpaid wileless, we estinlated service revenues earned but not
yet billed. Oul estirnates were based upon historical usage, and we adjusted these estimates during the peliod in which actual usage

was deterurinable, typically in the following leporting period.

Reveuue florl prepaid wireless service. which was collected in advance, was not recognized upon billing or cash receipt but lather

defèrred until the service was plovided.

Wireless handset revenue and the related activation reveuue were t'ecognized when the products were deliveled to and accepted by the

custotner, as this was considered to be a separate earnings process frour the sale of wileless set'vices. Wireless equiprnent costs were

also lecognized upon handset safe and wele genelally in excess ofthe lelated handset and activation reventle. Revenue ft'orn

termination fees was recognized when collection was deemed reasouably assut'ed.

Advertising Expenses - Costs l'elated to advertising are expetrsed as incun'ed. Advertising costs were $9.5 million, $8.3 million, and

$7.2 million in 2016,2015, and 2014, respectively.

Legal Expenses - 111 tlre nonnal course of business, the Conrpatry is involved iu various claitns and legal proceedings. Legal costs

incul'red in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incul'red. Legal clairn accruals at'e recot'ded once detet'mined to be both

probable and estilnable.
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Income, Operating, and Regulatory Taxes

Ipconte taxe5 - The Company and its subsidiaries file inconle tax l'eturns in the U.S. fedelal jurisdiction as well as various foreign.

state and local jurisdictions. The provisiou for income taxes is based upon income in the consolidated financial statements, ratherthan

amounts reported o¡ the income tax retunr. The income tax plovision consists of an anrouut for taxes currently payable and an atnoutrt

for tax consequences deferled to futule peliods. Def'elled investtnent tax credits are amortized as a l'eduction of the provision fot'

income taxes over the estirnated useful lives of the related ploperty, plant and equipmertt. Deferred income taxes are plovided for

temporarJ differences between financial statement and income tax assets and liabilities. Defet'red income taxes al'e I'ecalculated

annually at rates then in effect. Valuation allowances are recolded to leduce deferred tax assets to amounts thatarc more lil<ely than not

to be realized. The ultinlate realization of the deferred incorne tax assets depends upou the ability to gelterate futule taxable itrcotne

during the periods in which basis differences ancl other deductions become deductible and priot to the expiration ofthe net operating

loss carryfolwards.

Previous tax filings are subject to nonnal l'eviews [ry regulatory agencies until the related statute of limitations expit'es.

Operating Íaxes - Certain operating taxes such as property, sales, use, aud gross receipts taxes are repolted as expenses in operating

inco¡re primarily within cost of selvices. These taxes are not included in incotne tax expense because the alnounts to be paid al'e not

dependent on our level of income. Liabilities for audit exposules are established based ol1 ntallagemelrt's assessntetlt of the pLobability

of payme¡t. The plovision fot'such liabilities is recognized as either ploperfy, plant and equipment, operating tax expense, or

depreciation expense depending on the nature of the audit exposure. Upon lesolution of an audit, any lernaining liability not paid is

leleased agaiust the account in which it was originally recolded.

Regulatory 1axes - The Compatry incurs federal and state regulatory taxes on cet'tain tevenue producing trallsactions. We are

per.rnitted to recover certain of these taxes by billing the customer'; however, collections cauuot exceed the amount due to the federal

regulatory agency. These fedelal regulatory taxes are plesented in sales and cost ofservices on a gross l¡asis because, while the

Company is lequiled to pay the tax, it is not lequiled to collect the tax from customel's and, in fact, does not collect the tax flom
custorners iu ce|tain iustances. The amounts recorded as l'evenue for 2016, 20 15, and 2014were $16.3 million, $15.5 rnillion, and

$15.2 nrillion, respectively. The amounts expensed for2016.2015, and 2014 were $17.5 million, $17.9 milliorr, and $16.4 million,

respectively.'We record all other federal taxes collected frour custotnet's on a uet basis.

Stock-Basecl Compensatio¡ - 
Qs¡¡ps¡satiol'r cost is t'ecognized fol all share-based awards to employees aud non-elnployee

dir.ectors. We value all share-based awards to enrployees at fair value on the date of grant aud expense this antount over the required

service per.iod, genelally defined as the applicable vesting peliod. For awat'ds which contain a perfot'tnance condition, colnpensation

expense is recognized over the sel'vice peliod, when achievement of the pet'formatrce condition is deemed probable. The fair value of
stock options and stocl< appleciation lights is cletelmined using the Blacl<-Scholes option-plicing nrodel using assumptions such as

volatility, risk-fi'ee i¡tet'est rate, holding period and dividends^ The fairvalue of stock awards is based on the Cornpany's closing share

pl.ice olt ttre date of grant. For all share-based payrnents, an assurnption is also tnade for the estiurated fol'feitule rate based on the

historical behavior ofemployees. The forfeiture rate leduces the total fair value ofthe awards to be tecognized as compensation

expeuse. Our.accounting policy fol gladed vesting awat'ds is to recognize compensation expellse on a stlaight-line basis over the

vesting period. We have also glanted employee awards to be ultimately paid in cash which are indexed to the change in the Cornpany's

comlnou stock price. These awards are adjusted to the fair value of the Company's comlllol'l stock, aud the adjusted fair value is

expensed on a pro-rata basis ovel the vesting period. 'When an awal'd is granted to an employee who is tetirement eligible, the

cornpensatior.r cost is lecognized ovel the service period up to the date that the etnployee fit'st becomes eligible to retire.

Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans 
- 

The Cotnpany tnaintains qualified and non-qualified defìned benefit pension plans, and

also ltrovides postletirement healthcare and life insurarrce benefits for eligible ernlrloyees. We lecognize the ovetfunded or

underfunded status ofthe defined benefit pension and other postretirenrent benefit plans as either an asset ol'liabilify. Changes in the

funded status of these plans ale recognized as a compouent of corrprelrensive ittcotrre (loss) in the year they occur. Pension and

post¡etirelîent healthcare and life insulance beneflts ealned during the year and intel'est on the projected benefit obligations are

accr.ued and recognized cun'ently in net periodic benefit cost. Prior service costs and credits al'e amortized over the avelage life

expectancy of participants or remaining service period, based upon whether plan participants at'e mostly retirees or active employees.

Net gains or losses resulting florn differences between acï)atial experience and assurnptions ot'ft'otn changes in actuarial assumptions

are recognizecl as a cornporrent of annual net periodic benefit cost. Unrecog¡rized actuarial gaius ot losses that exceed l0o/o of the

projected benefit obligation ale arnortized on a stlaight-line basis over the avel'age lemaining service lifè of active ernployees for the

pensio¡ and bargained postretit'ementplans (approximately 9-13 years) and avet'age life expectancy of retirees fot'the tnanagement

postretirement plan (approximately I 7 yeals).
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Business Combinations - 
l¡r accounting for business cornbinations, we apply the accounting requit'ettrents of ASC 805, "Business

Co¡rbinations," which requires the recolding ofnet assets ofacquired businesses at fair value. ln developing estimates offair value of
acquired assets a¡d assunred liabilities, lnar'ìagement arølyzes avariefy of factors including marl<et data, estimated futule cash flows of

the acquir.ed operations, industry glowth rates, current leplacement cost for flxed assets, and lnal'l<et rate assumptions for contt'actual

obligations. Such a valuation requires managetrent to nrake significant estinrates and assumptious, particularly with respectto the

intangible assets. In addition, contingent cotrsideration is plesented at fair value at the date ofacquisition. Transactiou costs are

expensed as incurred.

Fair Value Measurements - 
Fair value of financial and non-financial assets aud liabilities is defined as the price representing the

arnount that rvould be r.eceived to sell a¡ asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly tt'ansactiou between trrarl<et pat'ticipants. Fair

value is utilized to measure certain investrnents on a lecurring basis. Fair value measurements are also utilized to detet'mine the initial

value of assets and liabilities acquìred in a business corrbiuation, to perform impairment tests, and for disclosure purposes'

Ma¡agement uses quoted trarl(et prices and obselvable inputs to the maximulr extent possible whetr tneasut ing fair value, In the

absence of quoted lrrat.ket p¡ices ol observable inputs, fail value is detert¡ined using valuation urodels that incorporate assLtnrptions that

a market participant would use in pricing the asset or liabilify.

Fair value rneasurerne¡ts are classified within one of three levels, which plioritize the inputs used in the methodologies of rneasuring

fair value fot' assets and liabilities, as follows:

Level I 
- Quoted lnal'l<et ltlices fol identical instrunlerrts in an active trarket,

Level 2- Quoted prices lol sinrilal'assets and liabilities in active tnarkets, quoted prices for identical or sinlilar assets or

Iiabilities in lrrarl<ets that are not active, ìnputs other than quoted prices that are observable fot the asset or liability (i.e.,

interest rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived plincipally from or cot'robotated by obselvable nrarket databy

cort'elation or othet'nteans (marl<et collobolated inputs); and

Level 3 
- 

lJ¡sþss¡y¿ble inputs that reflect rnanagelnent's detelmination of assumptions that rnat'ket palticipants would use in

pr.icing the asset or liability. These inputs are developed based on the best ittformatiolr available, including our owtr data..

Foreign Currency Tr.anslation and Transactions 
- 

The financial position of foreign subsidialies is translated at tlte exchange rates

in effect at the end of the per.iod, while revenues and ex¡tenses ale translated at average rates of exchange duling the period. Gaius ot'

Iosses fr.orn translation of foreign opelations whele the local culreucy is the fultctioual currency al'e included as componetrts of

accuntulated other comprehensive iltcome. Gains and Iosses alising flonr foreign culrency tt'alrsactious are t'ecot'ded in other illcoure

(expense) in the peliod incttrred.
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2. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014,t\'te FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Revenue frotrr Colrtt'acts with Customels. The

standar.d's cor.e pr.inciple is that a coulpany will recognize revenue when ittt'ansfet's plonrised goods ot set'vices to custotrrers in an

anlount that r.eflects the consideration to which the conrpany expects to be entitled in exchange fot'those goods or services. This

standar.d also includes expanded disclosure requilements that lesult in an entity providing usel's of fìnancial statements'rvith

comprehensive infon¡ation about the llature, amount, tirning, and uncet'taiuty of revenue and cash flows alising frorn the entify's

contracts with custo¡ners. In August 2015, ASU 2015-14 was issued deferring the effective date of ASU 2014-09 to annual reporting

per.iods beginning after Decernber 15,2017 with an optional eally application date for annual leporting periods beginning after

December. 15,2016. The Conrpany will adopt the standard and all subsequent at¡endntents in the first quarter of the fiscal year ending

Decenrber 3 l, 20 I 8.

The guidance per¡rits two methods of adoption: retrospectively to each plior repolting period presented (lìrll letrospective method), or

r.etrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the guidance lecognized at the date of initial application (the currrulative

catch-up tl'a¡sition nrethod). We cun'ently anticipate adopting the standard using the full retrospective method to restate each prior

reporting period presented. Our abilify to adopt using the full lett'ospective rnethod is dependent on the successful and timely

irnplementatio¡ of a r.eve¡ue software application that has been plocnred flonr a third-palty provider and the colnpletion of out'analysis

of infonnation necessaly to l'estate plior period f,nancial statements'

While we ale continuing to assess all potential irnpacts of the standald, we cut'rently believe the standard will not have a n.ratel'ial

impact on our consolidated fìnancial statements with the possible exception of our gt'oss treatment of hardware revenue. ASU 2016-08

clar.ifies the inrplenrentation guidance on principal versus agent cousideratiotts and was not illtended to chartge the historical

presentation ofvalue added resellers as gross, howeverthele appears to be diversity in opinion based olr facts and circttlnstances. We

will continue to monitor discussior.rs by the Tlansition Resource Gloup and the FASB thloughout 2017.

The FASB issued ASU 2Ol4-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties About an Entify's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern in August

20 14. Thisstandardupdateprovidesguidanceaboutmanagemerrt'st'esponsibilitytoevaluatewhethertheleissubstautial doubtabout

an entity's ability to contiltue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. The standard is effective for us fol the

fìscal year ending Decemtrer 31,2016. The adoption of this pronouncetnelrt did not have a matet'ial ilnpact ou our fìnancial statelnents,

I¡ April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Sirnplif,ing the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which changes the presentation of
debtissuancecostsinthefinancial statements. Specifically,thisarnendmentrequit'esthatcostsassociatedwiththeissuanceofdebtbe
pr.esented on the balance sheet as a dilect deduction flom the related debt liability. The Conrpany retl'ospectively adopted the amended

standa¡d effèctive January l,20l6. The adoption lesulted in a plior period adjustment due to a change in accor-rnting plinciple. The

Consolidated Balance Sheet for the period ending Decerrrber 31,2015 has beeu testated to reflect this change in accounting principle.

Note issuance costs of $8.0 million wele reclassed from "Othel noncurlellt assets" to "Long-ternr debt, less current portion." On the

effective date of ASU 2015-03, the Cornpany made a one-time policy election to tecord costs incut't'ed in connection with obtaining

r.evolvi¡g credit agreements as an asset atrd to arnoltize these costs ratably over the tenrt of the agt'eell.ìent. This accounting treattnent is

consistent with how defèrred financing costs were accounted for prior to adoption of ASU 2015-03. Note 6 has been updated to reflect

the adjustrnent,

The FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which anlends the

guidance in GAAP on the classification and lÌ1easuì'ement of financia[ instt'uments in Janualy 20t6. The arnended guidance requit'es

entities to carry all invest¡rents in equity securities at fair value through net income unless the entify has elected the practicability

excelrtion to fair value measuren.ìer1t. This standard will be effective fol the fiscal yeal ending December 31,2018 and will require a

cumulative-effect adjustrnentto beginning retained ealnings on this date. The Cornpany is currently in the process of evaluating the

impact of adoption of this ASU otr the consolidated financial statelretlts.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which represents a wholesale change to lease accountitrg. The standard

introduces a lessee model that brings most leases on the balance sheet as well as aligns certain undellying principles of the new lessol'

model with those in ASC 606. The ¡ew standard is effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and

lessees and Iessors are requil'ed to use a modified retlospective transition method fol existing leases. The Cornpany is in the process of
evaluating the impact of adoption of this ASU on the Company's consolidated financial statemeuts.

In Mar.ch 20l6,theFASB issued ASU 2016-09, Cornpensatjon - Stock Cornpensation, which simplifies variotls aspects t'elatedto how

share-based payrnents ar.e accounted fol and presented iu the financial statelnents, The new guidance requiles excess tax benefits and

tax deficiencies to be recorded in the inconte stateutellt when the awalds vest or are settled. In addition, cash flows related to excess tax

benefits will no longer be separately classified as a financing activity apart from other income tax cash flows. The standal'd also allows

us to repurchase rïore of an employee's shares for tax withholding purposes without triggering liability accountittg, clarifies that all

cash payments lnade on an employee's behalf for withheld shares should be presented as a financing activity on out'cash flows

stateulent, and provides an accounting policy election to account for folfeitures as they occur. The new staudard is effective for us

beginning January l, 20 17.

The primary irnpact of adoption witt be the lecognition of excess tax beneflts in oul provision fot'income taxes rather than paid-in

capital starting in the first quar.tel of fiscal year 2017. Additional amendrnents to the accounting for incorne taxes and miuimulrr

statutorywith¡oldingtaxrequilementswill havenoimpacttoletainedeartringsatJanuary l,20lT,wherethecuntulativeeffectof
these cha¡ges are required to be recorded. We have elected to adopt a company-wide policy change due to the change in accounting

principle and will l.ecold forfeitules as they are inculled or'ì a go forward basis. As a result of the change in accountitrg principle the

ct¡mulative-effect adjustment to retained ealnings to acconnt fot'the accottnting policy election is ilnrnaterial to the financial

staterneÍrts.

We plan to appty the presentation requirements for cash flows related to excess tax benefits letrospectively to all periods plesented

whiclr is ¡ot expected to have a nraterial inrpact to 2016 net cash plovided by operations and 201 6 net cash used in financing when

presented ín 2017. The presentation requirements fol cash flows lelated to employee taxes paid for withheld shares had no irnpact to

any ofthe per.iods plesented in our consolidated cash flows statenrents since such cash flows have historically beerr presented as a

lìnancing activity.

In August 20 16, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flow - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments,

which amends ASC 230 to add or clarifu guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payrnents in the statement of cash

flows. The FASB issued the ASU with the intent of reducing diversity in lrractice, The new standard is effective for public entities for

annual r.eporting peliods beginning after December 15,2017, including interirn periods within those fÌscal years. The Company is

curre¡tly in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of this ASU on the Company's consolidated statemelrt of cash flows atld

plans to adopt the standald efTèctive January I, 20 I 8.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 20 l7-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairnrent, which eliminates Step 2 fì'orn the

goodwill irnpai¡nent test. Undel the amended guidance, the Cornpany shall now recoguize alr itrtpairmetrt charge for the arnount by

which ttre car.rying value exceecls the reporting unit's fairvalue. The uew standard is effective for public entities for annual reportitrg

per.iods beginning aftel'Decernber 15,2020, including interirn periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for intet'im

or. arr¡ual goodwill intpairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1 , 2017 . The Company plans to early adopt the allellded

guiclance effective January l,20l7 and does not anticipate a significant impact to the fìnancial statelnents.

Other accounting standalds that have been issued ot'proposed by the FASB ol other standards-setting bodies that do not requit'e

adoptiou until a future date are not expected to have a matet'ial itnpact on the Company's consolidated financial statemellts upon

adoption.
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3. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic ear.¡i¡gs per colnmon share ("EPS") is based upon the weighted-average uumber of common shares outstanding during the

period. Diluted EPS reflects the potentia[ dilution that would occul'upon issuance of common shares for awards undel'stock-based

compe¡sation plans, or conveLsion ofpreferred stock, but only to the extent that they are considered dilutive'

The following table shows the contputation of basic and diluted EPS aftel considelation of the 1-for-5 reverse stock split that became

effective I l:59 p.m. October 4,2016:

Ycar Entìed Dcccmber 31, 2016

Continuing
Opcrations

Discontinucd
0pcrations T0tâl(in millions. cxccnf ncr sharc anrounts)

Numelator:

Net income

Prefert'ed stock dividends

Net iucoure applicable to cotllll1on shareowners - basic and

diluted

Denotninator:

Weighted-average cornrnoll shares outstatrdirrg - basic

Stock-based cotnpensation arrangelnents

Weighted-average colnlîon shat'es outstanding - diluted

Basic and diluted ealnings per common share

(in rnillions. cxccDt ncr sh¡rc anror¡nts)

Nurlelator:

Net incoure

Pt'eferled stocl< divi dends

Net incor.ne applicable to comlllon shareowners - basic and

diluted

Denotninator:

Weighted-avet'age common shares outstanding - basic

Stock-based com pensati on al'rangements

Weighted-avelage colnntolt shares outstanding - diluted

Basic ealnings pet' cotltron shaLe

Diluted earnings per cotllltlon shal'e

$ 10r .8 $

10.4

0.3 $ 102.1

10.4

$ 91.4 $ 0.3 $ 91.7

42.0

0.1

42.0

0.1

42.0

0.1

42.1 42.1 42.1

$ 2.17 $ 0.01 $ 2.18

Yeal Ended Dr:ccmber'31, 2015

Continuing
Opcrafions

Discontinucd
Opcrations Tofal

$ 290.8 $

t0.4

62.9 $ 353.7

10.4

$ 280.4 $

4t.9

0.1

6Z,e $ 343.3

4t.9

0,1

4t.9

0.1

42.0 42.0 42.0

$

$

6.6e $

6.68 $

1.50 $ 8.19

1.49 $ 8.17
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Ycal' Endcd Dtcc¡nbcr 3l 2014

Continuing
Opcrations

Discontinucd
Opcrations Totallin millions. cxcent ncr sharc anlounfsl

Numelator:

Net income

Prefen'ed stock dividends

Net iucome applicable to conlmoll shareowners - basic and

diluted

Denominator:

Weighted-average colnt.nolt shares outstanding - basic

Stocl<-based colnpensation arrallgelÌl ents

Weighted-average conrmon shares outstanding - diluted

Basic earnings per coÍìlrol1 share

Diluted earnings per cotnnrou slrare

$ n71 $

10.4

(42.1) $ 7 5.6

10.4

$ r 07.3 $ (42.t) $ 6s.2

41.7

0.2

41.7

0.2

41.7

0.2

4t.9 41.9

2.s7 $ (1.0r) $

41.9

r.56

1.56

$

$ 2.s6 $ (r.oo) $

For the year.s ended December' 3l , 2016, 2015 and 2014, awards nnder the Company's stock-based colnpensation plans fol colnmon

shares of 0.4 rnillion,0.7 million and0.7 million, respectively, were excluded frorn the colrputatioll of diluted EPS as their inclusion

would have been anti-clilutive. Fot'all periods pl'esentcd, prefelled stock convertible into 0.9 million comlnon shares was excluded as it
was anti-dilutive.
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4. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipnlent is complised of the following:

ldollars in millions)

Land and rights-oÊway

Buildings and leasehold inrprovements

Network equipment

Office software, furniture, fixtures and vehicles

Construction in process

Gross value

Accum ul ated depleciation

Property, plant and equipment, ttet

2016 201 5

Dcccrnbcr 31,

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Deprcciable
Livcs (Ycars)

$ 4.3 $

173.7

3,165.7

150.6

170

4.3

r65.0

2,959.3

131.4

29.2

20

_)

2

2

Indefinite

40

50

14

nla

3,51 1.3

(2,425.8)

3,289.2

(2,313.7)

$ r,08s.s $ e75.5

Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipnlenttotaled $t82.0 million, $141.3 rnillion,and$127.2 rnillion in2016,2015,and
20 l4, respectively. In 2016, approxinrately 85%, compared to approximately 79o/" in 2015 andSl''/oit't2014, of "Depreciation," as

plesented in the Consolidated Statements of Opelations, was associated with the cost of providing selvices. There are nunlerous assets

included within network equipment l'esulting in a range of depreciable Iives between 2 and 50 years, the majority of which fall within
tlie range of 7 fozzyears. In 20 16, we leduced the estimated usefil life of certain set-top boxes and the lelated software as we

upgraded to new technology. In the foulth quarter of 20 1 5, we reduced the useful life of our copper assets ft'om I 5 years to 7 years as

customers have continued to migrate to set'vices provided by our'fiber ttetwork.

No asset impainnent losses were lecognized it't 2016 or 20 I 5. During the year ended Decernber 3 I , 2014, tlte Entertainment aud

Cornrnunications segment recognized an asset impairment loss of $4.6 million fol the abandonment of an internal use software ptoject.

As of Decelnber 3l,2Ql6 and2015, buildings and leasehold implovements, networl< equiprnent, and office software, firniture, fixtttres

and vehicles include $96.8 nlillion and $91.2 nlillion, respectively, ofassets accounted for as capital leases. Coucurtent with the shtlt-

down of oul wileless netwolli as of March 31,2015, $57.7 million o1'fully dept'eciated capital fease assets wel'e transfet'red to

continuing operations as these assets were retained by the Cornpany. These leases weLe previously lepolted in discontinued operatious

as they wele stilI being utilized iu our wireless operations. Depreciation of capital lease assets is included itr "Depreciatiou and

amortization" in the Consolidated Statenrents of Operations.
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5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

AtDecenrl¡er31 ,2016and20I5,thegrossvalueofgoodwillwas$I4.3million.AS0.I tnillionreductionincanyingvaluewas
recorded for the yeal ended Decetriber 3 I , 20 I 5, No inrpairment losses were recognized in goodwill for the years ended Decetnber 31,

2016 or 2015.

Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

As of Dece¡rbet 37,2016 a¡d 2015, intangible assets subject to anrortizatiotr consisted of customet'relationships. Fol theyeat's ended

Decer¡ber. 3l,2016,20 15, and 2014, no impailment losses wet'e recognized on intangible assets subject to aurottization.

Summarized below are the carrying values fbr the intangible assets subject to amortization:

\\'cightetl-

Avcragc Dcccmbcr 3l , 201 6 Dcccnrbcr 31, 2015

Lilc in Gross Carr¡'ing Àccutnulattd Gross Cal'rf ing Acctrmulatcd

(rlollars in rnillions) \'r¿u.s Anrount Anrortization Arnount ,{.mortizâtion

Customer lelationsh ips - E,utertait-rtnelrt an d

Communications l0 $ Z.O $ 7.0 $ 70 $ 6'8

Amortization expense f'or intangible assets subjectto arnortization was $0.2 million in2016, $0.3 million in 20 15, and $0.4 million in
2014.
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6. Debt and Other Financing Arrangements

The Courpany's debt consists of the following:

ldollars in millions)

Current portion of long-telrn debt:

Cot'pot'ate Credit Agreernent - Tranche B Term Loan

Capital lease obligations and other debt

Curreut portion of long-term debt

Long-term debt, less curretìt portion:

Receivables Facility

Corporate Credit Agleemetrt - Tranche B Term Loan

8 ¡/s% Senior Notes due 2020

7 tlq% Senior Notes due 2023

7x Senior Notes due 2024

Various Cincinnati Bell Telephone notes

Capital lease obligations and other debt

Net unarnottized premium (discount)

I Jr-ranrortized note issuauce costs

Long-term debt, less current poltiorr

Total debt

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

f)ccclnber'31,

2016 2015

$ $

7.5

).4

8.4

7.5 1 3,8

89.5

3 15.8

t7.6

522.5

478.5

26.322.3

625.0

87.9

62.0

128.7

59.9

t,202.5

8.5

( 1r .e)

I,233.5

(1.7)

(8.0)

t,r99.t 1,223.8

$ 1,206.6 s t,237.6

Corporate Credit Agreement

Rev olvin g Cre di t Fac i I i ty

Irr the fourth quarter of 20l2,the Company entered ilrto a new credit agreement ("Corporate Cledit Agreement") which provided fol a

$200.0 millio¡ revolving credit facility, with a sublimit of $30.0 rnillion for letters of credit and a $25.0 rnilliorr sublirnit for swingline

loans. Effective with the sale of 16.0 million partnership units of CyrusOne, LP in the second qualter of 2014, the amouut available

under the Cor.por.ate Cl.edit Agreernent's revolving credit facility was reduced to $150.0 nlillion, However, the Cornpany entet'ed into

a¡ I¡crer.¡ental Assumption Agreeurent to the Company's existing Cot'porate Cledit Agleer.uent in the second quarter of 2015, and

effective with the sale of 14.3 million CylusOne LP opelating partnership units in the second quatter of 2015, the aggl'egate available

borr.owings on the Corpor.ate Credit Agreement's levolving credit faciliry was adjusted to $175.0 million. In the second quarter of
2016,t1.rc Contpa¡y amencled the Corporate Creclit Agreernent to leduce the aggregate revolving commitments available under the

revolving credit faciliry to $150.0 million, nrodifi certain financial coveuants and related definitions governing leverage ratios and

capital expenditur.es, and extend the maturify date of the revolving credit facilÍty to Januaty 2020. As a lesult of the amendutent, the

Company r.ecot.ded a $1.7 rnillion Ioss on extinguishment of debt in the second quarter of 2016. Bollowings undet'the Colporate C[edit

Agreenre¡t's r.evolving credit facility will be used to provide ongoing worlcing capital and fol other geueral corporate pufposes of the

Cornpany. Availability under the Colpolate Cledit Agleement's levolving cledit facility is subject to customary borlowing conditions.

Borrowings u¡der. the Colpolate Cledit Agleement's revolving credit facilify bear interest. at the Com¡lany's election, at a l'ate per

a¡num equal to (i) LIBOR plus the applicable margin or (ii) the lrase rate plus the applicable tnargin. The applicable margin for

advarrces under the revolving facility is based ou certain financial latios and t'anges between 3.00% artd3.50o/o for LIBOR rate

advarrces and2.00%"ard2.50u/oforbaserateadvances.AsofDecember3l,20l6,theapplicablemarginwas3.50%forLIBORrate
advarrces and2.50%oforbaserateadvances.Baserateisthehigherof(i)thebanl<primeLate,(ii)theone-¡notrthLIBORrateplus
I .00% and (iii) the fedel.al funds late plus 0.5%. At December 3 l, 2016, there we|e no outstanding bolr'owings under the Corporate

Cledit Agleernent's tevolving credit faciliry.

Antendntenlfor 7)'anche B Terttt Loan l:acility
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In the thir.d qual.tel. of 2013, the Corrrpany aureuded and restated its Corporate Cledit Agleement to include a $540.0 million Tranche B

Telnr Loan facility ("Tranche B Term Loan") that nratut'es in the third qual'tel' of 2020.
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The Contpany received $529.8 million in net proceeds from the Tranche B Ternt Loan after deducting the original issue discount, fees

and expenses. These ploceeds were used to redeem all of the Company's $5 00.0 m illio n I I lqyo Senior Notes due 2017 (" 8 l/+7o Senior'

Notes") in tlre fourth qual'ter of 2013 at a ledemption price of 104.125%., including paytrent of accrued interest thel'eon totaling $20.6

r¡illion.

TIre Tranche B Telm Loan rvas issued with 0.75o/o of original issue discount. Loans undet'the Tranche B Telm Loau beat' interest, at the

Conrpany's election, af a rafe per annum equal to (i) LIBOR (subject to a 1 .00% floor) plus 3.00% or (ii) the base rate plus 2.00Vn. Base

rate is the greatest of (a) the banl< prirne Íate, (b) the one-rrrouth LIBOR late plus 1 .00Yo attd (c) the fèderal flt nds rate plus 0.5 %. At

December 31,2016, the interest rate on the outstanding Tranche B Terur Loan was 4.00%.

In the f'ourth qual'ter of 20l6,the Company repaid $208.0 rrillion of its outstanding Tranche B Tenn Loan which resulted in a loss on

debt extinguishment of $2.2 lnillion.

I¡ accordance with the telms of the arrended Colpolate Cledit Agreernent, the Company's ability to make restricted payrnents, which

include sha¡e repurchases and collllnon stocl< dividends, is limited to atotal of $15.0 nlillion, with celtain perrnitted exceptions, given

that its Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined by the Corporate Cledit Agreement, exceeds 3.50 to 1.00 as of December 31,

2016. TheCornpanymayrnakel'estrictedpaymeutsof$45.0rnillionannuallywhentheConsolidatedTotal LeverageRatioislessthau

or.equal to 3.50 to 1.00. Thele ale no doltar linrits on l'estricted payments when the Consolidated Total Levelage Ratio is less than or

equal to 3.00 to I .00. These restlicted payntent lint itations do not impact the Company's ability to lnal<e regularly scheduled dividend

payments on its 6 3lqo/oCutnulative Convertible Preferred Stock. Furthermore, the Company tnay make restricted paynìents in the folm

ofshare lepulchases ol dividends up to 15% ofCyrusOne sale proceeds, subject to a $35.0 rnillion annual cap with canyovers subject

to the tenns and conditions set forth therein.

The Corpo¡ate Credit Agleement was also modified to provide that the Tranche B Ter¡n Loan participates itr lnaudatoly prepaylnents,

subject to the terms and conditions (including with lespect to payrnent priority) set forth in the restated Colporate Cledit Agreement. In

addition, the Corporate Credit Agreernent was modified to provide fhaf 85%o,l'ather than 1 00%, of proceeds ft'onl rnonetizing atly

portion of our CyrusOue coulmotl stocl< or CyrusOne LP paltnership units, are applied to trandatory prepaylnents under the restated

Cor.porate Credit Agreernent, subject to the terlns and conditions set forth therein. Othel revisions were also effected pttrsuant to the

amended agreetnent, including with respect to fiuancial covenallt compliauce levels.

Guarantors and Secut'iÍy InÍeresls, Corpot'aÍe Ct'edit Agreenrenl (lncluding Tt'anche B Term Loan)

All existing and futule subsidialies of the Conlpany (otherthan Cincinnati Bell Telephone Company LLC, Cincinnati Bell Funding

LLC (and any other sirnilar special purpose receivables financing subsidiary), Cincinnati Bell Shated Sel'vices LLC, Cincinnati Bell

Extended Territories LLC, and the Cornpany's jointventures, subsidiaries prohibited by applicable law fi'or¡ becoming guarantors and

foreign subsidiaries) al'e required to guaralltee borrowitrgs undel'the Colpolate Credit Agleernent. Debt outstanding under fhe

Co¡porate Cledit Agreernent is secured by perfected first priority pledges of and security interests in (i) substantially all of the eqLrify

interests of the Company's U.S. subsidiaries (other than subsidiaries of non-guarantors of the Corporate Credit Agreenrent) and 66o/'of
the equify intelests in the flrst-tiel foreign subsidiaries held by the Company and the guarantol's undet'the Cotpolate Cledit Agreement,

(ii) certain personal properfy ancl irrtellectual property ofthe Conrpany arrd its subsidiaries (other than that ofnon-guarantors ofthe
Corpo¡ate Cledit Agreenrent alrd certailr other excluded ploperty) and (iii) the Company's equity iltterests in CylusOne and CyrusOne

LP, both of which, togethel with their respective subsidialies, are treated as non-subsidialies of the Cornpany aud are not guat'antot's for
purposes of the Corporate Cledit Agreenrent.

Borrov,ings and ContmiÍtttent Fees, ()ot'porale Credit Agreentenl

As of Decembet'31,2016, the Cornpany had uo outstanding borrowings under the Corporate Credit Agreemertt's levolving ct'edit

facility, leaving $150.0 rnillion available. As of December 31,20 15, the Con.rpany had no outstanding bollowings undelthe Cotpolate

Credit Agreernent's t'evolving credit facility, leaving $175.0 million available.

The Company pays commitment fees for the unused arrount of borrowings on the Corporate Credit Agt'eetnent and lettel of cl'edit fees

on outstanding letters of credit. The commitment fees ale calculated based on the total leverage latio and t'ange betrveen 0.250V'and

0.500% of the actual claily arnount by which the aggregate revolving cotnlnittnents exceed the suln of outstanding revolving loaus and

letter of credit obligations. These fees were $0.8 million irt20l6 and $0.9 nrillion in 2015 and20l4.
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Accounts Receivable Securitization Facility

Cincinnati Bell Irrc. and certain of its subsidiaries lrave an accoullts receivable securitization facility ("Receivables Facility"), which

per.mits maximu¡r borrowings of up to $120.0 rnillion as of Decernber 31,2016. CBT. CBET, CBAD, Cincinnati Bell Any Distance of
Vir.ginia LLC, CBTS, and eVolve all participate in this facility. Cincinnati Bell Wireless ("CB'W") also palticipated in the facility until

it was withdrawn fr.onr the agr.eement during the second qual'ter of 2015. The available bolrowing capacity is calculated rnonthly based

on the quantity and quality of outstanding accounts receivable and thus ntay be lowet'than the lnaximum borrowing linlit. At

December 31,2016,the available bon'owing capaciry was $120.0 million

The transferors sell tl.reil respective trade receivables on a contiuuous basis to Cincinnati Bell Funding LLC ("CBF"), a wholly-owned

limited liability colnpany. In turn, CBF grants, without l'ecourse, a senior undivided interest in the pooled receivables to various

purchasers, i¡cluding cornnrercial papel conduits, in excharrge for cash while nlaintaining a subordinated undivided interest in the form

of over-collateralizafiot-t i¡ the pooled receivables. The tlansfelors have agreed to coutinue servicing the receivables for CBF at market

rates; accor.dilrgly, no selvicing asset or liability has beeu t'ecorded. Ilt the second quarter of 2016, the Company executed an

a¡rendnrent of its Receivables Facility, which replaced, amended and added celtain provisions and definitions to increase the cledit

availability,renewthefacilify,whichissubjecttolenewal every364 days,until May20lT,andextendthefacility'stellninationdateto
May 2019. During the second quarter of 2015, the Company amended the Receivables Facility to allow CBW to withdraw as a party

from the agreement and to be relieved of all of its lights and obligations thereunder. CBW was requiled to purchase celtain receivables

that it previously sold to cincinnati Betl Fundíng LLC. amounting to $1.7 nrillion.

Althouglr CBF is awholly-owned consolidated subsidiary of the Company, CBF is legatty separate from the Conr¡rany and each of the

Conrpany,s other subsidial.ies. Upon and aftel the sale or contribution of the accounts receivable to CBF, such accounts t'eceivable are

legally assets of CBF, altd, as such, are not available to cl'editols of other subsidiaries ot the pareut company.

Fol.the purposes of co¡solidated t'inancial reporting, the Receivables Facility is accounted for as secured financing. Because CBF has

the abiliry to prepay the Receivables Facility at any time by mal<ing a cash payment and effectively repurchasing the feceivables

tratrsferr.ed pursuant to the facility, the transfers do not qualify for "sale" tl'eatlnent on a cottsolidated basis under ASC 860, "Transfers

and Servicing."

Ofthetotal bo¡.owing capacity of$l20.0millionatDecember3l,2016,$Sg.5millionconsistedofoutstandingborrowingsand$6'3
nrillion consisted of outstanding lettels of cledit. Interest on the Receivables Facilify is based on the LIBOR late pltts 1.1%.The

aver.age interest l.ate on the Receivables Facilify was 1.3% itt2016. The Company pays letter of credit fees on the securitization facility

ancl also pays conrnritment fees on the unused poltion of the total facilify. These fees were $0.8 nlillion in2016,2015 and20l4-

7 I/.¡%u Notes due 2023

In I 993, the Cornpany issued $50.0 m illion of 7 | lqYo Notes due 2023 ('7 l/+o% Notes"). The 7 | l+o/o Notes rank ratably to the 77n senior'

notes due 2024 attd senior to the CBT Notes. The indenture lelated to theT tlqyoNotes does not subject the Company to restrictive

financial covenants, bgt it does co¡tailr a covenallt providing that if the Company incut's certain liens on its property ol assets, the

Conrpany must secu¡e the outstandin g7 | l+,'/" Notes equally and ratably with the indebtedness or obligations secured by such liens' The

liens u¡der the Corporate Credit Agreeurent have resulted in the detrt outstanding under the 7 l/¿%o Notes being secured equally and

ratably with the obligations secured under the Corporate Credit Agleernent. Intet'est on the

7 l/¿% Notes is payatrle serni-annually on June 15 and December 15. The Company may not call the 7 l/¿% Notes prior to rnaturify'

The indentur.e governing theT tl+%oNotes provides tbl custornary events of default, including fol failure to ural<e any paytnent when

due a¡d for.one or nlore defaults of any other existing debt instrurnents that exceeds $20,0 rnillion, in the aggregate.

During 20 15, the Cornpa¡y recleemed $13.7 rnillion of its outstandingT tltYoNotes at alt average redernption price of 99.853% which

resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $0. I m illion. The Company also repaid $4.0 million of its 7 l/¿o% Notes at a redetnption

price of 100.750% which resulted in a $0.1 million loss on extinguishment of debt during 2016.
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77o Senior Notes due 2024

Irr tlre t¡ird quartel. o12016,the Company issued in a private offeling 5425.0 million aggregate principal alnount of 77o senior notes

due2024 (,,70% Se¡iorNotes") at par'. The Cornpany issned an additional $200.0 million aggregate plincipal amount of 77o Senior

Notes at a price of I 05.000% in the foulth quarter of 2016. The 7o/o Seniol Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Compauy,

which r.ank equally in right of payment with all existing and futLrre unsecul'ed seniol debt of the Company. The 7%o Senior Notes will

be effectively subordinated to all existing and future seculed indebtedness ofthe Cornpany to the extent ofthe value ofthe assets

securing such indebtedness. The 7%c Serriol'Notes are gualanteed on a joint and several basis by certain of the Company's existing and

future domestic subsidiaries. Each such gual'antee is a seniol unsecured obligation of the applicable guarantor, rarrking equally with all

existing and future u¡secured seniol debt ofsuch guarantor and effectively subordinated to all existirtg and future secured indebtedness

ofsuchguarantorto the extent ofthe value ofthe assets securingthat indebtedness. The 7%osenior Notes are structurally subordinated

to all Iiabilities (iucluding trade payables) of each subsidiary of the Cornpany that does not gual'antee theT%o SeniorNotes.

Tl-te 7yo Se¡ior Notes bear interest at a t'ate of 7o/o per aullum, payable serni-annually on Jauuary I 5 and July 15 of each year, beginning

on Jannary 15,2017,to persons who ale registeled holdels of tl"teTo/o SeniorNotes on the iururediately preceding Janualy I and July l,
respectively.

Tl-te7%oSeniorNotes will mature on July 15,2024. F{owever, priorto Septernber 15,2019,the Conrpany tnay, at its option, redeetn

some or all of the 70% Senior Notes at a ledemption price equal to 100% of the plincipal amouut of the 7o/o Senior Notes, together with

accrued and unpaid interest, if any, plus a "rnal<e-whole" pretniurn. On or after September 15,2019, the Company ntay,at its option,

redeenr sol.ne or all of the 70% Sen ior Notes at any time at declining redemption prices equal to ( i) I 05.25 07o beginning on Septenrbet'

15,2019, (ii) 103.500%beginningon September-15,2020,(iii) 101.750o/obeginningon Septernbet'15,2021 and (iv) 100'000%

beginning on Septernber. 15,2022and theleafter', plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid itrtet'est, if any, to the applicable redenrption

date. In addition, bef'or.e September 15, 20lg,andsubjectto celtain conditions. the Cornpany may,af its option, t'edeem upto40o/oof

the aggr.egate pri¡cipal arrount of 7%o SeniorNotes with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings at 107.000% of the prirrcipal

amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, ifany, to the date ofredemption; plovided that (i) at least60%o ofthe aggregate

pr.i¡cipal auroullt of 7olo SeniorNotes remains outstanding and (íi) the redemptiotl occul's within 180 days of the closing of any such

equity offeling.

Tlre indenture gover.¡i¡g theTYo Senior Notes contaius covenallts including but not lirnited to the following: limitations on dividends

to shar.eowners ancl other restr.ictecl paynlents; dividend and other paylrent lestrictions afIècting the Cornpany's subsidiaries such that

the sul¡sidiaries are ge¡erally not pernritted to enter into an agreernent that would linrit their ability to make dividend payments to the

parent; issuance of indebteclness; asset dispositions; tlansactions with affitiates; liens; investrrretrts; issuances aud sales ofcapital stocl<

of subsidiaries; a¡d redernptio¡ of debt that is juniol in right of payrnent. The indentul'e govet'ning the l%o Senior Notes provides for

customaly events of defauit, including a cross-default plwision fol both uonpayurerlt at f inal uraturity ot'acceleration due to a default

of any other existing debt instrurnent that equals or exceeds $35 million.

Cincinnati Bell Telephone Notes

Irr I 998, CBT's predecessor issued $ 1 50.0 million in agglegate principal of 6.30%" unsecured sen ior notes due 2028 (the "CBT Notes"),

which are guar.anteed on a subordinated basis by the Company but not its subsidiaries, The indentule related to the CBT Notes does not

subject the Co¡.rpany or.CBT to restrictive financial covenants, but it does contain a covenant providing that if CBT inculs certain liens

o¡ its property or assets, CBT rnust secure the outstanding CBT Notes equally and ratably with the indebtedness o[ obligations secured

by such liens. The ¡raturify date of the CBT notes is in 2028, and the CBT Notes may be redeemed at alty tilîe at a rederrr¡ltion price

equal to the greater.of 100% of the principal alnount of the CBT Notes to be redeemed ot'the surn of the present values of the

remaining scheduled payments of prirrcipal and interest to nraturity, plus acøued interestto the redenrption date. The indenture

gover.ning the CBT Notes pr.ovides for.customary events of default, including fbr failure to make any payment when due and for one or

mol.e clefaults of any other existing debt instruments of the Company oI CBT that exceeds $20.0 million, in the aggt'egate.

During 2015, the Corrrpa¡y l.edeemed $5.8 million of its outstanding CBT Notes at all avel'age redemption price of 90.840% which

resulted in a gain on extinguishment of debt of $0.5 million. During 20l6,the Company ledeemed $40.8 million of its CBT Notes at

an aver.age r.edemption price of 92.232o/o wltich resulted in a gain on extinguishrnent of debt of $2.8 million.
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Capital Lease Obligations

Capital lease obligatiolts represent our obligatiorr fol cettairr leased assets, including vehicles and various equipnìent. These leases

generally coutain renewal oI buyout options,

Debt Maturity Schedule

The following table sumrnarizes our annual principal matru'ities of debt and capital Ieases for the five years subsequent to

Decenrber 31, 2016, and thereafter:

Capital 'Ibtal

Dcbt(dollars in millions)

Yeal ended December 31,

2017

201 I
20t9

2020

2021

Thereafter

Dcbt Lcascs

735.2

$

89.5

315.8

t,t40.7

8.5

(11.e)

r,210.0

8.5

(11.e)

7.3 $

6.4

6.3

4.4

3.5

41.4

7.5

6.4

95.8

320.2

3.5

776.6

0.2 $

69.3

Net unarnortized prerniutn

Unamol'tized note issuance costs

Total debt $ 1,137.3 $ 69.3 $ 1 ,206.6

Total capital lease paynrerrts including intelest are expected to be $l1.8 million for2017, $10.5 million for 2018, $10.0 rnillion fol
2019,57.9 million for 2020, $6.7 million for 2021 and $55.7 million thereafter.

As of March 31,2015,$54.5 million of capital lease obligations were letained by the Company in conjunction with discontinuing

wireless operations.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred fitrancing costs are costs iltcul'red in connection with obtaining long-term fìnancing and renewing revolving credit

agreements. Defe¡'ed financing costs are amortized on the effective interest nlethod. The Company itrcurred deferred financing costs of
$9.7 million it-t2016 r'elated to the issuance of theTo/o SeniorNotes. Ln2016 and2015, deferred financing costs incurred for amending

and renewing revolving creclit agreerreuts were $2.0 rnillion and $0.4 milliorr, respectively. The Company wlote-off defelred financing

costs associatecl with the extinguishment of debt of $5.9 million, $3.7 rnillion and $3.4 million in2016,2015 and 2014, respectively.

TheCornpanyretlospectivelyadoptedAsU20l5-03,simplifyingthePresentationofDebtlssuanceCosts,effectiveJanuary 1,2016,

Atthe tiure of adoption the Conrpany rnade a one-tinre policy election to recold costs iucurred in connection with obtaining revolving

cr.eclit agreements as an asset. As of December 31,2016 and 20 15, deferred financing costs t'ecol'ded to "Othet'non-curl'ent assets"

totaled $2.1 nlillion and $ì3.2 million, r'espectively. Arnoltization of deferl'ed fìnancing costs, included in "lnterest experlse" in the

Consolidated Statemeuts of Opelations, totaled $3.0 miltion in2016, $4.1 million in 2015, and $5.1 million in2014.

Debt Covenants

C orp or ate Cre di t t1 gre e nt e nÍ

The Corporate Credit Agleement has financial covenants that require the Cornparry to nraitrtain cet'tain leverage and interest covel'age

ratios and cornply with annual lirnitations on capital expenditures. As of December31,20l6,these ratios and lirnitations include a

maximum consolidated total leverage ratio of 5.50, a maxirrrum consolidated senior secured leverage ratio of 3.50, a minimun.t

consolidated inter.est coverage ratio of I .50 and a 2016 maximum capital expenditule linlitation of $30 I .4 million. Capital expenditut'es

are per.rrritted subject to pledetermined annual thlesholds which are rrot to exceed $498.6 rnillion in the aggïegate over the next three

years. In 2016, capiÍal expenditures fol the Contpany totaled 5286.4 nillion. In addition, the Corpot'ate Credit Agleenrent cotrtains

custolnaly affirmative and pegative covenallts inctuding, but not limited to, restrictions on the Cornpany's ability to itrcur additional
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indebtedness, create lie¡s, pay dividends, make certain iuvestnrents, prepay other indebtedness, sell, trattsfer, lease, or dispose ofassets

and enter into, or undertake, certain liquidations, melgels, consolidations or acquisitions.
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Tlre Corporate Credit Agleernent contains custolrary events of default (which are iu sotrre cases subject to certain exceptions,

thresholds and grace periods), including, but not limited to, nonpaylnent of principal or interest, failtrre to perfornt ot'observe

or.proceedings, final rnonetary judgments ol orders, ERISA defaults, invalidity of loan documents ol'guarantees, and cel'tain change of
control events. If the Comparly were to violate any of its covenants and were unable to obtain a waiver, it would be considered a

default. lf the Company wel'e in default under the Corporate Cledit Agreernent, no additional borlowings under this facility would be

available until the default was waived ot' cured.

The Tranche B Teun Loan is subject to the same affinnative and negative covellatlts and events of default as the Colporate Cl'edit

Agreeurent, except that a breach ofthe financial covenants will not result in an event ofdefault under the Tranche B Tertlr Loan unless

and until the agent ol a rnajorify in interest of the lenders under the Corporate Credit Agreement have tenrrinated the comtnitlnents

under the Corporate Credit Agreenrent ol accelelated the Ioans then outstanding uttder the Corpolate Credit Agreement in respotrse to

such bleach.

I nde ntures

The Conrpany's debt is govelned by indentules which contajn covenants that, among othel things, linlit the Courpany's ability to incur

additional debt or liens, pay dividends or ntake other restricted paytnents, sell, transfer', lease, or dispose of assets and make

investments or nlerge with anothe¡' conlpany.

One of the financial covellallts pelnrits the issr¡ance of additional Iudebtedness up to a 5:00 to 1:00 Consolidated Adjusted Senior'Debt

to EBITDA ratio (as defined by the individual indenture). Once this ratio exceeds 5:00 to 1:00, the Cornpany is not in default;

however, additional indebtedness nray only be incurled in specified pelmitted basl<ets, including a basket which allows $750.0 rnillion

of total Colpolate Credit Agleernent debt. Also, the Company's ability to rnake Restt'icted Payments (as defined by the individual

indenture) would be limited, including commolr stock dividend payrnents or repurchasitlg outstanding Cotnpany shal'es. If the

Company is undel the 5:00 to l:00 r'atio on a plo fblrna basis, the Colnpany may access its l'estlicted payments basket, which plovides

the ability to repurchase shares or pay dividends. ln addition, the Company rnay designate one ol'nrore of its subsidiaries as

Unrestr.icted (as defined in the various indentures) such that any Unrestticted Subsidiary (as defined iu the various indentures) would

ge¡erally not be subject to the l'estrictions of these valious indentures. Howevet; ceftain provisio¡ts which govel'n the Cornpany's

lelationship with Unrestricted Subsidiaries would begin to apply.

Extinguished Notes

Dur.ing 2014, tl.te Coln¡tany ledeemed $22.7 million of its outstanding 8 3/s% Senior Notes due 2020 1"8 
3lf/o Senior Notes") at par

which resnlted in a $0.2 rnillion loss on extinguishnrent of debt associated with discontinued opet'ations. During 20l5,the Company

purclrased $182.7 rnillion of its outstandingS3lzo/o SeniorNotes at an average redenrption plice of 105.543V' which resulted in

recor.ding a loss on extinguishnrent of debt of $10.9 urilfion. Duling 2016, the Conrpany repaid the remaining $478.5 million

outstarrding on the 8 3/s%o SeniorNotes at an avel'age price of 103,328%, r'esulting in a $17.8 million loss on extinguishmeut of debt.

It"t20l4,the Cornpany redeemed $325.0 million of its 8'Ao/oSenior Subordinated Notes due 2018 af a redenrption price of 104.37sy:o.

As a r.esult of the r.eclentptio¡, the Cornpany lecorded a debt extinguishment loss of $19.4 million. Additionally, in 2015, the Conlpany

r.edeemed the remaining $300.0 million of outstandingS%''/o Senior SubordinatedNotes dLle 20 l8 at a redemption rate of 102. 188%.

As a result, the Company lecorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $10.4 rnillion.

84

https://wvwv.sec.gov/Arch¡ves/edgar/data/71 61 33/000071 6'1 331 7OO0O07 lcbb1231 201 6-l 0k.htm#s2C88974C39C75F3D865CD349138904C2 111 1178



711812017

.lì-Þl-c--ql!q!¿tr

F'olnr 10-l( Part II

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

7, Conrmitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Conrnritnlents

The Conrpany leases certain circuits, facilities, and equiprnent used in its operations, Operating lease expetrse was $9.6 million, $ l0.l
mitlion and $7.4 million in2016,20t5 and 2014, respectively. In 2015, our letail stores, which wele previously used to suppot't our

wireless operations, wele re-branded to suppolt the growth of our Fioptics suite of ploducts. Rent expense associated with our retail

locatio¡s totaled $0.6 million and $0.8 nt illion in 2016 and 20 I 5, respectively. Celtain facility leases provide fot' renewal options with

fixed rent escalatious beyond the initial lease tet'm.

At Decernber 31,2016, futule l¡inimurn lease paymeuts required under operating leases having initial ol t'etnaining non-cancellable

Iease teuls for the next five years at'e as follows:

(dollars in millions)

2017

201 8

20t9

2020

2021

Theleafter'

Total

(dollals in nrillionsl

Balance, beginning of peliod

Asset retilement obligations reclassified fronl discontinued opelations

Liabilities settled

Revision to estilnated cash flow

Accretion expeltse

Balance, end of ¡reriod

$ 4.1

2.9

2.6

2.3

2.2

19.8

$ 33.9

Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirernent obligations exist fol cel'tain othel assets. As of March 31,2015, certain asset t'etirement obligations related to out'

wireless towel's were leclassified to continuing operations as tlie obligations relate to tower leases letained by the Company. The

following table plesents the activity for the Compally's asset retirement obligations, which ale included in "Other nollcurrent

liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Dccernbcr 31,

2016 20l s

$ 4.8$

(2.0)

(1.1)

0.1

1.6

10.9

(s.0)

(2.e)

0.2

$ 1,8 $ 4.8

Indem n ifications

During the ¡ormal coulse of business, the Conrpany r.uakes certait.t indelnnities, colnnritments, and guaratltees utrder which it rnay be

required to make payments in lelation to certain transactions.'lhese include (a) intellectual property indemnities to cttstomers in

co¡nection with the use, sale, and/or license of products and services, (b) indernnities to custotnels in connection with losses incurl'ed

while ¡rerforming services on their pleurises, (c) indenrnities to vendors and service providels pertaining to claitrs based on negligence

or.willful misconduct of the Cornpany, (d) indernnities involving the rept'esentations and wal'ranties in certain contt'acts, and (e)

outstandirrg lettels of creditwhich totaled $6.3 nrillion as of Decembet 31,2016.1n addition, the Conrpany has nlade contractual

conrmitments to several employees ploviding fbr payments upon the occurt'ence of certain plescribed events. The rnajority of these

indernnities, cor.¡rritrnents, ancl guarantees do not provide for auy lirnitation on the maxitnum potential for future payments that the

Courpany could be obligated to Inal<e.
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As perntitted u¡der Ohio law, the Conrpany has agreements rvheteby the Company indemnifies its officers and dilectols for certain

events o¡ occurrences while the offìcel or director is, ol was, serving at the Cornpany's request in such capacify. The terrn of the

indernr.rification period is for the lifetirne of the ofÏcel ol director. The maximutn potential amoullt of futute payments the ComPany

could be r.equired to make undel these indernnification agreements is unlirnited; howevet', the Colnpany has a dit'ector and officet'

insura¡ce policy that limits the Company's exposure and enatrles the Company to recoveL a poltion of any future alroullts paid. As a

r.esult of the Company's insurance policy covelage, the Company believes the estimated fàir value of these indemnification agreements

is rninilnal. The Cornpany has no liabilities recorded for these agreetnetrts as of Decetnber'31,2016 ot'20 15.

Purchase Commitments

The Cornpany has noncancellable purchase commitrnents related to certain goods and services. These agt'eements typically t'ange'ft'om

oneto threeyears. As of December 31 ,2016 and 2015, the rninimum courtritlrtellts for these alrallgelllellts were approxirnately $191

rnillio¡ and $ 1 66 ¡lillion, respectively. The Conrpany genelally has the right to cancel opeu purchase orders prior to delivery and to

tenninate the contlacts without cause.

Litigation

Cinci¡nati Bell and its subsidiaries are subject to various lawsuits, actiotrs, ploceedings, clairns and othel'mattet's assefted under laws

and regulations i¡ the nolmal coulse of business. We believe the liabilities acct'ued for legal contingencies in our consolidated financial

statelneuts, as prescribed by GAAP, ale adequate in light of the probable and estimable contiugencies, However, there can be no

assut.ances that the actual arnounts required to satis|l alleged liabilities ft'om various legal ltroceedings, claims, tax examinations, and

other matters, and to contply with applicable laws and regulations, will not exceed the antounts reflected in our consolidated financial

statenrer1ts. As such. costs, if any, that nray be incurt'ed in excess of those atnounts provided as of Decetrber 31,2016, cannot be

leasot'rably detet'mined.
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8, Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The callyirrg values of our financial instruments do not tnaterially differ front the estirnated fair values as of December 31 ,2016 and

20 15, except for the Cornpany's long-tet'm debt.

The calrying value and fail value of the Cornpany's long-term debt is as lollows:

Dcccmbel' 31 , 201 6 Dcccmbo' 31, 2015

Carrying Value Fair Valur: Carrying Valuc Fair Valuc

t,t49.2 1,t77 .9 I,t78.0 t,155.6

The fair value of debt instrurnents was based on closing ol' estirllated tnarket prices of the Cornpany's debt at December 3 I , 20 1 6 and

20 15, which is considered Level 2 of the fairvalue hielarchy.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Certain long-lived assets, intangibles, and goodwill are required to be ureasured at fair value on a lron-t'ecurring basis subsequent to

their initial measurellletlt. These non-r'eculling fail'value nleasurements genelally occur wlren evidence of impairment has occut'red. In

20 l6 and 2015, no assets were remeasured at fair value. During 20l4,the f'ollowing assets were t'etneasured at fair value in connection

with impairmellt tests:

Fail Value N'lcasurcrncnfs LIsi

Quoted Priccs in
¡\ctivc Nlarl<cts

for Idcnfical
Asscts (Lcvcl l)

(dollals in millions)

Long-terni debt, including cun'ent poltion*

*Excludes capital leases and note issuance costs.

(dollars iu rnillions)

Property:

Office software, fitt'nitule, fixtut'es, & vehicles
(Entertaintrent aud Conrmunications)

lnrpairment of assets

Ycar Endrtl
I)cccnrbct'31,

2014

Signifirant Othe r'

Obscrvablc
Inputs (I.cvcl 2)

Significanf
lJnobsclvablc

Inpufs (Lcvcl 3)
Inr pairnrent

Losscs

$ (4.6)

$ (4.6)

\n 2014, certain software projects for oul Entertainrnent and Conrmuuications segnletlt wel'e abatldolted. These assets had no fair value,

as they were no longer being used, resulting in an impairment loss of $4,6 rnillion in2014. Historically, management used the income

approach to determine fair value ofthe assets, but since the assets will not be used in the future, there are no expected future earrrings

ath.ibutable and the entire value of the assets was impailed. This fair value lneasuremeut is collsidered a Level 3 measuremetlt due to

tlre signifìcance ofits unobservable inputs.
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9. Pension and Postrctit'ement Plans

Savings Plans

The Contpany spollsors several defined contribution plans covering substantially alI employees. The Company's contributious to the

plans are based on matching a portion of the employee contlibntions. Both ernployet' and employee contlibutions are invested in

var.ious invest¡nent funds at the direction of the employee. Employer-contributions to the defined contribution plans were $8.4 milliotl,

$7.0 million, and $6.4 million in2016,2015, and 2014, tespectivefy.

Pension and Postretil'ement Plans

The Co¡tpany sponsors three notrcontributory defined benefit pension plans: oue for eligible management enrployees, one for notr-

mauagelnent employees, and one supplerrental, nonqualilied, unfunded plan fol certain forlner senior executives. The Inanagement

pension plan is a cash balance plan in which the pension benefit is detelmined by a cornbination of conrpensation-based credits and

annual guar.anteed intelest cledits. The non-management pensiou plan is also a cash balance plan in which the combination of service

andjob-classificatio¡-based credits and annual interest cledits deternriue the pension benefit. During the second quarterof2015, the

non-management pension plan was aurended to elinrinate all futule pension cl'edits and transition benefits. As a lesult, we recognized a

cur.tailment loss of $0.3 millio¡ and a $1.7 million reduction to the associated pension obligations. Benefits for the supplernental plan

are based on eligible pay, adjusted fol age and selvice upon retiret.nent. We fund both the lratlagelnetlt and notr-uratragelllellt plans in

an ilrevocable trust through contributions, which are cletennined using the traditional unit credit cost method. We also use the

traditional unit credit cost method for determining pension cost for financial reporting purposes.

The Contpany also provides healthcale and group life insurance benefits fol eligible retirees. We fund healthcare benefits and other

group life insur.ance benefits nsing Voluntary Enrployee Benefit Association ("VEBA") tlusts. It is out'practice to firnd alllounts as

deenred appr.op¡iate froln time to time. Contributions are subject to Internal Reveuue Service ("lRS") limitatiorls developed using the

traditional u¡it credit cost method. The actuarial expellse calculation fol'oul'postt'etiremeut health plan is based on numerous

assurnptions, estirnates, and judgments inctuding healthcare cost trend l'ates and cost shal'ing with letirees. Retiree healthcare benefits

are being phased out for both uratragetnent and cet'taitr retirees.

Conrpouents of Net Periodic Cost

The followi¡g info¡nation relates to noncolrtl'ibutory defned beneft pension plans, postt'etit'elleut healthcare plans, and life iltsut'auce

benefìtplans. Apploximately 13Y'în2016, 12% in2015, andS%oit't2014 of thesecostswere capitalizedtoproperty,plantand

equipnte¡t related to network construction in the Entertainrrent and Corrr¡unications segment. Peusiou and postretirenteut benefit

costs for these plans were compt'ised of:

Pcnsion llcncfits Postrctil'crncnt ¡ntl Othcr Bcncfits

ldollats in rnillions)

Selvice cost

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation

Expected retul'n on plau assets

Arnoltizatiou of:

Prior sen¡ice cost (benefit)

Actuarial loss

Curtailmeut loss

Pension/postletirement cost (benefit)

0.3 $

19.0

(2e.2)

1.0 $

21.0

(28. r )

0.3 $

-).J

0.3 $

J.J

0.3

4.0

$

2016

19.3

(27.3)

2015 2014 2016 201 5 2014

$

0.1

l9.l
0.1

24.9

0.3

0.2

17.3

(14.7)

4.9

( 15.4)

5.4

( r 5.4)

5.4

$ ll.2 $ ls.+ $ 1t.4 $ (6.2) $ (6.4) $ (5.7)
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The following are the weighted-average assumptiorls used in measut'iug the net periodic cost of the pension and postretirement

ben efits:

Pcnsion Bcncfits Postrctircmcnt and Othcr Bencfits

2016 20r5 2014 2016 20 l5 20t4

Discount rate

Expected long-term t'ate of return

Future compeusation growth rate

ldollars in ¡nillions)

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at January l,
Service cost

lntelest cost

Actuarial gain

Benefits paid

Retiree dlug sLrbsidy received

Other

Benefit obligation at Decenrber 31,

Change in plan assets:

Fair value ofplan assets at Januaty 1,

Actual leturn (loss) on plall assets

Etnployer contributi ons

Retiree drug subsidy t'eceived

Benefits paid

Fait' value of plan assets at Decentber 3 I ,

Unfunded status

19.3

(2.7)

(4 r .s)

s s77.3

0.3

19.0

( l 8.8)

(47.3)

93.r $

0.3

-).J

(4.7)

( r3. r)

0.6

3.1

109.0

0.3

3.3

(r 0.e)

(t2.1)

0.2

3.9

3.80%

7.50Vo

3.40Y" *

1 1<O/

4.20Yo

7 .7 5'/r

3.70Y" 3.40% 4.10%

* Discount l'ate used for the remeasurellterlt of the non-rnanagerlrerìt pettsiotr plan irr Aprit 20.l5 was cottsistentwith the discount rate

previously established.

The expected long-term rate of leturn on plan assets, developed using the building block apploach, is based on the mix of itrvesttneuts

held directly by the plans and the current view of expected future l'eturns, which is influenced by historical averages. Changes in actual

asset retul'n experience and discount l'ate assulnptions can ilnpact the Conrpany's operating t'esitlts, financial position and cash flows.

Benelìt Obligation and Funded Status

Changes in the plans'benefit obligations and funded status are as lollows:

Pcnsion Bcncfits
Postrctirctncnt and Othcr

Rencfits

2016

$ 530.s

2015 ztJ16 20I5

$

$ s05.6 $ s:o.s $ 82.6 $ 93.1

$ 378.1 $

3 0.3

5.4

424.3

( 10.5)

r 1.6

10.3 $

0.3

r0.6

0.6

(13.r)

I 1.0

0.1

11.7

0.2

(12.7)

$

(41.s) (47.3)

3 / Z.-) 378.1 8.7 10.3

$ (r33.3) $ (rs2.4) $ (73.e) $ (82.8)
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The following are the weighted-average assrìl-nptions used in accounting for and measul'it.tg the projected benefit obligations

Pcnsion Bcncfits

Cincinnati Bell Inc

Posf retirc¡nent and Ofher
Benclits

Deccmbcr 31, Decentbcr 31,

2016

4.000/,

7.50Yo

3.80%

7.75Yr

2015 2Ût6 2015

The assumed healthcare cost trend rate used to measure the postretirement health benefit obligation is shown below

2016

Discount late

Expected long-terrn l'ate of l'eturn

Fntule compensation growth rate

ldollars in rnillions)

Acclued payroll and benefits (culrent liability)

Pension alld postreti relnent beuefìt obl i gations (trotrcurrent l iabitity)

Total

(dollars in rnillions)

Prior selvice (cost) benefit, net oftax of($0.1), ($0.1 ), $I 0.6, $1 5.8

Actualial loss, net of tax of ($81.6), ($90,4), ($19.7). ($23.0)

Total

2.1 $

13t.2

9,4 S

64.5

10. I

72.7

4.00% 3.70Yr

l)cccml¡cr 31,

2015

Healthcare cost trend

Rate to which the cost trend is assulned to decline (ultirnate tlend rate)

Year the rates leach the ultimate tl'end t'ate

ldollars in millions)

Service and intelest costs for 20 I 6

Postletiler¡ent benefit obligation at Decembel' 31,2016

The projected benefit obligation is recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows

6.5%

4.s%

2021

65%

45%

2020

A one-percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost ttetrd rates would have the following effect on the postt'etit'enlent benefit

costs and obligation:

l7o Incleasc l7u Dccrcast

$ 0.2 $

3.2

(0.1)

(2.e)

Pension Benefits
Postrctircmcnt and Othcr

Bcnrfits

Dcccmbcr 31, Dcrcnrbcr 31,

2016 201 5 2016 2015

$ 2.1

150.3

$

$ 133.3 $ 1s2.4 $ Z:.S $ SZ.S

Amounts recognized in "Accurnulated other complehensive loss" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets which have notyet been

recognized in net pension costs cotlsisted of the following:

Pcllsion Bcnclìts
Postrctilcmcnt and Othcr

Bcncfits

.Dcccmbcr 31, Dcccmbe r 31,

2016 2015 2016 2015

$ (0,1) $

(14r.8)

(0.2) $

( r s7.8)

l9.t $

(34.8)

28.6

(40.e)

$ (r4r.e) $ (158.0) $ (ts.z) $ (12.3)
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Dcccnrbtr 31,
2016

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Anrounts recognized iu "Accurnulated other courprehensive loss" on the Consolidated Statetnents of Slrat'eorvtlel's' Deficit and the

Consolidated Staternents of Courprehertsive IncoÌne are shown below:

Pension Bcncfits
Postrctircment ¿nd

Othcr Bcnefits

(dollars in rnillions)

Plior selvice cost recognized:

Reclassifi cati on adjustments

Actuarial (loss) gain t'ecognized:

Recl assifi cation adjustm ents

Actuarial gain (loss) arising during the period

(doll¿rs in millions)

Plior selvice benefit

Actuarial loss

Total

lclollars iu millions)

Mutnal firnds

U.S. equity index funds

Intelnational equity index funds

Fixed income bond funds

Fixed incoure short-tertn lnoney marl(et funds

Group insurauce coutract

Total

2016 201 5 2016 2015

$ o.r $ 0.4 $ (14.7) $ (1s.4)

t9.l
5.7

5.4

10.9

24.9

(20.e)

Prnsion Bcnclifs

Postrctiretncnt
and Othcr

Br:rrcfits

4.9

4.5

The following anloqnts cur.rently included in "Accumulated othel cornprehensive loss" at'e expected to be [ecognized in2017 as a

corl'rponerlt of net periodic pensioll and postl'etirement cost:

$ $

16.5

(4.s)

4.3

$ f6.5 $ (0.2)

Plan Assets, Investmcnt Policics and Strategies

The primary investment objective for the trusts holding the assets of the pensiorl and postretiretnent plans is preservation of capital

with a reasonable alnount of long-telm growth and incorne without undue exposure to risl<. This is provided by a balanced strategy

using fixed i¡coure and equily securities. The target allocations fot' the pension plan assets aïe 650/0 equity securities artd 35o/o

inveit¡rent grade fixed income seculities. Equity securities are plirnarily held in the form of passively matraged funds that seel< to track

the performa¡ce of a benchnrark index. Equity securities include investlnents in growth and value common stocks of compauies

locatedintheUnitedStates,whichrepresentsapploxirnately 600/ooftheequitysecuritiesheldbythepensionplansatDecember'31,
20 l6 as well as stocl< of inte¡lational companies located in both devetoped and etnet'gitrg markets at'ound the world. Fixed income

secur.ities prinrarily include holdings of funds, which generally invest in a variety of intermediate and long-term investtrrent grade

corporate bo¡ds frorn diversified industries. The postletirernent plan assets are currently invested in a group insut'atrce contract'

The fair values of the pe¡sion plan assets at December 31,2016 and 20 l5 by asset category are as follows:

Quotcd Priccs
in active
rnal'l<cts
Level I

Significant
obselvablc

in pu ts
Lcvcl 2

Significa n t
unobscn'ablc

inpufs
L,cvcl 3

$ 142.7 $

95.6

123.9

10.1

8.7

142,7 $

95.6

123.9

10.I

$

$ 381.0 $ 372.3 $ $
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(dollars in rnillions)

Mutual funds

U.S. equiry index funds

Intet'national equity index funds

Fixed incotne bond funds

Gror,rp insurance contract

Total

ldollars in rnillious)

2017

201 8

2019

2020

2021

Yearc 2022 - 2026

Document

f)cccnrbcr 31,
2015

Quoted I'riccs
in activc
markets
Lcvcl I

Significant
o bscrvablc

inputs
Lcvcl 2

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Significant
unobscwablc

in puts
L,cvcl 3

$ 147.8 $

97.0

133.3

10.3

147.8 $

97.0

r33.3

$

$ 3 88.4 $ :ZS. t $ $

The fair values of Level I investrnents are based ol1 quoted prices in active l.tlarl(ets.

The grogp i¡surance contract is valued at coutl'act value plus accrued intelest and has not been i¡rcluded in the faif value hierafchy, but

is included in the totals above.

Contlibutions to our qualifìed pension plans were $3.1 nrillion in 20 16, $10.3 rnillion in 20 15, and $19.7 million in2014.

Contributions to our l'ìon-qualified pension plau wele $2.3 million in2016, $2.2 million in 2015 and $2.3 million irt2014.

Basecl o¡ current assunrptio¡s, contributions to qualified and non-qualified pension plans in 2017 are expected to be appfoxitnate[y $2

million each. Managernent expects to mal<e cash payments of apploximately $9 million related to íts postletirernent health plans in

2017.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefìt payments, which leflect expected firtule selvice, as appropriate, are expected to be paid over the next ten yeat's:

Pcnsion
ììcn cfifs

Pt¡stlctil'c¡ucnt
aud Othcr
Bcnrlìts

N'Icdica re
Subsidy
Rcccipts

$ 42.1 $

41.8

40.2

39.8

38.1

169.5

e.e $

9.2

7.8

7.0

b./

28.1

(0.5)

(0.s)

(0.4)

(0.4)

(0.4)

( t.4)
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I0. Shareowners'Deficit

Conrmon Shares

The parvalue of the Corrrpany's common shares is $0.01 per share. AtDecember 31,2016 and 2015, contnton shares outstandingwere

42,056,237 and 4 1,97 5,390, r'espectively.

Irr 20 10, the Boar.d of Dir.ector.s applovecl a plan fbr lepurchase of up to $150.0 million of the Conrpany's common shat'es. In 2016,fhe

Conrpany repurchased and retired approximately 0,2 nlillion shales of its conll.noll stock for'$4.8 rrlilliorl at alt average price of $19.67

perslrare. In20l5 ard20l4,noshareswelerepurchasedorretiredunderthisplan.AsofDecenrber3l,20l6,theCompanyhadthe
authority to reput'chase 5124.4 million of its cournron stocl<.

The Cornpany pr.eviously had a cleferred cornpensation plan for celtain executives of the Colnpany. The executive deferl'ed

compensatior.rplanwasterminatedinthefourthquarterof20 15. AtDecernber31,2015,treasut'ysharesofconrnronstockheldunder
theplanwerenominal,withatotal costof$0.5rnillion. Inthefourthqualtet of2016,all amountsdueundertheplanwel.edistributed

to plan participarìts.

Preferred Shares

The Conrpany is author.ized to issue 1 ,357,299 shales of voting preferled stocl< without par value and 1,000,000 shares of uot.tvotiug

pr.efer.red stocl( without par. value. The Company issued I 55 ,250 voting shares of 6 3lf/o cumu lative convet'tible ¡rrefelred stocl< at

statedvalue.Thesesharesweresubsequentlydepositedintoatlustinwhichtheunderlying 155,250 sharesareequivalentto3,l05,000

de¡rositary shar.es. Strares of this preferled stocl< can be convelted at any time atthe option of the holder into cotrllnon stock of the

Conrpany at a conversio n t'ate of 5 .7 676 shares of the Company common stocl( per one share of 6 3ltV" curnulative convertible

pr.efer.red stocl<. Annual dividends of $67.50 per shale (or $3.3752 per depositary share) on the outstandirry63l+o/o conveltible

pr.efe¡.ed stocl< are payable quat'terly in allears in cash, ol in courtlon stock in cer-tain cit'cumstances if cash payment is not legally

pernritted. The liquidation preference on the 6 3lq'/ocutnulative corrveltible prefelred stock is $1,000 per share (oL $50 per depositary

share). Tlre Company paid $10.4 million in preferred stock dividends in 2016,2015,and2014.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Shareowners' deficit i¡cludes an acculrulated other cornplehensive loss that is comprised of pension and postretiletnent uurecoguized

prior.service cost and uurecognized actuarial losses, unlealized gains on investment in CyrusOne and foreign currency translation

losses,
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Fortheyeals ended Decernber 31,2016 and 2015, the changes in accut.nulated other comprehetrsive loss by componelltwel'e as

f-ollows:

Unrecognized Net
Periodic Pension

and Postrctircment
Benclìt Cost

Unrcalized
gain on

Invcstmcnt in
CyrusOne

F'orcign
Currcncy

'Iranslation

Lossldollars in nrillions)

Balance as ofDecenlber 31,2014

Re¡neasulelnent of benefi t obligations

Reclassifrcations, net

Balance as of Decelnb er 31 , 2015

Reureasurernent of benefit obligations

Reclassifi catiolls, net

Unrealized gain on Investtrent in Cyt'usOne

Balarrce as of Decembet 31,2016

( r 70.3)

6.6

6.I (a)

(r7i.0)

6.6

o.u

68. I

$ (173.6) $

(6.6)

9.9 (a)

$

Total

(0.3) $ (173.e)

(6.6 )

(0.4) e.s

(0.7)

(0.1)

68.I (b)

$ (1s7 .6) $ 68.r $ (0.8) $ (e0.3)

(a) These reclassifications are illcluded in the conrponerrts of net period pensiott aud postretirement beltefit costs (see Note 9

for additional details). The conrponents of llet period pellsion and postretirement benefit cost ale reported within "Cost of
se¡ices", "Cost of products sold", and "Selling, general and adrninistlative" expenses on the Consolidated Statetnents of
Operations.

(b)'lhe unrealized gain on the investntent in CylusOne was t'ecorded in2016 as the iltvestnretrt is no longer accounted fol'

using the equity-rnethod and is recolded as an availatrle-for-sale securify on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value.

94

https://www.sec.gov/Archtves/e dgarldatalT 16133/00007 1 61 331 7000007 lcbb1231 201 6-1 0k.htm#s2C88974C39C75F3D865CD349138904C2 121 1178



7 t18t2017

Tablr rrt Contstls

Forrn 10-l( Part II

11. Incorne Taxes

Income tax expense for coutinuing operations consisted of tlre following

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc

Ycar Endrd Deccrnber' 31,

{dollars in millions)

Current:

Fedelal

State and local

Total cullent

lnvestment tax credits

Defen'ed:

Federal

State and local

Total defelred

Valuation allowance

Total

U.S. f'ederal statutory rãte

State and local incolne taxes, net offederal incolne tax

Change in valuation allowattce, net of federal inconre tax

State net opelating loss adjustrrrents

Nondeductible intet est expense

Unrecognized tax benefit changes

Nondeductible compensation

Othel diffelerlces, llet

E,ffèctive tax rate

(rlollars in rnillions)

Income tax provision (benefit) related to:

Continu ing operatiotrs

D iscontinued operations

Accurnulated other cornplehensive iucorne (loss)

Excess tax benefits orr stocl< option exercises

2016 2015 2014

s (t4.0) $

0,5

9.2 $

1.7

9.3

1.9

( r3.5)

(0.1)

r 0.9

(0.2)

|.2
(0 2)

72.6

5.7

149.4

5.2

69.6

1.9

78.3

(3.6)

154.6

(5.s)

71 .5

(1.1)

$ 61.1 $ rs9.8 $ 8 r.4

The following is a l'econciliation of the statutoly federal iucome tax rate with the effective tax rate for each year:

Yeal Enrlcd l)eccnrbcr 31,

2016 2015

35.0 %

0.7

(0.8)

0.3

2014

35.0 Yo

0.2

(1.4)

0.9

35.0 %

0.8

(2.0)

1.9

2.7

1.4

0.7

0.4

2.3

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.1

37.5 % 35.5 Yr 40.9 %

The i¡coure tax plovision (benefìt) was chalged to continuing opel'atiolls, discontinued operatiotrs, acculnulated other comprehensive

income or additional paid-in capital as lollows:

Ycar Fj,ndcd Drccrnbcr 31,

2016 20t5 2014

$ 6r.r $ 159.8 $

34.8

2.0

(0.1)

8l .4

(24.0)

(22.4)

(0.1)

43.8

0.1
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The cornponents of our deferred tax assets and Iiabilities were as follows

(dollars in tnillionsl

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss car'ryforwards

Pension and postretirement benefits

Investrnent in CyrusOne

Enrployee benefits

AMT Credit Canyforward

Texas Margin Cledit

Other'

Total deferred tax assets

Valuation allorvauce

Total defelled tax assets. net ofvaluation allowance

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant aud equiprrrent

lnvestment in Cyt'usOne

Other

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets

ldollars in nrillions)

Balance, beginning of year

Change in tax positions fot' the currellt year

Charrge in tax positiolts for plior yeals

Balance, end ofyear

$

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Decenrbu'31,

2u16 2015

$ 12s.2 $

78.7

12.2

17.4

10.7

19.1

142.0

89. r

68.9

15.2

.)L. J

10.7

17.9

zoi.J

(s4.4)

37 6.5

(s8.4)

$ 208.9 $ 318.1

$ 135.0 $

9.1

0.3

134.9

0.3

144.4 t35.2

$ 64.s $ 182.9

As of Decemb er 31, 2016, tlre Cornpany had $219 .4 mitlion of federal tax operating loss cartyfot'wards with a defelred tax asset value

of $76.8 million, alter.native rrrininrurn tax credit calryforwards of $17.4 rnillion, state tax credits of $10.7 million, and $48.2 million in

defer.red tax assets r.elated to state, local, and foreign tax operating loss carryforwards. The rnajorify of the remaining fedelal tax loss

ca¡yforwards will ge¡erally expire in 2023. U.S. tax laws linlit the annual utilization of tax loss carryforwards of acquit'ed entities.

These limitations should not rnaterially impact the utilization of the tax cartyfot'wards.

The r,rltirnate realization of the defer¡ed incoure tax assets depends upon the Conrpany's ability to generate future taxable income

during the periods i¡ which basis differences ancl othel deductions becorne deductible, and plior to the expiration ofthe net operating

loss carryfor.rvards. Due to its historical and future projected earnirrgs, rÌlanagelmerlt believes it rvill utilize future federal deductions and

available ¡et operating loss carryftrrwards plior to their expiration. Managenretrt also coucluded that it was more lil<ely than not that

certain state ancl foreig¡ tax loss calrylorwalds would not be lealized based upon the analysis described above and therefore provided a

valuation allowance.

The totat amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, ilr'ecognized, would affect the efÏèctive tax rate was $31.0 rnillion and $27.3

million atDecember 31 ,2016 and December 31,2015, respectively. Acclued interest and penalties on inconre tax uttcertainties were

irnnraterial as of December3Í,2016 and 20 15.

A leconciliation of the unt'ecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Ycal Endcd Dcccmbcr 31,

20142016 20t5

27.6 $

1.2

2.6

27.1 $

0.5

24.1

3.0

$ 31.4 $ 27.6 $ 27.1

The Co¡rpa¡y and its subsidialies file incorne tax retul'us in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and vat'ious foreign, state and local

jurisdictions. With a few exceptions, the Cornpany is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state ol' local exanrinations for years before
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12. Stock-Based and Deferred Compensation Plans

The Conrpany ntay gl'ant stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance-based awards, and time-based restlicted shares to

officer.s and hey employees undel the 2007 Lotlg Telm Incentive Plan and stock options, restl'icted shares, and lestricted stocl< units to

directors undel the 2007 Stock Option Plan forNon-Eniployee Directors, The maxiurunr nutrrbet'of shares authorized under these plans

is5.l million.Sharesavailableforawal'dundeltheplansatDecenrber3l,2016were0.9million.

Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Generally, the awards ofstock options and stock appreciation rigtrts ftrlly vest fhree years from grant date and expire ten years fronr

grant date. Beginning in2012, sorne of the stocl< options vested over a three year period based on the achievement of certain

perforutance objectives. The Comlrany generally issues nerv shares rvhen optiorrs to purchase colllltrorl shares ot'sfock appreciation

lights are exercised. The followingtable sumrnar-izes stocl< options and stock appreciation rights activity:

2016 2015 2014

Sharcs

Wcightcd-
Avcragc
Excrcise
Pricc ì)cr

Shalc Sharcs

Wrightcd-
Avcragc
Excrcisc
Pricc Pcr

Sharc Sharcs

Wcightcd-
Avcrage
Exercisc
I'ricc Pcr

ShaI'e(in tl¡ousantls. rxrctrl ner sllarc amot¡nfs)

Outstanding at Janualy l,
Granted *

Exercised

Forfeited

Expired

Ontstanding at Deceurber 3 1,

Expected to vest at Decerrber' 31,

Exercisable at December 31,

ldollars in n¡illionsl

Cornpensation expense fol the yeat'

Tax benefit related to cotnpensation expense

lntlinsic value of awat'ds exercised

Cash received fronr awards exercised

Glant date fair value of awards vested

776 $ 19.27 1,04s S tS.Zt

(236)

(11)

(r3e)

(7)

(100)

(162)

9.15

1 8.71

20.05

1,225 $

200

(r45)

(43)

(1e2)

18.31

t7.02

8.65

19,95

18.69

16.12

16.16

22.79

390 s 20.00 776 S t9.27 1,045 $ tg.Zt

390 $ 20.00 776 $ 19.27 1.045 S 19.27

i30 $ 20.56 635 $ 19.65 695 $ 19.91

0.4

(0.1)

1.8

3.8

0.5

$ 0.3

$ (o.l )

$ l.s

$ 1.3

$ 0.4

$

$

$

$

$

0.1

0,1

0.7

* Assumes the maximum nuntbel'of awards that can be earned if the pelformance conditiorls are achieved.

The following table sumnral'izes our outstandirlg and exercisable awards at December 31,2016:

Ouf standing

{in thor¡sands. cxccDl oer sharc alrtot¡tlls)

$8.3 5

$12.40 to $17.05

$23.10to$26.55

Total

Wcightetl-
Avcrâgc
Excrcisc
Plicc Pcr

Sharc

Excrcisrble

Sharcs Sharcs

Wcighted-
Avcrage
Exercisc
Price Pcr

Sha le

26$
t74

t90

8.3 5

17.01

24.35

26$
ll4
190

8.35

l7.03

24.35

390 $ 20.00 330 $ 20.s6
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As of Decelnb er 31,2016, the aggregate intrinsic value for awards outstanding and exercisable was $1.3 rnillion and $1.0 nlillion,

respectively. The weighted-avel'age remaining contractual life for awards outstanding and exercisable is approxirnately five years and

four.year.s, r.espectively. As of December 31, 2016, there was $0.2 nlillion of utrrecognized stocl< compensation expense, which is

expected to be lecognized ovet' a weighted-average period of apploxirnately one year'.

The fair values at the date of glant wel'e estimated using the Blacl<-Scholes pricing rnodel with the following assumptions:

20r6 201 5 2014

Expected volatility

Risl<-free interest rate

Expected holding period (in years)

Expected dividends

Weighted-average grant date fail value $ $ $

35.5o/o

1.5%

5

0.0%

5.71

The expected volatility assumption used in the Blacl<-Scholes pricing model was based on historical volatility. The risl<-fi'ee interest

rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of graut. The expected holding peliod was estirnated usirlg the

histor.ical exercise behavior of ernployees and adjusted for abnoltnal activify. Expected dividends at'e based ou the Company's histoty

of not paying dividends.

Performance-Basecl Restricted Awards

Awar.ds gr.anted genelally vest over three years and upon the achievement of certain perfot'mance-based objectives. Pet'fol'mance-based

awards are expensed based on theil grant date fair value if it is probable that the perfortnattce conditions will be achieved.

The following table sunrntarizes our outstanding perfot'mance-based lestricted award activity:

2016 2015 20t1

Sharcs

Weightcd-
Avclagc
Exclcise
Pricc Per

Sharc Shares

Wcightctl-
r\verage
Excrcisc
Price Per

Sh¿rc Shrres

Wcightcd-
Avcrage
Excrcise
Pricc Per

Shrrc(in thous¡nds. cxccpt ncr sharc anrountsl

Non-vested at January 1,

Granted*

Vested

Forf'eited

Non-vested at Decembet' 31,

(doll¡r's in millionsì

Conrpensation expellse for the year

Tax benefit related to compensation expense

Grant date fair vah¡e of awards vested

721 $

307

(51)

(23)

349 $

s38

(8e)

(17)

t9.28

t5.46

19.00

r6.44

307 $

2t7
(127)

(48)

19.88

17.80

18.55

18.33

16.77

15.45

22.75

22.35

9s4 $ 1 5.89 72t s t6.77 349 $ 19.28

$

$

$

3.6

(1.3)

1.2

$ 3.1

$ ( 1.1)

$ 1.7

$ 1.4

$ (0.5)

$ 2.3

* Assumes the nraxirnum nunlber of awards that can be earned if the perforrnance conditions are aclrieved.

As of Decemb er 31,2016, ullrecognized cornpensation expense lelated to perfortrrance-based awal'ds was $8.1 million, which is

expected to be recognized ovel' a weighted-avefage pel'iod of apploxitnately one year.
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Tim e-Based Restricted Awards

Awards granted to employees in2016 vest atthe end of athreeyear period. Awards grauted to elnployees plior to 20 16 generally vest

in one-tlrird inclements over a period of three yeals. Awards glanted to directors in2016,2015 and 2014 vest on the fil'st annivelsaly

ofthe grant date.

The following table sulntnal'izes our time-based t'estricted award activity:

2016 20 l5 2014

Sh arcs

Wcighted-
Avcragc
Excrcisc
Plice Pcr

Sharc Shrrcs

Wcighted-
Avcragc
Exercise
Price Pcl'

Sharc Sharcs

Wcighted-
Àveragc
Excrcise
Ilricc Pcr

Sha relin thousands. rxce¡rt Der sharc arnortnts)

Non-vested at January 1,

Grauted

Vested

Fol feited

Non-vested at December 31,

ldoll¿rs in nrillions)

Cornpensation expense for the year

Tax benefit related to compensation expense

Grant date fail value of awards vested

47$
r06

(47)

137 $

JO

(t26)

18.44

17.35

t7.70

209 $

35

(103)

(4)

17.73

16.04

t6.22

t7 .55

19.59

16.7 5

19.59

106 $ 16.75 47 $ 19.59 137 $ I 8.44

$ Ll
$ (0.4)

$ o.s

$ l.o

$ (0.3)

$ z.z

$ 1.6

$ (0.6)

$ 1.7

As of Decernber 31, 20 16, there was $0.9 rnillion of unrecogtrized compensation expense related to these restricted stock awards,

which is expected to be lecognized over a weighted-average peliod of appl'oximately two years.

Cash-Settled and Other Awards

The Company grants cash-settled stocl< appreciation rights and pel'formance awards. Beginning in2012, sotrre of the stock appreciation

rights vested over a three year period based on the achievernent ofcertain perfortnance objectives. The final paylnents ofthese awards

will be indexed to the pelcentage change in the Compauy's stocl< price fronr the date of grant.

Nocash-paynlelltawardsrvereissuedin20l6or20l5. TheCornpanygrantedcash-paytnentperforulallceawardsof$3.6rrlillionin
20 14. Foltheyear ended Decernber 31,2016, expense incut'red f'or cash-payrnent awards was $2.2 million. Fortheyeat's ended

Decernber'31 ,2015 and 2014, expense of $0.6 million l'elated to cash-payment awal'ds was iltcurred.

At Decernber 31,2016 there was $1.2 million lemaining utrrecognized competrsatiott expeltse for cash-settled and other awal'ds, which

will primarily be lecognized during 2017, assuming the maximum cash payout that can be ealned if the perfblmance conditions al'e

achieved. The aggregate intrinsicvalue of outstanding and exet'cisable cash-settled stock appreciation rights atDecembet'31,2016
was $0.1 rnillion.

Deferred Compensation Plans

The Conrpany cun'ently has a defelred corïperlsatiorl plan for the Boald of Directols. Under the directot's deferred conpensation plan,

each director can defer receipt of all or a part of theit'dilectol fees and aunual l'etaillers, which can be invested in various iuvestment

furrds including the Company's corrrron stock. In years prior to2012, the Courpany granted 1,200 phantont shares to each nou-

elnployee director on the first business day of each year', which are fully vested once a directot'has fìve yeals of selvice. No phantom

shales were granted to nou-employee directors in20l6. Distributions to the dilectors at'e getrerally in the form of cash.

The Company previously had a defel'r'ed compensation plan for celtain executives of the Corrpany. The executive deferred

comperrsationplanwastelminatedinthefourthquarterof20 15. Inthefoultlrquarterof20l6,all antottlrtsdueundertheplanwere
distlit¡uted to plan participants.
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At December 31 , 2016, th e nuntbe r of director defen'ed colllr11orl slrares was uotn inal. At December 3 I , 201 5, there were 0. I m illion

comrnon shares defen.ed in total for both the directol and executive plans. As these awards can be settled itr cash, conrpeusation costs

each periocl are based on the change in the Comparry's stocl< price. We recoguized compensatiot.t expense of $0.1 million and $0'2

million in2016 ancl 2015, respectively. A bene{ìt of $0.3 nrillion was t'ecognizedin20l4.

13. Restructuring and Sevet'ance

Liabilities ¡ave bee¡ establishecl for ernployee separations, lease abandonment and contract tet'ruiuations. A sutlntaty of activity in the

restlucturing and sevetance liability is shown below:

Errrploycc
Scparation

Le¿se
Abandonnrent Othcr Total(dollars in millionsì

Balarrce as of Decelnber 31,2013

Chalges/(Revelsals)

Utilizations

Balance as of Decetlber3l,2014
Chalges

Utilizations

Balance as of Decelnber 31, 2015

Chalges/(Reversals)

Utilizations

Balance as of Decembet 31,2016

8.4 $

1.0

(6.4)

5.8 $

(1.4)

(2.6)

14.3

(0.4)

(e.0)

3.0

3.3

(6.1)

1.8

0.3

(1.3)

0.1

2.4

(2.4)

4.9

6.0

(e.8)

0.2

12.5

(1.7)

0.8

(0.5)

(0. 1)

0.1

(0. r)

1.1

l l.9
(1.8)

$ 0.r $

$ 11.0 $ 0.2 $ $ 1l.2

In20l6, employee severance costs wel'e associated with initiatives to reduce costs associated with our legacy copper netwolk,

including a voluntary severance progrant fol certain mallagemellt employees. Employee severance costs were also due to inct'eased in-

sourcing of IT professionals by oul'custolllers lvhich resulted in headcount reductions in our IT Services and Flal'dware segment. In

2015, ernployee severance charges wele associated with discontinuing our cyber-security product offering and integlating each ofout'

segrre¡tsi business lnarkets. It't2014, elnployee separation charges included charges atttibutable to outsoul'cillg a portiol'ì of our IT

function alld iltcul ir.rg consulting fees related to a workforce optinlizatiotl initiative.

Lease abandonlnent costs represent future rninimunr Iease obligations, net ofexpected sublease incotne, fot abandoned facilities.

Reversals i¡2014 were r.elated to previously abandoned leased spacethatwas t'eoccupied. Lease paynreuts ou abandoned facilities will
continue through 20 I 9.

Other.charges in 2015 represent project related expenses as we identified opportunities to integlate the business tnarkets within our

Enteltainnlent and Colnmut'tications and IT Services & Hardwale segÍnerlts'

A surnmary of restt'ucturing activity by business segmelrt is presented below:

lintcltain¡nent antl
Co¡nmunications

lT Scrvicrs antl
Hardware Corporatc Total(dollars in nlillions)

Balance as ol'Decel'uber 3 t. 20 l3

Chalges/(Revelsals)

Utilizations

Balance as of Decelrrber 31 ^2014
Chalges

Utilizations

Balance as of December'31,2015

Chalges

Utilizations

Balarrce as of December 31,2016

10.5 $

(0.5)

(6.1)

3.0 $

0.t

(2.4)

t4.3

(0.4)

(e.0)

$ 0.8 $

(0.5)

3.9

t.6

(4.7)

0.3

2.8

(2.8)

0.7

1.6

(2.3)

4.9

6.0

(e.8)

0.8

7.7

( t.0)

0.3

J.J

(0.6)

1.1

1t.9

(1.8)

0.9

(0.2)

$ 7.5 $ 3.0 $ 0.7 $ il.2
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AtDecember 31,2016 and 20 15, $7.4 million and $0.9 urillion, respectively, of the restructuring liabilities were included in "Other

current liabilities." At Decernber 31,2016 and 20 15, $3.8 million and $0.2 rnillion was included itr "Otlret'noltcurreltt liabilities,"
t'es¡rectively.

Subsequent to Decenlber 31,2016 the Corrrpany finalized a voluutaly severallce program fol certain bargained et.nployees related to an

initiative to reduce costs associated with oul'copper field and networl< operations. As a result, a severance charge of approxirnately $25

million will be recorded in the fìrst quarter of 2017.
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14. Business Segment Information

For.tlre yea¡s e¡ded December 31,2016,2015, and 20l4,we opelated two business segmettts: Entertain¡nent and Commutlications and

IT Services and Hardware. The closing of our wileless opelations, eflèctive MaLch 31,2015, t'epresented a strategic shift in our

business. Therefor-e, cer.tain wireless assets, liabilities and results of opelations are leported as discontinued operations itl out'financial

statements. For fulther details of Discontinued Operations, seeNotes I and l6 ofNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

'fhe E,ntertain¡neltt and Cornmunications segment plovides data. video, voice and other set'vices. These services ale primalily provided

to custotnel's in southwestern Ohio, northeln Kentuclcy and southeastern Indiana. Data includes ploducts such as higlr-speed internet

access, digital subscliber lines, plivate line, rnulti-protocol label switching, SONEI dedicated interlret access, wavelength, audio

confer.encing and digital signal. These prodncts are used to tral.Ìspoú large atrrounts of data ovet'private networks. Video selvices

pr.ovide our Fioptics custonlers access to over 400 entertai¡rt¡ent channels, over 140 high-definition chatlnels, parental contlols, HD

DVR and video On-De¡rand. In addition, we off-el'fèatures that delivel' high customel satisfaction including Fioptics MyTV and a

Fioptics live TV stleaming application. Voice represents Iocal service, including Fioptics voice lines. It also includes VolP; long

distance, digital trunlcing, switched access and other value-added services such as caller identificatiou, voicenrail, call rvaiting, and call

return. VolP products provide oul' customers access to widely disbulsed communication platfonns and access to cloud based services

and hosted unified communications products. Other services consists of revenue getrerated from wiring projects for business

custolners, adveltising, dilectory assistance, nraintenauce arrd infolmation services.

Entertai¡ment and Communications revenue incleased duling 20 l6 and 20 l5 due to the demand for stlategic fibel ploducts mol'e than

offsettirrg legacy copper.declines. Operating inconre fol Entertainnrent and Colnmuuications for 2016 was down compared to ayeat'

ago due in large par.t to incleased depreciation expense associated with the impact of accelelating constructiou of oul'fiber tletwork and

r.edr-rcing the estinlated r"rseful life of certain set-top boxes and the related software as we upgrade to new technology. We also reduced

the useful life of our copper assets in the fourth quarter of 2015. O¡relating incorre decreased during 2015 prinrarily due to additional

oper.ating expenses associatecl with the continued acceleration of our fiber investtnent and costs absolbed as a result of shutting down

wireless operations. Entertainr¡ent and Conrnunications recognized t'estluctut'ing and severance |elated charges of $7.7 million in

2016 pr.irnarily related to initiatives to reduce costs associated with our legacy coppel'netwol'k. Entertainn.rent and Comtrrunications

of$0.5rnillion itt20l4.In20l4,EntertainntentandCornnrurricatioust'ecordedallassetitrrpait'nrentchalgeof$4.6millionrelatedto
the abandonment of alr internal use software ploject that was written off in the fourth quarter'. There were no irnpainnent charges

r.ecorded in2016 or 2015. Capital expenditures are ilrcurred to expand our Fio¡rtics product suite, upgrade aud ilrct'ease capacify fòr our'

internet and data netwot'l<s, and to rnaintain our wireline netwoll(.

The IT Ser.vices and Haldwale segtnent provides a range of fully tnanaged and outsottt'ced IT and telecotnurunications services along

with the sale, installatiotr, and maintenance of rrajol blanded IT and telephony equipmeut. IT Services and Hardwal'e revenue

decreased $4.7 nlillion from 20l5 as a result of an increase in stlategic revenue of $17.7 million in 2016 which was more than offset by

the $24.5 mìllion dec¡ease in teleconr and IT hardware sales in 20 l6 cotnpared to the prioryear. IT Setvices and Hardware revenue

ilrcr.eased $2,4 million fi'onl 2014 to 2015 as a l'esult of an increase of $40.7 rnillion in sh'ategic revellue. This was partially offset by

the 535.1 million decrease in telecom and IT hardwale sales. Restructuring and severance related charges of $3,3 million were

recognized in 2016 primarily related to a reduction in folce as customers increased internal IT staff, therefore reducing the need for our

professio¡al ser-vices. 1n 20 | 5, r'estnrctuling and seveLance lelated charges of $2.8 million consisted of employee severance and proj ect

r.elated costs for tlre i¡tegration ofeach segment's business nralkets and the discontinuation ofour advanced cyber-security product

offeri¡g in the first quarter of 20 15. We also abandoned office space in Canadathat is no longer in use. Therewele no restt'uctut'ing and

severance related charges lecorded in 2014.

As of Decel¡ber 31,2016 and 2015, oul investrnent in CyrusOne is included as an asset of the Corpolate segment. Defelred tax assets

totaling $64.5 million and $182.3 urillion as of Decernber31,2016 and 2015, r'espectively, are also reported as assets in the Cotlrorate

segment.

102

https:i/wvwv.sec.gov/Archives/e dgarldatalT 16133/000071 61 331 TOOOOOT lcbb1231 201 6-1 0k.htm#s2C88974C39C75F3D865CD3491 38904C2 1331178



711812017

'fablc of COnlcnts

Fornr l0-K Part Il

Document

Our business segrÌlel1t infor¡nation is as follows

(dollals in rnillious)

Revenue

Entertainment and Comtrrun ications

lT Services and Hal'dware

Intersegtnent

Total revenue

Intel'segment revenue

Entertaintnent and Conrmunications

lT Services aud Hardware

Total intelsegment revel'lue

Operating income

E¡rtertainment aud Comtnunications

IT Services and Hardware

Colporate

Total opelating incorne

Expenditures for long-livetl assets

Entertainlnent and Cotnmunications

IT Services and Hat'dware

Corporate

Total expenditures f-or long-lived assets

Dc¡rreciation and amortization

E,ntertai unreut and Colnmun ications

IT Services aud Hardrvare

Colporate

Total depleciation and alllortization

ldollars in nlillions)

Assets

Entettainment and Comtnunications

IT Services and Hardrvare

Corporate and el im inations

Total assets

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Ycar Endcd Dcccmbcr 31,

2[16 2015 2014

$ 768.8 $

430.7

( r 3.7)

$ì 1,18s.8 $ 1,167.8 $ 1,161.5

7 43.7

435.4

( r r.3)

s 740.7

43 3.0

(12.2)

$ 1.3 $

12.4

1.3 $

10.0

t.2

l l.0

s 13.7 $ 11.3 $ 12.2

$ 93.0 $ 128.0 s 176.9

$ e0.6 $

23.2

(20.8)

129.9

20.6

(22.s)

$ f 78.9

19.8

(2 r .8)

$ 272.s $

13.7

0.2

$ 163.7

I 1.9

0.2

269.5

14.0

0.1

$ 286.4 $ 283.6 $ 175,8

$ 168.6 $

13.5

0.1

129.2

12.3

0.1

$ 11s.7

11.7

0.2

$ 1s2.2 $ 141.6 s 127.6

As ol Dcccnrbcr 31,

ztJl6 2015

$i 1 ,093.5 $

60.0

387.5

982.5

5 8.0

405.9

$ 1,54 r.0 $ 1 ,446.4
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Details of our service and product revenues including elinlinations are as follows:

ldollars in ¡nillions)

Service revenue

Entettainment and Communications

IT Services and IJardwal'e

Total service revenue

Product revenue

H andsets and accessories

Telecour and lT hardwat'e

Total ploduct rever'ìue

Cincinuati Bell Inc.

ì'ear Ended Dcccnrbcr 31,

2$16

$ 763.0 $

215.7

73s.0 $

r 98.0

20t5 2r14

728.8

161.4

s e18.7 $ 933.0 $ 890.2

$ 4.5 $

202.6

7.4

227.4

$ 10.7

260.6

s 207.1 $ 234.8 s 271.3
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I5. Investment in CyrusOne

On January 24,2013,we conlpleted the IPO of CylusOne, which owns aud operates oul'fol'mel'data center busìness through CylusOne

LP, an operating partnelship. Effective with the lPO. our 69%o ownership was held in the fortr of 1.9 rnillion shares of unt'egistered

cotntnoll stocl< of CyrusOne and 42.6 nlillion of econourically equivalent paltnership units in its underlying operating entily, CyrusOne

Lp. Therefore, effective January 24,2013,we no Iongel included the acconnts ofCylusOne in our consolidated financial statenrents

and accounted for. our.owr.rership as an equity rnethod investment as we r1o longer controlled the opelations but nlaintained signifìcant

inlluence.

In2014,we sold 16.0 rnillion operating partnet'ship units fbr net ploceeds totaling $355.9 million that resulted in a gain of $192.8

million. During 2015, we sold 20.3 million operating paltnership units and 1.4 rnillion shares of CyrusOne's common stockthat

cornbined generated ploceeds of $643.9 nrillion and resulted in a gain of 5449.2 million.

Fronl the date of the IPO, rve lecognized our proportionate share of CyrusOlre's net loss as "Other (incorne) expense, uet" itl our

staternent of operations through December' 3l , 2015 . For 201 5 a¡d 2014, our equity method slrare of CyrusOne's net loss was $5 ' I

rnillion and $7.0 ¡rillio¡, respectively. Dividends received totaling $22.2 million and $28.4 nrillion, in 2015 and2014, respectively,

wel'e recorded as reduction of our investtrrent.

Our remainiug 6.3 million operating partnership units in CylusOne LP were exchanged for an equal tluurber of newly issued shares of
corrrnon stock of CyrusOne on Deceurber 31,2015. As a result, our 9.5%o ownership in CyrusOne, which consisted of 6.9 million

commo¡ shares, no lolrge¡ constituted significant influence over the entity. E,ffective Jauuaty 1,2016, our itrvesttnetrt in CyrusOnewas

no longer. accounted fol using the equity-method. Dividends declal'ed by CylusOne in 2016 totaled $6.4 million and were included in

"Other (incorre) expetrse, net" in the Consolidated Statenlent of Opelations.

Wesold4.l ulillio¡sharesofCyrusOne'scommonstocl<folnetproceedstotaling$lSg.Tmillionirt20l6thatresultedinagainof
$157.0 rnillion. As of Decernber3l,20l6,we helcl 2.8 million shares of CyrusOne Ino. colllmon stock valued at $128.0 lnillion.

Subsequent to the e¡d of the year', we sold approxirnately 2 million shares of CyrusOne Inc. colrmon stocl< for net pl'oceeds totaling

appr.oxirnately $100 million that resulted in a gaitr of apploxirnately $83 rrillion. The proceeds were printarily used to l'epay amoullts

outstanding on Receivables Facility.

Tlansactions with CyrusOne

Ret,enues - The Conrpany records service revenue florn CyrusOne under contractual selice at'rangemellts which include, alnollg

other.s, providing services such as fibel tlansport, network support, set'vice calls, management and monitoling, stol'age and back-up,

and IT sysferns support.

OperctÍing Expenses - We lease data center and office space fi'om CyrusOne at cettain locations in our operating teu'itory under

oper.ating leases a¡d are also billed for other services provided by CyrusOue under contractual service arrallgelttetlts. In the uormal

course of business, the Cornpany also plovides certain administrative services to CyrusOne which are billed based on agreed-upon

rates.
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Revenues and operating costs and expenses ft'orn transactions with CyrusOne wel'e as follows

Ycar Entlcd Dcccnrbcr 3l

2015

Cincinnati Bell Inc

2014(dollars in millions)

Revenue:

Services provided to CylusOne $

Operating costs and expenses:

Charges for seruices provided by CyrusOne

Adnlinistrative sel'vices provided to CyrusOne

Total opelating costs aud expenses

Amounts receivable from and payable to CyrusOne were as follows:

ldollars in millions)

Accouuts receivable

Dividends leceivable

Receivable froln CyrusOne

Payable to CyrusOne

10.2 $

(0.3 )

t0.2 $

(0.4)

9.1

(0.s)

1.2 $ 1.3 $ 1.7

$

$ 9.9 S e.8 $ 8.6

Dcccnlbcr 31,2016 Dccctnbcr 3l 2015

$$

Ll
0.t

2.1

$ 1.1 $ 2.2

$ 0.e $ t.5
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16. Discontinued Operations

Cincinnati Bell Wireless LLC ("CBW"), our folmer Vy'ireless segment, provided digital wireless voice and data cotrrurunications

services to custorners in the Company's licensed service territory, which included Greatel Cincinnati and Dayton, Ohio, and at'eas of
noltheln Kentucþ and southeasteln Indiana. The Company's customers wel'e also able to place atrd receive wireless calls nationally

and internationally due to loaming agt'eements the Company had with othet'cat'riers.

In the second qualtel ot-2014, we entered into agreements to sell out'wit'eless spectruln licenses and celtain othet'assets related to our

wireless business, including leases to certain wileless towers aud related equiprnent and other assets. The agreetnent to sell our

spectrunr licenses closed on Septetnber 30,2014 for cash ploceeds o1$194.4 rnillion. Prior to this date, the Cornpany's digital wireless

network utilized 50 MHz of licensed spectruul in the Cincinnati alea and 40 MHz of licensed spectruln in the Dayton alea, which had a

carrying value of $88.2 million. Simultaueous with the close of the spectrulll sale, the Corrrpany entered into a se¡tat'ate agreelrent to

use celtain wireless spectnur foL $8.00 until we no longer provided wileless set'vices. We ceased providing wileless service effective

March 31,2015. The fair value of the lease, which is considered a Level 3 nreasuLe¡lent based ou other cotnparable transactions,

totaled $6.4 million and was lecolded as a prepaid expense and amortized over a six month period ending Malch 31,2015.

As of March 3l, 2015, thet'e wel'e no subsclibers lemaining on the network and we no longel required the use of the spectrum being

leased. Therefole, the $l12.6 million gain on the sale olthe wireless spectrum liceltses, which had been previously deferled, was

recognized in Incoure ( loss) from d iscontinued opelations, net of tax during the three tnonths ended March 3l , 2015. On April 1 , 2015,

we transfe¡red certain other wil'eless assets to the acqnirer', including leases to certain wireless towel's and lelated equiptneut and other

assets, which resulted in again of $15.9 nrillion in the second quarter of 2015.
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Wi¡eless financial ¡esults forthe twelve txonths ended Decerrber 31,2016,2015 and2014 reported as "lncotne (loss) from

discontinued operations, llet of tax" on the Cousolidated Statemelìts of Opetations are as follows:

'ftvelvc Months Endcd

Dcccrnbr:r 31,

Itkrllars in nrillionsì

Revcnue

Costs and expenses

Cost ofproducts and services

Selling, general and adrninistrative

Depreciation arld anrot'tizatiott expertse

Restructuri ng chat'ges

lmpairrnent of assets

Tlansaction costs

Gain on sale ol disposal of assets

Ar.noltization of deferred gain

Total operating costs and expenses

Operating loss

Interest (incorne) experlse

Other (incorne) expense

Gain on transfer oftower lease obligations and other assets

Gain on sale of wireless sllectruul licenses

Irrcorne (loss) befole income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Income (loss) from discontinued operâtions' net oftax

2016 2015 2014

$ $ 4.4 $ 132.8

t2.0

2.2

28.6

3.3

66.9

19.5

103.4

16.3

7.5

3.2

(0.4)

(6.5) (22.e)

39.2 193.9

(0.3)

(34.8)

(1.7)

(2.3)

15.9

112.6

(6r.r)
2.8

2.2

0i 97.7

34.8

(66. I )

(24.0)

$ 0.3 $ 62.e $ (42.1)

Wileless Iiabilities presented as discontinued operations as of December 31,2016 and DecembeL 31, 2015 are as follows

ldollars in rnillions)
Dcccrnbcr 31, 2016 Dcccmbcr 31, 2015

Culrent liabilities

Restrucluling I iabiliry

Other current liabilities

Total cun'ent IiabiIities flom discontinued operations

$

$

$ 4.7

0.7

$ 5.4

lestlucturingchal'geswelef'oltoweroperatingleasesthatwet'eabandonecl.During20 I4,restluctr.rlingchalgesincluded$13.1 nrillion

in colltract termination charges for wireless contl'acts that were no longer utilized and $3.2 rnillion in employee separatiou charges.

Arr asset impairment loss ol'$7.5 million was also recognized in20l4 fol'the write-off of certain construction-in-pl'ogress projects that

were not cornpleted due to the wind down of wireless opet'ations.

Inthefourthquarter of20l4,welepaid$22.7million83/s%SeniorNotesdue2020usingploceedsfi'onlthesaleofourwireless
spectrunr licenses.
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Following is selected operating, investing and 1Ìnancing cash flow activity frorn discontitlued operations included in Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows:

Trvclvr i\,lonths Endcd

Dcccmbcr 3 1,

ldollals in nrillionsl

Depreci ation and amoltization

Gain on sale of assets

Impairtnent of assets

Deferred gain on sale ofspectrum licenses

Amor-tization of defelred gain on sale of towet's

Gain on transfer of towel' lease obligatiol'ìs alld otller assets

Non-cash specttum lease

Restructuri ng payrnents

Capital expenditules

Proceeds ft'onr sale of wireless spectrum licenses

Repaymeut of debt

2016 2015 2014

$$ 28.6 $

(0.4)

1 03.4

7.5

(22.e)

(|2.6)
(6.s)

( 1 s.e)

3.2

( r4.5)

1.2

(2.4)

(6.s)

194.4

(23.5)

(4.4)

(0.3)

Operating Lease Commitments

The Company's discontinued operations leased certain facitities alld equipnlent. Operating lease expettse was $1.4 million and $6.4

rnillion, in 20 I 5 and 20 | 4, l'espectively.
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17. Quartelly Financial Infornration (Unaudited)

{in millions, cxccnl þcr conrnron share atnottn(sl

Revenue

Operating inconre

Income (loss) from continuing operatiolls

Iucome froln discontinued operations, net of tax

Net incorne (loss)

Basic ealnings (loss) per common share ft'onl continuillg operations

Basic ealnings pel colnlnoll share ft'om discontinued operations

Net basic earuings (loss) peL colnlllou share

DilLrted ealnings (loss) per comrron share fi'om continuing operations

Diluted eat'nitrgs per conrn'rott shat'e ft'om discontinued opet'atiotls

Net diluted earnings (loss) per cotrrrlon sltare

(in millions, cxccnt ner con¡mon share anrounts)

Revenue

Operating incoure

Income fror¡ contiuuing operations

Iucome flom discontinued operations, net oftax

Net inco¡le

Basic eat'nings (loss) per colnllron shat'e fi'om continuing opel'ations

Basic earnings per common share ft'om discontinued operations

Net basic earnings pet' cotrrnrotr share

Diluted earnings (loss) per comlron share ft'oln continuing operations

Diluted earnings ller commorl share frotrr discontinued opelations

Net diluted eat'uings per cotnnrou shat'e

$ 2e2.9 $

37.1

0.3

48.9

28 5.8

29.7

180.7

10.9

$ 299.8

36.2

79.3

t.0

$ 289.3

25.0

30.s

2.1

2016

First

Qu¿rrfer

$ 288.e $

29.6

7.0

Second

Quartcr

Third

Quarter'

Iìourfh

Quârfcr Total

299.2

27.4

77.6

$ 312.4 $

25.5

18.8

285.3

10.5

(1.6)

0.3

$ 1,185.8

93.0

101,8

0.3

7.0

0.l0

77.6

1.79

I 8.8

0.39

t02.1(1.3)

$ (o.lo) $

$ o.ot $

$ (0.0e) $

2.17

0.01

2.18

$ 2.11

$ o.o1

$ 2.18

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

0.10 1.79 0.3 9

0.10 1.78

0.10 1.78

0.38 $ (0.l o)

$ o.ol

0.38 $ (0.0e)

2015

First

Qrrartcr

Sccond

Quarfrr

Third

Quartcr

Fourth

Quartcr Total

$ 1,167.8

128.0

290.8

62.9

49.2

$ (0.06)

$ 1.17

191.6

s 4.2s $

$ 0.26 $

80.3

r.83 $

0.02 $

353.7

$ 6.69

$ l.5o

5¿.O

0.66

0.05

$ l.r1 $ 4.51 $ l.8s $ 0.71 $ 8.19

$ (0.06) $

$ r.17 $

4.15 $

0.26 $

1.83 $

0.02 $

0.66 $

0.0s $

6.68

1.49

$ r.1r $ 4.41 $ 1.85 $ 0.71 $ 8.17

The effects of assumed conltnolt share conversions are determined independently for each respective quarter and year aud tnay not be

dilutive duling evely peliod dr.re to valiations in opelating resnlts. Thelefole, the sum of quarterly pel'share results will not necessalily

equal the per share results for the full year.

Restructuring and employee severauce chalges totated fìl1.9 million in the fourth qual'ter of 20 16. Restructuring and employee

severance cha¡ges totalecl $3.4 million, $2.3 nrillion and $0.3 rnillion in the fir'st, second and third quarters of 20 15, resllectively.

In 2016, Income fi'om continuing operat¡ons includes gains ft'om the sale of our CylusOtre i¡rvestment of $118.6 million, $33.3 nlillio¡r.

a¡d $5.1 million in the second, third, and fourth quartels, respectively. Income froln cotrtitruing operations in 2015 includes gaius frorn

the sale of our CyrusOne investment of $295.2 rnillion, 5117.7 million, and $36.3 million in the second, third, arld foulth quarters,

respectively.
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In the fìrst quartet' of 2016, the Cornpany recognized a gain on the extinguishrnent of debt of $2.4 million. The Company l'ecognized

losses on the extinguishment of debt of $5.2 nrillion, $11.4 nlillion, and $4.8 million itr the secotrd, third, and fourth quarters,

lespectively. The Cornpany lecognized Iosses or.r the extinguishrnent of debt of lì13.5 rnillion and $7.8 rnillion in the second and third
quarters of 20 I 5, r'espectively. I n the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company recogn ized a gain on the extinguishlrl ent of debt of $0.4

nlillion.
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As of March 31 , 2015, no subscribers relnaiued on the netwot'l<, and rve no longer requit'ed the use of the leased spectl'ull1. Therefore,

the $112.6 rnillion gain on the sale of thewireless spectruur licenses, which had beeu previously deferred, was recognized in Income

fronr discontiuued operations, net oftax in the first quarter of2015. During tlie second quarter, we trausferled certain other assets

r.elated to our wireless bnsiness, including leases to certain wireless towel's and l'elated equiprnent and other assets, resulting in a gain

of 915.9 ¡rillion in the second quarter of 2015 which was recognized in Inconre from discontinued opet'ations, net of tax.

18. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Ycar Endrd Dectnrbcr 31,

lclollars in millionsl

Capitalized i ntelest expense

Cash paid for':

Interest

Inconre taxes, net ofrefunds

Norrcasl.r investing and financing activities:

Accrual of CyrusOne dividends

Acquisition of properfy by assunling debt atrd other financing arratrgetnetrts

Acquisition of property on accoultt

2016 2015 2014

$$ 0.7 $ 0.8

71 .l
1.7

108.5

8.8

153. I

9.1

1.1

12.0

11-ò

2.1

5.8

-r4.o

6.0

4.7

24.8

lil
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t 9. supplemental Guarantol. Information - cincinnati Bell Telephone Notes

As of Decerrb er 31,2016, Cincinnati Bell Telephone Cornpany LLC ("CBT"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cincinnati Bell Inc. (the

"Par.ent Company"), had $87.9 million in notes outstanding that a¡'e gualanteed by the Parent Company and no other subsidialies of the

parent Company. The guarantee is full and unconditional. The Palent Company's subsidiaries geuerate substantially all of its incotne

a¡d cash flow and generally disffibute or advalrce the funds necessaly to nteet the Parent Contpany's debt service obligations.

The followi¡g infornration sets folth the Condensecl Consolidatiug Balance Sheets of the Conrpany as of Decenrber 31,2016 and 2015

andthe Condensed Consolidating Statelnents of Operations and Coniprehensive Income (Loss) and Cash Flows fortheyeals ended

Decenrber. 31,2016,20l5, and 2014 of (l) the Parent Company, as tlre guarantor, (2) CBT, as the issuer, and (3) the notr-guaratrtor

subsidiaries on a combined basis.
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Ycar Enderl Dcccmbcr 31,2016

(dollars in rnillionsl

Revenue

Operating costs and expenses

Operating income (loss)

Intelest expellse (incorne), net

Other expense (incoure), net

Incorne (loss) befole equity in earnings ofsubsidiaries and

income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Equify in earnings of subsidiaries, net of tax

Inconre fi'orn continuing operatiolrs

Inconre fi'om discontinued operations, net oftax

Net income

Other cornprehensive incotne

Total comprehensive iucome

Net incorne

Prefelred stock dividends

Net income applicable to colnlllotl shat'eowtrers

(doll¿rs in nrillions)

Revenue

Operating costs atrd expenses

Opelating incorne (loss)

Intelest expense (income), uet

Other expense (incorne), net

Income (loss) before equiry in earttings of subsidial'ies and

income taxes

Incorne tax expense (benefit)

Equity in earnings of subsidialies, net of tax

Incorre fi'om continuing operations

Income florn discontinued opelations, net of tax

Net income

Other comprehensive incorne (loss)

Total comprehensive it.tcotre

Net income

Preferred stoclç dividen ds

(20.7)

94.4

20.3

85.3

4.5

4.9

28.4

(23.2)

( 170.8)

93.0

75.7

(r45.6)

(r35.4)

(46.s)

191.0

222.4

80.5

162.9

61.I

7 5.9

27.I

Parent
(Guarantot')

20.7

CBT
(Issu cr)

s 617.8

592.5

Other
Non-gua ra nfors

$ s47.8

519.4

$ 1,185.8

1,092.8

Elinrinations Total

$ $ (3e.8)

(3e.8)

(rel.0)

102.1 48.8 141.9

0.3

(re1.0) 101.8

0.3

102.1

12.7

48.8 142.2

68.0

(r e1.0) I 02.1

80.7

$ rr4.8 $ 48.8 $ 210.2$(tel.o)$lsz.a

102.1

10.4

48.8 142.2 (1er .0) 102.1

10.4

$ 91.7 $ 48.8 $ 142.2 $ (1e1.0) $ el.7

Ycal' Errdcd l)cccrnbcr 3l, 20I5

Parcnt
(Gualantor)

22.4

CBT
(Issucr)

$ 660. I

53 8,6

546.3 $

517.4

$ 1,167.8

1,039.8

Other
Norr-guarirntors Elinlinations Total

$ $ (3L6)

(3 8.6)

(22.4)

| 2.7

19.5

121.5

(0.e)

7.0

28.9

( 8.7)

(4s2.2)

128.0

103.1

(42s.7)

115 .4

41.t

450.6

159.8

(1s4.6)

(53.3)

455.0

353.7

489.8

172.0

74.3 317.8

62.9

74.3 380.7

(0.4)

(455.0)

(45s.0) 290.8

62.9

353.7

J.J

(4s5.0) 353.7

2.9

$ 357.0 s 74.3 $ 380.3 $ (4s5.0)$ 3s6.6

353.7

10.4

74.3 3 80.7 (45 5.0) 353.7

10.4

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/e dgartdata17l6133/000071 61 331 7000007/cbb1 23'l 201 6-1 0k.htm#s2C88974C39C7sF3D865CD3491 38904C2 1451178



7 t18t2017 Document

343.3 $Net income applicable to colrrnrolr shareowners

lt3

$ 74.3 $ 380.7 $ (4s5.0)$ 343.3
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Condenscd Consolidating Stâtemcnts of Operations ând Compt'ehensive Income (Loss)

Ycar Endcd Deccmbcr'31, 2014

(tìollars in rnillions) Pa rent
(Guarantor)

CBT Othcr
(Issucr) Non-guarantors Elimin¡tiolls Total

$ $ 65e.6 $

488.021.5

54r.0 $

s14.2

(3e, r )

(3e. r )

$ 1,161.5

984.6

(2r.5)

142.6

t7.6

171.6

(4 5)

7.4

26.8

7.8

(re3.r)

(r 8 r.7)

(55.8)

201.5

212.1

7 5.5

I 99.1

8l .4

Revenue

Operating costs and expenses

Operating i ncorne (loss)

Intetest expense (income), net

Other expense (income), net

Income (loss) befole equity in earnings of subsidiaries and

iucotne taxes

Income tax expense (benefìt)

Equify in ealnings of subsidìaries, net of tax

Inconle frorn continuirìg operatious

Loss from discontinued operatiotrs, net oftax

Net income

Other cornprehensive loss

Total comprehensive iucome

Net inconre

Prefelred stock dividends

Net iuconre applicable to conrmon shat'eownel's

t36.6

(42.1)

117.7

(42.1)

176.9

145.9

(r68.r)

168.7

61.7

(20 r .5)

75.6 107.0 (20 I .5)

75.6

(40.s)

107.0 94.5

(0.1)

(20 r.5) 7 5.6

(40.6)

$ 3s.r $ 107.0 $ 94.4 $ (201.5) $ 3s,o

75.6

10.4

107.0 94.5 (20 r .s) 75.6

l0.4

$ 6s.2 $ I 07.0 $ e4.5 $ (2o l.5) $ 65.2

t4
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Form l0-l( PaLt II

Condelrsed Consolidating Balance Sheets

(dollars iu rnillionsl

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, net

Other current assets

Total current assets

Properfy, plant and equipmeltt, net

IrT vestment in CyrusOne

Goodwill

Investments in and advances to subsidiaries

Other noncurt'ellt assets

Total assets

Current portion oflong-telm debt

Accounts payable

Other current liatrilities

Total current I iabilities

Long-telrn debt, less current poltion

Othel noncurlent I iabil ities

lntelcompany payatrles

Total liabilities

Shareownels' (deficit) equity

Total tiabilities and shareowners' equify (deficit)

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Âs ofDcccmbrr 31,2016

Pârunt
(Guaran(or)

CIIT
(Issr¡ rr)

$ l.+

Othcr
Non-guarantors lilinrinatious Total

$ 7.8

11.8

1.1

0.5 $

160.8

18.2

9.7

178.6

41.6

$ $

22.3

26.7

0.3

23.7

I,029.6

1.6

2.2

179.5

55.6

128.0

12.l

9t4.5

47.4

229.9

1,085.5

128.0

14.3

816.7

179.1

(t ,731 .2)

(r44.8) 83.3

$ 1,022.8 $ r,057.r $ 1.337.1 $ (1,876.0) $ l,s4l.0

$ $ 5.0 $

71.4

53.9

2.s $

33.8

22.7

7.5

r 05.9

I 19.5

$

0.7

42.9

43.6

960.3

207.9

130.3

98.2

r66.8

89.1

59.0

t40.6

0.8

232.9

l,l99.r
230.7(144.8)

(8e. I )

1,2il.8

(r 8e.0)

484.4

572.7

200.4

I ,136.7

r?ll c)l

(1,642.1)

1,662.7

(121.7)

$ 1,022.8 $ 1,0s7.t $ 1,337.1 $ (r,876,0) $ 1,s41.0
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Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

ldollals in nrillions)

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, net

Othel culrent assets

Total cun'ent assets

Ploperty, plant and equipurent, tret

Investrneut in CyrusOne

Goodwill

Investrnents iu and advatrces to subsidiaries

Other noncnrt ent assets

Total assets

Culrent portion of long-term debt

Accourlts payable

Other curlent I iabilities

Other current IiabiIities from discontinued opet'ations

Total current liabitities

Long-tenn debt, less curt'eut portion

Othel noncurrent liabilities

Intercornpany payables

Total liabilities

Shareownels' (defi cit) equity

Total liabilities and shareowners' equity (deficit)

As ofDccenrbcr 31, 2015

P¿rrnt
(Guaranfor)

CBT
(Issuer)

Othct'
Non-guarantors Elinrinations Total

$ 4.6 $

0.7

1,6

1.0 $

20.2

1.8 s

t56.4

t4.1

7.4

157.1

3 5,9

$

844.6

207.2

172.3

53.7

5 5.5

t2.t

647.2

t36.8

200.4

975.5

5 5.5

14.3

200.7

6.9

0.3

21.2

921.5

2.2

63.9

3.0

(r,555.7)

( 146.3)

$ 1,05e.0 $ 1,0'.8 s 1,077.6 $ (1,702.0) s t,446.4

$ s.4 $

0.7

41.6

s.0 $

84.8

45.3

3.4 $

43.4

24.2

5.4

13.8

128.9

il l.l
5.4

47.7

I ,01 8.6

235.5

s4.7

135.1

134.3

l6 8.3

76.4

70.9

4.0

$

(146.2)

(s4.7)

259.2

1,223.8

261.6

r,356.s

(2e7.s)

437.7

574.1

151 .3

926.3

(200.e)

( r,50 r .1)

1 ,7 44.6

(2e8.2)

$ 1,059.0 $ l,0l I .8 $ t,077 .6 $ (l,702.0) $ 1,446.4

I l6
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Fornr 10-K Paú II

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

(dollars in nrillions)

Cash flows provided by (used in) by opelating activities

Capitat expenditures

Dividends received from CyrusOne (equity method

investrnent)

Proceeds fi'om sale of investlnent in Cyt'usOne

Distributions t'eceived fiotl subsidiaries

Funding between Parent and subsidialies, net

Other investing activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

Funding between Parent and subsidialies, net

Distributions paid to Palent

Proceeds from issuauce of long-telrn debt

Net increase iu cot'porate cledit and receivables facilities
with initial nlaturities less than 90 days

Repayment of debt

Debt issuance costs

Other financing activities

Cash f'lows plovided by (used in) financing activities

Inclease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Beginning cash aud cash equivalents

Ending cash aud cash equivalents

(rlollars in rnillions)

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

Capital expenditules

Dividends received fì'om CylusOne (equify method

investment)

Proceeds from sale of investlle¡rt in Cyt'usOne

Distlibutions leceived from subsidial'ies

Funding between Parent and subsidiaries, net

Other i nvestir.rg activities

Cash flows plovided by (used in) investing activities

Funding between Parent and subsidiaries, net

Distributions paid to Parent

Net dect'ease in corpotate credit and receivables facilíties

with initial maturities less than 90 days

Repayment of debt

Debt issuance costs

Other' financiug activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) f,nancing activities

Document

Cincinnati Bell lnc

\/car Ended Ðeccnrber 31, 2016

Parcnt CB't
(Guârânfor) (Isst¡cr)

$ (6r.r) $ zo:.1

Othe¡
Non-gualantors Eliminations Total

$ 31.2 s I 173.2

(0.2) (260.8) (2s.4)

(r 88.8)

(286.4)

(0.e)

24.8 (e5.s)

2.1

189.7

2.1

189.7

12.0

152.0

(0.e)

( 12.0)

3 6.8

162.e (260.8) (22.4)

63 5.0

103 .0

(44.e)

(66.2)

( r2.0)

(36.8)

12.0

63 5.0

(7 t0.9)

( 10.8)

( r 1.e)

7t.9

(3.5)

(0.3)

7t.9

(7se.3)

(11.r)

(r.e)
(e8.6) 58.1 ( r 0.1) (24.8) (7s.4)

3.2

4.6

0.4

1.0

(1.3)

1.8

2.3

7.4

Íi 7.8 $ r.+ $ 0.s $ s 9.7

I'car Endetl Deccmbcr'31, 2015

Parent CBT
(Guara¡r(or) (Issutr)

$ (1e.3) $ 1e8.7

Othcr
Non-guarantors Elinrinatitxs Totr¡l

(68.5) $ $ I 10.9

(22.8) (283.6)

$

(0.r ) (260.7)

22.2

643.9

(555.s)

0.9

22.2

643.9

I 1.3

(0.3)

(r1.3)

483.671.9

0.1

r0.9 (r88.7) 8 8.7

0.7

472.3 3 83.2

486.4 (2.8)

( il.3)
(483.6)

I 1.3

(5 r 8.5)

(0,2)

( r 0.e)

(t.6)

(3.2)

(0.2)

(t.6)

(531.7)

(0.4)

( r 0.e)

( r 0.0)

(43.2) ( r0.0) (re.r) (472.3) (s44.6)

https://wvurv.sec.gov/Archives/e dgarldatalT 16133/000071 61 33'1 7000007icbb1 231 201 6-1 0k.htm#s2C88974C39C75F3D865CD349138904C2 1501178
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Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Beginning caslr and cash equivalents

Ending cash and cash equivalents

Document

(51.6)

56.2 0

l.l
0.7

(50.5)

57.9

$ 4.6 $ 1.0 $ t.8 $ S 7.4

lt7
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Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

(dollars in nrillions)

Cash f'lows plovided by (used in) operating activities

Capital expenditures

Dividends received fronr CyrusOue (equify nlethod

investment)

Proceeds from sale of investtnent in CylusOne

Proceeds fronr sale of wireless spectrut.n licenses -

discontinued opelations

Distributions received fi'om subsidiaries

Funding betweeu pareut and subsidialies, net

Other irrvestirrg activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

Fundíng between Parent and subsidialies, net

Distlibutions paid to Parent

Net decrease iu corporate credit and receivables fàcilities
with initial maturities less than 90 days

Repayment ofdebt

Debt isstrance costs

Other flnancing activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

Iuct'ease (decrease) irr cash atrd cash equivalents

Beginning cash and cash equivalents

Ending cash and cash equivalents

Ycar Endcd Dccember 31, 2014

Pa rcnt
(Guarantor)

CB'I
(Issucr)

Othcr
Non-guarantors Elinlinations 'lotal

$ (56.3) $ 226.3 $ s.2 $ s t7 5.2

(0.2) ( r 52.5)

12.8

(0.3)

(54s.0)

(3 8)

( r 2.8)

616.0

( 1 82.3)

28.4

355.9

194.4

(3.8)

(2e.6)

28.4

3 55.9

194,4

(71 .o)

0.3

t2.3 (223.2) 0.3 603.2 392.6

516.2 99.8

( r 2.8)

(616.0)

12.8

(40.0)

(367.3)

(0 7)

( r0. r)

(87.0)

(5.3)

(0.2)

(3.e)

(127.0)

(376.5)

(0.e)

r0.r)

53.3

4.6

98. I (3.e) (5,s) (603.2) (s14.5)

54.1

2.1

(0.8)

1.8 0.7

$ 56.2 $ t.0 $ 0.7 $ $ s7.e
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Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc

20. Supplemental Guarantor Inforlnation - 8318"/" Senior Notes due 2020 and 77o Senior Notes due 2024

As of December 31,2016,the Parent Company's 7% SeniorNotes due 2024 are guaranteed by the following subsidiaries: Cincinnati

Bell Entertainment Inc., Cincinnati Bell Any Distance Inc., Cincinnati Bell Wireless LLC, CBTS Software LLC, Cincinnati Bell

Teclrnology Solutions Inc., Cincinnati Bell Any Distance of VirginiaLLC, eVolve Business Solutions LLC, Data Cetrter Investments

Inc., and Data Ceuters Soutll Inc.

Duringthefourthquarter-of 20l6,theCornpanyredeer.nedtherernaining$84.6 InillionofoutstandiugS3/s%oSeniorNotesdue2020.

The par.ent Company owns directly or indirectly 100% of each guarantol aud each guarantee is full and unconditional, and joint and

sever.al. In ceftain custonlaly circumstances, a subsidiary nray be released fror¡ its guat'antee obligation. These cit'cutnstances are

defined as follolvs:

. upon the sale ofall ofthe capital stock ofa subsidialy,

. if the Company designates the subsidiary as an uut'estricted subsidiary undel the terrns of the indentttt'es, or

. if the subsidiary is released as a guarantol'florn the Company's Colpot'ate Credit Agt'eement.

In the third quartel. of 2014,the Courpany entered into an Aureudureut to the Colporate Cledit Agleement giving the Company the

r.ight to provide wr.itten notice to the adrninistrative agent on oI after the closing of the wileless sale of spectlutll assets to rel'ì'ìove any

designated wireless subsidiary as a guaralttor subsidiary.

In cornplia¡ce with certain regulations of the Federal Cornrnunications Colnlnission (the "FCC"), the Cornpany's wholly-owned

regulated subsidiary,Cincinnati Bell TelephoneCompanyLLC,hashistolicallyaccoulttedfot'certainofitsnon-regulatedoperations
through its non-regulated subsidiary, Cincinnati Bell Telecomrnunications Sewices LLC, which is a gttarantor of the Notes (as defined

below). Thr.ough an agreelnent with the FCC, the Company is no longer obligated to segregate these non-t'egulated operations and has

discontinqed this accounting practice. E,ffective Decembet'31,2016, the Cornpany merged Cincinnati Bell Telecomrrrunications

Services LLC i¡to another subsidiary, Cincinnati Bell Entertainuretrt Inc., which is also a guarantor of the Notes. These colrdensed

consolidated financial statenrents have been letloactively restated to t'eflect this change.

The Parent Courpauy's subsidiaries generate substantially all of its iucome aud cash flow and generally distribute or advance the funds

necessaly to tneet the Parent Cornpany's debt service obligations. The following information sets f'orth the Condensed Consolidating

Bala¡ce Sheets of the Conrpany as of Decernb et' 3l ,2016 a¡d 2015 and the Cottdensed Consolidating Statenrents of Operations arrd

Conrprehensive Incolne (Loss) and Cash Flows fbl the yeats ended Deceniber 3 l, 2016,2015, and 20 l4 of ( I ) the Parent Company, as

the issuer, (2) the guarantor subsidiaries on a combined basis, and (3) the uotr-guat'antor subsidial'ies otr a combined basis.

lr9
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Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc

Condensed Consolidating Statemerìts of Operations and Comprehensive Incorne (Loss)
Yeal Endcd Deccntbc¡' 31, 2016

Parcnt
(Issucr)

$-
20.7

ldollars in nrillions)

Revenue

Operating costs alld expenses

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense (income), net

Other expense (incorne), net

Income (loss) befole equity in earrril.rgs of subsidiaries and

income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries, net of tax

Inconre fi'otn continuing operations

Income fi'om discontinued opelations, net of tax

Net income

Other cornprehensive incorne (loss)

Total cornprehensive iucolne

Net inconre

Preferred stocl< dividends

Net iucome applicable to collllìloll shareowners

ftlollals in millions)

Reverrue

Operating costs and expeuses

Operating inconre (loss)

Interest expense (incorne), net

Other expetrse (income), net

Income (loss) before equity in earnitrgs of subsidialies and

incorne taxes

Income tax expeuse (benefit)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries, Itet of tax

Incor.ne ft'om continuing operations

Income frorn discontinued operations, net of tax

Net inconre

Other cornpreheusive incorne (loss)

Total cornplehensive income

Net incoure

Pleferred stocl< d ividends

Net income applicable to colnmon shareowllr:ls

Guâr'antols Non-guaratttors Elinlilrations Total

$ 539.0 $

510.7

686.6 $

601.2

(3e.8)

(3e.8)

$ 1,185.8

1,092.8

(20.7)

94.4

20.3

28.3

(2s.2)

( r 50.4)

(r3s.4)

(46.5)

191.0

94.4

t J.()

162.9

6l.r

85,4

6.s

( r 5.5)

93.0

/). /

( 1 4s.6)

102.1

203.9

74.0

129.9 60.8

(lel.o)
(1er.0)

0.3

t0l.8
0.3

102.1

t2.7

130.2

68. I

60.8

(0.1)

102.1

80.7

(rer.0)

$ r r4.8 $ 198,3 $ 60.7 $ (lel.o)$ 182.8

102.t

lo.4

130.2 60.8 (ler.0) t02.1

10.4

$ el.7 $ 130,2 $ 60.8 $ (lel.o) $ e1.7

Yr¿u' Enrlcd Dcccnlbc¡ 31, 2015

Itarcnt
(Issuc r)

22.4

s32.4 $

503.9

674.0 $

552.1

(38.6) $

(38.6)

1,167.8

r,039.8

Gr¡aranto¡s Non-guarantors Elinrinations Total

$ $

(22.4)

112.7

19.5

28.5

( r 0.2)

(432.e)

121.9

0.6

( r 2.3)

128.0

103.1

(425.7)

( 154.6)

(s3.3)

455.0

471.6

165.5

133.6

47.6

450.6

159.8

290.8

62.9

(45s.0)

(455.0)353.7

353.7

J.J

306. I

62.9

86.0

369.0 86.0

(0.4)

(4ss.0) 353.7

2.9

$ 357.0 $ 36e.0 $ 85.6 $ (4ss.0)$ 356.6

353.7

10.4

369.0 86.0 (455.0) 353.7

10.4

$ 343.3 $ 3 6e.0 $ 86.0 $ (45s.0)$ 343.3
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Folnr l 0-K Part II

Condensed Consolidating Stâtements of Operations and Compt'ehensivc Income (Loss)

Ycar Endcd Dcccnrber 31, 2014

Pa rcn t

Cincinnati Bell Inc

(Issuer) Guirrantors Non-guafantors Elinrin¡fions 'l'o t¿lldoll¿rs in millions)

Revenue

Operating costs arld expellses

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense (income), net

Other expense (inconre), net

hrcome (loss) before equity in earnings of subsidialies and

income taxes

Iucome tax expense (beneflt)

Equity in earrrings of subsidiaries, tlet of tax

Income ft'otn continuing operatiolls

Loss fì'om discontinued operations, net oftax

Net income

Other cornprehensive loss

Total com¡rrellerlsive iucolne

Net inconre

Pleferred stock dividends

Net inconre applicable to coull'roll shareownets

(3e, l )

(3e.1 )

26.6

6.2

(111 .6)

l7l .8

(2.e)

(r 4.1)

17 6.9

t45.9

(r68.1)

$ $ 532.0 $

505.4

668.6 $

496.8

$ I,l6l.5
984.6

199.1

8l .4

21.5

(21.s)

142.6

17.6

(r8r.7)
(55.8)

201.5

192.0

68.3

r88.8

68.9

7 5.6 119.9

(201.5)

(201.s)123.7

(42.1)

81.6

(0.1)

117.7

(42.1)

7 5.6

(40.s)

I 19.9 (20 r .5) 7s.6

(40,6)

$ 3s.1 $ 81.5 $ lle.e $ (201.s) $ :s.o

75.6

10.4

81.6 75.6

10.4

I 19.9 (20 r .5)

$ 6s.2 $ 8r.6 $ il9.e $ (2or.s) $ 65.2
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Folnr l0-K Part II

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

(dollars in nrillions)

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, net

Other culrent assets

Total culrent assets

Property, plant and equipment, net

Investrneut in CyrusOne

Goodwill

Investments in and advances to subsidial'ies

Other noncurrent assets

Total assets

Cun'ent pol'tiol1 of long-terrl debt

Acconnts payable

Other currelrt liabilities

Total culrent liabilities

Long-terrn debt, less cun'eut portion

Other nonculrent liabilities

Intercornpany payables

Total liabilities

Shaleowuers' (defi cit) equity

Total liabilities and shareowners' equity (deficit)

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

As of Decenrl¡cr 31, 201 6

Parcnt
(Issucr) Guarantors Non-guat'antors lìlinlinations Total

$ 7.8 $

17.8

1.1

0.3 $

1.7

17.9

1.6 $

t 59.1

22.6

s e.7

17 8.6

41.6

8t6.7

179.1

26.7

0.3

19.9

54.4

t28.0

12.1

972.2

43.9

I òJ.J

1,030.8

2.2

5.1

229.9

r ,085.5

128.0

14.3

¿t-l--t

7.5

105.9

1 19.5

232.9

l,l99.l
230.7

1,662.7

(121.7)

( r ,788.e)

( 144.8)

s 1,022.8 $ r,230.s $ 1,221.4 $ (1,933.7) $1,s41.0

$$

0.7

42.9

s.0 $

72.1

54.1

2.s $

33.1

22.5

$

43.6

960.3

207.9

58,1

51 .1

0.7

131.2

187.7

166.9

147.7

(144.8)

(147.7)

t,2 tl .8

( r 8e.0)

109.9

1 ,120.6

633.5

587.9

(2e2.s)

(1,641.2)

$ r,022.8 $ r,230.5 s t,221.4 $ (r,933.7) $ I,541.0
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Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

ldollars in millions)

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables, net

Other cun'ent assets

Total current assets

Ploperfy, plant and equipment, net

Investment in CyrusOne

Goodwill

lnvestments in and advances to subsidialies

Other nonculr"ent assets

Total assets

Curlent portion of long-ternr debt

Accounts payable

Other cnrreut I iabilities

Other current liabilities frorn discontinued opet'atious

Total culrent liabilities

Long-ten'n debt, less current poltion

Other nonculrent Iiabilities

Intercompany payables

Total liabilities

Shaleownels' (defi cit) equify

Total liabilities and shaleowners' equity (deficit)

As of l)cccmbcr' 31, 2015

Pa rcnt
(Issuer)

s 4.6

0.7

1.6

6.9

0.3

844.6

207.2

Guarantors Non-guarantors Elinlinations 'l'otal

$ 0.4 $

2.8

13.9

2.4 $

153.6

20.4

7.4

t57.l

35.9

$

17.1

53.4

5 5.5

12.1

772.1

132.6

200.4

975.5

5 5.5

14.3

176.4

921.8

2.2

63.9

7.1

( 1 ,680.6)

(146.2) 200.7

$ 1,0se.0 $ r,042.8 $ r,r7r,4 $ (1,826.8) 51,446.4

$ s.4 $

0.7

41.6

3.4 $

42.8

23.9

5.4

5.0 $

85.4

45.6

$ 13.8

128.9

111.t

5.4

47.7

1,018.6

235.5

54.7

75.5

53.3

3.8

136.0

151.9

I 68.5

125.7

(146.2)

(180.4)

259.2

1,223.8

261.6

r,356.5

(2e7.s)

132.6

910.2

582.1

s 89.3

(326.6)

( r ,500.2)

I,744.6

(2e8.2)

$ 1,059.0 $ 1,042.8 $ 1,171.4 $ (r,826.8) $1,446.4
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Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

(dollars in millions)

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

Capital expenditures

Dividends received fi'om CylusOne (equify method

investment)

Proceeds from sale of iuvestlreut in CyrusOne

Distributions received from subsidiaries

Funding between Pat'ent and subsidiaries, net

Other investing activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

Funding betweeu Palent and subsidiaries, net

Distributions paid to Palent

Proceeds from issuance oflong-ternr debt

Net increase iu corporate cledit and leceivables facilities
with initial nlaturities less than 90 days

Repayment of debt

Debt issuance costs

Other fi nancing activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Beginning cash aud cash equivalents

Endirrg cash and cash equivalents

(dollars il¡ rnillionsl

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

Capital expenditures

Dividends leceived li'om CytusOne (equity urethod

investment)

Proceeds frour sale of iuvesturent in CyrusOne

Distributions received fi'onl subsidiaries

Funding between Parent and subsidial'ies, net

Other investing activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

Funding between Palent and subsidial'ies, net

Distributions paid to Palent

Net decrease in corpot'ate credit and receival¡les facilities
with initial maturities lcss than 90 days

Repayrnent of debt

Debt issuance costs

Other financing activities

Cash flows plovided by (used in) fìnancing activities

Ycar Ended Dcccnrbcr 31, 2016

Pa rcn t
(Issucr') Guarantols

Non-
gul¡r'àrìtors lìlinrinrtions Total

$ (61.1) $ zs.o $ 20e.3 $ s 173.2

(0.2) (25.4) (260.8) (286.4)

2.1

189.7

2.1

189.7

12.0

152.0

(0.e)

( r 88.0)

( 1 2.0)

36.0

(0.e)

162.9 (21.6) (260.8) 24.0 (es.5)

36.0

( r 2.0)

(36.0)

12 0

635.0 635.0

(710.e)

(10.8)

(r r.e)

7 t.9

(44.e)

(0.3)

7t.9

(7se.3)

(r1.1)

(11.e)

(3.s)

(e8.6) (3.5) 50.7 (24.0) (7 s .4)

3.2

4.6

(0.1)

0.4

(0.8)
a^L.+

2.3

7.4

$7.8$0.:$ t.6 $ $ e.7

I'car llnded De ccmber 31, 20I5

Pår'cnt
(Issucr') GuaI'antors

Non-
guir l'ân toIS Fl,liminations Total

$ (1e.3) $ (86.8) $ 217.0 $ $ I 10.9

(0.1)

lt.3

(0.3)

10.9

486.4

22.2

643.9

(s54.3)

0.9

(22.5) (26r.0)

71.9

0.1

(r 1.3)

482.4

(283.6)

22.2

643.9

0.7

90.2 ( r 8e.0) 471 .1 383.2

(4.0)

(1r.3)

(482,4)

l l.3

(5 r 8.5)

(0.2)

( r 0.e)

(1.6)

( r 0.0)

(0.2)

(1.6)

(531.7)

(0.4)

( r o.e)

(3.2)

(43.2) (3.2) (27 .t) (471.t) (s44.6)
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lnclease (decrease) in cash aud cash equivalents

Beginning cash and cash equivalents

Ending cash and cash equivalents

Document

(s r.6)

56.2

0.2

0.2

0.9

1.5

(s0.5)

57.9

$ 4.6 $ 0.4 S 2.4 $ s 7.4
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Condensed Consolidating Stâtements of Cash Flows

(dollars in millions)

Cash flows pLovided by (used in) operating activities

Capital expenditures

Dividends received from CylusOne (equity method
investrnent)

Ploceeds fr-om sale of investrnent in CyrusOne

Proceeds ft'om sale of wireless spectrum licenses -

discontinued operations

Distributions leceived flom subsidialies

Funding befween Parent and subsidialies, net

Other investing activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

FLrnding between Parent and subsidiaries, net

Distributions paid to palent

Net declease in colporate credit and receivables facilities
with initial rnaturities less than 90 days

Repayment ofdebt

Debt issuance costs

Other financing activities

Cash flows plovided by (used in) financing activities

Inclease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Beginning cash and cash equivalents

Endirrg cash and cash equivalents

Document

Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Year Ended Dcccnrbcr 31, 2014

l>alcnt(Issucr) Guaranfors
Non-

gt¡âÌ'ântors Elinlinations 'lbtal

$ (56.3) $ 5.6 S 225.e $ $ 175.2

(0.2)

12.8

(0.3)

12.3

(2e.6) (152.s)

(12.8)

617.3

(182.3)

28.4

355.9

194.4

(3 .8)

28.4

355.9

194.4

(s46.3)

(5.s)

(7 r .0)

2.0

(2.7) (221.s) 604.s 392.6

516.2 l0l .1

( 12.8)

(617.3)

12.8

(40.0)

(367.3)

(0.7)

( 10. 1)

(t27.0)

(376.s)

(0.e)

(ro.r)

(3.0)

(3.0)

(87.0)

(6.2)

(0.2)

98. I (s.r) (604.5) (5r4.5)

54.1

2.1

(0.1)

0.3

(0.7)

2.2

53.3

4.6

$ 56.2 $ 0.2 $ 1.5 $ $ 57.9
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EXHIBIT 5

SECTION IV. TRANSFEREE'S/ASSIGNEE'S TECHNICAL QUALIFICATIONS

Set forth in an Bxhibit a narrative account of the transferee's/assignee's technical

qualifications, experience and expertise regarding cable television systems, including, but
not limited to, summary information about appropriate management personnel that will be

involved in the systemrs management and operations. The transferee/assignee may, but

need not, list a representative sample of cable systems currently or formerly owned or

operated.

With headquarters in Cincinnati, Ohio, Cincinnati Bell Inc. Q'JYSE:CBB) ("Cincinnati Bell")
provides integrated communications solutions - including local and long distance voice, data,

high-speed Internet and video * that keep residential and business customers in Greater

Cincinnati and Dayton connected with each other and with the world. In addition, enterprise

customers across the United States rely on CBTS, a wholly-owned subsidiary, for efhcient,

scalable office communications systems and end-to-end IT solutions. Cincinnati Bell and its

subsidiaries provide competitive telecommunications services to residential and business

customers. Through its Entertainment and Communications segment, the company provides

high speed data, video and voice solutions to consumers and businesses over an expanding fiber

network and a legacy copper network. Specifically, Cincinnati Bell holds video franchises in

Indiana, Kentucky and Ohio. Cincinnati Bell cable franchises currently serve over 130,000

customers with revenues exceeding $125 million annually. Applicant continues to focus on

transforming its legacy copper-based telecommunications company into a technology company

with state of the art fiber assets servicing customers with data, video, voice and IT solutions to

meet their evolving needs, and continues to expand its fiber network as a key initiative.

The franchisee, Hawaiian Telcom Services Company, Inc. ("HTSC"), and its management team

will not change as a result of the Transaction. HTSC and its aff,rliates have served the

communications needs of the state of Hawai'i for over one hundred years. Hawaiian Telcom,

Inc., the incumbent local exchange carrier of the State of Hawai'i and the sister company of
HTSC, was formed in 1883 to provide telephone service in the Islands. HTSC was formed in

2004 in connection with the Carlyle Group's acquisition of Verizon's Hawai'i businesses, in

order to provide to the State the non-regulated services not being performed by Hawaiian

Telcom, Inc., including the high-speed Internet, directories, and wireless businesses. In 2011, the

Director of DCCA granted a nonexclusive cable franchise to HTSC, authorizing the company to

deliver digital cable service to all areas on the island of Oahu via IPTV technology. See DCCA

Decision and Order No. 352 (June 24,2011).
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As further described in the response to Section II.G of the corresponding DCCA Transfer of
Control Application, the Transaction will occur entirely at the holding company level and will
not affect the day-to-day operations, billing systems, or operational support systems of HTSC.

Under the Combination, Cincinnati Bell and Hawaiian Telcom will retain their separate names

and brand identities while sharing best practices and resources as needed to help each other

successfully compete. Hawaiian Telcom will continue to be locally managed from Hawai'i and

its union labor agreements will be honored. In addition, customers will continue to have local

customer support and customers will have the ability to interact with local supporl personnel as

well as obtain support over the telephone and the Internet. Hawaiian Telcom will have two

director seats on the combined company board and these seats will be held by Hawai'i residents.

Hawai'i will thus be well represented when broader strategic decisions are made.

Cincinnati Bell Key Management Team Biographies

Leigh R. Fox
President and Chief Executive Officer, Cincinnati Bell Inc.
Leigh Fox is President and Chief Executive Officer of Cincinnati Bell Inc. Mr. Fox has been

with Cincinnati Bell since July of 2001, most recently as President and Chief Operating

Offìcer. In that role, he was responsible for overseeing all aspects of operations, sales and

customer care for both the Entertainment &. Communications Segment and the IT Services &
Hardware Segment. Mr. Fox also served as the company's Chief Financial Officer from 2013

until September 2016, responsible for all aspects of finance, accounting, and treasury. Prior to

2073, Mr. Fox had increasingly larger corporate responsibilities as Chief Administrative Officer,

and Senior Vice President of Finance and spent eight years in senior roles within the company's

technology services business.

A native of Cincinnati, Mr. Fox holds a bachelor's degree from Miami University and an MBA
from the University of Cincinnati. He is on the boards of the USA Regional Chamber and

American Red Cross. He is a member of the Cincinnati Regional Business Committee with a

focus on education and the Business Leader's Alliance.

Thomas B. Simpson

Chief Operating Officer
In his role, Tom manages all aspects of operations and development management for Cincinnati

Bell and CBTS. Tom is governing operations to constantly improve delivery and optimize our

platforms to stay relevant to our customer base. Tom started with CBTS in 2001 and has a

passion for using technology to actually enrich day to day life, and has had various roles from

pre sales, sales overlay, engineering management, business development, and strategy.



IICC FORM 394

Applicant's Naure: Cincinnati Bell Inc.
'llransferor's Name: Hawaiian Tclcom Holdco, lnc,

Cable Flanchise Systeur(s): Hawaiian'felconl
Selvices ContPanY, Inc.

Prior to Cincinnati, Tom grew up in Santa Cruz California where he attended UCSC and

Stanford for a MSEE in VLSI engineering. His first job out of high school was onboarding

defect management and moving its application to offshore engineering for IBM. He also held

engineering or consulting roles for Defense Language Institute, Rand, and Scientific Atlanta.

Andrew R. Kaiser
Chief Financial Officer, Cincinnati Bell Inc.
Andy Kaiser is Chief Financial Off,rcer (CFO) for Cincinnati Bell Inc. He reports directly to

Leigh Fox, President and Chief Executive Officer of Cincinnati Bell. As CFO, Mr. Kaiser is

responsible for Cincinnati Bell's corporate accounting, finance, treasury and tax functions, as

well as investor relations, real estate, supply chain management and sourcing functions. Along

with his finance responsibilities, Mr. Kaiser is also responsible for managing the company's

carrier wholesale network business, with roughly $130 million in annual sales.

Mr. Kaiser's career with Cincinnati Bell began in July of 2000, holding a variety of finance and

accounting positions during his initial five-year tenure, including Director of FP&A. In July of
2005, he left Cincinnati Bell to co-found Howard Roark Consulting,LLC, a Cincinnati, Ohio

based management consulting firm with a focus on launching new technology-based ventures.

Mr. Kaiser was an original member of the i-wireless, LLC leadership team (the national mobile

phone brand of a major food retailer), responsible for launching and growing the business from a

start-up to a national wireless provider, and serving as Chief Financial Officer. Since rejoining

Cincinnati Bell in January 2074, Mr. Kaiser has served as Vice President - Corporate Finance,

leading its data analytics and corporate development functions, and most recently as Vice

President - Consumer Marketing and Data Analytics.

Mr. Kaiser holds a bachelor's degree from Wright State University and an MBA from the

University of Cincinnati. He serves on the Board of Directors of Cancer Free Kids, a non-profit

organization with the mission of eradicating cancer as a life-threatening disease in children by

funding promising research that might otherwise go unfunded.

Christopher J. Wilson
Vice President and General Counsel

Chris Wilson is Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Cincinnati Bell Inc.

Responsible for all legal matters pertaining to the company, he reports directly to President and

Chief Executive Officer Leigh Fox.

Prior to his current position, Mr. Wilson served as associate general counsel and assistant
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corporate secretary for the company's Cincinnati-based operating subsidiaries. Before joining the

in-house legal team at Cincinnati Bell, he was apartner at Frost Brown Todd LLP.

Mr. Wilson is a member of the Ohio State Bar Association and Cincinnati Bar Association. Mr.

Wilson earned a bachelor's degree in economics from Thomas More College and a law degree

from the University of Notre Dame.

Kevin J. Murray
Senior Vice President & Chief Information OffÏcer
Kevin Murray is Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer at Cincinnati Bell. He is

responsible for Information Technology strategy planning, development and operations for the

company. He is also responsible for the company's Enterprise Program Management off,rce and

Process Improvement group. Mr. Murray has been employed at Cincinnati Bell since 2001 and

has held several positions during his tenure. Prior to his current position, Mr. Murray held

technology leadership roles over teams that supported the organization's network operations, its

financial systems and the company's wireless subsidiary.

Before joining Cincinnati Bell, Kevin was a Manager with Accenture, a leading global systems

consulting fìrm. V/hile at Accenture he focused on ERP system integration projects for

telecommunication and energy clients.

Within Cincinnati Bell, Kevin serves on the Employee Benefits Committee. He is also the

folmer President of the Cincinnati Bell Volunteers. Outside of the company, Kevin is a member

of the Greater Cincinnati CIO Roundtable, serves on the Advisory Board of the Cincinnati

Hearing, Speech &. Deaf Center and serves on the Corporate Advisory Committee of the

Cincinnati Chapter of the BDPA.

Kevin is a native of greater Cincinnati and earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from

Miami University.

Theodore W. Heckmann
Managing Director, Regulatory & Government Affairs & Assistant Corporate Secretary

In his role, Mr. Heckmann is responsible fol all Federal, State and Local government and

regulatory matters for Cincinnati Bell. Mr. Heckmann reports directly to the Vice President and

General Counsel for Cincinnati Bell Inc. Mr. I-Ieckmann has over 37 years of experience in the

Telecommunications and Cable TV Industry Sectors. Mr. Fleckmann has held various Finance,

Accounting, Government and Regulatory positions within Cincinnati Bell. He assumed his

current position on July 1,2009. Mr. Heckmann graduated from Bowling Green State University
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in Bowling Green, Ohio, in 1980 with a B.S. in Accounting, he earned an MBA from Xavier

University in Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1987 and is a CPA (inactive) in the state of Ohio.

Al Barly
Vice President of IT Solutions and Sales, CBTS

Al Early is currently the Vice President of IT Solutions and Sales for CBTS (Cincinnati Bell

Technology Solutions) a wholly owned subsidiary of Cincinnati Bell Inc. Upon joining CBTS in

January of 2007 Al was charged with starting a Professional Services sales and recruiting

practice to compliment some of the other core CBTS offerings. His responsibilities have

expanded to include oversight of the Value Added Reseller business, the Project Management

Office, the infrastructure and application development services practices, as well as out of
territory responsibilities in Columbus, Louisville, Indianapolis, Charlotte/Raleigh and Dallas.

Before joining, CBTS Al spearheaded a similar IT sales and recruiting practice at Definitive
Solutions Company (a wholly owned subsidiary of Toys R US at the time) that targeted strategic

customers in the retail, insurance and financial verticals. In all, he has over 77 years of
experience in the recruiting and IT solutions sector. He also stays very active in the local

community serving on the Board of Cancer Free Kids (and also as the Chairman of its Corporate

Committee), on the Cincinnati IT Cluster Council, Chairman of the Annual Greater Cincinnati IT
Circuit golf outing as well as mentoring underprivileged adults who are looking to create

successful, sustaining careers via the Job V/orks organization. He graduated from Miami
University in 1992 with a BA in Diplomacy and Foreign Affairs and currently lives in
Cincinnati, Ohio with his wife and three daughters.

Cora (Cory) Beimesche

VP of Network & Bngineering
Cory started with Cincinnati Bell Technology Solutions in 2011 as the head of the PMO

managing all external facing delivery. She has managed video and internet development and

operations with Cincinnati Bell since 2013 with roles over product management and most

recently Network Operations. Cory has a BA from Xavier University, 12 years as a software

developer and then project manager primarily as a consultant working with Fifth Third Bank, the

Air Force Research Lab, First Group America, Vertical Solutions Inc, Pomeroy Computer

Resources, and Luxottica Retail prior to starting with Cincinnati Bell.

Patfy Kurtz
Senior Director Video Engineering & Operations
Patty has 2l years' experience in the Telecommunications industry. Prior to assuming her

current role as Sr. Director, Video Engineering & Operations, she served as Director Dala &.IP



FCC FOIIM 394
Applicant's Namc: Cincinnati Bell lnc.

Transf,eror's Name: l-iawaiian Telcom Holdco, Inc.

Cable Franchise System(s); Hawaiian Telcom
Services Company, Inc.

Engineering and also in Sr. Product and Market Management roles at Cincinnati Bell. As an

independent consultant for 15 years she worked with Cincinnati Bell and Clear Channel. Patty

was also Director of Marketing for the Ohio Utilities Protection Service. She has a Marketing

Degree from Youngstown State University.

Richard (Rick) Theobald
Senior Manager of Video Headend Services

Richard has 32 years of experience in the Cable TV/ Video industry. He has been with
Cincinnati Bell for the past eight years, serving five years as a headend technician and three

years in his current position as the Senior Manager of Video Headend Services. Richard begin

his electronics career in 1983 with a local cable company and after receiving a Master's

Technician certificate from the National Cable Television Cooperative became a headend

technician. Richard worked as a headend technician with United Video Cablevision for five
years before moving into the hospitality industry where he spent 16 years providing VOD and

PPV systems to hotels and motels throughout the state of Kentucky.

Karen Rohrkemper
VP of Product Strategy
Karen has over 15 years of experience in the telecommunications industry. She began her career

with Cincinnati Bell in its wireless subsidiary and ultimately assumed management of the

wireless data product suite befole managing the Cincinnati Bell Vy'ireless spectrum sale and

entity shut down. Currently, Karen has responsibility for the OSP planning, engineering, and

construction of the Cincinnati Bell strategic fiber build, network transformation, Connect

America Funding builds, as well as consumer and business product management. Karen has a

BS from Northern Kentucky University, as well as a Six Sigma Yellow Belt.

Emily Schierberg
Director - Video and Applications
Emily has nearly 18 years of experience in telecommunications with Cincinnati Bell. Most

recently, Emily was the Director of Voice of the Customer for Cincinnati Bell and served as the

primary advocate for the customers' needs throughout the organization. Prior to that Emily was

in product management and managed Cincinnati Bell's video product for 4 years and Cincinnati

Bell Wireless' data products for 2 years. Emily recently returned to the Product Strategy

organization to focus on Cincinnati Bell's video product and mobile applications. Emily has a

BS from Northern Kentucky University and received her MBA from Xavier University.
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Jonathan Bond
Senior Product Manager - Video Programming
Jonathan has l3 years in telecommunications. Jonathan initially starting with Cincinnati Bell's

wireless subsidiary as a Retail Store Manager and later held avariety of roles in wireless product

management and sales distribution. Jonathan was part of the Cincinnati Bell Wireless transition

team during the spectrum sale and managed the Verizon Agency relationship aftelwards.

Currently Jonathan has responsibility for video programming, the channel lineup and

programmer relationships. Jonathan has a BA from the University of Cincinnati.

Alex Napier
Product Manager-Video
Alex has 18 years'experience in the Telecommunications industry beginning his career with

Cincinnati Bell as a Communications Consultant for the Retail Channel in 2005. Alex

eventually became a Store Manager before being promoted into a role as an Indirect Channel

Sales Manager. Prior to Cincinnati Bell's sale of its wireless spectrum, Alex was the Product

Manager for Prepaid Wireless, Alex returned to Cincinnati Bell in 2017 after two years

developing a new sales market in Northern California for a national Lifeline provider. In his

current role as Product Manager for Video his responsibilities include the planning and

development of Video Products and services. Alex is also a Veteran of the Ohio Army National

Guard and has served in Kosovo, secured American airports during Operation Noble Eagle after

the attacks on9l11, and assisted in the recovery after Hurlicane Katrina.

HTSC KEY MANAGEMENT TEAM BIOGRAPHIES
Scott K. Barber
President and Chief Executive Officer
Scott K. Barber was named President and CEO of Hawaiian Telcom in June 2015. He joined the

company as Chief Operating Officer in January 2013, overseeing Sales, Marketing, Customer

Service, Customer Care, Technology and Business Development.

Mr. Barber has more than 30 years of experience in the telecommunications industry, which he

entered as a Construction - Line 'Worker 
at Kerman Telephone Company in California. Over his

I2-year career at Kerman Telephone, he oversaw various areas of operations, including

engineering, network operations, construction, installation and repair, fleet, safety and building

management.

Before joining Hawaiian Telcom, Mr. Barber served as Vice President of Operations for
Consolidated Communications in Roseville, California. Prior to that, he was Chief Operating

Officer for SureWest Communications, which was acquired by Consolidated Communications in
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JuIy 2012. Mr. Barber began his career at Sure'Westin1994, starting as an Engineering Manager

Over the years he was promoted to executive-level positions in Outside Plant and Network

Operations before being named Chief Operating Ofhcer in 2011.

At SureWest, Mr. Barber was instrumental in launching the Internet Protocol (IP) triple play

(voice, video and data) over fiber. He spearheaded efforls to roll out new products, including

Metro Ethernet, Session Initiation Protocol, Data Center, IP Private Branch Exchange, IP Long

Distance, Voice-over-IP, high-definition TV, Whole Home DVR, Caller ID on TV, and 50

megabits-per-second residential high-speed Internet service. He also secured long-term contracts

with multiple wireless carriers for data backhaul service to 540 sites. Mr. Barber earned a

bachelor's degree in Finance from Regis University.

Committed to giving back to the community, Mr. Barber currently serves on the non-profit

boards for Aloha United Way and the Chamber of Commerce of Hawai'i. A former Mayor of the

City of Kerman, he previously served on numerous community and industry boards including as

President of the Kerman Chamber of Commerce and as Chairman and CEO of the California

Communications Association.

Dan T. Bessey

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OffÏcer
Dan T. Bessey joined Hawaiian Telcom as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OfÍicer in

}lay 2015. In addition to overseeing all financial operations, including Treasury, Financial

Planning and Analysis, Corporate and Regulatory Accounting, Tax and Investor Relations, he is

also responsible for developing and implementing financial systems and reporting structures to

ensure Hawaiian Telcom is a highly efficient service provider and model of financial integrity.

Prior to joining Hawaiian Telcom, Mr. Bessey served as Chief Financial Officer for Cesca

Therapeutics, a publicly traded bio-technology company based in Rancho Cordova, California,

where he managed the Finance and Accounting, Business Planning and Forecasting, Corporate

Development, Investor Relations and Human Resources functions.

Previously, Mr. Bessey served as Vice President, Chief Financial Officer for SureWest

Communications (now part of Consolidated Communications), where he was responsible for

multiple functions including Finance and Accounting, Business Planning and Forecasting,

Mergers and Acquisitions, Treasury Management, Investor Relations, Human Resources and

Information Systems. Over his 17-year career at SureWest, he served as Vice President of
Finance, Controller, and Director of Corporate Finance, and successfully developed and

implemented long-term business and financial strategies that increased pr'ofitability and

shareholder return.
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He began his career in the technology and communications group of Ernst and Young LLP

Mr. Bessey earned a bachelor's degree in business administratiotVaccountancy from California

State University, Sacramento where he graduated magna cum laude.

John T. Komeiji
Chief Administrative Officer and General Counsel

In his role as Chief Administrative Officer and General Counsel, John Komeiji is responsible for

Hawaiian Telcom's day-to-day business operations. His Administrative Services Organization

includes the External Affairs, Government Affairs, Human Resources, Information Technology

Systems & Order Management Systems,Legal, Project Management & Delivery, and Support

Services teams. He joined the company in July 2008.

Prior to joining Hawaiian Telcom, Mr. Komeiji served as senior partner alWatanabe Ing &
Komeiji LLP. His practice focused on the litigation of complex commercial, personal injury and

professional liability matters.

Mr. Komeiji is a past president of the Hawai'i State Bar Association and has served on the

American Bar Association's Standing Committee on Lawyer Competence. A member of the

prestigious American Board of Trial Advocates, he is also a Bencher and a member of the

Executive Committee of the American Inns of Court, Aloha Chapter.

He was presented the University of Hawai'i Distinguished Alumni Award in201.1. A former

Adjunct Professor of Law at the Williarn S. Richardson School of Law, Mr. Komeiji taught

Pretrial Litigation and received the Co-Adjunct Professor of the Year Award in2002.

He earned a Bachelor of Education degree from the University of Hawai'i at Manoa and a Juris

Doctorate from Hastings College of Law.

Mr. Komeiji serves on numerous non-profit boards including the Rehabilitation Hospital of the

Pacific where he is Board Chair, the Hawai'i Medical Service Association where he is Board

Vice Chair, and Blood Bank of Hawai'i, where he is Board Vice Chair.

Kevin T. Paul
Senior Vice President - Technology
Kevin Paul joined Hawaiian Telcom as Senior Vice President * Technology in August 201 1. Mr
Paul is responsible for the architecture, planning, engineering, security and support of Hawaiian

Telcom's network. He also oversees the company's Business Development, Customer Care and

Network Reliability functions.
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Mr. Paul has held leadership technology roles for more than 25 years. Prior to joining Hawaiian

Telcom, he served as Vice President of Content Engineering & Development for Level 3

Communications where he managed architecture, engineering, development, test and tier IV
suppoft of Level 3's Content Delivery Network and Vyvx video broadcast network.

He joined Level 3 as Vice President, Softswitch Engineering, Development and Deployment in

2000, and also served as Vice President of Network Integration.

Prior to this, Mr. Paul was Director of MCI Worldcom's (now Verizon Business) Call Processing

Infrastructure, and also held numerous positions in Systems Engineering including Intelligent

Call Center Application Development and Data Network Application Development.

Mr. Paul holds eight patents: six in the area of Fraud Detection and Neural Network technology

and two in the area of Content Delivery Networks with Deep Caching Infrastructure.

He earned a Bachelor of Arts degree in Computer Science from Rutgers University in New
Brunswick, New Jersey.

Mr. Paul currently serves as a member of the Advisory Council for the College of Engineering at

the University of Hawai'i at Mãnoa.

Greg L. Chamberlain
Vice President - Nefwork Operations
Greg Chamberlain was named Vice President - Network Operations in February 2016. He is

responsible for Hawaiian Telcom's Central Office, Dispatch and Field Operations (installation,

repair and construction technicians) teams, and the company's Network Support Services

Operations Center.

He joined Hawaiian Telcom in June 2013 as Executive Director - Service Architecture and

Engineering where his responsibilities included inside and outside plant engineering, network

build program and network change management.

Prior to joining Hawaiian Telcom, Mr. Chamberlain served as Executive Director - Network

Engineering for SureWest Broadband (now part of Consolidated Communications). He spent

more than 10 years with SureWest where he was instrumental in the company's successful

deployment of IPTV over fîber. He also held management positions in network operations and

engineering at WlNfirst (now part of Consolidated Communications) and SBC Communications

(now parl of AT&T).
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Mr. Chamberlain began his career in telecommunications 35 years ago as a service technician for
Pacific Bell in Oakland, California. He moved on to become a splicer, then a supervisor and

worked his way up the organization into outside plant engineering, focusing on high capacity

management and wireless network build-outs, and later network system design and fiber
deployment.

Born and raised in California, Mr. Chamberlain earned a bachelor's degree in Physical

Geography from the University of California at Berkeley.


